

Dépôt Institutionnel de l'Université libre de Bruxelles / Université libre de Bruxelles Institutional Repository Thèse de doctorat/ PhD Thesis

#### **Citation APA:**

Brabant, F. (2012). *Physical and biogeochemical controls on the DMS/P/O cycle in Antarctic sea ice* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Université libre de Bruxelles, Faculté des Sciences – Ecole Interfacultaire des Bioingénieurs, Bruxelles.

Disponible à / Available at permalink : https://dipot.ulb.ac.be/dspace/bitstream/2013/209587/4/ebeda624-c209-45f9-b1ec-4eb3dce084ac.txt

#### (English version below)

Cette thèse de doctorat a été numérisée par l'Université libre de Bruxelles. L'auteur qui s'opposerait à sa mise en ligne dans DI-fusion est invité à

prendre contact avec l'Université (di-fusion@ulb.be).

# Dans le cas où une version électronique native de la thèse existe, l'Université ne peut garantir que la présente version numérisée soit identique à la version électronique native, ni qu'elle soit la version officielle définitive de la thèse.

DI-fusion, le Dépôt Institutionnel de l'Université libre de Bruxelles, recueille la production scientifique de l'Université, mise à disposition en libre accès autant que possible. Les œuvres accessibles dans DI-fusion sont protégées par la législation belge relative aux droits d'auteur et aux droits voisins. Toute personne peut, sans avoir à demander l'autorisation de l'auteur ou de l'ayant-droit, à des fins d'usage privé ou à des fins d'illustration de l'enseignement ou de recherche scientifique, dans la mesure justifiée par le but non lucratif poursuivi, lire, télécharger ou reproduire sur papier ou sur tout autre support, les articles ou des fragments d'autres œuvres, disponibles dans DI-fusion, pour autant que : - Le nom des auteurs, le titre et la référence bibliographique complète soient cités;

- L'identifiant unique attribué aux métadonnées dans DI-fusion (permalink) soit indiqué;

- Le contenu ne soit pas modifié.

L'œuvre ne peut être stockée dans une autre base de données dans le but d'y donner accès ; l'identifiant unique (permalink) indiqué ci-dessus doit toujours être utilisé pour donner accès à l'œuvre. Toute autre utilisation non mentionnée ci-dessus nécessite l'autorisation de l'auteur de l'œuvre ou de l'ayant droit.

------ English Version -----

This Ph.D. thesis has been digitized by Université libre de Bruxelles. The author who would disagree on its online availability in DI-fusion is

invited to contact the University (di-fusion@ulb.be).

If a native electronic version of the thesis exists, the University can guarantee neither that the present digitized version is identical to the native electronic version, nor that it is the definitive official version of the thesis.

DI-fusion is the Institutional Repository of Université libre de Bruxelles; it collects the research output of the University, available on open access as much as possible. The works included in DI-fusion are protected by the Belgian legislation relating to authors' rights and neighbouring rights. Any user may, without prior permission from the authors or copyright owners, for private usage or for educational or scientific research purposes, to the extent justified by the non-profit activity, read, download or reproduce on paper or on any other media, the articles or fragments of other works, available in DI-fusion, provided:

- The authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited in any copy;

- The unique identifier (permalink) for the original metadata page in DI-fusion is indicated;
- The content is not changed in any way.

It is not permitted to store the work in another database in order to provide access to it; the unique identifier (permalink) indicated above must always be used to provide access to the work. Any other use not mentioned above requires the authors' or copyright owners' permission.





de Bruxelles



Faculté des Sciences – Ecole interfacultaire de Bioingénieurs Laboratoire de Glaciologie

# Physical and biogeochemical controls on the DMS/P/O cycle in Antarctic sea ice

Ir. Frédéric Brabant

### Thèse de doctorat présentée en vue de l'obtention du grade de Docteur en Sciences agronomiques et Ingénierie biologique

H<sub>3</sub>C

Juillet 2012

Promoteur : Prof. J.-L. TISON



H<sub>3</sub>C

·

Ir. Frédéric Brabant

# Physical and biogeochemical controls on the DMS/P/O cycle in Antarctic sea ice

Thèse de doctorat présentée en vue de l'obtention du grade de Docteur en Sciences agronomiques et Ingénierie biologique

Juillet 2012

Promoteur : Prof. J.-L. TISON

Université Libre de Bruxelles Faculté des Sciences – Ecole interfacultaire de Bioingénieurs Laboratoire de Glaciologie





#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Je tiens tout d'abord à remercier Jean-Louis Tison de m'avoir accueilli au Laboratoire de Glaciologie depuis mon travail de fin d'études déjà jusqu'à l'aboutissement de cette thèse de doctorat. Merci pour ta créativité. S'il y a bien une chose qui m'a toujours bluffé chez toi (oui, oui, tu lis bien, maintenant je te tutoie), c'est ta culture scientifique en sciences de la Terre et plus particulièrement en « cryosciences » qui te permet de faire des liens entre les différentes disciplines et de générer un nombre impressionnant de nouvelles idées à la minute. Merci pour ton énergie débordante (parfois difficile à « encaisser » mais permettant de ne pas geler sur place, ce qui constitue un atout non négligeable, s'il en est, lorsque l'on travaille en régions polaires) que tu injectes dans tous les aspects de ton métier et qui fait de toi un topscientist (si, si, je le pense) et un pédagogue hors pair que l'on a envie de suivre. Merci également pour ce magnifique cadeau de m'avoir baladé à plusieurs reprises dans les deux hémisphères à l'occasion des trois missions de terrain et des diverses conférences et de m'avoir ouvert les portes de la formidable « sea ice scientists community». Merci finalement pour ta disponibilité malgré un agenda digne d'un ministre. Toutes les discussions que j'ai pu avoir avec toi ont toujours permis de faire avancer le travail de façon substantielle. Ta porte était toujours ouverte pour moi. Je n'aurai comme seul regret de ne pas l'avoir poussée assez souvent... Il me reste encore pas mal d'autres choses à te dire mais on fera cela autour d'un bon verre d'infusion de malt houblonnée et fermentée (et ce ne sera pas de cette pils que l'on brasse du côté de Jupille :-) ).

La deuxième salve de remerciements sera destinée aux membres du Laboratoire de Glaciologie, qui a constitué mon environnement de travail durant ces 4 + 2 années. Merci à Claire, pour sa gentillesse, son oreille attentive, ses encouragements renouvelés et sa disponibilité sans faille. Merci à Saïda, véritable forçat et cheville ouvrière du laboratoire pour le soutien technique indispensable apporté depuis le travail de fin d'études et pour m'avoir accueillie dans son bureau (et approvisionné en bananes) après les restructurations spatiales liées à l'agrandissement du labo. Merci à Frank, pour son côté complètement décalé, pour l'ouverture au monde merveilleux du whisky et pour l'énergie qu'il apporte au laboratoire. Merci à Laura d'avoir partagé mon bureau pendant ces années ainsi que ma passion pour le thé sans considérer l'excès de soin que je porte à sa préparation comme un accès de folie. Merci aussi à Thierry, Charlotte, Marie (l'autre transfuge « ingénieur » du labo), David (entre autres pour les joggings et les conseils de préparation physique) et les derniers arrivés Jiayun, Denis, Reinhard et Brice pour la bonne ambiance qu'ils contribuent à maintenir au sein du laboratoire.

Merci à l'immense Stephen Fred Ackley d'avoir invité une énorme délégation belge à se joindre à lui sur la campagne SIMBA, à Tim Papakyriakou pour avoir permis ma participation à CFL et à Hajo Eicken dont la collaboration m'aura permis de mettre les pieds à l'extrême nord du continent américain.

Merci à Gauthier pour son travail « en shift » avec moi sur SIMBA et pour avoir permis de gagner la course contre la montre pour l'obtention des mesures in-situ de DMS et DMSP.

Merci à Nix, pour le voyage mémorable « planifié » en Terre de Feu et Patagonie et avoir permis la rencontre de Christelle, Dorothée et Cédric. Merci à toutes les personnes rencontrées à l'occasion des diverses missions et conférences pour avoir contribué à passer de bons moments dont certains resteront à jamais gravés dans ma mémoire. Merci tout particulier à Anthony « Tiny » Worby, Martin Vancoppenolle, Peneloppe Wagner et Elizabeth Murphy, notamment pour la soirée d'anthologie passée à Pise et à gravir la montagne à pied depuis Barga, Je n'ai jamais ri autant de ma vie et ne suis pas certain de pouvoir revivre ça un jour...

Merci aux anciens membres du Laboratoire d'Ecologie des Systèmes Aquatiques, Isabelle Dumont (l'autre agronome sur la glace), toujours disponible, même dans son nouveau boulot pour répondre de façon prompte à toutes mes questions et Sylvie Becquevort pour sa disponibilité à essayer d'élucider des problèmes d' « ordre biologique » et les mesures de laboratoires complémentaires effectuées.

Merci à Martin Vancoppenolle, grand Monsieur de la modélisation de la glace de mer en devenir, pour tous les Rayleigh passés à la moulinette, et pour avoir déridé le bon vieux Hajo en m'appelant Frédérant Brabic ainsi que pour tous les bons moments (dont certains inoubliables, voir ci-dessus) partagés lors des conférences et de SIMBA (keep in touch !)

Merci au lieutenant Karel Lambert, pour avoir contribué à générer l'électrochoc qui a permis d'entamer le sprint final du bouclage de cette thèse.

Merci, par anticipation, aux membres de mon jury pour le temps qu'il voudront bien consacrer à la lecture du présent manuscrit ainsi que pour le déplacement (parfois important) qu'il voudront bien consentir pour l'épreuve de la défense.

Merci au Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique – FNRS pour le soutien financier octroyé par l'intermédiaire de la bourse FRIA (Fonds pour la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture) de quatre ans ainsi que pour les crédits octroyés à l'occasion de la participation à diverses conférences.

Merci à mes parents, pour votre soutien financier, par lequel vous m'avez permis de me concentrer sur mon travail sans avoir jamais à me préoccuper des considérations matérielles mais aussi et surtout par votre soutien moral et vos encouragements (dont les fameux « Et alors, cette thèse ? » généralement lancés aux moments les plus inopportuns par Colonel «William »). Si j'en suis là, c'est en grande partie grâce à vous. Merci également à ma petite sœur Steph pour son soutien (en desserts à damner, notamment).

Merci à Vinciane, assurément la plus belle rencontre collatérale de cette thèse pour son soutien de toutes natures et de tous les instants et sans qui, jamais, jamais cette thèse de doctorat n'aurait pu aboutir (comme promis, je n'en ai pas trop fait).

A mon grand-père et mes deux grands-mères disparus beaucoup trop vite ...





## TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I: Introduction
THESIS OUTLINE
THESIS FORMAT
CHAPTER II: Towards better practices for the determination of biogeochemical compounds in sea ice: the case of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO)
A robust approach for the determination of dimethylsulfoxide in sea ice, 2011. <i>Limnol.</i> <i>Oceanogr.: Methods</i> , 9, 261 – 274. by Brabant F., S. El Amri and JL. Tison
CHAPTER III: Characterisation of the physicochemical properties of the sea ice cover: a necessary step prior to biogeochemical analyses
Temporal evolution of decaying summer first-year sea ice in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, 2008. <i>Deep-Sea Res II</i> , 55, 975 – 987. by Tison JL., A. Worby, B. Delille, F. Brabant, S. Papadimitriou, D. Thomas, J. De Jong, D. Lannuzel and C. Haas
Sea ice and snow cover characteristics during the winter-spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea: An overview of SIMBA 2007, 2011. <i>Deep-Sea Res II</i> , 58, 1019-1038. by Lewis M.J., J.L. Tison, B. Weissling, B. Delille, S.F. Ackley, F. Brabant and H. Xie 55
CHAPTER IV: Temporal evolution of DMS, DMPS and DMSO in Antarctica sea ice: between seasonal and spatial contrasts
High-resolution dimethyl sulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate time series profiles in decaying summer first-year sea ice at Ice Station Polarstern, western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, 2010. J. Geophys. Res., 115, G04044, 16 pp. by Tison JL., F. Brabant, I. Dumont and J. Stefels
Thermally-forced DMS, DMSP, DMSO and biogeochemical cycling in Antarctic spring sea ice: a contrasting study, 2012. <i>In preparation</i> . by Brabant F., G. Carnat, I. Dumont, S. Becquevort, M. Vancoppenolle, S. F. Ackley and J. L. Tison
CHAPTER V: Temporal evolution of gas properties in growing sea ice: revealing the impact of physicochemical processes
Physico-chemical controls on gas properties during natural and experimental sea ice growth. In review. by Brabant F., V. Verbeke and JL. Tison, 2008
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS



#### **CHAPTER I: Introduction**

#### Sea ice as a material

As material, sea ice is a semi-solid matrix of nearly pure ice crystals that incorporates bubbles of gas and brine inclusions in the form of pockets, tubes or as a network of brine channels [e.g., Weeks and Ackley 1986; Trodahl et al. 2001]. Depending on the conditions prevailing during its growth, various texture profiles can be encountered. The stratigraphy of a 'typical' ice cover generally comprises layers of different texture and usually consists of a sequence of granular ice, transitional layer and columnar ice [Petrich and Eicken, 2010 and references therein]. Granular texture, whose formation generally initiates that of the sea ice cover, originates from the consolidation of millimetric individual platelet-, spicule- or needle-shaped frazil ice crystals growing in the turbulent uppermost metres of the water column agitated by the combined effect of mixed layer and wind stress [Petrich and Eicken, 2010]. This texture class generally dominates in the Antarctic. Quiescent conditions, generally favoured by the presence of an ice slush layer which mitigates mixing by wind, are necessary for columnar ice (a.k.a. congelation ice) to start its growth. Columnar ice is composed of vertically elongated prismatic crystals whose dimensions can be as large as several centimetres in diameter and tens of centimetres in length [Weeks and Ackley, 1986; Petrich and Eicken, 2010]. When loose frazil ice crystals consolidate into a solid granular ice layer or when columnar ice forms, voids in the ice crystal lattice are reduced and do not allow the incorporation of the major ions present is seawater, that are rejected ahead the advancing freezing front. While the larger fraction of impurities and salts is rejected into the underlying water column, part of the salt is retained in the solid ice matrix and contributes to maintain a significant liquid fraction in the form of brine inclusions [Petrich et al., 2010]. The presence of a brine microstructure in sea ice has profound implications on its ability to host life forms and exchange material (particulate, dissolved or gaseous) with its environment and distinguishes sea ice from ice grown in freshwater bodies like lakes.

#### Sea ice significance

Areal extent – Depending on the season, sea ice in Polar Regions covers from 3 to 6% of the total surface area of the globe with an extent ranging between 16.6 x  $10^6$  km<sup>2</sup> and 27.5 x  $10^6$  km<sup>2</sup>, making of the sea ice cover one of the most expansive and most seasonal geophysical

parameters on the earth's surface [Comiso, 2010]. With an areal extent ranging between 3.6 x  $10^{6}$  km<sup>2</sup> in winter and 18.8 x  $10^{6}$  km<sup>2</sup> and in summer [Comiso, 2010], Antarctic sea ice is the main contributor to the oceanic component of the cryosphere and might maintain this status in the future in the view of the trend towards a global increase of the sea ice extent in the Southern Ocean [Zhang et al., 2007] compared with the observed accelerating decline of sea ice in the Arctic [Stroeve et al., 2007] (see comparative trends in sea ice extent in Figure 1). The vast majority of Antarctic sea ice is pack ice that is offshore sea ice submitted to drifting under the action of winds and current (as opposed to land fast sea ice anchored to the shore or the ocean bottom). With a maximum extent of 0.8 x  $10^{6}$  km<sup>2</sup>, land fast sea ice would only account for ~5% of the total Antarctic sea ice extent [Fedotov et al., 1998 and references therein].



Figure 1 Arctic and Antarctic Sea Ice Extent Anomalies, 1979-2011: Arctic sea ice extent underwent a strong decline from 1979 to 2011, but Antarctic sea ice underwent a slight increase, although some regions of the Antarctic experienced strong declining trends in sea ice extent. Thick lines indicate 12-month running means, and thin lines indicate monthly anomalies. Graph courtesy of the National Snow and Ice Data Center, University of Colorado, Boulder, 2011.

Recent studies confirm that the observed decline of Arctic sea ice is well faster than what is generally predicted by general circulation models [Kay et al., 2011]. The overall trend towards increasing sea ice extent in the Antarctic is however very likely to hide marked regional trends to decrease (e.g. around the Antarctic Peninsula) that could have consequences at a larger scale [Stammerjohn et al., 2008]. In their modeling effort to assess the influence of increased loading of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere through the 21<sup>st</sup> century, Liu and Curry [2010] suggested that Antarctic sea ice could soon initiate a global decline in response

to increased ocean and air temperatures and increased liquid precipitation associated with the enhanced hydrological cycle.

*Climate regulation* - As sea ice is subject to climate change, it is also an actor of the earth's climate regulation. Through its seasonal mediation on the exchanges of heat, momentum, moisture and gas between the ocean and the atmosphere in Polar Regions, sea ice exerts an influence on the climate at global scale. With significantly higher albedo values than open water [Perovich, 2003], sea ice exposes a large reflective surface to incoming solar radiation and avoids a substantial portion of it to heat the upper layers of the ocean. Existence of feedback mechanisms like the ice-albedo feedback [Massom and Stammerjohn, 2010 and references therein] further supports the increasing importance attached to sea ice in the perspective of a change in the climate. Cold and dense brine rejection from sea ice during its growth is acknowledged as the driver of the global thermohaline circulation, which is also influenced by the freshening of the upper layers of the ocean on sea ice melting [Lubin and Massom, 2006 and references therein; cited by Massom and Stammerjohn, 2010].

Sea ice was until recently still considered as an impermeable barrier to gas exchanges between the ocean and the atmosphere [Tréguer and Pondaven, 2002] despite Gosink et al. [1976] already demonstrated, almost three decades ago, that sea ice above -15 °C was permeable to gas. Emerging work suggests that sea ice exerts a control on the atmospheric  $CO_2$  of Polar Regions through physical and biogeochemical processes [Rysgaard et al., 2011]. Those recent findings should encourage the scientific community to now consider the biogeochemical aspect of the earth's climate regulation by sea ice (mediation of climatically significant gases) besides its already acknowledged physical aspect (surface radiative budget and thermohaline circulation) and include it into numerical models. Those findings could indeed worsen the prediction produced by global circulation models, which presently evade such a control of sea ice on the atmospheric  $CO_2$  in Polar Regions, by racing the already existing physical ice-albedo feedback.

Sea ice and polar waters biota – Formation of granular or columnar ice layers (see above) leads to the incorporation of dissolved and particulate biological material including microalgae, heterotrophic protists and bacteria [Ackley and Sullivan, 1994; Rozanska et al., 2008]. The persistence of a liquid brine microstructure even at low temperatures allows autotrophic organisms to survive in the ice where they can develop substantial standing stocks

[see Arrigo et al., 2010, for an extensive review of algal biomass in the Arctic and in the Antarctic], representing thereby the only source of fixed carbon for higher trophic levels (e.g. Antarctic krill [Quetin and Ross, 2009]) in ice covered waters. Ice algal production would account for up to 10 to 28% of primary production in Antarctic ice covered waters [Arrigo, 2004 and references therein]. Sea ice also plays a crucial role for polar oceans biota on its decay. When sea ice melts, it inoculates the upper ocean with the release of biological material and essential (micro-) nutrients accumulated in the ice and snow cover during winter and spring, amongst which Fe, known to be limitating for algal growth in Southern Ocean mixed layer by the meltwater, which maintains autotrophic organisms exposed to elevated light levels, and favourable timing in the release of biogeochemical tracers from melting [Dumont, 2009], sea ice contributes to trigger development of large algal blooms in the Southern Ocean [Arrigo et al., 2008; Vernet et al., 2008].

Sea ice algae and habitat – Within ice assemblages, diatoms are generally the dominant taxa and would have the most of the sea ice photosynthetic production to its credit [Lizotte, 2003]. Other commonly encountered taxa like dinoflagellates, chlorophytes, prymnesiophytes, prasinophytes and chrysophytes may become dominant later in the season or in particular seaice habitats (e.g *Phaeocystis* sp. proliferates in summer ice surface assemblages) [Mock and Thomas, 2005]. Although generally flourishing at the bottom of the ice cover where environmental conditions are generally stable (temperature, salinity, light level) and access to nutrients warranted, ice algal assemblages can develop elsewhere in the ice cover, generally ensuing invasion of the ice cover by seawater. Development of infiltration communities at the surface and freeboard (or gap layer) communities are common features in Antarctic sea ice, generally associated with high biomass and high values of dissolved organic substances thanks to both sustained supply of nutrients and little light limitation [Brierley and Thomas, 2002; Kattner et al., 2004].

*Physiological adaptations* – While living in the ice provides advantages to microalgae like access to sufficient light levels by the maintain at the sea surface [Arrigo et al., 2010] and protection against large grazers due to the geometry of the brine microstructure, it also necessitates that ice algae have developed the capability of responding to salinity, light, temperature, pH, nutrients and gas fluxes stresses encountered within the sea ice medium [Mock and Thomas, 2005]. In previous studies, acclimation ability of sea ice algae to the aforementioned environmental factors has generally been assessed by measuring the alteration

of photosynthetic performances compared to optimal conditions (reviewed by Arrigo et al. [2010]). The ability to compensate the decrease in physiological processes rate related to low temperatures prevailing in the sea ice habitat is a widespread feature of polar microalgae [Mock and Hoch, 2005]. A critical adverse effect of low temperatures is the decrease in membrane fluidity. Although also influenced by nutrient availability, salinity and light levels, the increased synthesis of lipids with prevalence of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) observed at low temperatures with sympagic organisms is mainly attributed to the maintenance of functional phospholipid membranes whose fluidity is altered in those conditions [Arrigo and Thomas, 2004 and references therein]. Synthesis and exsudation of cryoprotectant compounds, like ice-binding proteins or exopolymeric substances (EPS) able to interfere with the growth of ice crystals is also a strategy used by some sea ice algae to create microenvironments favourable to their growth in the sea ice matrix [Janech et al., 2006; Krembs et al., 2011; Raymond, 2011]. Thriving at the bottom of the ice cover beneath a few meters of snow and ice necessitates adaptation to low-light conditions which can be accomplished by the increased synthesis of accessory pigments (e.g. fucoxanthin, chlorophyll c), enhancing utilisation of wavelengths of light penetrating the snow and ice cover, relative to chlorophyll a [Arrigo et al., 2010]. High levels of ultraviolet radiations (especially UVB), such as those witnessed by the organisms living beneath the ozone hole in the Southern Ocean, can inhibit photosynthesis in sea ice diatoms and increase DNA damage [Karentz and Spero, 1995]. Synthesis of elevated amounts of compound like mycosporine-like amino acids (MAAs) acting as chemical sunscreens has been proposed as a strategy developed by microalgae to counteract deleterious effects of ultraviolet radiations on photosynthesis and genetic material but still has to be clearly demonstrated [Ryan et al., 2002]. Abrupt changes in ambient salt concentrations can induce an osmotic stress with ice algae. Ralph et al. [2007] demonstrated that the hypo-osmotic conditions resulting from sea ice melting caused higher photosynthetic stress with Antarctic sea ice algae than the hyperosmotic conditions prevailing during freezing up. In their experiment with Antarctic bottom algae, Ryan et al [2004] suggested that some diatoms species could acclimate to salinity down-shock by recovering photosynthetic efficiency over a few days. One way for sea ice algae to acclimate to changes in ambient salinity consists in modifying their intracellular concentrations of osmolytes. Dimethylsulphoniopropionate (DMSP), recognised as a compatible solute [Stefels, 2000], may play such a role with sea ice algae, in the view of the elevated concentrations of this compounds often found in various sea ice environments [reviewed by Trevena et al., 2003].

#### DMS/P/O in the marine environment

Climatic role - DMSP is the main precursor of dimethylsulphide (DMS), a climatically active volatile organic compound. Oceanic emissions of DMS account for almost all the natural flux of reduced sulphur compounds to the atmosphere [Kettle and Andreae, 2000]. Once emitted to the atmosphere, DMS can successively be oxidised to sulphur dioxide and then sulphate which can affect the radiative budget of the atmosphere directly by backscattering part of the incoming solar radiation and indirectly by acting as condensation nuclei favouring the formation of clouds (cloud condensation nuclei or CCN). In their famous study which stimulated two decades of intense research dedicated to the production of DMS in the marine environment, Charlson et al. [1987] hypothesised that an increase of atmospheric CO2, hence temperature, would result in an increase of algal primary production which in turn could drive increased DMS production that would compensate the greenhouse effect of CO2. This hypothesis (known as the CLAW hypothesis) seems to definitely have to be retired, because of the combined effect of the low sensitivity between DMS emissions and CCN, between CCN and cloud albedo and the low sensitivity of seawater DMS concentrations to a global warming scenario [Quinn and Bates, 2011]. Although the CLAW climate feedback loop has been invalidated in the view of recent advances in the understanding of the DMS cycle, influence of phytoplankton emissions of DMS and on the regional climate, notably in the Southern Ocean, would still be significant [Krüger and Grassl, 2011] and certainly still warrants further investigation.

*DMS/P/O cycle* – The DMS cycle is intricate with numerous pathways linking DMS, DMSP and dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) governed by factors of different natures (abiotic, algal, bacterial,...) (see Figure 2). As main source of DMS, DMSP is produced by some planktonic groups in response to environmental stimuli inducing a cellular stress like salinity, light, temperature and nutrient availability. The ability to produce DMSP would be limited to a reduced number of species. Amongst the algal DMSP-producers, the levels produced can vary by up to 4 orders of magnitude between algal groups, with dinoflagellates and haptophytes being acknowledged to be major DMSP-producers [reviewed by Stefels et al., 2007], revealing taxonomic composition as the most determining factor in the ability of an algal community to produce DMSP. Although increase in salinity of the medium is bound to induce an increase of intracellular DMSP [Stefels, 2000], mechanisms regulating its concentration upon short-term salinity shifts are still obscure.

Despite its acknowledged function of compatible solute at low temperatures [Stefels, 2000 and references therein], assessment of intracellular levels of DMSP under cold conditions has rarely been investigated. Increased DMSP:C ratio reported for Emiliana huxleyi and Phaeocystis at low temperatures (but still positive temperature ranges) suggest that DMSP could play a metabolic role in mitigating the deleterious effects of low temperatures [Stefels et al., 2007 and references therein]. As elevated DMSP levels were observed in algal cultures submitted to various oxidative stressors amongst which visible light and ultraviolet radiations, Sunda et al. [2002] suggested that DMSP, in combination with DMS and DMSO notably, could exhibit an antioxidant function. Given its structural analogy with glycine betaine [Challenger, 1951], acknowledged for its osmoregulation function, it has been proposed that DMSP could be produced as an alternative to this compound under nitrogen-limited conditions. This hypothesis has ever since hardly been demonstrated [Stefels, 2000]. As limited access to nutrients can generate imbalance in carbon and nitrogen metabolic pathways, Stefels [2000] proposed that DMSP would be produced in the frame of an overflow mechanism allowing the maintenance of cellular metabolic processes by the release of excess reduced sulphur, dissipation of excess energy and saving of nitrogen for amino acids synthesis.

Once produced in the algal cell, DMSP can be released into the ambient medium either directly following active exudation, cell rupture through autolysis or viral lysis, or indirectly following the action of zooplankton grazers (all mechanisms reviewed by Stefels et al. [2007]). Part of DMSP released in seawater (dissolved DMSP or DMSPd) can be converted into DMS and acrylate following enzymatic cleavage by algal or bacterial DMSP-lyases. Contribution of DMSPd to the marine DMS pool has to date not been constrained. Simo et al. [2000] estimated that 5 - 100% of DMSP turnover can yield DMS. Other studies report values in the lower range of those estimates (e.g.  $\sim 30\%$  [Bates, 1994], 24% [Simo and Pedros-Alio, 1999],1% [Archer et al., 2002]). Finally, it is acknowledged that only 10% of the marine DMS would ultimately be vented to the atmosphere [Archer et al., 2002].

Besides its supposed physiological roles [Lee and de Mora, 1999; Sunda et al, 2002], DMSO can act as a sink for DMS through photochemical or bacterial oxidation of DMS or as a source following its biosynthesis by microalgae and further reduction by some bacteria [reviewed by Hatton, 2005]. A recent study demonstrated that the ability to reduce DMSO into DMS is a widespread feature with marine phytoplankton, unlike the ability to produce DMSO from DMSP which is restricted to a limited number of algal species, DMSO

representing thereby a potential important source of DMS in the marine environment [Spiese et al., 2009].



Figure 2 Schematic representation of the processes and pools involved in the marine biogeochemical cycling of DMSP and DMS. Dominant role of functional groups in the different processes is indicated by coloured ellipses: green, phytoplankton; blue, zooplankton; red, bacteria; black, abiotic factors. CCN, cloud-condensation nuclei; DOM, dissolved organic material; DMSO, dimethyl sulphoxide; MeSH, methanethiol; MPA, mercaptopropionate; MMPA, methylmercaptopropionate; MSA, methanesulphonic acid [after Stefels et al., 2007].

#### DMS/P/O in sea ice

In the perspective that increased levels of DMSP are synthesised by microalgae (possessing the ability to produce it) in response to increased environmental constraints, sea ice would be a favourable environment for its production in the view of the extreme temperature and salinity conditions encountered within brine inclusions. It is likely that all the pathways involving DMS, DMSP and DMSO identified in seawater (Figure 2) apply in the sea ice environment, even though the importance of some pathways may appear different in the sea

ice environment than in open water due to the peculiar nature of the sea ice material (e.g. limited access to nutrients [e.g. Fripiat et al., 2007], sensitivity to photochemical reactions owing to the presence of elevated levels of coloured dissolved organic material [Belzile et al., 2002],...). Kirst et al. [1991] were the first to validate this hypothesis by observing sea ice

Table 1 Literature sea ice DMS and DMSP data. * Sp, spring; Su, summer; Wi, winter; NA, not available
SO, Southern Ocean; b Mean is given in bold, followed by the range in parentheses; CDMSPp only; d
DMSPd + DMS; Calculated for ice categories with ice thickness <1.20 m; Number of cores weighted
average

Location	Ice type	Season*	DMSP <sup>b</sup> (nM)	DMS <sup>b</sup> (nM)	DMS+DMSP <sup>b</sup> (nM)	Source
Weddell Sea	Pack ice	Sp	322 (4-1664)	NA	NA	Kirst et al. [1991]
Resolute Passage	Pack ice	Sp	325c (0-6014) <sup>c</sup>	NA	950 <sup>d</sup> (nd-15051) <sup>d</sup>	Levasseur et al. [1994]
Bellingshausen Sea	Pack ice	Sp - Su	200 (17-546)	NA	NA	Turner et al. [1995]
Prydz Bay	Pack ice	Sp	144 (8-725)	NA	NA	Curran et al. [2003]
Dumont D'Urville	Sea Pack	Wi	40 (nd - 193)	NA	NA	Curran et al. [2003]
Ross Sea	Pack ice	Sp - Su	212 (5-980)	NA	NA	DiTullio et al. [1998]
Ross Sea	Fast ice	Sp	150 (81-219)	NA	NA	DiTullio et al. [1998]
Offshore Prydz	Bay Pack	Sp	107 (6-787)	NA	NA	Trevena et al. [2003]
Baffin Bay	Pack ice	Sp - Su	126° (8.66-987)°	NA	NA	Lee et al. [2001]
Prydz Bay	Fast ice	Sp - Su	112 (9-1478)	NA	NA	Trevena et al. [2003]
Gerlache Inlet	Fast ice	Su	NA (4.4-450)	NA	NA	Gambaro et al. [2004]
Indian sector of SO	Pack/Fast ice	Sp	185 <sup>e,f</sup> (45-796) <sup>e</sup>	12 (<0.3-75)	NA	Trevena and Jones [2006]
Dumont D'Urville Sea	Fast ice	Sp	NA	NA (4-74)	NA	Delille et al. [2007]

DMSP levels up to 56 times higher than those observed in open water. Although all studies conducted over Antarctic sea ice to date agree in terms of range of DMSP levels observed [Trevena et al., 2003], they hardly contribute to give a clear picture of existing seasonal or regional patterns (see also Table 1). Particularly winter and time series studies are lacking. An attempt is made below to briefly summarise the main findings of sea ice studies conducted in both hemispheres about factors controlling the observed levels of DMSP and DMSO.

Relationships to biomass and ice assemblages – There is a broad consensus to state that the distribution of DMSP in sea ice is related to that of the algal biomass usually inferred from chlorophyll *a*. Attempts to investigate the existence of a functional and statistically significant relationship between those two variables were however not always successful. Reasons invoked to explain the absence or the poor nature of the relationship between DMSP and chlorophyll *a* are various: sampling bias [Kirst et al., 1991], spatial decoupling between DMSP and chlorophyll *a* due to algal mortality [Trevena et al., 2003], non relevance to use chlorophyll *a* as a proxy for algal biomass as algae can adjust their chlorophyll *a* content in response to light intensity [Lee et al., 2001] or complex nature of multispecies samples

analysed [Lee et al., 2001]. Significant relationships are sometimes revealed following a more or less rigorous selection of the data or reduction of the dataset to particular cases [Trevena and Jones, 2012]. Some particular ice algal assemblages like slush communities in interior ice of rafted sea ice or surface slush communities, generally exhibiting high levels of algal biomass, demonstrated to be hotspots in terms of DMSP [Trevena et al., 2006] and DMS [Zemmelink et al., 2008] production. The taxonomic composition of algal assemblages seems to exert a major role on the observed DMSP levels. Already acknowledged as important DMSP-producers in open water studies [Stefels et al., 2007], haptophytes/ prymnesiophytes (amongst which *Phaeocystis* sp.) [Kirst et al., 1991; Turner et al., 1995; di Tullio et al., 1998; Trevena et al., 2000] and dinoflagellates [Kirst et al., 1991; Trevena et al., 2000] maintain their status in the sea ice environment. Unlike in sea water where they are acknowledged to be low DMSP-producers [Stefels et al., 2007], there is a broad consensus between authors to state that diatoms are important contributors to the sea ice DMSP pool due to the generally high biomass levels they exhibit in the sea ice environment [Levasseur et al., 1994; Turner et al., 1995; di Tullio et al., 1998; Trevena et al., 2000].

Dependency on ice thickness and season – Trevena and Jones [2006] identified a relationship between DMSP and ice thickness and stated that the higher levels of DMSP encountered in thinner ice covers resulted from exposure of newly incorporated sea ice algae to higher light levels (compared with light conditions encountered in mixed layer seawater) enhancing algal productivity and DMSP synthesis. These authors state, however that such a relationship may not apply to other seasons, notably winter. DMSP production in sea ice is indeed very likely to be season-dependent in the view of the unique low mean concentration of DMSP (40 nM) reported in Antarctic winter sea ice off Dumont d'Urville station [Curran and Jones, 1998].

*Role of nutrients* – Although expected, nutrient availability in sea ice was not reported to exert a strong influence on the observed DMSP levels. Trevena et al. [2000] detected no relationship between nitrate and DMSP and attributed it to the fact that it is difficult to isolate such kind of trend from field data. Trevena et al. [2003] suggested silicate exerted an indirect influence on DMSP production by controlling the ice algal biomass.

*Response to various environmental stresses* – Attempts to demonstrate that DMSO could act as cryoprotectant or accessory pigment with Arctic ice algal communities were not successful [Lee et al., 2001], this failure being attributed to the complex nature of the multispecies samples analysed. The likely osmotic shock undergone by sea ice algae during melting is

thought to favour the release of intracellular DMSP into the dissolved phase and its further transformation into DMS [Trevena et al., 2006]. In this view of a potential control of ambient salinity on DMS/P cycling, Delille et al. [2007] observed that the increase of brine DMS was inversely related to the decrease in salinity. Those authors also stated that the increase of DMS could result from increasing grazing pressure which may coincide with the widening of brine channels during melting [see also Archer et al., 1996]. Hyperoxic conditions encountered in sea ice brine would also enhance DMS production from the perspective that DMS would be part of a consortium of free radical scavenger molecules [Delille et al., 2007]. In a recent tracer experiment conducted on Antarctic sea ice brines, Asher et al. [2011] demonstrated the intense DMS/P/O cycling that can take place in this environment and identified DMSO reduction as a major pathway of DMS production in Antarctic sea ice.

*Fluxes* – It is acknowledged that sea ice contributes to increase the DMS/P pool of the Southern Ocean on melting [e.g. Trevena et al., 2012 and references therein]. Recent studies have also confirmed the assumption that sea ice could emit substantial amounts of DMS into the atmosphere measuring significant DMS flux over highly productive surface slush communities in Weddell Sea multiyear pack ice [Zemmelink et al., 2008] and in East Antarctic fast ice [Nomura et al., 2012], stressing the major role played by the snow cover in determining the timing and amplitude of the DMS fluxes. Those two studies are the only ones to date to address temporal evolution of either DMS, DMSP or DMSO in sea ice.

#### REFERENCES

Ackley, S.F., and C.W. Sullivan, 1994. Physical controls on the development and characteristics of Antarctic sea ice biological communities - a review and synthesis, *Deep-Sea Res. Part I*, 41(10), 1583-1604.

Archer, S. D., R. J. G. Leakey, P. H. Burkill, M. A. Sleigh, and C. J. Appleby. 1996. Microbial ecology of sea ice at a coastal Antarctic site: Community composition, biomass and temporal change. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 135, 179–195.

Archer, S.D., G.C. Smith, P.D. Nightingale, C.E. Widdicombe, G.A Tarran, A.P. Ress, and P.H. Burkill, 2002. Dynamics of particulate dimethylsulphoniopropionate during a Lagrangian experiment in the northern North Sea. *Deep-Sea Research Part II*, 49, 2979–2999.

Arrigo, K.R., and D.N. Thomas, 2004. Large scale importance of sea ice biology in the Southern Ocean. Antarct. Sci., 16(4), 471-486.

Arrigo, K.R., van Dijken, G.L., and Bushinsky, S., 2008. Primary production in the Southern Ocean, J. Geophys. Res., 113, C08004. doi:10.1029/2007JC004551.

Arrigo, K. R., T. Mock, and M. P. Lizotte, 2010. Primary Producers and Sea Ice, in *Sea Ice*, *Second Edition*, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 283–325, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Asher, E. C., J. W. H. Dacey, M. M. Mills, K. R. Arrigo, and P. D. Tortell, 2011. High concentrations and turnover rates of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in Antarctic sea ice, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 38, L23609, doi:10.1029/2011GL049712.

Bates, T.S., R.P. Kiene, G.V. Wolfe, P.A. Matrai, F.P. Chavez, K.R. Buck, B.W. Blomquist, and R.L. Cuhel, 1994. The cycling of sulfur in surface seawater of the northeast Pacific, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 99 (C4), 7835–7843.

Belzile, C., J. A. E. Gibson, W. F. Vincent, 2002. Colored dissolved organic matter and dissolved organic carbon exclusion from lake ice: Implications for irradiance transmission and carbon cycling. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 47(5), 1283-1293. doi: 10.4319/lo.2002.47.5.1283

Brierley, A. S., and D. N. Thomas, 2002. Ecology of Southern Ocean pack ice, Adv. Mar. Biol., 43, 171-276.

Challenger, F., 1951. Biological methylation, Adv. Enzymol., 12, 429-491.

Charlson, R.J., J.E. Lovelock, M.O. Andreae, and S.G. Warren, 1987. Oceanic phytoplankton, atmospheric sulphur, cloud albedo and climate. *Nature*, 326, 655-661.

Comiso, J. C., 2010. Variability and trends of the global sea ice cover, in *Sea Ice, Second Edition*, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 23–77, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Curran, M. A. J., G. B. Jones, and H. Burton, 1998. Spatial distribution of dimethylsulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate in the Australasian sector of the Southern Ocean, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 103, 16677–16689.

Delille, B., B. Jourdain, A. V. Borges, J.-L. Tison, and D. Delille, 2007. Biogas (CO<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, dimethylsulfide) dynamics in spring Antarctic fast ice, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 52(4), 1367–1379.

DiTullio, G. R., D. L. Garrison, and S. Mathot, 1998. Dimethylsulfonopropionate in sea ice algae from the Ross Sea polynya, in *Antarctic Sea Ice: Biological Processes, Interaction and Variability*, Antarct. Res. Ser., vol. 73, edited by M. Lizotte and K. Arrigo, pp. 139–146, AGU, Washington, D. C.

Dumont, I., 2009. Interactions between the microbial network and the organic matter in the Southern Ocean: Impacts on the biological carbon pump, Ph.D. thesis, Fac. des Sci., Univ. Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels.

Fedotov, V.I., N.V. Cherepanov, and K. P. Tyshko, 1998. Some features of the growth, structure and metamorphism of East Antarctic landfast sea ice, In *Antarctic Sea Ice: Physical Processes, Interactions And Variability*, Antarct. Res. Ser., Volume 74, Pages 343-354.

Fripiat, F., D. Cardinal, J.-L. Tison, A. Worby, and L. André, 2007. Diatom-induced silicon isotopic fractionation in Antarctic sea ice, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 112, G02001, doi:10.1029/2006JG000244.

Gambaro, A., I. Moret, R. Piazza, C. Andreoli, E. D. Rin, G. Capodaglio, C. Barbante, and P. Cescon, 2004. Temporal evolution of DMS and DMSP in Antarctic Coastal Sea water, *Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem.*, 84(6–7), 401–412.

Gosink, T.A., J.G. Pearson, and J.J. Kelly. 1976. Gas movement through sea-ice. *Nature*, 263, pp. 41-42.

Hatton, A.D., L. Darroch, and G. Malin, 2005. The role of dimethylsulphoxide in the marine biogeochemical cycle of dimethylsulphide, Oceanogr. Mar. Biol., 42, 29-55.

Janech, M.G., A. Krell, T. Mock, J.-S Kang, and J.A Raymond, 2006. Ice-binding proteins from sea ice diatoms (*Bacillariophyceae*), J. Phycol., 42(2), 410-416.

Karentz, D., and H.J. Spero, 1995. Response of a natural *Phaeocystis* population to ambient fluctuations of UVB radiation caused by Antarctic ozone depletion, *J. Plankton Res.*, 17(9), 1771-1789.

Kattner, G., D.N. Thomas, C. Haas, H. Kennedy, and G.S., Dieckmann, 2004. Surface ice and gap layers in Antarctic sea ice: Highly productive habitats, *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 277, 1-12.

Kay, J. E., M. M. Holland, and A. Jahn, 2011. Inter-annual to multi-decadal Arctic sea ice extent trends in a warming world. *Geophys. Res. Let.*, 38, L15708. doi:10.1029/2011GL048008.

Kettle, A.J., and M.O. Andreae, 2000. Flux of dimethylsulfide from the oceans: A comparison of updated data seas and flux models. J. Geophys. Res., 105, 26793–26808.

Kirst, G., C. Thiel, H. Wolff, J. Nothnagel, M. Wanzek, and R. Ulmke, 1991. Dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) in ice algae and its possible biological role. *Mar. Chem.*, 35, 381-388.

Krembs, C., H. Eicken, and J.W. Deming, 2011. Exopolymer alteration of physical properties of sea ice and implications for ice habitability and biogeochemistry in a warmer Arctic. *PNAS*, 108, 9, 3653–3658.

Krüger, O., and H. Graßl, 2011. Southern Ocean phytoplankton increases cloud albedo and reduces precipitation, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 38, L08809.

Lannuzel, D., V. Schoemann, J. de Jong, J.-L. Tison, and L. Chou, 2007. Distribution and biogeochemical behaviour of iron in the East Antarctic sea ice, *Mar. Chem.*, 106(1-2 SPEC. ISS.), 18-32.

Lannuzel, D., V. Schoemann, J. de Jong, L. Chou, B. Delille, S. Becquevort, and J.-L. Tison, 2008. Iron study during a time series in the western Weddell pack ice, *Mar. Chem.*, 108(1-2), 85-95.

Lee, P. A., and S. J. de Mora, 1999. Intracellular dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) in unicellular marine algae: speculations on its origin and possible biological role. *J. Phycol.*, 35(1), 8-18.

Lee, P.A., S. J. de Mora, and M. Gosselin, 2001. Particulate dimethylsulfoxide in Arctic seaice algal communities: the cryoprotectant hypothesis revisited. *J. Phycol.*, 37(4), 488-499.

Levasseur, M., M. Gosselin, and S. Michaud, 1994. A new source of dimethylsulfide (DMS) for the Arctic atmosphere: Ice diatoms, *Mar. Biol.*, 121(2), 381–387.

Liu, J. and J.A. Curry, 2010. Accelerated warming of the Southern Ocean and its impacts on the hydrological cycle and sea ice, *PNAS*, 107(34), 14987-14992.

Lizotte, M.P., 2003. Microbiology of sea ice. In: Thomas, D.N., Dieckmann, G.S. (Eds.), Sea Ice : an Introduction to Its Physics, Chemistry, Biology and Geology, pp. 184-210, Blackwell Science, Oxford, UK,.

Lubin, D., Massom, R.A., 2006. Polar Remote Sensing, in *Atmosphere and Oceans*, vol. I. Praxis/Springer-Verlag, Chichester/Berlin, 756 pp.

Massom, R.A., and S.E. Stammerjohn, 2010. Antarctic sea ice change and variability -Physical and ecological implications, *Polar Sci.*, 4(2), 149-186.

Mock, T., and H. Hock, 2005. Long-term temperature acclimation of photosynthesis in steady-state cultures of the polar diatom *Fragilariopsis cylindrus*, *Photosyn Res*, 85, 307–317.

Mock, T., and D.N. Thomas, 2005. Recent advances in sea-ice microbiology, Environ. Microbiol., 7(5), 605-619. Nomura, D., S. Koga, N. Kasamatsu, H. Shinagawa, D. Simizu, M. Wada, and M. Fukuchi, 2012. Direct measurements of DMS flux from Antarctic fast sea ice to the atmosphere by a chamber technique, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 117, C04011, doi:10.1029/2010JC006755.

Perovich, D. K., 2003. Complex yet translucent: the optical properties of sea ice, *Physica B*, 338(1–4), 107-114.

Petrich, C., and H. Eicken, 2010. Growth, structure and properties of sea ice, in *Sea Ice, Second Edition*, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 23–77, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Quetin, L.B., and R.M. Ross, 2009. Life under Antarctic pack ice: a krill perspective. in *Smithsonian at the Poles: Contributions to International Polar Year Science*, edited by Krupnik, I., M.A. Lang, and S.E. Miller, pp. 285-298, Smithsonian Inst., Washington DC.

Quinn, P.K., and T.S. Bates, 2011. The case against climate regulation via oceanic phytoplankton sulphur emissions, *Nature*, 480(7375), 51-56.

Ralph, P. J., K. G. Ryan, A. Martin, and G. Fenton, 2007. Melting out of sea ice causes greater photosynthetic stress in algae than freezing in. J. Phycol., 43(5), 948-956.

Raymond, J.A., 2011. Algal ice-binding proteins change the structure of sea ice. PNAS, 108(24), E198.

Rózańska, M., M. Poulin, M. Gosselin, 2008. Protist entrapment in newly formed sea ice in the Coastal Arctic Ocean, J. Mar. Sys., 74(3-4), 887-901.

Ryan, K.G., A. McMinn, K.A. Mitchel, and L. Trenerry, 2002. Mycosporine-like amino acids in Antarctic sea ice algae, and their response to UVB radiation, *Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung - Section C Journal of Biosciences*, 57 (5-6), 471-477.

Ryan, K.G., P. Ralph, A. McMinn, 2004. Acclimation of Antarctic bottom-ice algal communities to lowered salinities during melting, *Polar Biol.*, 27(11), 679-686.

Rysgaard, S., J. Bendtsen, B. Delille, G.S. Dieckmann, R.N. Glud, H. Kennedy, J. Mortensen, S. Papadimitriou, D.N. Thomas, and J.-L. Tison, 2011. Sea ice contribution to the air-sea CO<sub>2</sub> exchange in the Arctic and Southern Oceans, *Tellus B*, 63(5), 823-830.

Simó, R., and C. Pedrós-Alió, 1999. Short-term variability in the open ocean cycle of dimethylsulfide, *Global Biogeochem. Cy.*, 13(4), 1173–1181.

Simo, R., C.Pedros-Alio, G. Malin, and J.O. Grimalt, 2000. Biological turnover of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in contrasting open-sea waters, *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 203, 1-11.

Spiese, C.E., D.J. Kieber, C.T. Nomura, and R.P. Kiene, 2009. Reduction of dimethylsulfoxide to dimethylsulfide by marine phytoplankton, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 54(2), 560-570.

Stammerjohn, S. E., D. G. Martinson, R. C. Smith, X. Yuan, and D. Rind, 2008. Trends in Antarctica annual sea ice retreat and advance and their relation to El Nino-Southern Oscillation and Southern Annular Mode Variability. J. Geophys. Res., 113, C03S90, doi:10.1029/2007JC004269.

Stefels, J. 2000. Physiological aspects of the production and conversion of DMSP in marine algae and higher plants. J. Sea Res., 43, 183-197.

Stefels, J., M. Steinke, S. Turner, G. Malin, and S. Belviso, 2007. Environmental constraints on the production and removal of the climatically active gas dimethylsulphide DMS and implications for ecosystem modeling. *Biogeochemistry*, 83, 245-275.

Stroeve, J., M. M. Holland, W. Meier, T. Scambos, and M. Serreze, 2007. Arctic sea ice decline: Faster than forecast, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 34, L09501, doi:10.1029/2007GL029703.

Simó, R., C. Pedrós-Alió, G. Malin, and J.O. Grimalt, 2000. Biological turnover of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in contrasting open-sea waters. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 203, 1–11.

Sunda, W., D.J. Kieber, , R.P. Kiene, and S. Huntsman, 2002. An antioxidant function for DMSP and DMS in marine algae. *Nature*, 418 (6895), 317-320.

Tréguer, P. and P. Pondaven, 2002. Climatic changes and the carbon cycle in the Southern Ocean: a step forward. *Deep-Sea Res. Part II*, 49(9-10), 1597-1600.

Trevena, A.J., G.B. Jones, S.W. Wright, and R.L.Van Den Enden, 2000. Profiles of DMSP, algal pigments, nutrients and salinity in pack ice from eastern Antarctica, *J. Sea Res.*, 43(3-4), 265-273.

Trevena, A.J., G.B. Jones, S.W Wright, and R.L. Van den Enden, 2003. Profiles of dimethylsulphoniopropionate (DMSP), algal pigments, nutrients and salinity in the fast ice of Prydz Bay, Antarctica. J. Geophys. Res., 108(3145). doi:10.1029/2002JC001369.

Trevena, A.J., and G. B. Jones. 2006. Dimethylsulphide and dimethylsulphoniopropionate in Antarctic sea ice and their release during sea ice melting. *Mar. Chem.*, 98, 210-222.

Trevena, A., and G.B. Jones, 2012. DMS flux over the Antarctic sea ice zone. *Mar. Chem.*, 134-135, 47-58.

Trodahl, H. J., S. O. F. Wilkinson, M. J. McGuinness, and T. G. Haskell, 2001. Thermal conductivity of sea ice; dependence on temperature and depth. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 28(7), 1279-1282. doi:10.1029/2000GL012088.

Turner, S. M., P. D. Nightingale, W. Broadgate, and P. S. Liss, 1995. The distribution of dimethyl sulphide and dimethyl sulphoniopropionate in Antarctic waters and sea ice, *Deep-Sea Res.Part II*, 42(4–5), 1059–1080.

Vernet, M., Martinson, D., Iannuzzi, R., Stammerjohn, S., Kozlowski, W., Sines, K., Smith, R., Garibotti, I., 2008. Primary production within the sea-ice zone west of the Antarctic

Peninsula: sea ice, summer mixed layer, and irradiance. Deep Sea Res. Part II, 55(18-19), 2068-2085.

Weeks, W. S., and S. F. Ackley. 1986. The growth, structure and properties of sea ice, in *The geophysics of sea ice*, edited by N. Untersteiner, pp. 9-164, NATO ASI Ser., Ser. B, vol. 146. Plenum Press, New York.

Zhang, J., 2007. Increasing Antarctic sea ice under warming atmospheric and oceanic conditions. J. Climate, 20(11), 2515-2529.

Zemmelink, H. J., J. W. H. Dacey, L. Houghton, E. J. Hintsa, and P. S. Liss, 2008. Dimethylsulfide emissions over the multi-year ice of the western Weddell Sea, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 35, L06603.



#### THESIS OUTLINE

This thesis was a contribution to the ARC project n°02/07-287 entitled "Sea Ice Biogeochemistry in a Climate Change Perspective" (SIBClim) funded by the Communauté française de Belgique (now called Fédération Wallonie – Bruxelles) which main objective was the study of carbon, iron and sulphur biogeochemical interactions between sea-ice, ocean and atmosphere and their controlling mechanisms in the perspective of the role played by ice-covered regions of the northern and southern polar oceans in regulating the earth's climate.

In this context, the aims of this work were multiple:

- Develop a reliable analytical method for the determination of dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) in sea ice taking into account the specificity of the sea ice material (bulk ice measurements, impact of sea ice melting on the sympagic organisms);
- Characterise the evolution of the physicochemical properties of the spring and summer first year sea ice cover during ISPOL (Ice Station Polarstern, Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, November – December 2004) and SIMBA (Sea Ice Mass Balance in Antarctica, Bellingshausen Sea, Antarctica, September – October 2007), respectively, providing thereby the necessary framework to assist with interpretation of biological and biogeochemical datasets acquired in parallel;
- 3. Acquire sea ice DMS, DMSP and DMSO datasets by the routine use of robust methods (developed in the frame or in parallel of the present work) to characterise the temporal evolution of those compounds in spring (SIMBA) and summer (ISPOL) Antarctic sea ice in relation to the previously described physicochemical frame and to a series of ancillary biological and biogeochemical variables with an emphasis on the exchanges processes (inferred fluxes) with the Atmosphere and the Ocean;
- 4. Assess the impact of physicochemical properties of a growing ice cover on the evolution of the gas properties (gas content and composition (O<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>)) and test the validity of the boundary-layer model to describe the evolution of such gas properties, which could be applied to other gas (notably DMS) and taken into account for further modelling efforts.

In the perspective of providing the scientific community, especially ecosystem modellers, with useful datasets, the general philosophy of this work could be summarized as following: 1) the physicochemical characterisation of the ice cover, generally deficient in many sea ice biogeochemical studies, must precede any other analysis; 2) choice of textbook case studies (e.g. level ice) is encouraged in order to emphasise the evolution of the monitored variables in a time series perspective; 3) the use and development of robust analytical procedures is encouraged to produce reliable data.

### THESIS FORMAT

This thesis takes the form of an article thesis, with each chapter consisting of one or two peerreviewed publications in international scientific journals (four published one in review and one in preparation).

After the introduction, Chapter II outlines the challenges posed by the sampling and preparation of sea ice samples for biogeochemical analyses and recommends a robust method for the sequential analysis of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in sea ice.

Chapter III describes the evolution of physicochemical properties of the sea ice cover that would constitute the context into which the evolution of biogeochemical variables (notably DMS, DMSP and DMSO) will be discussed.

Chapter IV describes the temporal evolution of DMS and DMSP in first-year summer sea ice and the comparative temporal evolution at two contrasting sites of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in first-year spring sea ice.

Chapter V describes the temporal evolution of the gas properties of laboratory prepared sea ice and illustrates the relevance to use a boundary layer model to describe the evolution of the gas concentration profiles in growing sea ice under the sole influence of physicochemical processes

Chapter VI finally draws the general conclusions of the present research work.



CHAPTER II: Towards better practices for the determination of biogeochemical compounds in sea ice: the case of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO).

#### Paper 1 :

A robust approach for the determination of dimethylsulfoxide in sea ice, 2011. *Limnol. Oceanogr.: Methods*, 9, 261 – 274. by Brabant F., S. El Amri and J.-L. Tison.

**Contribution of F. Brabant**: Experimental design, samples preparation, laboratory measurements, analysis of the results, writing of the paper.

#### LIMNOLOGY and OCEANOGRAPHY: METHODS

Liennel. Oceanogr.: Methods 9, 2911, 261-274 6 2011, by the American Society of Limnology and Oceanography, Inc.

# A robust approach for the determination of dimethylsulfoxide in sea ice

Frédéric Brabant\*, Saïda El Amri, and Jean-Louis Tison Laboratoire de Glaciologie (DSTE), Faculté des Sciences Université Libre de Bruxelles, Av. F.D. Roosevelt, 50 - CP 160/03, 1050 Bruxelles, Belgium

#### Abstract

The melting of sea ice samples is acknowledged to be deleterious to sympagic microorganisms due to the hypo-osmotic shock undergone by the organism when released from high salinity brine inclusions into the sample melt. Because melting of sea ice samples was also anticipated to modify the initial proportions of dimethylsulfide (DMS), dimethylsulfonlopropionate (DMSP), and dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), three sample treatments were tested on an Antarctic sea ice sample, with the aim of identifying an efficient procedure that could routinely be applied for the determination of DMSO in sea ice. Herein, it was demonstrated that purging the melted sample before the determination of DMSO in the sample via an enzyme-linked method produced reliable DMSO results (215.8 ± 8.9 nmol L<sup>1</sup>, precision 4.1%). However, analysis revealed that the unintentional enzymatic cleavage of DMSP through the subsequent production of interfering DMS during melting caused an overestimation of the DMSO content in the sample by more than 59% and concurrently an underestimation of the DMSP content by approximately 9%. The sequential determination of DMSP after the DMSO determination by the enzyme-linked method was shown to be problematic. To circumvent all of these issues, we recommend an analytical procedure for the sequential determination of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO in sea ice. Ultimately, the first depth profile of DMSO at high resolution in sea ice was produced. The depth-integrated DMSO concentration in sea ice was determined to be 718 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>, which indicated that Antarctic sea ice is a potentially important source of DMSO for the Southern Ocean.

Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) is a widespread nonvolatile dimethylated sulfur species that is present in a wide variety of aquatic environments. Ubiquitous in the marine environment, DMSO originates from a series of biotic and abiotic processes; on occasion, it is found at levels exceeding those of dimethylsulfide (DMS) and dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) (Simó 1998; Lee and de Mora 1999a). Interest in studying DMSO in the marine environment lies in its link with DMS, a biogenic trace gas, which might play an impor-

DOI 10.4319/lom.2011.9.261

tant role in climate control by mitigating global warming (Charlson et al. 1987; Andreae 1990; Bates et al. 1999). DMSO may either act as a source of DMS, through the production of DMSO by phytoplankton and its subsequent reduction into DMS, or as a sink through the formation of DMSO by photochemical or bacterial oxidation of DMS (Hatton et al. 2005). DMSO can be a polyvalent protective compound at the cellular level. Lee and de Mora (1999b) have proposed three major roles for DMSO: it can act as a specialist osmoregulator in extreme environments (cryo-osmoregulator), as a free radical scavenger and as an intracellular electrolyte modifier. Sunda et al. (2002) suggested that DM5O might take part in a chain of free radical scavengers (along with DMSP, DMS, and methane sulfinic acid) initiated by the lysis of DMSP. The levels and distribution of DMS and DMSP in the marine environment have been largely reported for approximately thirty years; however, the emergence of studies dedicated to DMSO is more recent. In the last decade, the development of analytical techniques with sufficient sensitivity and selectivity to quantify trace amounts of DMSO has provided a better understanding of the distribution of DMSO in the ocean (Simó 1998). Most of those techniques encompass a reduction step of DMSO to DMS and

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author: E-mail: fbrabant@ulb.ac.be

Acknowledgments

F. Brabant is funded by an F.R.I.A. (Fonds pour la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture) grant from the Belgian Fonds de la Recherche Scientilique–FNRS. This research was supported by the Communauté française de Belgique (SIBClim project - ARC contract nr 02/07-287). The authors are indebted to the Alfred Wegener Institut für Polar und Meeresforschung (AWI) for offering them the opportunity to take part in the ISPOL (ice Station Polarstern) experiment. The authors would also like to acknowledge the support of the captain, officers, and crew of the R/V Polarstern during the ANT XXII/2 cruise. The authors would like to thank the two anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments.
the subsequent gas phase analysis of the produced DMS via a gas chromatography procedure. Depending on the reduction method used, interference with DMSP in the sample may occur, leading to an overestimation of DMSO content (reviewed by Simó 1998).

Elimination of DMSP prior to DMSO analysis (Simó et al. 1996; Simó et al. 1998) or the use of a specific reducing agent, such as DMSO reductase (DMSOr) (Hatton et al. 1994), can prevent this bias. The main motivation of studying DMSO in sea ice is that DMSO can be produced in high concentrations by ice algae, because of the potential role of DMSO in osmoregulation and cryoprotection (Lee et al. 2001). A good correlation between intracellular levels of DMSO (particulate DMSO or DMSOp) and DMSP (particulate DMSP or DMSPp) has been shown in data collected in various marine biomes and during different seasons. The data suggest that both compounds have a common origin in phytoplankton and that DMSP may be the precursor of DMSO (Simó and Vila-Costa 2006; Hatton and Wilson 2007). If the same correlation applies to sea ice, high levels of DMSO are expected to be found in sea ice because high levels of DMSP (up to three orders of magnitude higher than background sub-nanomolar values in seawater) are commonly observed in that environment (e.g., Kirst et al. 1991; Levasseur et al. 1994; DiTullio et al. 1998; Trevena and Jones 2006). Only two studies have reported sea Ice DMSO concentrations, which were measured in the bottom 2 cm of the ice cover in the Arctic (Lee et al. 2001; Bouillon et al. 2002). The levels of DMSO measured in these studies, with DMSOp concentrations ranging between 1.35 and 102 nmol L-1 (average 13.7 nmol L-1), were much higher than those usually found in the water column. Bouil-Ion et al. (2002) attributed these high values to the higher biomass of ice algae found in the ice samples. In their study, Lee et al. (2001) tested the hypothesis that DMSO would be biosynthesized by sea ice algae as a cryoprotectant and as an accessory pigment, which would enhance the harvesting of blue light by the algae, as proposed by Horne and McEwan (1998); however, those presumed roles could not be demonstrated. Lee et al. (2001) attributed the lack of clear trends or relationships involving DMSO to the complex nature of the multispecies samples analyzed.

## Impacts of sea ice sample melting

### Effects on sympagic organisms

Sea ice is a semi-solid matrix of nearly pure ice crystals that incorporates bubbles of gas and brine inclusions in the form of pockets, tubes or as a network of brine channels (e.g., Weeks and Ackley 1986; Trodahl et al. 2001). This labyrinth of brine inclusions constitutes the habitat of sympagic (sea-ice associated) organisms (including DMSP and DMSO producers), which live embedded in the viscous gel phase of the exopolymeric substances (EPS) produced by diatoms (Krembs et al. 2002a). Because of its complex nature, sampling sea ice and preparing samples for further biogeochemical analysis with little distur-

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

bance to the sample is a challenge (Brierley and Thomas 2002). To apply the methods developed for measuring DMSO in aqueous solutions to sea ice, it is necessary either to melt the sea ice sample or to sample the liquid phase of sea ice (sea ice brines), assuming all of the analytes of interest occur exclusively within that phase. Both procedures have advantages and limitations. In their review, Brierley and Thomas (2002) reported three methods routinely used to sample the organisms living in sea ice. The sackhole sampling technique (Garrison and Buck 1986; Stoecker et al. 1992, 1993; Gleitz et al. 1995; Papadimitriou et al. 2007) and the centrifugation of ice core sections at in situ temperatures (Weissenberger et al. 1992; Krembs et al. 2000, 2001, 2002b) are two methods dedicated to the collection of sea ice brine, assuming that most sympagic organisms live within the brine inclusions. The main limitation of both of these methods, however, is that they fail to recover all the particulate matter within the ice (Brierley and Thomas 2002). This failing might be explained by the viscous gel phase of EPS filling the pore space that would retain a substantial fraction of the particulate matter anchored to the ice crystals and would also partly retain dissolved material, such as dissolved organic carbon (DOC), as demonstrated by Becquevort et al. (2009). A recent time series study of first-year sea ice in the Weddell Sea demonstrates that the same explanation would also hold for DMSP, which has been found to be predominantly linked to the solid phase of sea ice rather than dissolved in the sea ice brine (Tison et al. 2010). The melting of sea ice core sections, conversely, ensures the recovery of both the particulate and dissolved phases; however, the main drawback with this method is that it requires the sympagic organisms to undergo hypo-osmotic shock when released from the highly saline brine inclusions into a hypotonic solution. The hypo-osmotic shock is believed to alter the biogeochemical properties of the sample. Thus, the rapid decrease in salinity of the medium (potentially above 200 when melting winter sea ice) can result in a wide range of physiological impacts at the cellular level, including cell rupture, reduced photosynthesis and damage to enzymes (Ralph et al. 2007). Garrison and Buck (1986) demonstrated that the rapid and extreme changes in salinity undergone by sympagic organisms during the melting of a sea ice sample resulted in a substantial loss of fragile organisms, such as flagellates and ciliates, whereas diatoms and other silicified organisms were slightly affected. These authors showed that more than 70% of those fragile organisms were lost due to cell lysis in response to the osmotic stress compared with an osmotically buffered melted control. Thomas et al. (1998) showed that the contribution of the dissolved chemicals in the sample (like nutrients, DOC) from cell disruption or release of intracellular osmolytes during the melting process would be insignificant to the concentrations of the main nutrients and chemicals usually measured in sea ice, considering the internal cellular pools of these main compounds (Thomas et al. 2010). It has also been demonstrated that exposing the samples to hyposaline conditions affects the rate of photosynthesis for sea ice algae (Arrigo and Sullivan

1992; Ralph et al. 2007). Deming (2010) reported that melting the sample would also drastically affect the abundance of sea ice bacteria unless a procedure was used to reproduce the in situ salinity and temperature of the brine inclusion within the sample melt (Junge et al. 2004).

Physiological response of algae to the hypo-osmotic shock and potential effects on the initial sea ice DMS and DMSP pools

To date, the most common practice used to release DMS, DMSP, or DMSO from the sea ice matrix before analysis is to melt the sample in filtered scawater to at least partly mitigate the hypo-osmotic shock. When on-field analysis of the compounds is impossible, additional preservation techniques can be applied to preserve either the DMS or DMSP, such as the acidification technique (Curran et al. 1998; Curran and Jones 2000). Trevena et al. (2003) used this technique but concluded their study by mentioning some limitations of the method for the determination of DMS-related compounds. They observed that nearly all DMSP was found in the dissolved fraction and suggested that this DMSP could have partly originated from damage to the cell caused by salinity stress undergone during thawing. A physiological response to a hypo-osmotic shock involving DMS and related molecules has been observed with some algal species. Additionally, the rapid release of intracellular DMSP into the medium has already been observed for a benthic diatom Cylindrotheca closterium (Van Bergeljk et al. 2002; Van Bergeijk et al. 2003) and for the DMSP-producing prasinophyte Tetraselmis subcordiformis (Dickson and Kirst 1986) following a salinity down-shock. Dickson and Kirst (1986) suggested that the rapid excretion of DMSP (and the subsequent production of dissolved DMSP or DMSPd) could be an osmotic acclimatization process because DMSP is a compatible solute (Welsh 2000) and well-known for its role in cellular osmoregulation (Stefels 2000; Van Alstyne 2008). A recent laboratory experiment (Barbara R. Lyon, Marine Biomedicine and Environmental Science, Medical University of South Carolina, pers. comm.) was designed to assess the impact of changes in the salinity of medium on both the intracellular and extracellular DMSP concentrations with Fragilariopsis cylindricus (a sea ice diatom ubiquitous in Antarctic sea ice algal assemblages). A drastic increase in DMSPd concentration was observed after lowering the salinity of the medium from 35 to 10 in 24 h. This observation was thought to be the result of the passive release of DMSP into the dissolved fraction because of a change in membrane permeability; further experiments using a Sytox stain demonstrated that algal cells exposed to an abrupt salinity shift showed compromised membrane integrity without evidence of massive cell lysis (Barbara R. Lyon, pers. comm.). In another laboratory experiment with the dinophyte Heterocapsa triquetra, Niki et al. (2007) showed that hypo-osmotic shock was likely to enhance algal DMS production. According to these authors, the low-salinity shock undergone by the algae stimulated the release of DMSP (as DMSPd). The DMSP was then proposed to be converted to DMS by the DMSP-lyase of Heterocapsa

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

triquetra whose enzymatic activity did not seem to be inhibited by the salinity drop. To quantify the importance of the entire DMSO pool (dissolved and particulate) in sea ice, melting the sample is mandatory, provided that neither the sackhole nor centrifugation methods ensured the full collection of the particulate fraction of the organic matter, including sea ice algae (Brierley and Thomas 2002). Collection of the particulate matter is crucial because this fraction has already been shown to contain substantial levels of DMSO in sea ice (Lee et al. 2001; Bouillon et al. 2002). As observed for seawater samples in response to hypo-osmotic shock, similar perturbations of the dimethylated sulfur pool are very likely to occur with the melting of a sea ice sample. These considerations seem to indicate that the initial proportions of DMSP and DMS within a sea ice sample might be significantly modified during its melt. An unintentional enzymatic cleavage of natural DMSP and the subsequent production of DMS are anticipated for the following reasons: first, sea ice is well known to contain elevated algal standing stocks (see Arrigo et al. 2010, for a thorough review of the literature), including DMSP producers (e.g., Kirst et al. 1991; Levasseur et al. 1994; DiTullio et al. 1998; Trevena and Jones 2006). Second, among those sympagic DMSP producers, a few species commonly observed in sea ice algal assemblages, like Phaeocystis antarctica, are known to have DMSP-lyase activity (Rellinger et al. 2009 and references therein). Finally, the important hypo-osmotic shock caused by the melt of the sample is likely to induce the release of intracellular DMSP into the medium by excretion or cell lysis, which can then be enzymatically cleaved into DMS. DMS produced by this process of unintentional enzymatic cleavage of DMSP (referred to hereafter as "interfering DMS") is then expected to interfere with DMS stemming from DMSO reduction, which can consequently lead to an overestimation of the DMSO content in the sea ice sample. In this article, we first test the hypothesis that the direct application of an existing method for the determination of DMSO in aqueous solutions on melted sea ice samples produces overestimated results, and the associated error is quantified. We then propose a simple and fast procedure for the non-biased DMSO determination in sea ice using the reliable enzyme-linked method (Hatton et al. 1994). The most suitable order or sequence for the determination of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO is also discussed.

## Material and procedures

#### Analytical approach

To assess the influence of melting sea ice samples on measured DMSO levels, replicates of a natural sea ice samples were submitted to three different treatments in which DMSO, DMSP, and interfering DMS were analyzed sequentially by a gas chromatography procedure as described below.

# Materials

# Sample

Experiments were performed on a sample of summer firstyear sea ice collected in the western Weddell Sea during the

ISPOL drift experiment (see Tison et al. 2008, for a full description of the temporal evolution of physical parameters at the different stations of the time series). To ensure that significant levels of DMSO could be measured, a sample of approximately 60 g was taken from the bottom-most 5 cm of the ice cover from station 04.12.04 for which a full set of biogeochemical data are available elsewhere (Tison et al. 2008; Dumont et al. 2009; Dumont 2009).

## Sample preparation

The selected sea ice sample was reduced into a fine powder following the procedure described below for the analysis of DMS in a nonmelted sea ice sample. This process involved a dry crushing step inspired from a dry-phase gas extraction procedure designed for polar ice cores (Raynaud et al. 1982). This method has been developed to measure DMS (and potentially other volatile compounds) in nonmelted sea ice samples because melting the sample before the measurement of DMS proved to produce biased results for DMS concentrations. A comparative study of the melting and dry crushing extraction methods conducted on an Antarctic sea ice core showed that although the features of the total DMS+DMSP profile were conserved, the melting method resulted in a six-fold increase of the mean DMS:DMSP ratio compared with the crushing method with a DMS concentration exceeding the DMSP by a factor nine on occasion (Stefels et al. unpub. data). For the purpose of the analysis by gas chromatography, the complete conversion of either DMSO or DMSP to DMS was performed in 20 mL glass vials hermetically sealed with a butyl/PTFE septum cap. After conversion, the vial was connected to a simple purge-and-trap system similar to the one described by Stefels (2009) to be used as a purge chamber, with the exception that an acid scrubber for DMSO analysis was not installed because the reduction method used did not produce acidic vapors. Using a small disposable vial as purge chamber has many advantages. First, it allows the analysis of small volumes, which is particularly suitable to analyze sea ice samples that are expected to contain high levels of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO. Second, there is no risk of interference with remnants of particulate matter from previous analysis in the purge chamber, which can produce persistent elevated blank values and artificially increase the DMS concentration of the samples via an unintentional release of DMS (Uher 1999 and references therein). Minimal maintenance of the system is therefore required. Finally, the portability of the equipment, except for the gas chromatograph (GC), is also an undeniable advantage of the system, making it particularly suitable for field measurements.

## Sulfur quantitation

DMSO and DMSP were analyzed as DMS using an Interscience (Thermo Finnigan) Trace GC gas chromatograph equipped with a six-port switching valve, a 1 m  $\times$  0.75 mm (i.d.) Restek Rt-XLSulfur packed column and a flame photometric detector (FPD). Gas flow rates at the flame were 90 mL min<sup>-1</sup> of H<sub>2</sub>, 115 mL min<sup>-1</sup> of dry air and 20 mL min<sup>-1</sup> of He,

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

as the carrier gas. The GC oven was operated using a temperature program (60-180°C) and the detector temperature was set at 230°C. In this configuration, the DMS eluted at approximately 4.3 min. The detector output was recorded using an EZChrom Elite (Scientific Software Inc., Agilent) interface. The GC was calibrated against dilutions of pure DMSO (>99.7%) for gas chromatography (Merck) in ultra-pure water, which were reduced to DMS following the enzyme-linked method described by Hatton et al. (1994). Because the FPD response is proportional to the n power of the amount of sulfur and may vary depending on the analytical set-up (n is generally in the range 1.5<n<2.5 (Farwell and Barinaga 1986), a linear regression of log(area) vs. log(mass of DMSO) was applied, as recommended by Simó (1998). The analytical precision achieved with the standards was approximately 5%. Using this analytical set-up, a detection limit of 0.006 nmol sulfur was obtained, which corresponded to a concentration of 0.622 nmol L1 for a 10 mL sample. Although this concentration level was higher than the concentration of 0.156 nmol DMSO dm<sup>-3</sup> obtained by Hatton et al. (1994) for a seawater sample with a maximum volume of 100 cm<sup>-3</sup>, it was sufficiently low in view of the high levels of DMSO expected to occur in sea ice samples. To estimate the very high DMSP levels in samples of treatment C (see below), the GC was calibrated against dilutions of pure DMSP (Research Plus Inc.) at a very high concentration after hydrolysis with NaOH, as described below, and it was then analyzed as DMS using the analytical set-up described above. Because the FPD response was prone to change at high sulfur masses due to an autoquenching phenomenon in the detector flame, Sola et al. (1997) suggested evaluation of the relative error generated as a consequence of applying one single linear fit to the whole mass range interval; this would establish the need to decompose the log(area) vs. log(mass of DMSO) curve in a series of linear sectors. Using the same approach, the analysis of the calibration dataset revealed that the determination of two different linear equations corresponding to a part of the whole mass range was required to capture the data at its best and to minimize the relative error, especially in the high mass range (1.86-3.11 nmol), Results are expressed in nmol per liter of ice (nmol L-1). The sample density (0.92 Mg/m3) used to compute the sample volume was calculated according to Cox and Weeks (1983) using the bulk ice salinity (8.86) and ice temperature (-1.8°C) measured on the field on a twin ice core (Tison et al. 2008); a value of 9% was determined for the relative air volume, which was measured as described by Tison et al. (2002) on another sample at the same depth from the same core.

# Procedures

#### Sample preparation

In a cold room (-30°C), the sea ice sample was placed together with two stainless-steel marbles into a stainless-steel vessel specifically designed for the analysis of DMS in sea ice samples (Stefels et al. unpub. data). After hermetical scaling,

the vessel was fixed onto a crushing device and mechanically shaken (several hundred cycles min-1) for 4 cycles of 45 s each to produce a fine ice powder and to ensure that all gas bubbles and brine inclusions were released from the ice matrix. The vessel was then connected to a standard purge and trap line and a GC as described by Stefels (2009) and purged with He to quantify DMS from the nonmelted sea lee sample. DMS from the dry crushed ice sample was purged from the vessel, maintained at approximately -30°C to avoid melting of the sample, but not quantified in the framework of this study. However, this procedure ensured that all the DMS was removed from the sample at this stage, thus preventing any interference with the determination of DMSO and DMSP. The fine ice powder was recovered and divided (by weighing) into 15 vials of 20 mL. The vials were hermetically sealed with a butyl/PTFE septum cap, and samples were stored at -30°C in the dark for further DMSO and DMSP analysis.

#### DMSP analysis

For the quantitation of total DMSP, NaOH was added to the vial containing the ice powder to bring the OH<sup>-</sup> concentration above 2 N and to induce the hydroxide decomposition of DMSP in DMS and acrylic acid (Dacey and Blough 1987); this procedure proved to be 100% efficient (Turner et al. 1990). The vial was then immediately crimp-sealed with a butyl/PITE septum cap, and the sample was left to melt and react at +4°C in the dark for at least 24 h until analysis. The vial was then connected to the purge and trap system, and the sample was purged for 30 min with ultrahigh purity (UHP) grade He (Air Liquide, Alphagaz 2, 99.9999%) at a flow rate of 25 mL min<sup>-1</sup>; DMSP was quantitated as DMS by the GC apparatus described above. DMSO analysis

Once the ice powder had melted, DMSO was reduced into DMS for GC quantitation according to the enzyme-linked reduction method developed by Hatton et al. (1994), except that the sample was bubbled for 25 min with UHP grade He at a flow rate of 25 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. This reduction of DMSO using the DMSO reductase (DMSOr) (Glycomar Ltd.) is known to be the most precise and reproducible among the different existing reduction methods (reviewed by Simó 1998).

### Assessment

## Experiments

Three different treatments, in which DMSP and DMSO concentrations were determined in different orders, were applied to the sample for the following reasons: a) to demonstrate that the direct application of an existing DMSO determination method on a melted sea ice sample, even a specific method, such as the enzyme-linked method used in the present study leads to an overestimation of the DMSO content; b) to test a fast and simple procedure expected to produce reliable DMSO results and c) to validate the results produced by the latter procedure (see Fig. 1 for an overview of the whole analytical sequence). For further statistical analysis, five replicates were analyzed for each treatment. In treatment A, the ice powder

## DMSO determination in sea ice

was melted in a crimp-sealed vial at +4\*C in the dark. Once the sample had completely melted, the reducing solution containing DMSOr was added to the sample through the septum. The vial was then connected to the purge and trap system, and the DMSO content was analyzed as DMS as described above. After the analysis of DMSO, NaOH was added to the sample for the analysis of DMSP as DMS as described above. The aim of treatment A was to establish whether the direct determination of DMSO on a melted sea ice sample might lead to the overestimation of DMSO in the sample. For treatment B, the ice powder was melted as in treatment A. The vial was connected to the purge and trap system, and the sample was bubbled for 30 min with UHP grade He at a flow rate of 25 mL min<sup>-1</sup> for the analysis of interfering DMS.

After the analysis of interfering DMS, the reducing solution containing DMSOr was added to the sample, and DMSO was analyzed using the same procedure as treatment A. After DMSO analysis, NaOH was added to the sample for the analysis of DMSP as in treatment A. Treatment B was designed to investigate whether a simple purge step applied to the sample prior to DMSO determination might produce nonbiased results. In treatment C, NaOH was added to the ice powder before the vial was crimp sealed. The sample was then melted and left to react at +4°C in the dark for at least 24 h, then DMSP was analyzed as described above. The sample was then neutralized with HCl and a Na2CO3-NaHCO3 buffer to bring the pH back to a working range for DMSOr, which is ideally between 6.5 and 7.3 (Dr. Derek Thomson, Glycomar Ltd., pers. comm.). The DMSOr reducing solution was then added to the sample, and the DMSO content was analyzed as described previously for treatments A and B. Because all DMSP should have been removed from the sample through the alkaline hydrolysis before the determination of DMSO, treatment C was intended as a control. This treatment was also intended to validate the DMSO results obtained after treatment B and, therefore, to assess whether treatment B could be applied routinely. Statistical analysis

Results of the experiment are summarized in Table 1. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on the results of the total DMSO concentration. The ANOVA (level of significance  $\alpha = 0.05$ ) indicated a significant difference (P < 0.001) among the mean DMSO concentrations measured for the three treatments (see Fig. 2). To investigate the origin of the differences between the treatments, a Holm-Sidak pairwise multiple comparison procedure (level of significance  $\alpha = 0.05$ ) was performed. Both the ANOVA procedure and the Holm-Sidak procedure were performed using Sigmaplot 11 (Systat Software). Results of the Holm-Sidak procedure revealed that the DMSO concentrations measured in treatment A were significantly higher (P < 0.001) than those measured in treatments B and C, as anticipated. No difference was found in DMSO concentration between treatments B and C (P = 0.067). A systematic overestimation of the DMSO content in the sea ice samples was, therefore, proven when the DMSO determi-



Fig. 1. Analytical procedure designed to compare the mean DMSO levels measured in a melted sea ice sample when the DMSO determination is performed directly (treatment A), the DMSO determination is performed after the removal of interfering DMS (treatment B), and the DMSO determination is performed after the removal of DMSP (treatment C). See text for details,

Table 1. Concentrations of DMSO, interfering DMS and DMSP (in nmol  $L^{-1}$ ) obtained for the different treatments of the sample.

Analyte	Treatment			
	А	В	с	
DMSO	323.7 ± 16.1	215.8±8.9	230.6 ± 7.8	
int, DMS	-	128.5° ± 3.9	-	
DMSP	424.6 ± 39.6	443.3' ± 33.0	978.91 ± 122.1	

'Mean and standard deviation for n = 4 due to operator error. 'Estimate of the real value due to detector saturation.



Fig. 2. DMSO concentration for the three treatments (black and white symbols represented with 5% analytical error bar). Gray symbols represent the mean DMSO concentration values represented along with total reproducibility for each method.

nation was applied directly on the melted sample, DMSO determination by the enzyme-linked method produced, on average, the same results irrespective of whether the sea ice sample was purged (treatment B) or all DMSP was removed before DMSO analysis (treatment C). Therefore, treatment B or C can be applied indiscriminately for the determination of DMSO on sea ice. The total accuracy and reproducibility for the DMSO determination was 4.1% for treatment B and 3.4% for treatment C. Treatment B was faster (15 min for the removal of interfering DMS and 25 min for the DMSO determination) and required less manipulation compared to treatment C (which required at least 24 h for the hydroxide hydrolysis of DMSP and neutralization of the sample prior to DMSO determination) at a similar performance level. Levels of interfering DMS, which is thought to result from the unintentional enzymatic cleavage of DMSP during melting, were measured in treatment B (128.5 ± 3.9 nmol L1) and were significant, especially compared with DMSO levels measured in treatment B (see Table 1).

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

To assess whether the interfering DMS levels might account for the differences observed in the DMSO content for treatments A and B, we reconstructed the DMSO levels that would have been measured following treatment A, i.e., by summing the DMSO value and the interfering DMS value for the samples for which both values were available in treatment B (n= 4). The reconstructed DMSO levels were compared with the DMSO results obtained for treatment A using a *t* test ( $\alpha$  = 0.05). The *t* test revealed a significant difference (P = 0.046) between the mean DMSO levels from treatment A and the mean reconstructed DMSO levels from treatment B (346.9 ± 11.4). Given that the *P* value of the *t* test (0.046) was very close to the level of significance chosen ( $\alpha$  = 0.05), it was reasonable to think that most of the difference observed between treatment A and treatments B and C was due to interfering DMS.

DMSP results were analyzed following the same approach used for DMSO analysis. As mentioned in the legend of Table 1, DMSP levels for treatment C were estimates. High DMSP levels present in the bottom sea ice sample chosen for the present study led to a change in the response of the FPD. The GC was calibrated accordingly, as mentioned above. The mean DMSP level measured in treatment C was bound to be an underestimate because the results obtained from other areas at the same depth range (bottom 5 cm) of the ice cover produced substantially higher values. Analysis on another sample from the same ice core with the analytical set-up used in the present study (hydroxide hydrolysis of DMSP after crushing for the dry extraction of DMS) revealed a DMSP level of 1395.6 nmol L<sup>+1</sup> (unpubl. data). The determination of DMSP from a sample taken from a twin ice core sample collected on the same day but using a different analytical apparatus (PTRMS), produced a value of 1536.4 nmol L-1 (Tison et al. 2010). ANOVA studies on DMSP levels measured for the three treatments revealed a significant difference (P < 0.001) between the mean DMSP levels of the treatments. A Holm-Sidak procedure run on the ANOVA results revealed that treatments A and B gave, on average, the same results, but those results were lower than those measured in treatment C (significant difference, P < 0.001). These results were expected because a portion of the initial DMSP content gave rise to interfering DMS and was measured as-is (treatment B) or was measured along with DMS stemming from the reduction of DMSO (treatment A) before the DMSP determination. To assess whether the DMSP determination performed after the DMSO determination produced quantitative results, initial DMSP levels were reconstructed by summing the levels of interfering DMS and DMSP measured in treatment B and compared with the DMSP levels measured in treatments A and C. ANOVA results revealed a significant difference (P < 0.001) between the mean DMSP levels measured for each treatment. A Holm-Sidak procedure applied to these results revealed a significant difference between treatments A and C, B and C (P < 0.001) and between A and B (P = 0.048). Thus, on average, treatment A produced lower DMSP levels than treatment B, which in turn produced lower DMSP levels

than treatment C. In the present case, the DMSP levels measured after the determination of DMSO via the enzyme-linked method (as in treatment A and B) were on average underestimated by more than 70% compared with the mean for the DMSP levels measured on two other independent samples (1466.0 nmol L-1 DMSP); this result suggested that the determination of the compounds in that order using the enzymelinked method was problematic. The significantly lower yields of DMSP hydrolysis observed for both treatments A and B compared with the levels measured in treatment C suggested that one of the reagents present in the DMSOr cocktail (DMSOr itself, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid [EDTA] or flavine mononucleotide [FMN]) might have hampered the reaction of DMSP hydrolysis by OH-. Because DMSP is a zwitterion (i.e., an electrically neutral molecule bearing formal unit electrical charges of opposite sign on different atoms), interaction with EDTA, which is a well-known chelating agent (Zaitoun and Lin 1997) was plausible. EDTA could make DMSP partially unavailable for hydrolysis by OH by interacting with DMSP at the level of the sulfur atom bearing a positive charge. In a reducing solution placed in semianaerobic conditions and illuminated by incandescent light bulbs, EDTA forms radicals which reduce FMN to FMNH<sub>2</sub>, and the latter acts as an electron donor to DMSOr catalyzing the reduction of DMSO to DMS (Hatton et al. 1994). As EDTA and FMN are in excess concentrations in the reducing solution, radicals produced by EDTA are available to potentially react with other compounds in the sample. Superoxide ions (O,-) produced by the rapid spontaneous oxidation of FMNH, (Massey et al. 1969; Michelson 1973) might have also initiated secondary reactions (Vigny and Michelson 1974). To assess the influence of EDTA alone or in combination with FMN on the DMSP hydroxide hydrolysis yield, a standard solution of pure DMSP (of approximately 60 nM) was prepared, treated with NaOH and analyzed as described above. Two other batches of the standard DMSP solution were prepared. Two milliliters EDTA solution were added to the vials of the first batch while 2 mL of a mixture of EDTA+FMN were added to the vials of the second batch; these solutions were submitted to the same analytical procedure as treatment A. Both reagents were prepared in the same concentration as was present in the DMSOr reducing solution, i.e., 30 mM EDTA and 540 µM FMN (Hatton et al. 1994). The results of the DMSP analysis performed on those two batches were compared with the results obtained for the pure DMSP solution (Table 2). The ANOVA ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) performed on the DMSP analysis results revealed that there was a significant difference between the mean levels of DMSP measured for each batch (Table 2). The Holm-Sidak procedure applied to the results indicated that there were no differences among the samples from the EDTA/FMN batch, the pure DMSP batch and the EDTA batch. Conversely, there was a significant difference between samples from the EDTA batch and samples from the pure DMSP batch. It is noteworthy that the unadjusted p value of this individual pairwise comparison

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

**Table 2.** Results of the comparison of the hydroxide hydrolysis of a standard solution of pure DMSP or in presence of EDTA or EDTA + FMN (n = 5 for each batch). Results are expressed as relative yields and were computed in comparison to the results obtained for the hydroxide hydrolysis of the standard DMSP solution.

	Pure DMSP	EDTA	EDTA/FMN
DMSP (nmol)	0.56 ± 0.04	0.61 ± 0.01	0,58 ± 0.03
Relative yield (%)	100 ± 6	109 ± 8'	104 ± 9*

'Error on DMSP analysis measurement has been propagated for the computation of the relative yield.

(0.017) was close to the critical level (0.010). The relative yields of the hydroxide hydrolysis of DMSP, either in the presence of EDTA alone or in combination with FMN, were close to the yield obtained for the pure DMSP solution and never led to an underestimate of DMSP levels, as anticipated.

Although no influence of EDTA or EDTA/FMN could be demonstrated through assessment of a standard solution of pure DMSP, the assessment performed on the natural sample might have led to a different conclusion. In the case of the analyzed melted sea ice samples, the radicals formed by EDTA or  $O_2^-$  generated by the spontaneous oxidation of FMNH<sub>2</sub>, might have reacted with compounds occurring in natural samples of sea ice to create compounds that would have hampered the hydrolysis of DMSP by OH<sup>-</sup>. Additional tests would be required to further support this hypothesis and identify the compounds liable to react with the radicals formed by EDTA or with  $O_2^-$ . However, this issue is beyond the scope of the present study.

### Discussion

It has been demonstrated that the direct application of an existing DMSO determination method on a melted sea ice sample leads to an overestimation of the DMSO content in the sample (see results of treatment A vs. treatments B and C in Table 1). It appeared crucial to either remove all the DMSP from the sample before analysis (as in treatment C) or purge interfering DMS before analysis (as for treatment B). Reliable DMSO concentration results were obtained by applying either treatment indiscriminately. The levels of interfering DMS measured in treatment B were substantial and likely originated from a process similar to the one proposed by Niki et al. (2007) to explain the increased DMS production by Heterocapsa triquetra observed in their experiment as a result of a hypoosmotic shock. In the present experiment, the rapid salinity drop undergone by the sympagic organisms rapidly released from the sea ice brine environment (brine salinity of 32.2; computed based on the ice temperature according to Eicken [2003] and Petrich and Eicken [2010]) into the hypo-osmotic melted sample (bulk ice salinity of 8.86) was estimated to be about 24 in only a few minutes. Data on the microbial community of the ice bottom horizon of station 04.12.04 reported

by Dumont et al. (2009) might provide an argument to support the hypothesis of an important production of interfering DMS. Data were collected on a twin ice core taken no further than a few decimeters away from the place where the ice core used in the present study was extracted. Analysis of the algal assemblage revealed that it was largely dominated by diatoms (Cylindrotheca sp., Nitzschia sp., Amphiprora sp., Fragilariopsis sp.), which contributed up to 99% of the total autotrophic biomass (2299 µg C L<sup>-1</sup>), whereas dinoflagellates made up the remaining 1%. The total biomass of the heterotrophic organisms (28 µg C L-1) was divided into the following composition: 62% protozoa (50% dinoflagellates, 50% other flagellates) and 38% bacteria (Dumont 2009). In view of the biogeochemical properties of the analyzed sample, a combination of several factors may have provided favorable conditions for the production of interfering DMS: a) an important hypo-osmotic shock (salinity drop of 24 in a few minutes); b) a high DMSP level in the sample (around 1466.0 nmol L-1); c) the occurrence in the sample of an ice algal species (Fragilariopsis sp.), which was recently proven to release DMSP in response to a hypo-osmotic shock (Barbara R. Lyon, pers. comm.), and d) the occurrence in the sample of dinoflagellates, a phytoplankton group well known for its DMSP-lyase activity (Steinke et al. 2002; Stefels et al. 2007). In these conditions, the proportion of the total DMSP concentration in the sample that would have been enzymatically cleaved to interfere with DMS, accounted for approximately 9% (provided the total DMSP concentration in the sample was 1466.0 nmol L1, i.e., the mean of the two measurements performed on other samples, see above). This unintentional production of DMS likely resulted in an overestimation of the total DMSO content of the sample by more than 59% (Table 1). These results indubitably raised the question of the reliability of measurements of DMSP or dissolved DMS performed on melted sea ice samples. Currently, only two studies have reported measurements of dissolved DMS in sea ice (Trevena and Jones 2006; Delille et al. 2007). Trevena and Jones (2006) reported dissolved DMS concentrations in 81 sea ice core sections (<0.3-75 nmol L-1). DMS chemisorption for further analysis was performed on melted samples after the addition of HCl to bring the pH of the melted sample down to 1 and to preserve the total DMSP (DMSPt). The activity of algal DMSP-lyase was known to be drastically reduced at low pH values (Stefels and Dijkhuizen 1996). Given this property of DMSP-lyase, the addification technique was commonly used to preserve DMSP in seawater samples (Smith et al. 1999). However, this technique appears to be unsuitable for preserving DMSPt in sea ice samples. As sea ice is a composite material, it is expected to melt sequentially depending on the melting point of the different phases (Fripiat et al. 2007). Because the melting of the sample is not homogeneous, it is very likely that unintentional enzymatic cleavage of DMSP occurs locally well before HCl penetrates the whole ice matrix. Important salinity shifts are expected to take place in the brine inclusions because of the dilution of the

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

brine medium by the melting of pure ice crystals. The contact between DMSP that is freshly released from algal cells in response to the hypo-osmotic shock and DMSP-lyase can then produce DMS within the ice matrix. In addition to this issue, Kiene et al. (2007) recently reported that the acidification technique failed to preserve DMSP in seawater samples in presence of Phaeocystis sp., which is often found in Antarctic sea ice algal assemblages. DMSP-lyases in Phaeocystis sp. would remain active up to several minutes after acid addition. It is impossible to state whether the sea ice DMS and DMSP concentrations reported by Trevena and Jones (2006) were actually affected by such a bias, even if it was likely. No melting artifact is thought to have influenced the values reported by Delille et al. (2007) (4-74 nmol L1) because they directly measured dissolved DMS in the sea ice brine. Junge et al. (2004) recently developed an isothermal-isohaline melting approach that involved the thawing of a sea ice sample into a laboratory prepared solution of brine with a higher salinity than the sea ice brine. The salinity of the laboratory prepared brine solution was adjusted so that the final melted sample had a salinity equal to that of the original brine inclusions, calculated according to Cox and Weeks (1983). This approach proved to be successful in preserving the bacteria on melts (Deming 2010) and could have been applied to our samples to potentially circumvent the bias due to the melting of the sample. However, this is a time- and labor-intensive procedure that hardly seemed feasible in the framework of the present study because only small sample volumes were processed for the DMSP and DMSO analysis; in addition, this procedure would be difficult to apply when a large number of samples must be analyzed. Depth profiles of DMSO concentrations were measured, as in treatment B, with a vertical resolution of 5 cm on the whole ice cover thickness of station 04.12.04 (Fig. 3). DMS and DMSP concentrations were determined on a twin ice core



Fig. 3. Depth profile for DMSO (black), DMS (white), and DMSP (gray) in summer, first-year sea ice taken in the Weddell Sea, Antarctica. The inset is a close-up for the range 0-300 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> ice.

sampled the same day, using a different analytical apparatus (PTRMS) from the one used to determine DMSO; however, the same crushing procedure for the dry extraction of DMS was utilized (Tison et al. 2010). DMSO concentrations ranged from 6.1 to 215.8 nmol L-1 over the whole profile, with the highest levels observed near the bottom, likewise DMS and DMSP. The changes in DMSO concentrations along the profile were close to values obtained for DMS, which occurred in the same concentration range (3.4-242.7 nmol L-1), with the exception of the bottom value, which peaked at higher than 1400 nmol L-1, likewise DMSP. The DMSO concentrations measured in this profile of summer, first-year Antarctic sea ice are higher than the DMSOp concentrations Lee et al. (2001) and Bouillon et al. (2002) observed in the bottom-most 2 cm of Arctic sea ice. Determination of DMSO on the whole ice cover revealed significant levels above the bottom layer. DMSO concentrations integrated on the whole ice thickness of station 04.12.04 (0.85 m) gave results of 718 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>. This is an important value when compared with the mixed-layer integrated DMSOd concentrations of 927-2574 µmol m-2 measured by del Valle et al. (2009) during the summer in the Ross Sea and calculated over a mixed-layer depth ranging between about 25 and 65 m (i.e., 30 to 75 - the sea ice thickness). These data make Antarctic sea ice a potentially important source of DMSO for the Southern Ocean. Processes governing the evolution of DMS and DMSP profiles in decaying Antarctic summer sea ice are discussed elsewhere (Tison et al. 2010). A thorough analysis of the temporal evolution of the DMSO profiles in the same context will appear elsewhere.

#### Comments and recommendations

The melting of sea ice appears to be the only sampling technique that allows the collection of both particulate and dissolved phases for further analysis of compounds that need to be performed in aqueous solutions. Sharp salinity shifts that occur during the melting process of the sample may, however, result in an important bias at the time of biogenic compound determination in sea ice. As far as DMS, DMSP, and DMSO are concerned, the production of interfering DMS from DMSP during the melting process can result in inaccurate estimations of the initial proportions of those compounds in the dimethylated sulfur pool if a suitable procedure is not followed. The sequential analysis of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO in the field should be performed following the procedure proposed in Fig. 4, which is rapid and exempt from analytical artifacts. DMS should be analyzed immediately after ice core sampling, as substantial losses of this volatile compound (more than 50%) have been observed after a storage period of several months (Stefels et al. unpub. data). In the recommended procedure, DMSO is determined from some of the melted ice powder resulting from DMS analysis and was analyzed following the enzyme-linked method (Hatton et al. 1994), which is unprecedented in terms of precision and rapidity. It is recommended that DMSP is analyzed on another subsample drawn

#### DMSO determination in sea ice

from the same initial crushed sample due to the following reasons: a) the determination of DMSP prior to DMSO involves more manipulations to prepare the sample for subsequent DMSO determination by the enzyme-linked method and b) the determination of DMSP after DMSO proved to be problematic. This procedure should be followed for the determination of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO in future sea ice studies and should contribute to the production of a larger dataset of sulfur compound concentrations in sea ice. These data can provide a better overview of their distribution in sea ice and a better estimate of the contribution of sea ice to the sulfur budget of Polar Regions.

# References

- Andreae, M. O. 1990. Ocean-atmosphere interactions in the global biogeochemical sulfur cycle. Mar. Chem. 30:1-29 [doi:10.1016/0304-4203(90)90059-L].
- Arrigo, K. R., and C. W. Sullivan. 1992. The influence of salinity and temperature covariation on the photophysiological characteristics of Antarctic sea ice microalgae. J. Phycol. 28(6):746-756 [doi:10.1111/j.00223646.1992.00746.x].
- —, T. Mock, and M. P. Lizotte. 2010. Primary producers and sea ice, pp. 283-326. In D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann [eds.], Sea ice. Wiley Blackwell.
- Bates, T. S., J. A. Calhoun, and P. K. Quinn. 1999. Variations in the methanesulfonate to sulfate molar ratio in submicrometer marine aerosol particles over the South Pacific Ocean, J. Geophys. Res. 97(D9):9859-9865.
- Becquevort, S., I. Dumont, J. L. Tison, D. Lannuzel, M. L. Sauvée, L. Chou, and V. Schoemann. 2009. Biogeochemistry and microbial community composition in sea ice and underlying seawater off East Antarctica during early spring. Polar Biol. 32(6):879-895 [doi:10.1007/s00300-009-0589-2].
- Bouillon, R. C., P. A. Lee, S. J. de Mora, M. Levasseur, and C. Lovejoy. 2002. Vernal distribution of dimethylsulphide, dimethylsulphoniopropionate, and dimethylsulphoxide in the North Water in 1998. Deep Sea Res. II 49(2223):5171-5189 [doi:10.1016/50967-0645(02)00184-4].
- Brierley, A. S., and D. N. Thomas. 2002. Ecology of Southern Ocean pack ice. Adv. Mar. Biol. 43:171-276 [doi:10.1016/ S0065-2881(02)43005-2].
- Charlson, R. J., J. E. Lovelock, M. O. Andreae, and S. G. Warren. 1987. Oceanic phytoplankton, atmospheric sulphur, cloud albedo and climate. Nature 326:655-661 [doi:10.1038/ 326655a0].
- Cox, G. F. N., and W. F. Weeks. 1983. Equations for determining the gas and brine volumes in sea-ice samples. J. Glaciol. 29(102):306-316.
- Curran, M. A. J., G. B. Jones, and H. Burton. 1998. Spatial distribution of dimethylsulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate in the Australasian sector of the Southern Ocean. J. Geophys. Res. 103(D13):16677-16689 [doi:10.1029/97JD03 453].
- , and G. B. Jones. 2000. Dimethylsulfide in the South-



ern Ocean: Seasonality and flux. J. Geophys. Res. 105(D16):20451-20461 [doi:10.1029/2000]D900176].

- Dacey, J. W. H., and N. V. Blough. 1987. Hydroxide decomposition of dimethylsulfoniopropionate to form dimethylsulfide. Geophys. Res. Lett. 14(12):1246-1249 [doi:10.1029/GL 014i012p01246].
- del Valle, D. A., D. J. Kieber, D. A. Toole, J. Bisgrove, and R. P. Kiene. 2009. Dissolved DMSO production via biological and photochemical oxidation of dissolved DMS in the Ross

Sea, Antarctica. Deep Sea Res. I 56(2):166-177 [doi:10.1016/].dsr.2008.09.005].

- Delille, B., B. Jourdain, A. V. Borges, J. L. Tison, and D. Delille. 2007. Biogas (CO<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, dimethylsulfide) dynamics in spring Antarctic fast ice. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52(4):1367-1379 [doi:10.4319/lo.2007.52.4.1367].
- Deming, J. W. 2010. Sea ice bacteria and viruses, pp. 247-282. In D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann [eds.], Sea ice, 2nd ed. Wiley Blackwell.

DMSO determination in sea ice

- Dickson, D. M. J., and G. O. Kirst. 1986. The role of βdimethylsulphoniopropionate, glycine betaine and homarine in the osmoacclimation of *Platymonas subcordiformis*. Planta 167:536-543 [doi:10.1007/BF00391230].
- DiTullio, G. R., D. L. Garrison, and S. Mathot. 1998. Dimethylsulfoniopropionate in sea ice algae from the Ross Sea polynya, pp. 139-146. *In* M. Lizotte and K. Arrigo [eds.], Antarctic Sea Ice: biological processes, interaction and variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 73. American Geophysical Union.
- Dumont, I. 2009. Interactions between the microbial network and the organic matter in the Southern Ocean: impacts on the biological carbon pump. Ph.D. Thesis, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgique.
- V. Schoemann, D. Lannuzel, L. Chou, J. L. Tison, and S. Becquevort. 2009. Distribution and characterization of dissolved and particulate organic matter in Antarctic pack ice. Polar Biol. 32(5):733-750 [doi:10.1007/s00300-008-0577-y].
- Eicken, H. 2003. From the microscopic to the macroscopic to the regional scale: growth, microstructure and properties of sea ice, pp. 22-81. *In* D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann [eds.], Sea ice: An introduction to its physics, biology, chemistry, and geology. Blackwell Publishing.
- Farwell, S. O., and C. J. Barinaga. 1986. Sulphur-selective detection with the FPD: current enigmas, practical usage and future directions. J. Chromatogr. Sci. 24:483-494.
- Fripiat, F., D. Cardinal, J. L. Tison, A. Worby, and L. André. 2007. Diatom-induced silicon isotopic fractionation in Antarctic sea ice. J. Geophys. Res. 112(G02001) [doi:10.1029/2006JG000244].
- Garrison, D. I., and K. R. Buck. 1986. Organism losses during ice melting: a serious bias in sea ice community studies. Polar Biol. 6:237-239 [doi:10.1007/BF00443401].
- Gleitz, M., M. R. van der Loeff, D. N. Thomas, G. S. Dieckmann, and F. J. Millero. 1995. Comparison of summer and winter inorganic carbon, oxygen and nutrient concentrations in antarctic sea ice brine. Mar. Chem. 51:81-91 [doi:10.1016/0304-4203(95)00053-T].
- Hatton, A. D., G. Malin, A. G. McEwan, and P. S. Liss. 1994. Determination of dimethylsulphoxide in aqueous solution by an enzyme-linked method. Anal. Chem. 66(22):4093-4096 [doi:10.1021/ac00094a036].
- \_\_\_\_\_, L. Darroch, and G. Malin. 2005. The role of dimethylsulphoxide in the marine biogeochemical cycle of dimethylsulphide. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 42:29-56.
- —, and S. T. Wilson. 2007. Particulate dimethylsulphoxide and dimethylsulphoniopropionate in phytoplankton cultures and Scottish coastal waters. Aquat. Sci. 69(3):330-340 [doi:10.1007/s00027-007-0891-4].
- Horne, I., and A. G. McEwan. 1998. Dimethylsulfoxide enhances phototrophic growth of *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* in blue light. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 168(2):283-288 [doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13285.x].

- Junge, K., H. Eicken, and J. W. Deming. 2004. Bacterial activity at -2°C to -20°C in Arctic wintertime sea ice. Appl. Environ. Microb. 70(1):550-557 [doi:10.1128/AEM.70.1.550 557.2004].
- Kiene, R. P., and others. 2007. Distribution and cycling of dimethylsulfide, dimethylsulfonloproplonate, and dimethylsulfoxide during spring and early summer in the Southern Ocean south of New Zealand. Aquat. Sci. 69(3):305-319 [doi:10.1007/s00027-007-0892-3].
- Kirst, G., C. Thiel, H. Wolff, J. Nothnagel, M. Wanzek, and R. Ulmke. 1991. Dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) in ice algae and its possible biological role. Mar. Chem. 35:381-388 [doi:10.1016/S0304-4203(09)90030-5].
- Krembs, C., R. Gradinger, and M. Spindler. 2000. Implications of brine channel geometry and surface area for the interaction of sympagic organisms in Arctic sea ice. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 243(1):55-80 [doi:10.1016/S0022-0981(99)001 11-2].
- —, T. Mock, and R. Gradinger. 2001. A mesocosm study on physical-biological interactions in artificial Arctic sea ice. Polar Biol. 24:356-364 [doi:10.1007/s003000000219].
- —, H. Eicken, K. Junge, and J. W. Deming. 2002a. High concentrations of exopolymeric substances in Arctic winter sea ice: implications for the polar ocean carbon cycle and cryoprotection of diatoms. Deep Sea Res. I 49:2163-2181 [doi:10.1016/S0967-0637(02)00122-X].
- —, K. Tuschling, and K. von Juterzenka. 2002b. The topography of the lce-water Interface – its influence on the colonization of sea ice by algae. Polar Biol. 25(2):106-117 [doi:10.1007/s003000100318].
- Lee, P. A., and S. J. de Mora. 1999a. A review of dimethylsulfoxide in aquatic environments. Atmos. Ocean 37(4):439-456.
- , and , 1999b. Intracellular dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) in unicellular marine algae: speculations on its origin and possible biological role. J. Phycol. 35(1):8-18 [doi:10.1046/j.1529-8817.1999.3510008.x].
- —, S. J. de Mora, and M. Gosselin. 2001. Particulate dimethylsulfoxide in Arctic sea-ice algal communities: the cryoprotectant hypothesis revisited. J. Phycol. 37(4):488-499 [doi:10.1046/j.1529-8817.2001.037004488.x].
- Levasseur, M., M. Gosselin, and S. Michaud. 1994. A new source of dimethylsulfide (DMS) for the arctic atmosphere: ice diatoms. Mar. Biol. 121(2):381-387 [doi:10.1007/BF00 346748].
- Massey, V., and others. 1969. The production of superoxide anion radicals in the reaction of reduced flavins and flavoproteins with molecular oxygen. Biochem. Bioph. Res. Co. 36(6):891-897 [doi:10.1016/0006-291X(69)90287-3].
- Michelson, A. M. 1973. Studies in bioluminescence. X. Chemlcal models of enzymic oxidations, Biochimie 55(4):465-479 [doi:10.1016/S0300-9084(73)80213-5].
- Niki, T., M. Shimizu, A. Fujishiro, and J. Kinoshita. 2007. Effects of salinity downshock on dimethylsulfide produc-

tion. J. Oceanogr. 63(5):873-877 [doi:10.1007/s10872-007-0074-x].

- Papadimitriou, S., D. N. Thomas, H. Kennedy, C. Haas, H. Kuosa, A. Krell, and G. S. Dieckmann. 2007. Biogeochemical composition of natural sea ice brines from the Weddell Sea during early austral summer. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52(5):1809-1823 [doi:10.4319/lo.2007.52.5.1809].
- Petrich, C., and H. Eicken. 2010. Growth, structure, and properties of sea ice, pp. 23-78. In D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann [eds.], Sea ice, 2nd ed. Wiley Blackwell.
- Ralph, P. J., K. G. Ryan, A. Martin, and G. Fenton. 2007. Melting out of sea ice causes greater photosynthetic stress in algae than freezing in. J. Phycol. 43(5):948-956 [doi:10.1111/j.15298817.2007.00382.x].
- Raynaud, D., R. Delmas, J. M. Ascencio, and M. Legrand. 1982. Gas extraction from polar ice cores: a critical issue for studying the evolution of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> and icesheet surface elevation, Ann. Glaciol. 3:265-268.
- Rellinger, A. N., and others. 2009. Occurrence and turnover of DMSP and DMS in deep waters of the Ross Sea, Antarctica. Deep Sea Res. 1 56(5):686-702 [doi:10.1016/j.dsr.2008. 12.010].
- Simó, R. 1998. Trace chromatographic analysis of dimethyl sulfoxide and related methylated sulfur compounds in natural waters, J. Chromatogr. A 807:151-164 [doi:10.1016/S0021-9673(98)00086-7].
- —, J. O. Grimalt, and J. Albaigés. 1996. Sequential method for the field determination of nanomolar concentrations of dimethyl sulfoxide in natural waters. Anal. Chem. 68(9):1493-1498 [doi:10.1021/ac9510907].
- —, G. Malin, and P. Liss. 1998. Refinement of the borohydride reduction method for trace analysis of dissolved and particulate dimethyl sulfoxide in marine water samples Anal. Chem. 70(22):4864-4867 [doi:10.1021/ac9803450].
- —, and M. Vila-Costa. 2006. Ubiquity of algal dimethylsulfoxide in the surface ocean: geographic and temporal distribution patterns. Mar. Chem. 100(12):136-146.
- Smith, G. C., T. Clark, L. Knutsen, and E. Barrett. 1999. Methodology for analyzing dimethyl sulfide and dimethyl sulfoniopropionate in scawater using deuterated internal standards. Anal. Chem. 71(24):5563-5568 [doi:10.1021/ ac990211q].
- Sola, I., X. Ausio, R. Simó, J. O. Grimalt, and A. Ginebreda. 1997. Quantitation of volatile sulphur compounds in polluted waters. J. Chromatogr. A 778(12):329-335 [doi:10.1016/S0021-9673(97)00415-9].
- Stefels, J. 2000. Physiological aspects of the production and conversion of DMSP in marine algae and higher plants, J. Sea Res, 43:183-197 [doi:10.1016/S1385-1101(00)00030-7].
- 2009. Determination of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO in seawater, pp. 223-235. In O. Wurl [ed.], Practical guidelines for the analysis of seawater. Taylor & Francis Group [doi:10.1201/9781420073072.ch11].

DMSO determination in sea ice

in Phaeocystis sp. (Prymnesiophyceae). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 131:307-313 [doi:10.3354/meps131307].

- —, M. Steinke, S. Turner, G. Malin, and S. Belviso. 2007. Environmental constraints on the production and removal of the climatically active gas dimethylsulphide DMS and implications for ecosystem modeling. Biogeochemistry 83:245-275 [doi:10.1007/s10533-007-9091-5].
- Steinke, M., G. Malin, S. Archer, P. Burkill, and P. Liss. 2002. DMS production in a coccolithophorid bloom: evidence for the importance of dinoflagellate DMSP lyases. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 26(3):259-270 [doi:10.3354/ame026259].
- Stoecker, D. K., K. R. Ruck, and M. Putt. 1992. Changes in the sea-ice brine community during the spring-summer transition, McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. I. Photosynthetic protists. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 84:265-278 [doi:10.3354/ meps084265].
- \_\_\_\_\_, and \_\_\_\_\_. 1993. Changes in the sea-ice brine community during the spring-summer transition, McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. I. Phagotrophic protists, Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 95:103-113 [doi:10.3354/meps095103].
- Sunda, W., D. J. Kieber, R. P. Kiene, and S. Huntsman. 2002. An antioxidant function for DMSP and DMS in marine algae. Nature 418(6895):317-320 [doi:10.1038/nature00851].
- Thomas, D. N., and others. 1998. Biological soup within decaying summer sea ice in the Amundsen Sea, Antarctica, pp. 161-171. In M. Lizotte and K. Arrigo [eds.], Antarctic sea ice: biological processes, interaction and variability. Antarctic Research Series, vol. 73. American Geophysical Union.
- —, S. Papadimitriou, and C. Michel. 2010. Biogeochemistry of sea ice, pp. 425-468. *In* D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann [eds.], Sea ice, 2nd ed. Wiley Blackwell.
- Tison, J. L., M. M. Gowing, S. Sleewaegen, A. Bernard, and C. Haas. 2002. Tank study of physico-chemical controls on gas content and composition during growth of young sea ice. J. Glaciol. 48(161):177-191 [doi:10.3189/172756502781831 377].
- —, and others. 2008. Temporal evolution of decaying summer first-year sea ice in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Deep Sea Res. II 55:975-987 [doi:10.1016/j.dsr2. 2007.12.021].
- —, F. Brabant, I. Dumont, and J. Stefels. 2010. High-resolution dimethyl sulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate time series profiles in decaying summer first-year sea ice at Ice Station Polarstern, western Weddell Sea, Antarctica. J. Geophys. Res. 115:G04044 [doi:10.1029/2010]G001427].
- Trevena, A. J., G. B. Jones, S. W. Wright, and R. L. van den Enden. 2003. Profiles of dimethylsulphoniopropionate (DMSP), algal pigments, nutrients, and salinity in the fast ice of Prydz Bay, Antarctica. J. Geophys. Res. 108:3145 [doi:10.1029/2002]C001369].
- —, and G. B. Jones. 2006. Dimethylsulphide and dimethylsulphoniopropionate in Antarctic sea ice and their release during sea ice melting. Mar. Chem. 98:210-222 [doi:10.1016/].marchem.2005.09.005].

- Trodahl, H. J., S. O. F. Wilkinson, M. J. McGuinness, and T. G. Haskell. 2001. Thermal conductivity of sea ice; dependence on temperature and depth. Geophys. Res. Lett. 28(7):1279-1282 [doi:10.1029/2000GL012088].
- Turner, S. M., G. Malin, L. E. B. Gander, and C. Leck. 1990. Interlaboratory calibration and sample analysis of dimethyl sulphide in water. Mar. Chem. 29:47-62 [doi:10.1016/0304-4203(90)90005-W].
- Uher, G. 1999. Determination of dimethyl sulphide in seawater, pp. 521-532. In K. Grasshoff, K. Kremling, and M. Ehrhardt [eds.], Methods of seawater analysis, 3rd ed. Wiley-VCH Verlag [doi:10.1002/9783527613984.ch24].
- Van Alstyne, K. L. 2008. Ecological and physiological roles of dimethylsulfonlopropionate and its products in marine macroalgae, pp. 173-194. *In* C. D. Amsler [ed.], Algal chemical ecology, Springer Verlag [doi:10.1007/97835407 418178].
- Van Bergeijk, S. A., K. Schonefeldt, L. J. Stal, and J. Huisman. 2002. Production and consumption of dimethylsulfide (DMS) and dimethylsulfonioproplonate (DMSP) in a diatom-dominated intertidal sediment. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 231:37-46 [doi:10.3354/meps231037].
- —, C. V. der Zee, and L. J. Stal. 2003. Uptake and excretion of dimethylsulphoniopropionate is driven by salinity changes in the marine benthic diatom *Cylindrotheca*

DMSO determination in sea ice

closterium, Eur. J. Phycol. 38:341-349 [doi:10.1080/0967 0260310001612600].

- Vigny, A., and A. M. Michelson. 1974. Studies in bioluminescence. XIII. Bioluminescence bactérienne: Mise en évidence et identification du produit de transformation de l'aldéhyde, Biochimie 1(11):171-176 [doi:10.1016/S0300-9084(74)80367-6].
- Weeks, W. S., and S. F. Ackley. 1986. The growth, structure and properties of sea ice, pp. 9-164. *In* N. Untersteiner [ed.], The geophysics of sea ice. NATO ASI Ser., Ser. B, vol. 146. Plenum Press, New York.
- Weissenberger, J., G. Dieckmann, R. Gradinger, and M. Spindler. 1992. Sea ice: A cast technique to examine and analyze brine pockets and channel structure. Limnol. Oceanogr. 37(1):179-183 [doi:10.4319/lo.1992.37.1.0179].
- Welsh, D. T. 2000. Ecological significance of compatible solute accumulation by micro-organisms: from single cells to global climate. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 24(3):263-290 [doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2000.tb00542.x].
- Zaitoun, M. A., and C. T. Lin. 1997. Chelating behavior between metal ions and EDTA in sol-gel matrix. J. Phys. Chem. B 101:1857-1860 [doi:10.1021/jp963102d].

Submitted 13 Jun 2010 Revised 19 Mar 2011 Accepted 21 May 2011



CHAPTER III: Characterisation of the physicochemical properties of the sea ice cover: a necessary step prior to biogeochemical analyses

# Paper 2 :

Temporal evolution of decaying summer first-year sea ice in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, 2008. *Deep-Sea Res II*, 55, 975 – 987. by Tison J.-L., A. Worby, B. Delille, F. Brabant, S. Papadimitriou, D. Thomas, J. De Jong, D. Lannuzel and C. Haas.

**Contribution of F. Brabant**: Preparation of thin sections and montage of the pictures. Processing of the "laboratory" sea ice samples and salinity measurements. Analysis of data and discussion of the observed differences between field and laboratory salinity measurements. Statistical analysis of the ice thickness dataset.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

Deep-Sea Research II 55 (2008) 975-987



DEEP-SEA RESEARCH PART II

www.elsevier.com/locate/dsr2

# Temporal evolution of decaying summer first-year sea ice in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica

J.-L. Tison<sup>a,\*</sup>, A. Worby<sup>b</sup>, B. Delille<sup>c</sup>, F. Brabant<sup>a</sup>, S. Papadimitriou<sup>d</sup>, D. Thomas<sup>d</sup>, J. de Jong<sup>a</sup>, D. Lannuzel<sup>b</sup>, C. Haas<sup>e,1</sup>

> <sup>a</sup>DSTE, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Bruxelles, Belgium <sup>b</sup>ACE CRC, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia <sup>e</sup>Unité d'Océanographie Chimique, Université de Liége, Liège, Belgium <sup>d</sup>College of Natural Sciences, Bangor University, Anglesey, UK <sup>\*</sup>Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, Germany

> > Accepted 22 December 2007

#### Abstract

The evolution of the main physico-chemical properties of the unflooded 90-cm-thick first-year sea-ice cover at the Ice Station POLarstern (ISPOL) "clean site" is described. ISPOL was an international experiment of the German research icebreaker R.V. *Polarstern*. The vessel was anchored to an ice floe for an observation period of 5 weeks, during the early summer melt onset in the Western Weddell Sea. The "clean site" was specially designed and accessed so as to prevent any trace metal contamination of the sampling area. Observations were made at 5-day intervals during December 2004 in the central part of the main floe. Results show the succession of two contrasting phases in the behavior of the brine network (brine channels, pockets, and tubes). Initially, brine salinity was highly favored by the already high bulk porosity (14%), which ensures full connectivity of the brine network. Gravity drainage rather than convection seems to be the dominant brine transfer process.

Half-way through the observation period, the brine salinity became lower than that of the sea-water throughout the ice column. The brine network therefore switched to a "stratified" regime in which exchange with sea-water was limited to molecular diffusion, strongly stabilizing the bulk mean sea-ice salinity. During the transition between the two regimes, and in areas closer to ridges, slush water (resulting from a mixture of snow meltwater and sea water accumulated at the snow-ice interface) penetrated through the growing "honeycomb-like structure" and replaced the downward draining brines. This resulted in a slight local replenishment of nutrients (as indicated by dissolved silicic acid). However, as a whole, the described decaying regime in this globally unflooded location with limited snow cover should be unfavorable to the development of healthy and active surface and internal microbial communities.

The switch from gravity to diffusion controlled transport mechanisms within the ice column also should affect the efficiency of gas exchange across the sea-ice cover. The observed late build-up of a continuous, impermeable, superimposed ice layer should further significantly hamper gas exchange.

Statistical estimates of the evolution of the ice thickness during the observation period and salinity trends of the under-ice water salinity down to 30 m corroborate model predictions of a moderate bottom melting (5–10 cm) from ocean heat fluxes. © 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Antarctic; Sea Ice; Weddell Sea; Summer decay; Brine network; Temporal evolution

#### 1. Introduction

"Corresponding author.

E-mail address: jtison@ulb.ac.hc (J.-L. Tison). <sup>1</sup>Now at Department of Earth & Atmospheric Sciences at University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.

0967-0645/5-see front matter (2) 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2007.12.021

Sea ice in both hemispheres covers between 18 and 28 millions km<sup>2</sup> in the course of a single year, an area range that compares with the largest biomes on Earth (IPCC, 2001). Because of its peculiar properties and large

#### J.-L. Tixon et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 55 (2008) 975-987

variations in seasonal extent, sea ice influences the global climate system through a suite of large-scale processes, including albedo fluctuations, insulation between the ocean and the atmosphere, production of deep-water, stratification of the surface waters during spring melting and seeding primary production in the marginal ice zone (e.g., Jacobs and Weiss, 1998; Jeffries, 1998; Lixotte and Arrigo, 1998; Thomas and Dieckmann, 2003). Further, recent work (Semiletov et al., 2004; Delille, 2006) has demonstrated the usual assumption that the sea-ice cover is a barrier to gas exchange between the upper ocean and the atmosphere might need to be reconsidered for ice temperatures greater than -10 °C (Gosink et al., 1976). This impinges on the fluxes of climatically important gases (CO<sub>2</sub>, DMS, CH<sub>4</sub>).

Sea ice hosts a complex web of microorganisms, which have adapted to its specific physico-chemical constraints. The resident biological community consumes and produces biogases, which gives sea ice a controlling role in gas exchange between the ocean and the atmosphere. The impact of these potentially important processes is unknown and has led to an increasing number of studies on the biogeochemistry of sea ice in the past two decades (Thomas and Dieckmann, 2003), with initiation of dedicated interdisciplinary research programs aiming at improving our understanding of the physical and biogeochemical properties of growing and decaying sea ice, and their potential impact on the air-ice-ocean fluxes of climatically significant gases in the polar seas. A further objective is to model these processes and scale them up to a global level.

This paper focuses on the time series of the main physico-chemical properties of an 80-90 cm thick first-year sea-ice cover section of the ISPOL floe. Understanding better the processes that govern the decay of Antarctic firstyear sea ice is of primary importance to biogeochemical studies, because they profoundly affect the environment in which the spring/summer sea ice and surface sea-water microbial activity occurs. Sea-ice decay has been best studied in the Arctic (Untersteiner, 1968; Weeks and Ackley, 1986; Eicken et al., 2000; Johnston, 2006) but only described in terms of salinity and stable isotopes  $(\delta^{18}O)$  in the Antarctic (e.g. Eicken, 1998). More work is needed to help develop a conceptual and, ultimately, a numerical model of meltwater and brine transport through sea ice (Eicken, 2003). It has been shown that the most effective desalination process in the Arctic is "meltwater flushing", a process in which the hydraulic head created by snow and ice meltwater produced at the top surface flushes downwards the resident brine. How much of this process is active in the Antarctic, where summer melting is generally less extensive than in the Arctic, is not known. Clearly, surface snow melting is large enough to produce layers of superimposed ice at intermediate levels in the snow cover, where the temperature is still below the melting point and meltwater refreezes (e.g., Haas et al., 2001; Kawamura et al., 2004). A more developed situation occurs when the amount of melting is large enough for the meltwater to reach the snow sea ice interface, where superimposed ice will then eventually form under a double-diffusion process. In the latter, snow melt at the temperature of the melting point will loose heat an order of magnitude faster than it gains salt from the underlying sea ice brine (also at its melting point), and therefore freeze at the interface (Morris and Jeffries, 2001; Haas et al., 2001; Kawamura et al., 2004). Snow thickness and wetness also will play an important role in controlling the sea-ice decay process. Thick snow will favor negative freeboard (snow-sea ice interface below sea level) and induce sea-water flooding of the floe surface. Contrary to winter conditions, when the low temperature of the snow will induce sea-water freezing and snow-ice formation, the sea-water will remain liquid in the summer and mix with surface snow at the snow-sea ice interface to form "slush". Although tracer studies in the Arctic have shown that both vertical and lateral transport of meltwater occur in the sea-ice cover (Eicken et al., 2002). yet it is not clear which process dominates flooding in permeable summer Antarctic ice (i.e. lateral flow from ridged areas or leads nearby vs. vertical transfer of sea water from below). Reduced snow thickness and/or water occurrence at the ice surface will reduce the albedo and favor heat absorption in the upper ice layers. Eventually, as the season progresses, upper ice temperatures and related fractional brine volumes (Vbrine/Vbulk ice) will increase to reach the connectivity threshold of about 5% (Buckley and Trodahl, 1987; Golden et al., 1998). In the early stages of decay, brine salinity should still be above sea-water value, inducing density instability within the brine network. The aim of this ISPOL early summer time-series study is to understand how the density instability will be resolved (gravity-driven brine drainage and convection with underlying sea-water, or, brine flushing under hydraulic head), how will the brine network then evolve with further warming as summer proceeds, and what the consequences should be for the biogeochemical evolution of the sea-ice cover.

## 2. Study site, material and methods

## 2.1. Choice of the site

ISPOL took place in the Western Weddell Sea, at approximately 68°S and 55°W. During the 5-week observation period, the floe drifted about 100 km northward and 20 km to the west. The ISPOL floe was located at the boundary between a band of second-year ice in the East and a band of thick first-year ice originating from the Ronne polynya in the West (Fig. 1, Hellmer et al., 2006).

A major concern for this study was the selection of an unflooded (positive freeboard), level first-year sea-ice section, in order to keep processes as simple as possible. Extensive surveys of ice and snow thickness revealed that the majority of the ISPOL floe consisted of thick secondyear ice, with ice and snow thicknesses between 1.8 and 2.3 m, and 0.6 and 0.9 m, respectively (Haas et al., 2008).

J.-L. Tison et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 35 (2008) 975-987



Fig. 1. Envisat synthetic aperture radar image acquired on 30 November 2005, showing the Ice Station Polarstern (ISPOL) study area in the Western Weddell Sea (inset, plus cruise track) and the start (27 November 2004, large yellow star) and end points (2 January 2005, small yellow star) of the drift. The western border coincides with the Larsen-C ice front; the northern boundary is close to the sea ice edge. Black contours show water depth in meters. Note the north-south extent of a dark appearing band of first-year sea ice at about 56°W (from Hellmer et al., 2006).

Consequently, most ice had negative freeboard and was partially flooded. However, between areas of second-year ice, a network of refrozen leads and cracks extended with ice thicknesses of 0.8–0.9 and 0.1–0.25 m of snow, which resulted in a clear secondary mode in the thickness distribution.

A 70  $\times$  30 m area ("clean site" in Fig. 2A and B) was selected in this first-year ice, with a positive freeboard of a few centimeters, for the duration of the experiment. Its perimeter was naturally delimited by ridges. Within the area, smaller adjacent 5  $\times$  5 m units were chosen for regular sampling at about 5-day intervals (number and color scheme in Fig. 3A). On each sampling day, a first half of the unit was dedicated to ice-core sampling and the other half to brine sampling from holes drilled in the ice and insitu measurements (Fig. 3B). Usually, the hole from the first ice-core retrieval was used for sea-water sampling.

## 2.2. Working procedure at the clean site

All operations were conducted wearing clean garments (Tyvek overalls, overshoes and polyethylene gloves). First, snow was collected in polyethylene containers using polypropylene shovels. Then ice cores were retrieved using a specially designed electropolished stainless-steel corer that has been shown to allow trace metal clean sampling (Lannuzel et al., 2006). Cores were immediately wrapped in PE bags and stored on the sampling site in an insulated box filled with individual cooling bags, pre-cooled at  $-30^{\circ}$ C, in order to limit brine drainage from samples as much as possible. Holes were drilled into the ice cover at 20 and

60 cm depth, to allow gravity-driven brine collection (the sackholes sampling technique, Thomas and Dieckmann, 2003). Brine from the ice core was collected as well as under ice sea-water at interface, 1 and 30 m depth using a portable peristaltic pump (Cole-Palmer, Masterflex E/P).

Sampling was carried out on seven occasions, between 29.11.04 and 30.12.04, at regular intervals (usually every five days). On each sampling day, about 14 ice cores were retrieved, about 20 cm apart from each other, and 24 sackholes drilled. These allowed the measurement of a full range of physical and biogeochemical variables among which only temperature, crystal fabric, bulk salinity, and water stable isotopes will be discussed here.

## 2.3. Methods

Ice temperature was measured in-situ directly after extraction of the cores, using a calibrated probe (TESTO 720) inserted in pre-drilled holes (perpendicular to core sides) at the exact diameter of the probe and with a depth resolution of 5–10 cm. Precision of the measurements was  $\pm 0.1$  °C (not including potential bias from heat transfer on drilling).

Bulk ice-salinity measurements were done on two different kinds of samples, to investigate the dependence of the measured salinity on sample size. On board, melted ice samples were usually collected from successive 5-cmthick slices of a dedicated ice core, with a diameter of 14 cm, and were measured with a portable salinometer with a precision of  $\pm 0.1$ . Bulk ice-salinity measurements also were performed back in the home laboratory, on "twin"

J.-L. Tison et al. / Deep-Sea Research 11 55 (2008) 975-987



Fig. 2. (A) Clean site location on the ISPOL floc and (B) general view from the loading area. Note the prominent ridges surrounding the sampling site. GPS referenced location map courtesy M. McPhee.

cores from the same sampling day. These were kept below -25 °C at all times during transport and storage, therefore preventing post-sampling brine drainage. Two datasets were recovered: one from successive thin vertical samples at 5 cm resolution (about 20 ml), and the other from regularly spaced discontinuous (4 cm apart) 1-cm-thick horizontal slices (about 100 ml). In both cases, salinity was determined using a Radiometer Titrilab TIM 870 conductimeter and a calibration curve from diluted aliquots of an IAPSO (10)

salinity standard. Comparison of the "on-board" vs. "laboratory" salinity measurements provides insights into the required minimum amount of sample to ensure reliable bulk salinity values. Fig. 4A shows the ranges of salinity profiles on 29.11.04, obtained from the three different sample volumes. Clearly, large amounts such as those collected in the field, on a dedicated ice core, are necessary to ensure the reliability of the measurements. Note also that the vertical cuts show less variability than the

horizontal ones, probably because the first have less probability to include large, horizontally discrete, porosity features such as brine channels.

In order to gain accuracy in the measurements, under-ice sea-water salinity was measured on samples stored in sealed bottles and brought back to the University of Liège. Salinity was then determined with a Guildline—Autosal induction salinometer with an accuracy of  $\pm 0.003$ .

Ice thick sections were cut on board the R.V. *Polarstern* for ice texture observations such as, banding, brine channels, holes and bubble density. Thin sections also were studied in the home cold room laboratory (-30 °C) on another nearby core, using the standard procedure developed by Langway (1958).

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on the ice-core length dataset for testing the equality of the



Fig. 3. Clean site-sampling strategy: (A) overall sampling strategy and (B) daily sampling scheme. Numbers and color schemes in (A) refer to the time series.

population means at different time. The method of orthogonal contrast (Dagnelie, 1998) was then used to look for a possible temporal trend in the mean sea-ice cover thickness.

Water aliquots (10 ml) were collected from the melted ice samples dedicated to the bulk salinity measurements to perform for  $\delta^{18}$ O measurements at the Australian Antarctic CRC. Isotope ratios were measured with a dual-inlet VG SIRA mass spectrometer using the conventional water-CO<sub>2</sub> equilibration method. Accuracy with respect to VSMOW is  $\pm 0.12$ %.

Major nutrients, including dissolved silica, which is shown in this paper, were measured on board. Silicic acid was determined using standard colorimetric methodology (Grasshoff et al., 1983) as adapted for flow injection analysis (FIA) on a LACHAT Instruments Quick-Chem 8000 autoanalyzer (Hales et al., 2004) with a precision better than 5%.

# 3. Results

Fig. 5 gives an overview of ice texture at the ISPOL clean site between 29.11.04 and 30.12.04. All cores had a top 6- to 14-cm layer of granular ice underlain by columnar ice down to the bottom of the ice column. Examination of the upper 10 cm of the cores from the second half of the period (Fig. 5B—14.12.04 to 30.12.04) showed the occurrence of layers of coarser, clongated, bubble-free ice crystals. Largescale porosity features are clearly becoming dominant in the upper 40 cm of the sea-ice cover as time goes by. Freeboard was always positive, although generally small ( $\pm$  5 to  $\pm$ 1 cm, red numbers in Fig. 5A). Snow thickness ranged from 6 to 25 cm, and was generally lower than values observed in other sections of the ISPOL floe (0.6–0.9 m, Haas et al., 2008). There was no clear sign of



Fig. 4. (A) Bulk ice salinity profiles obtained with increasing sample volume and different sample orientation for ISPOL station 1 (29.11.04."laboratory 1" = continuous vertical samples, "laboratory 2" = discontinuous horizontal sampling, "field" = continuous horizontal sampling) and (B) comparison between laboratory (vertical, 20 ml) and field (continuous horizontal, 575 ml) bulk ice salinity measurements at four illustrative sampling times. See text for details.



Fig. 5. Textural properties of the ice-core time series at the ISPOL clean site: (A) overview in vertical thin sections under crossed polarizers (texture core) and half core description on-board R.V. *Polarstern* (DMS core), (B) enlargement of the top part of the cores showing the development of superimposed ice and of the "honeycomb structure". Upper scale unit = 10 cm, lower scale unit = 3 cm. Blue shading shows areas with  $\delta^{15}$ O lower than sea-water value, indicating a snow contribution. Red numbers are freeboard (cm) and blue numbers, snow thickness (cm). Black horizontal line is sea level (see text for details).

flooding, although the ice surface appeared occasionally "wetted".

Ice temperature was on the whole quite warm, ranging from -3.1 to -0.2 °C (Fig. 6A). Times series of the temperature depth profiles showed that the ice cover was warming up with time, with increasing amplitude of changes observed closer to the surface. The temperature trend with depth reverted on 09.12.04, with the occurrence of a temperature minimum at 55 cm depth on that date.

Bulk "on-board" salinity at the ISPOL "clean site" (Fig. 6B) switched from the typical C-shape to a Z-shape profile in the course of time, with the strongest decrease in the upper half of the ice cover. Although great care was taken to limit brine drainage during sampling (see above), we cannot rule out brine losses, especially from the very porous surface layers, at the end of the experiment. Again, the salinity profile observed on 09.12.04 is somewhat peculiar, with a steadily increasing salinity with depth and a saltier 45–80 cm section.

Calculated brine salinity and brine volumes, hypothesizing thermodynamic equilibrium of the brine (Cox and Weeks, 1983; Leppäranta and Manninen, 1988; Eicken, 2003), are illustrated in Fig. 6C and D, respectively. Brine salinity ranged from 48 to 8 for the whole experiment. As expected from the temperature and salinity trends described above, it was regularly decreasing with time, with the largest changes occurring in the upper half of the seaice cover. The two first sampling days showed brine salinity higher or equal to the sea-water value (34.20-34.40) while profiles from the last four sampling days were below it, with record minimum salinity values of 8 in the surface layer. The 09.12.04 profile was transitional, with a brine salinity maximum of 37 at 55 cm depth, similar to the value observed in the layers above on the previous sampling event (04.12.04).

Fig. 6C also shows, as open triangles, brine salinity observed in the sackholes for the 0-20 and 0-60 cm integrated depth ranges.

Calculated brine volumes (Fig. 6D) ranged from 9% to 32%. It is noted that these are likely to be minimal estimates, since the bulk ice salinity might have been biased by brine loss on sampling, especially in the top and bottom sections. The highest values were observed in the upper half of the ice cover, which also exhibited the highest level of changes, corroborating the visual observations of gradually increasing voids in the ice textures. The brine volume was more stable with time, at 10–15%, in the lower half of the ice cover, to the expected exception of the very bottom layer showing much higher values. Another exception is again sampling day 09.12.04, with no depth trend, and consistently higher values in the lower 50 cm.

Fig. 6E and F (detail) shows the  $\delta^{18}O_{hulk}$  ice depth profiles. Surface snow had an isotopic composition range from -13% to -17% while the  $\delta^{18}O$  of slush (with a salinity of 27), collected on the flanks of a ridge nearby, was about -7.5%. Bottom water fluctuates slightly around -0.5% (mean: -0.47%, sd:  $\pm 0.06\%$ ). Bulk ice values are generally consistent between sampling days, increasing from  $\pm 0.7$  ‰ at the surface to  $\pm 1.9$  at the bottom, with, however, two noticeable exceptions. Firstly, more negative values in the top 15 cm of the ice cover and, secondly, sampling day 09.12.04, which shows significantly more negative  $\delta^{18}O_{bulk \, lce}$  values at all depths, except for the very bottom.

## 4. Discussion

Despite the fact that we have paid attention to (a) study a level ice floe with a homogeneous surface and (b) sample small contiguous areas, we must acknowledge here that a time series such as this one may be affected by spatial variability that could not be assessed. This should therefore be kept in mind when we discuss the evolutionary processes of the sea-ice cover. On similar grounds, one might wonder if, despite the reasonable distances kept between areas dedicated to consecutive sampling days, previous ice-core sampling operations could have affected results from the subsequent sampling days. Although this is difficult to assess, neither temperature, nor calculated or observed brine salinities indicated detectable effects of disturbed heat fluxes or sea-water infiltration processes.

All cores show a typical textural sequence of first-year pack ice: surface granular ice underlain by dominant columnar ice. Isotopic  $\delta^{18}$ O composition of the ice (Fig. 6E and F) shows that part of the granular ice is actually "snow-ice" resulting from refrozen sea-water infiltration in snow (blue shading in Fig. 5), with an isotopic signature below the mean sea-water value (Lange et al., 1990; Eicken et al., 1994; Jeffries et al., 1994, 1997; Eicken, 1998). Furthermore, the occurrence of coarser, elongated, bubblefree ice crystal embedded in the granular ice is typical of "superimposed ice" formed by refrozen snow melt (Morris and Jeffries, 2001; Haas et al., 2001; Kawamura et al., 2004).

Ice thickness evolution as seen in Fig. 5A does not indicate a clear trend of basal melting, as would be expected from heat flux measurements at the ice-ocean interface at other locations on the floe (McPhee, 2008). The spatial variability at a given observation time (comparing the thin sections textural core to the half-core description of the DMS core on board Polarstern) is indeed apparently as large as the temporal variability, and in the range of the calculated thickness reduction from basal melting (9-15 cm for the whole period, McPhee, 2008). However, the availability of a large number of cores for each of the sampling days (between 10 and 14) allows us to plot a mean thickness of the sea-ice cover as a function of time (Fig. 7, squares) and to use a statistical approach to test for a significant trend in these values. The result of the ANOVA test (level of significance  $\alpha = 0.05$ ) leads to the conclusion that there is a highly significant difference amongst the means of the ice-core lengths for the different time steps. Since the p-value related to the ANOVA (p = 0.003) is lower than the threshold of 0.01 in the present case, we can J.-L. Tisun et al. / Deep-Seu Research II 55 (2008) 975-987



Fig. 6. Ice temperature (A), bulk ice salinity (B), theoretical (dots) and measurements within sackholes (open triangles at middle of depth range) brine salinities (C), theoretical brine volumes (D) and snow, ice, slush, brine and water  $\delta^{15}O(E)$  and (F, detail) of the ice cores time series at the ISPOL clean site. Open circles and crosses in (E) are calculated  $A\delta^{15}O$  brine, see text for details.

#### J.-L. Tison et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 55 (2008) 975-987



Fig. 7. Evolutions of mean ice thickness (black squares) and mean bulk ice salinity (open circles) for all ice cores of the ISPOL time series. Error bars on mean ice thickness are drawn at  $\pm 1 \sigma$ .

conclude the existence of a highly significant difference for one or more means. The method of orthogonal contrast was then applied to investigate a possible temporal trend in the means. The *p*-value related to the test (p < 0.001) for a linear decreasing trend of the mean sea-ice cover thickness with time reveals that the ice-core lengths data fit in a very highly significant way to the linear decreasing model. Finally,  $1\sigma$  error bars on ice thickness are clearly increasing with time, supporting the idea that basal melting increases the ice-water interface roughness.

Melting does not only affect the ice-ocean interface. Both thin sections and thick sections show a clear degradation of the cores structure in their upper half (0-40 cm), with an increasing proportion of large pores and holes in the ice texture over the course of the survey.

The temperature profile at the start of the experiment (Fig. 6A, 29.11.04) was inherited from typical winter conditions, with lower temperatures in the upper parts of the ice column, but all temperatures were already well above the reference temperature of  $-5^{\circ}$ C, that would indicate restored connectivity (5% relative brine volume) for bulk ice salinity above 5 (the so-called "law of fives", Buckley and Trodahl, 1987; Golden et al., 1998). As indicated above, relative brine volume (Fig. 6D) was always above 9% and reached more than 30% within the surface layers.

The temperature and salinity trends observed at our ISPOL "clean site" were very similar to those recently described for first-year ice in the Arctic during the first months of decay (May–June, Johnston, 2006). Meltwater flushing during ice warming and decay and resultant drastic changes in the temperature and salinity profiles over the entire ice column are a common feature in Arctic sea ice. However Eicken (1992) reported that this process is not important in Antarctic sea ice from the Weddell Sea, and usually restricted to second-year and multi-year ice, but nevertheless depending on the time of the year and on the distance from the ice edge. Our observations show that Antarctic first-year sea ice can be affected by important changes in temperature and salinity profiles during its decay process. It is also interesting to note that, as shown in Fig. 4B, where profiles from 20- and 575-ml samples are compared for the various time slices, the bias from reduced salinity sample volume decreases as the ice decays. This is in accordance with experimental observations in tank ice (Interice experiment 1) from Cottier et al. (1999) who have demonstrated the decoupling between zones of high salinity and brine location as impurities relocate in warming sea ice, smoothing out the initial heterogeneity.

The mean ice-core salinity is plotted in Fig. 7 (open circles). It shows a clear decrease during the first half of the experiment and a stable value at about 4 for the last three sampling days.

Calculated brine salinity (Fig. 6C) decreased with time to values below sea-water salinity about halfway through the experiment, suggesting a transition from unstable to stable density profiles in the brine network. Since calculated brine volumes were all well above the threshold value of 5% for impermeable ice (Buckley and Trodahl, 1987; Golden et al., 1998) from the very beginning of the survey, connectivity is ensured within the brine network and helps explaining the trend of the mean ice salinity in Fig. 7. Brine drainage under the unstable density profile leads to desalination in the first half of the observation period while density stratification limits further brine loss in the second half of the study period.

It is also worth comparing the calculated brine salinities to those observed in the sackholes for the 0-20 and 0-60 cm depth ranges (triangles in Fig. 6C). There is a good agreement between the two values for the first two sampling days, in the shallower holes. Discrepancies tend to increase during the observation period, suggesting either a potential limitation of the accuracy of the ice temperature measurements (used in the calculation) in a porous ice medium or that the system is not in thermodynamic equilibrium. The values of the lower sackholes are clearly not representative, most likely because these holes are integrating brines drained from the upper layers.

The lower  $\delta^{18}$ O values in the upper 15 cm of ice column indicate variable contribution of snow ice or superimposed ice, as also seen in the textures in Fig. 5.

Since the ice cover is in a general state of decay and since there is no fractionation on pure-ice melting (Jouzel and Souchez, 1982; Souchez and Jouzel, 1984), the peculiar isotopic profile at sampling day 09.12.04 can only be related to changes in the isotopic composition of brine in an open system (brine migration or brine loss). A first order estimate of the differences in brine isotopic composition  $(\Delta \delta^{18}O_{brine})$  between sampling day 09.12.04 and the other sampling occasions/locations can be deduced from the differences in  $\delta^{19}O_{bulk low}$ , considering that the  $\delta^{18}O_{pure low}$ did not change in the course of time and neither did the relative brine volume. The latter assertion is clearly not true, but since the relative change in relative brine volume is reasonably small, especially in the carly stages of the experiment, we can use it for a first estimate of the  $\Delta \delta^{18}O_{bring}$ , e.g., by comparing profiles of 04.12.04 and 09.12.04. The result is shown in Fig. 6E as open circles (using mean brine volume for the 04.12.04-09.12.04 period at a given depth) and crosses (using either of relative brine volumes on 04.12.04 and 09.12.04). This gives a Δδ18Obring profile ranging between -9% and +0.5%, with a clear decrease of its absolute value with depth. Such a lowering of the isotopic composition of brine can only result from infiltration of water contaminated by snow or snow ice meltwater. Three potential candidates can be pointed at: (a) internal melting of the snow ice layer  $(-3.5\% < \delta^{18}O)$ <-0.5%), which is present at the site location (Figs. 5 and 6E), (b) snow melt from the surface  $(-17\%) < \delta^{18}$ O <-13‰), and (c) lateral infiltration of the slush that forms in the areas closer to the ridges ( $\delta^{18}O_{slush} = -7.5\%$ ). It also should be noted that, although within the range of two error bars, the interface sea-water value is the lowest on 09.12.04 (Fig. 6F).

Note that the calculated differences in brine isotopic values clearly imply much lower  $\delta^{18}O_{\rm hrine}$  values than those observed in the sackholes brines (triangles in Fig. 6E and F). This could be explained by the fact that the sackhole sampling procedure biases  $\delta^{18}O_{\rm hrine}$  toward less negative values because of surface melting and increased contribution from the crystal melt. The 09.12.04 sackhole brine  $\delta^{18}O$  is, however, the lowest in the range.

Finally, comparing the initial (29.11.04, black line) and final (30.12.04, red line)  $\delta^{18}O_{bulk}$  ice profiles above 60 cm depth, it is interesting to note that the final bulk ice signature is always higher than the initial. Following the same rationale as above, i.e. that these changes can only be related to changes in the isotopic composition of the brine, suggests that, in areas not influenced by surface slush infiltration, the initially lighter brine (resulting from interface isotopic fractionation on freezing that enriches the solid phase in the heavier isotope and the interface liquid in the lighter one (e.g., Souchez and Jouzel, 1984; Tison and Haren, 1989; Souchez et al., 1989; Eicken, 1998)) is progressively replaced by pure-ice melt, with a heavier signature.

# 4.1. A model for the temporal evolution of the sea-lce cover

We are now able to describe the temporal evolution of the first-year sea-ice cover at the ISPOL "clean site", using the dataset described above, as sketched in Fig. 8. At the beginning of the observation period, the brine network is unstable in terms of density and already largely interconnected. This should favor downward brine migration, either through convection (where downward brine movement in some areas is counterbalanced by upward seawater movement in others) or brine drainage (where downward brine movement is compensated by melting/ infiltration in the upper layers), and results in the observed regular mean ice salinity drop for the three first sampling days. The isotopic record at sampling day 09.12.04 does not support a convective process. Indeed, because of the isotopic fractionation occurring on ice growth (Jouzel and Souchez, 1982; Souchez and Jouzel, 1984; Tison and Haren, 1989; Souchez et al., 1989; Eicken, 1998), the brine isotopic signal will always he more negative than (or equal to) the mean sea-water signature (-0.5%). Therefore, replacing part of the initial brine with sea-water would inevitably shift the bulk ice  $\delta^{18}$ O towards less negative values. This is the reverse of the observed trend from 04.12.04 to 09.12.04. As surface brine travels downward, it is progressively replaced by either sea water/snow slush from the flooded ridges flanks nearby (sampling day 09.12.04 is the closest to the ridges bordering the "clean site" patch-Figs. 2B and 3A, and show the thickest snow layer, inherited from previous snow fall and wind drift accumulation-Fig. 5) or by in-situ melting as the temperature increases, particularly in the upper layers. Direct snow-melt contribution to brine channel infiltration, away from the ridges, is probably a very limited source since below-zero temperatures at the snow-ice interface



Fig. 8. A simple model for the degradation of the first-year level sea-ice cover at the ISPOL clean site.

were the rule, as shown by the superimposed ice formation at the end of the period (Fig. 5B) and by extensive direct temperature measurements at other locations on the ice floe. The already large porosity of about 14% greatly favors brine transfer, not only vertically, but also potentially laterally from the ridges nearby, through the building "honeycomb-like" structure. Indeed, the snow cover at sampling day 09.12.04 (with its clear infiltration signature) did not show any sign of slush build up at the snow-ice interface. Note that, in that case, the profile at sampling day 09.12.04 would typically illustrate interference of spatial variability within a time-series study. As discussed above, we cannot preclude, however, that the more negative  $\delta^{18}$ O value observed in the brine is a contribution from in situ melting of the upper part of the snow-ice layer. Considering a mean brine volume of 15% on the 09.12.04, 13 cm snow ice melt would be required to fully "refill" the existing brine network. Observed snow-ice thicknesses are compatible with this value, though rather on the high side. However, since reduction in snow-ice thickness has not been observed prior to 09.12.04, snow-ice melt is probably not the only contributor. Finally, one could argue that snow ice is also present at sampling days 4–7 (Fig. 5) and that no sign of infiltration of brines with lower  $\delta^{1S}O$  is seen there (Fig. 6E and F). As we have seen, brine dynamics has undergone major changes halfway through the experiment and the initiation of brine stratification would have hampered downwards infiltration of snow ice-melt, making sampling day 09.12.04 a singular case.

Of particular importance, from a biogeochemical perspective, is the actual process of brine migration. Brine convection or sea-water/snow-slush invasion from the surface layer (a first step towards flooding) will favor nutrient replenishment and potentially boost the development of the surface and/or internal microbial community. Internal melting of channel walls will, on the contrary, dilute nutrients and eventually destroy algae anchoring sites. Nutrients records, as illustrated for dissolved silica in Fig. 9, did not indicate replenishment during the first half of the observation period (29.11.04, black symbols; 04.12.04, dark blue symbols). Apart from those in the skeletal layer (samples shown with crosses in Fig. 9A), all data points were below the conservative sea-water dilution curve (Fig. 9A), with a clear trend of decreasing concentrations between 29.11.04 and 04.12.04 (Fig. 9B). Only at sampling day 09.12.04 was the concentration slightly higher in the upper half of the ice cover, probably reflecting the surface slush infiltration, without, however, recovering the sea-water dilution curve silica concentration within the brine. This example, and the behavior of a suite of other variables (including other nutrients) that will be described elsewhere, suggest that brine drainage (as opposed to brine convection with sea-water upwards movement within the sea-ice cover) was the dominant process of desalination in the early stages of decay. Since no obvious flooding occurred on site (before and apart from the local event on 09.12.04) and the freeboard was



Fig. 9. Evolution of the dissolved silica concentration in all ice cores for the ISPOL time series: (A) samples position vs. conservative dilution curves of sea-water, (B) depth profiles in ice and underlying water. Each dilution curve describes the theoretical evolution of the Si concentration in sea-water when it is progressively diluted by melting pure ice. To draw the dilution lines, the mean Si value of the underlying water has been used at each sampling occurrence. If Si behaves conservatively, bulk ice samples shoeld lie on the dilution curve. Any consumption process (such as biological uptake of nutrients) would bring the bulk ice samples below the dilution curve and vice versa. Note the dominant pattern of substantial undersaturation, apart for the ice-water interface samples (crosses).

positive (+5 to +3 cm in the first half of the period), one has to attribute the brine drainage process to the slight hydraulic head that must have resulted from increased melting in the surface layers above the freeboard.

As brine salinity dropped below the sea-water value, stratification of the brine network occurred, and solute exchange should now be mainly controlled by molecular diffusion along concentration gradients, especially as the freeboard level was getting close to zero. Fig. 10 shows a clear trend of decreasing salinity in the surface sea-waters, and, if this is attributable to exchange with the regional decaying sea ice drifting north, the dilution must have resulted from basal or lateral melting of the sea-ice cover (eventually increased in areas of brash and floe/lead



Fig. 10. Evolution of the salinity of the underlying water at the "clean site" in the course of the ISPOL experiment. Note that the measurements were only made at three discrete depths (ice-water interface, 1 and 30 m). See text for details.

edges-see, e.g., 25.12.04 at interface and 1 m depth), since no further desalination is observed in the mean ice-core salinity record. This melting process resulted in the observed diminishing trend of the sea-ice thickness (Fig. 7). Finally, textural observations (Fig. 5B) indicate that superimposed ice formation started in the second half of the study period, as melting surface snow infiltrated and refroze at the top of the more saline and colder granular ice. This process is also of interest from a biogeochemical perspective, because it will impede gas exchange with the atmosphere, by giving rise to an impermeable layer of superimposed ice. A pause in the downward flux of CO2 into the ice was observed on the site for the last two sampling days whereas breaking the existing superimposed ice crust immediately re-established the flux (Delille and Tison, unpubl. data).

## 5. Conclusions

Regular five-day sampling of the main physico-chemical properties of an unflooded 90-cm-thick first-year sea-ice cover at ISPOL during spring/early summer 2004 has provided insights into the changing character of sea ice during the summer decay season, and the processes involved. Progressive melting occurs both in the top layers and at the ice-ocean interface. In the first case, internal melting largely dominates resulting in a strong increase of the ice porosity, while interface melting dominates in the latter.

In the early stages of decay, brine salinity in the upper layers is higher than sea-water resulting in density instability. This favors downward brine migration, as attested by the steady decrease of the mean bulk-ice salinity. Bulk-ice salinity depth profiles and brine salinity measurements during the first three sampling days clearly showed downward salt transfer, with replacement by fresher brine in the upper layers. The driver of the brine migration was likely brine drainage under the hydraulic head resulting from increased melting in the upper sea-ice layers, as well as enhanced horizontal and vertical brine transfer favored by the large porosity. Closer to the ridged areas, local events of downward slush infiltration were detected, although there were no signs of flooding at the surface, suggesting sub-surface transfer occurs through the building up of a "honeycomb-like" structure (Haas et al., 2001). Convection processes involving the underlying seawater were less likely, as indicated by the  $\delta^{18}$ O values of the brine and because nutrient replenishment of the internal layers was not observed.

Further surface and internal melting leads to brine salinity that is lower than sea-water throughout the sea-ice cover, which stratifies the brine medium and ends the drainage process, limiting the exchange of solutes via molecular diffusion. As a result, and since the freeboard is close to zero (and therefore strongly limiting the potential for an efficient hydraulic head), the bulk ice salinity and the salinity profiles stabilized. The contribution of sea-ice melting to the underlying sea-water is then mainly limited to the ice-ocean interface.

In a way, this second phase of internal sea-ice cover decay is a preliminary stage of the more extensive case of melt ponds conditions in the Arctic.

This overall process of decay, in the (near) absence of flooding, is of utmost importance for the ice biogeochemical evolution since it would limit nutrient replenishment and compromise brine channel wall stability, therefore impeding the development of surface and internal algal communities. The situation is likely to be very different in areas where a thicker snow cover would favor flooding by depressing the freeboard to below sea-water level (i.e. negative freeboard). The observation of an infiltration event at sampling day 09.12.04 suggests that, if flooding occurred during this early summer stage in the evolution of the sea ice, it would mainly result from lateral sources, rather than bottom-up water transfer. The latter case would indeed he restricted to the cases where ice submergence from snow fall events or bottom melting would induce upward brine/water movement by the amount of submergence.

The switch from a brine drainage to a diffusion controlled transfer of solutes within the ice column, together with the late build-up of a continuous superimposed ice layer, should also considerably affect gas exchange in this generally highly porous medium, but this is outside the scope of the present paper.

Although the thickness of the snow cover and local meteorological conditions will undoubtedly control the timing of the decay process and the potential for flooding, we believe that the processes described here should apply to a large number of other locations around Antarctica since more than 80% of the Antarctic sea ice cover is made of level first-year pack ice. It is, however, clear that future work should focus on both the effects of flooding and the evolution of multiyear floes. Increased surface and internal

melting as summer progresses should further reduce brine and bulk ice salinity profiles. Should the ice survive the summer, the resulting second-year ice would display low salinity "I"-shaped profiles, as documented by Eicken (1992) in the Weddell Sea or Remy et al. (in press) in McMurdo Sound during the B-15 iceberg stranding event.

## References

- Buckley, R.G., Trodahl, H.J., 1987. Thermally driven changes in the optical properties of sea ice. Cold Region Science and Technology 14, 201–204.
- Cottier, F., Eicken, H., Wadhams, P., 1999. Linkages between salinity and brine channel distribution in young sea ice. Journal of Geophysical Research 104 (C7), 15859–15871.
- Cox, G.F.N., Weeks, W.F., 1983. Equations for determining the gas and brine volumes in sea ice samples. Journal of Glaciology 29, 305–316.
- Dagnelie, P., 1998. Statistique Théorique et Appliquée: Tome 2: Inférence Statistique à une et à deux dimensions. Bruxelles, De Boeck, 659pp.
- Delille, B., 2006. Inorganic Carbon dynamics and air-ice-sea CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes in the open and coastal waters of the Southern Ocean, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Liège.
- Eicken, H., 1992. Salinity profiles of Antarctic sen ice: field data and model results. Journal of Geophysical Research 97, 15345–15557.
- Eicken, H., 1998. Deriving modes and rates of ice growth in the Weddell Sea from microstructural, salinity and stable-isotope data. In: Jeffries, M. (Ed.), Antarctic Sea Ice: Physical Processes, Interactions and Variability, American Geophysical Union, vol. 74. Antarctic Research Series, Washington, DC, pp. 89–122.
- Eicken, H., 2003. From the microscopic to the macroscopic, to the regional scale: growth, microstructure and properties of sea ice. In: Thomas, D.N., Dieckmann, G.S. (Eds.), Sea Ice—An Introduction to its Physics, Chemistry, Biology and Geology. Blackwell, Oxford, UK, pp. 22–82.
- Eicken, H., Lange, M.A., Hubberten, H.-W., Wadhams, P., 1994. Characteristics and distribution patterns of snow and meteoric ice in the Weddell Sea and their contribution to the mass balance of sea ice. Annales Geophysicae 12, 80–93.
- Eicken, H., Bock, C., Wittig, R., Miller, H., Poertner, H.O., 2000. Magnetic resonance imaging of sea ice pore fluids: methods and thermal evolution of pore microstructure. Cold Regions Science and Technology 31, 207-225.
- Eicken, H., Krouse, H.R., Kadko, D., Perovich, D.K., 2002. Tracer studies of pathways and rates of meltwater transport through Arctic summer sea ice. Journal of Geophysical Research 107 (10), 8046.
- Golden, K.M., Ackley, S.F., Lytle, V.I., 1998. The percolation phase transition in sea ice. Science 282, 2238–2241.
- Gosink, T.A., Pearson, J.G., Kelley, J.J., 1976. Gas movement through sea ice. Nature 263, 41–42.
- Grasshoff, K., Ehrhardt, M., Krenling, K., 1983. Methods of Seawater Analysis. Verlag Chemie, Weinheim, Germany. Haas, C., Thomas, D.N., Bareivs, J., 2001. Surface properties and
- Haas, C., Thomas, D.N., Bareiss, J., 2001. Surface properties and processes of perennial Antarctic sea ice in summer. Journal of Glaciology 47 (179), 613–625.
- Haas, C., Nicolaus, M., Willmes, S., Worby, A., Flinspach, D., 2008. Sea ice and snow thickness and physical properties of an ice fice in the western Weddell Sea and their changes during spring warming. Deep-Sea Research II, this issue [doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2007.12.020].
- Hales, B., van Greer, A., Takahashi, T., 2004. High-frequency measurements of seawater chemistry: flow-injection analysis of macronutrients. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 2, 91–101.
- Hellmer, H.H., Haas, C., Dieckmann, G.S., Schröder, M., 2006. Sea ice feedbacks observed in Western Weddell Sea. Eos 87, 173–184.
- IPCC, 2001. Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (www.ipce.ch).

- Jacobs, S., Weiss, R., 1998. Ocean, Ice and Atmosphere: Interactions at the Antarctic Continental Margin, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 75. American Geophysical Union, p. 380.
- Jeffries, M. (Ed.), 1998. Antarctic Sca Icc: Physical Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 74. American Geophysical Union, p. 407.
- Jeffries, M.O., Shaw, R.A., Morris, K., Veazey, A.L., Krouse, H.R., 1994. Crystal structure, stable isotopes (δ<sup>10</sup>O) and development of sca ice in the Ross, Amundsen and Bellingshausen scas, Antarctica. Journal of Geophysical Research 99, 985–995.
- Jeffries, M.O., Worby, A.P., Morris, K., Week, W.F., 1997. Seasonal variations in the properties and structural composition of sea ice and snow cover in the Bellingshausen and Amundsen seas, Antarctica. Journal of Glaciology 43, 138–151.
- Johnston, M., 2006. A comparison of physical properties and strength of decaying first-year ice in the Arctic and sub-Arctic. Annals of Glaciology 44, 134-162.
- Joczel, J., Souchez, R., 1982. Melting-refreezing at the glacier sole and the isotopic composition of the ice. Journal of Glaciology 28 (98), 35–42.
- Kawamura, T., Jeffries, M.O., Tison, J.-L., Krouse, H.R., 2004. Superimposed ice formation in summer on Ross Sea pack ice floes. Annals of Glaciology 39, 563–568.
- Lange, M.A., Schloser, P., Ackley, S.F., Wadhams, P., Dieckmann, G.S., 1990. <sup>18</sup>O concentrations in sea ice of the Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Journal of Glaciology 36, 315–323.
- Langway, C.C., 1958. Ice fabrics and the Universal Stage. U.S. Army Snow Ice and Permafrost Research Establishment. Corps of Engineers, Technical Report 62, Wilmette, IL, USA.
- Lannuzel, D., de Jong, J., Schoemann, V., Trevena, A., Tison, J.-L., Chou, L., 2006. Development of a sampling and flow injection analysis technique for iron determination in the sea ice environment. Analytica Chimica Acta 556 (2), 476–483.
- Leppäranta, M., Manninen, T., 1988. The brine and gas content of sea ice with attention to low salinities and high temperatures. Finnish Institute of Marine Research Internal Report 88 (2), Helsinki, Finland.
- Lizotte, M.P. and Arrigo, K.R. (Eds.), 1998. Antarctic Sea Ice: Biological Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 73. American Geophysical Union, p. 198.
- McPhee, M.G., 2008. Physics of early summer ice/ocean exchanges in the Western Weddell Sea during ISPOL. Deep-Sea Research II, this issue [doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2007.12.022].
- Morris, K., Jeffries, M.O., 2001. Seasonal contrasts in snow-cover characteristics on Ross Sea ice floes. Annals of Glaciology 33, 61–68.
- Remy, J.-P., Becquevort, S., Haskell, T.G., Tison, J.-L., in press. Impact of the B-15 iceberg "stranding event" on the physical and biological properties of sea ice in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Antarctic Science.
- Semiletov, I., Makshtas, A., Akasofu, S.I., Andreas, F.L., 2004. Atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> balance: the role of Arctic sea ice. Geophysical Research Letters 31, L03121.
- Souchez, R., Jouzel, J., 1984. On the isotopic composition in dD and d<sup>(1)</sup>O of water and ice during freezing. Journal of Glaciology 30 (106), 369–372.
- Souchez, R., Tison, J.-L., Jouzel, J., 1989. An isotopic method to estimate conductive heat flux through Antarctic first-year sea ice. Annals of Glaciology 14, 270–272.
- Thomas, D.N., Dieckmann, G.S. (Eds.), 2003. Sea Ice: An Introduction to its Physics, Chemistry, Biology and Geology. Blackwell Science, Ltd., p. 402.
- Tison, J.-L., Haren, J., 1989. Isotopic, chemical and crystallographic characteristics of first year sea ice from Breid Bay (Princess Ragnhild Crust-Antarctica). Antarctic Science 3, 261–268.
- Untersteiner, N., 1968. Natural desalination and equilibrium salinity profile for perennial sea ice. Journal of Geophysical Research 73 (4), 1251–1257.
- Weeks, W.F., Ackley, S.F., 1986. The growth, structure and properties of sea ice. In: Untersteiner, N. (Ed.), The Geophysics of Sea Ice. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 9–164.

# Paper 3 :

Sea ice and snow cover characteristics during the winter-spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea: An overview of SIMBA 2007, 2011. *Deep-Sea Res II*, 58, 1019-1038. by Lewis M.J., J.L. Tison, B. Weissling, B. Delille, S.F. Ackley, F. Brabant and H. Xie.

Contribution of F. Brabant: Field sampling. Compilation of temperature and salinity data and computation of brine salinity and brine volume fraction profiles.

Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038



# Deep-Sea Research II

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/dsr2



M.J. Lewis a,b,\*, J.L. Tison C, B. Weissling B, B. Delille d, S.F. Ackley F. Brabant C, H. Xie B

<sup>6</sup> University of Texas at San Antonio, One UTSA Circle, San Antonio, TX 78249, United States <sup>b</sup> Southwest Research Institute<sup>®</sup>, 6220 Calebra Road, San Antonio, TX 71238, United States <sup>c</sup> Universitä Libre de Bruselles, CP 152402, 50 Avenue F.D. Roosevelt, 1050 Bruselles, Belgium

<sup>4</sup> Université de Liege, Allée du 6 Août, 17, 4000 Liège, Beigium

#### **ARTICLEINFO**

Article history: Received 9 October 2010 Accepted 9 October 2010 Available online 13 October 2010 Keywurds: Antarctic sea ice Sea ice properties Snow properties Sea ice thermodynamics Air-ice-ocean interaction International Polar Year (IPY)

# Antarctica Bellingshausen Sea

#### ABSTRACT

The Sea Ice Mass Balance in the Antarctic (SIMBA) experiment was conducted from the RVIB N.8. Polmer in September and October 2007 in the Bellingshausen Sea in an area recently experiencing considerable changes in both climate and sea ice cover. Snow and ice properties were observed at 3 short-term stations and a 27-day drift station (Ice Station Belgica, ISB) during the winter-spring transition. Repeat measurements were performed on sea ice and snow cover at 5 ISB sites, each having different physical characteristics, with mean ice (snow) thicknesses varying from 0.6 m (0.1 m) to 2.3 m (0.7 m). Ice cores retrieved every five days from 2 sites and measured for physical, biological, and chemical properties. Three ice mass-balance buoys (IMBs) provided continuous records of snow and ice thickness and temperature. Meteorological conditions changed from warm fronts with high winds and precipitation followed by cold and calm periods through four cycles during ISB. The snow cover regulated temperature flux and controlled the physical regime in which sea ice morphology changed. Level thin ice areas had little snow accumulation and experienced greater thermal fluctuations resulting in brine salinity and volume changes, and winter maximum thermodynamic growth of -0.6 m in this region. Flooding and snow-ice formation occurred during cold spells in ice and snow of intermediate thickness. In contrast, little snow-ice formed in flooded areas with thicker ice and snow cover, instead nearly isothermal, highly permeable ice persisted. In spring, short-lived cold air episodes did not effectively penetrate the sea ice nor overcome the effect of ocean heat flux, thus favoring net ice thinning from bottom melt over ice thickening from snow-ice growth, in all cases. These warm ice conditions were consistent with regional remote sensing observations of earlier ice breakup and a shorter sea ice season, more recently observed in the Bellingshausen Sea.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

The Sea Ice Mass Balance in Antarctic (SIMBA) research program conducted in September and October 2007 provided an excellent opportunity to observe sea ice and snow cover characteristics of the Bellingshausen Sea sector of the Antarctic during the winter-spring transition of the International Polar Year. The Bellingshausen Sea is a region that is experiencing significant recent changes both in climate and sea ice cover (lacobs and Comiso, 1997; Massom et al., 2008; Parkinson, 2004; Stammerjohn et al., 2008). The near 30-year record of passive microwave (PM) remote sensing data has shown the Bellingshausen-Amundsen Seas sector and the Ross Sea sector to have the greatest reported change, although with opposing trends

(Zwally et al., 2002; Comiso and Nishio, 2008). The overall trend in sea ice extent is decreasing for the Bellingshausen-Amundsen sector at  $5.7 \pm 1.0\%$  per decade, whereas sea ice extent in the Ross Sea sector increased by 4.2 ± 0.7% per decade (Comiso and Nishio, 2008). Additional analysis of PM data by Stammerjohn et al. (2008) indicates that overall trends of sea ice extent not only decrease in the Bellingshausen Sea, but also that the timing of advance and retreat of the seasonal sea ice cover changes with an overall reduction in ice duration of 85 ± 20 days per year. This decrease in the extent and relative duration of the sea ice cover has been attributed in part to coincident occurrence of La Niña in the southern Pacific Ocean and positive anomalies of the Southern Annular Mode (SAM) (Stammeriohn et al. 2008) and changes in atmospheric circulation patterns due to stratospheric ozone depletion (Turner et al., 2008).

Recent studies (Stammerjohn et al., 2011) indicate similar atmospheric and sea ice anomalies occurred in the Bellingshausen Sea during 2007. The atmospheric circulation and strong westerly winds attributed to decreasing sea ice extent in the Bellingshausen Sea also

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author at: University of Texas at San Antonio, One UTSA Circle, San Antonio, TX 78249, United States. Tel.: +1 210 522 3533; fax: +1 210 522 5093. E-muil address: michael.lewis@swri.org (M.J. Lewis)

<sup>0967-0645/5 -</sup> see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2010.10.027

suggest changes in the mechanisms of sea ice formation and accumulation in this region (Massom et al., 2008). The use of passive microwave remote sensing data to assess the changes in the sea ice zone does not address potential changes in the ice thickness distribution that may result from rafting and ridging in the ice pack or snowice formation from interface flooding. Such occurrences are expected to increase sea ice thickness by consolidation in the former and by accretion in the later, although linkages between the two have been shown to contribute to regional homogeneity (Sturm et al., 1998). Previous sea ice studies performed in the Bellingshausen Sea have identified recurring cyclic patterns of meteorological conditions that influence the growth and evolution of the sea ice and snow cover characteristics (Jeffries et al., 1998, 2001; Sturm et al., 1998). Warm atmospheric fronts are accompanied by high northerly winds and precipitation that increase snow loading on sea ice (Sturm et al., 1998); however, the mobility of snow cover under high wind conditions suggests not only snow accretion in some areas, but significant snow redistribution and also snow loss in open leads within the ice pack (Eicken et al., 1994; Massom et al., 2001). Thus, warmer and/or fresher localized ocean conditions are anticipated to affect heat transfer and sea ice growth (Lytle and Ackley, 2001).

The redistribution of snow cover on the ice pack directly affects isostatic balance (buoyancy) and the presence of thick snow cover results in negative freeboard (snow/ice interface submerged below sea level). In warmer conditions, generally relating to a brine volume above approximately 5%, sea ice becomes increasingly permeable (Cox and Weeks, 1975; Golden et al., 1998, 2007) and negative freeboard allows flooding of the snow/ice interface, either vertically through open brine channels or laterally from fractures associated with deformation features or open leads, forming a mixed layer of snow and sea water (slush) (Maksym and Jeffries, 2000). Subsequent freezing of the slush layer forms granular snowice, an extremely important component of Antarctic sea ice, which contributes to thermodynamic growth on a circumpolar scale (Eicken et al., 1994; Lytle and Ackley, 1996; Jeffries et al., 1998; Worby et al., 1998). The presence of thick snow cover not only gives rise to flooding, but also provides thermal insulation from cold air temperatures above, affecting the thermal evolution of sea ice (Massom et al., 2001).

The overall objectives of SIMBA were to establish a baseline data set in an under-sampled region of the Antarctic from which to study sea ice processes and monitor future change. These include: (1) physical processes of snow and ice growth/accumulation, physical properties, heat flux and energy balance; (2) biogeochemical processes of gas exchange, nutrient flux, biological growth, inorganic and trace metals; and (3) the evaluation of various satellite remote sensing instruments for sea ice assessment. While the results of these studies may be found in a number of papers within this volume, our paper specifically provides an overview of SIMBA and the physical setting. We present results of recurrent measurements of sea ice and snow characteristics as obtained during the winter-spring transition in 2007. These observations show how sea ice structure and snow cover of the region change in response to a cyclical pattern of atmospheric warming-cooling events. The effects of changing snow thickness, evolution of sea ice brine volume and salinity, and the effects of flooding are also discussed in the paper.

## 2. 5IMBA study area

The SIMBA research program (NBP 0709) consisted of an international contingent with a range of scientific objectives related to both physical and biological interactions between the ocean, sea ice, snow cover, and atmosphere. The RVIB Nathaniel B. Palmer (NBP) reached the marginal ice zone (MIZ) near Peter 1

Island in the Bellingshausen Sea on 25 September 2007. During the inbound passage, ice observations were performed from the ship's bridge using the ASPeCt protocol (Worby and Allison, 1999). Ice types and concentration, snow and ice thickness, and weather conditions were classified at hourly intervals. The ice edge along the inbound track was noted in ASPeCt observations to be 0.1 concentration (frazil ice), and transitioned to open water at 67.333°S. The area of open water extended south to Peter I Island, where ice was again encountered at 0.3 concentration (shuga and frazil) at 68.767°S. The ice showed a southward transition to brash ice and then first year floes. The ship track for the SIMBA cruise from the Chilean 200-mile territorial limit, short-term ice stations (Stations 1–3), and long-term drift station (Ice Station Belgica), are given in Fig. 1. Relevant position and timing information are given in Table 1.

## 2.1. Stations 1-3

Three 3-to-4 hour long ice stations were performed on sea ice floes to measure snow and ice properties and obtain ice cores. These stations varied in characteristic ice type, overall ice and snow cover thickness representing a transition from the MIZ to larger sea ice floes toward the interior of the ice pack, Station 1 consisted of a Type Y first year sea ice floe (Jeffries et al., 1998; Perovich et al., 2004) with 1 m mean ice thickness, thick snow cover and a flooded snow-ice interface. Station 2 consisted of a thicker Type Z floe with mean ice thickness of 1.7 m, deformation ridges and evidence of rafting, thick snow cover and flooded snow-ice interface. Station 3 consisted of thin level first year Type X floe with thinner snow cover and neutral to slightly positive freeboard. At the short-term stations, measurement transect lines were established to obtain snow, slush and ice thickness and snow/ice interface temperature. Separate snowpits were excavated adjacent to transect lines, and ice cores were obtained in a "clean" area separate from the snow and ice measurement transects. The weather during transit into the ice pack was generally inclement with varying snowfall, fog and overcast skies with high cloud cover. Air temperatures varied from approximately -1 to -4 °C and northerly and easterly winds ranged from about 5 to 10 gusting to 22 m s<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.2. Ice Station Belgica

The long-term drift station, Ice Station Belgica (ISB), was established south of Peter I Island for 27 days as shown in Fig. 2. The ISB floe was selected based on the presence of a variety of ice types and snow cover that are characteristic of the greater region and the relative floe size which was likely to survive the duration of the field experiments. Five specific sites (Brussels, Liège, Fabra, Patria, and Frost Flower) characterized different snow and ice regimes suitable for the different objectives of the sampling programs. Biogeochemical sampling "clean areas" at Brussels and Liège were selected based on a number of factors including: (1) homogeneity of surface properties to reduce spatial variability; (2) contrast in ice and snow properties between sites emphasizing difference in processes; (3) minimized area to reduce logistic constraints; and (4) distance from the ship suitable to prevent sample contamination. Snow and ice measurements performed at Brussels, Fabra and Patria focused on snow and ice elevation, snow and ice thickness by direct measurement and electromagnetic induction, and snow properties from representative snowpits (Weissling et al., 2011). By necessity, these activities were kept distinctly separate from the biogeochemical sampling to avoid cross contamination issues. The Frost Flower site was used to observe and sample frost flowers.

### M.J. Lowis et al. / Deep-Sea Research # 58 (2011) 1019-1038



Fig. 1. Hourly position data for the Sea kee Mass Balance in the Antarctic (SIMBA) research program aboard the RVIB Norhuniel B. Puimer (NIB 0907) during the 2007 winterspring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea, Antarctica. The location of the inbound ice edge, outbound ice edge, inbound short-term ice stations, and 27-day drift station (Ice Station Belgica) are noted. Along the inbound track, a stretch of open water was encountered between the ice edge and Peter I Island as indicated above.

#### Table 1 SIMBA positions.

Location	Date	Day of year	Time (GMT)	Latitude	Longitude
Inbound Ice Edge	24 September 2007	267	17:00	- 56.783	- 89.053
Station 1	25 September 2007	268	18:35	- 70.245	-90.071
Station 2	26 September 2007	260	16:52	-70.408	-90.483
Station 3	27 September 2007	270	4:55	- 70.635	-90.736
Start Ice Station Belgica	27 September 2007	270	18:35	- 70.55	-90.905
End Ice Station Belgica	24 October 2007	297	11:00	- 69.995	-94.706
Outbound Ice Edge	24 October 2007	300	8:00	-66.710	-90.092

The Brussels site (Fig. 2) was utilized for both biogeochemical sampling and ice and snow thickness profiles. Brussels may be generally characterized as level first year sea ice of 0.5-0.7 m thickness with little deformation, minimal snow accumulation and overall positive freeboard. The Liège site was utilized primarily for biogeochemical sampling and may be generally characterized as deformed first year sea ice of 0.9-1.2 m thickness, thick snow cover, and some flooding at the snow/ice interface. Liège was not used for ice thickness transects, however, snowpits were excavated in characteristic areas away from the "clean area". The Fabra site consisted of multi-year sea ice of mean thickness exceeding 2 m that was highly deformed with numerous pressure ridges and ice blocks at the surface. The snow cover at Fabra exceeded 1 m thickness in places with extensive flooding encountered at the snow/ice interface. Snow and ice measurements were conducted along the same transect lines at Fabra, including snowpits excavated to assess snow properties. The Patria site consisted of deformed first year sea ice similar in snow and ice thickness to Liège with overall slightly negative freeboard. Snow and ice thickness measurements were performed on two different occasions along the same transect line. The Frost Flower site consisted of newly formed nilas (0.07 m) along a lead near the ship where frost flower formation was observed on 4 October at the ice surface. There the sea ice thickened to 0.27 m on 17 October when additional sampling was performed. The results from the Frost Flower site will be specifically addressed elsewhere (Tison, in preparation).

## 3. Data collection and methods

Meteorological and the vessel's position data, as well as other standard oceanographic parameters, were collected on a near continuous basis from shipboard sensors on the NBP. These data were provided by Raytheon Polar Services for the US Antarctic Program (Grant and Acha, 2007).

#### 3.1. Thickness transects of snow and ice

Transects varying between 100 and 300 m length were established at Fabra, Brussels and Patria. At ISB, repeat measurements along the transect lines were carried out at varying frequency. The endpoints of

M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II SS (2011) 1019-1038



Fig. 2. (A) Layout of the drift station lee Station Relgica. The various study sites, snow and ice thickness transect lines, IMB locations, sampling clean areas and Ship location are shown. Detail inset maps show (B) the Fabra site, (C) the Brussels site, and (D) the Liege site, including locations of snow pits (1A through 4D) relative to other site features.

each line were staked and intermediate stakes were set at 50 m intervals. Level surveys of the surface topography were performed using an optical beam level and stadia rod at 1 m intervals along each transect. The measurements were referenced to a sea level benchmark established by drilling auger holes between instrument stations. Snow thickness measurements were obtained from the surface of the snow pack using a meter-long ruler. Ice freeboard (sea ice surface relative to sea level) was calculated as the difference between surface elevation and snow thickness at each location. Ice thickness was measured by two methods: (1) electromagnetic induction (EMI), and (2) drilling of auger holes and manual gauging of the ice thickness. The measured freeboard was recorded for each drill hole location, including thickness of slush layers. At Stations 1-3, snow and ice thickness measurements were performed manually by similar methods, however, no level surveys or EMI measurements were performed.

#### 3.2. Snowpits

Snowpits were excavated in representative areas closely aligned with thickness transects or ice mass-balance buoys Fabra, Brussels, Liège, and Patria (Fig. 2) and at Stations 1–3. Stratigraphic layers of the snow profiles were assessed and described following the International Classification System (Colbeck et al., 1990). Temperature measurements were obtained in vertical profile using a digital thermometer (Fisher Scientific Pt-100, accuracy  $\pm$  0.1 °C). Snow samples were extracted from the vertical profile using tapered 0.05 m diameter cylindrical aluminum tubes of measured volume and weight. Snow sample tubes were inserted into the snowpit profile at various intervals and then excavated, capped, and brought aboard the NBP for further analysis. Snow samples were weighed for density determination. Meltwater was tested on the ship for salinity and for oxygen isotopes.

Snowpit 2G was excavated on 16 October to perform temperature, density and salinity measurements and to observe the stratigraphy and texture in profile. A 0.05 m auger hole was drilled approximately 0.10 m adjacent to the cut wall and temperature "button" data loggers (Onset HOBO TidBitv2) were installed in the snow pack. The data loggers were placed into the slush layer, at the snow/slush interface, and at increments above the interface in the snow pack. The snowpit was backfilled and data loggers left in place until 22 October, prior to departure from ISB. The data loggers operated throughout a warming event that peaked in temperature on 19 October, during which additional flooding (increase in slush layer thickness) occurred.

# 3.3. Ice mass-balance buoys

Three ice mass-balance buoys (IMBs) were deployed on 2, 4 and 12 October 2007 at Brussels and Liège (Fig. 2) at locations close to the clean sampling sites. IMBs were designed and constructed by the Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory (Perovich and Elder, 2001; Perovich et al., 2004; Richter-Menge et al., 2006) and equipped with data acquisition systems mounted on steel framed tables anchored to the sea ice. Instrumentation on each buoy consisted of a common suite of sensors including thermistors in the upper ocean, sea ice, snow and air at 0.05 or 0.10 m interval;

Table 2

IMB	Buoy ID	Location	Start date (DoY)	End date (DoY)	End status
Radiometer	29831	Brussels	2 October 2007 (275)	14 December 2007 (348)	Transmission jost
Seabird 1	29837	Liege	4 October 2007 (277)	22 October 2007 (295)	Receivered by science team
Seabird 2	29846	Brassels	12 October 2007 (285)	6 December 2007 (340)	Transmission lost

Note: DoY=Day of Year.



Fig. 3. Drift track for ice mass-balance buoys (IMB) installed during SIMBA. The IMB installed at the Liège site was removed prior to leaving lce Station Belgica. The two IMBs installed at the Brussels site continued to operate into December, with the Radiometer buoy losing transmission on 14 December. Zoom detail shows the later stages of the drift track. Daily drift segments are noted between bash marks. The floe breaks apart on 23 November and the IMB drift tracks separate (see text for details).

1023

acoustic range-finder sounders to record the ice bottom and snow

surface elevation. Additional sensors included an underwater

radiometer (1 buoy) and Seabird conductivity-temperature-depth

(CTD) sensors (2 buoys). The buoys were equipped with global

positioning system (GP5) receivers and communications equip-

ment that utilized Iridium satellite uplink to transmit data. The

Seabird 1 buoy installed at Liège was recovered prior to departure

from ISB due to problems with its CTD sensor, while the other two IMBs operated for 55 and 73 days (Table 2). During ISB the IMBs

drifted eastward with the floe (Fig. 3), changing directions midway

to a westward track. After departing ISB, the surviving IMBs

(radiometer and Seabird 2) drifted primarily in a northeast direction, extending northward beyond Peter I Island until 23 Novem-

ber, at which time, the GPS position records diverged and the IMB trajectories separated near 69,001'S, 91,453'W (see Fig. 3, inset). The buoy sensors provided two-hourly data for the duration of the

drift. However, premature loss of thermistors, snow pinger and air

temperature sensors occurred on the radiometer buoy on 1

November and the radiometer stopped operating around 26

November. The Seabird 2 IMB maintained thermistor data trans-

missions until 6 December, at which time the buoy ceased to

operate at approximately 67.717 S, 89.244 W. On 14 December

(67.295°S, 85.665°W), the radiometer buoy ceased transmission of

barometric pressure and GPS location.

#### M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038

#### 3.4. Ice cores

Ice cores at ISB were obtained at designated "clean areas" comprising a 100 m by 60 m footprint that was subdivided into small work sub-areas approximately 5 m by 5 m. The 25 m<sup>2</sup> sub-areas (see Fig. 4) were located adjacent to each other to minimize spatial variability. The integrity of the site was controlled by clearly marking the boundaries and limiting entry to essential personnel with Tyvek coveralls, plastic boot covers and gloves and only essential equipment. The power supply generator (for coring equipment) was excluded from the clean area and a long power cord was used to supply the electric drill. Similarly, staging and supply areas were established at least 100 m from the clean areas. Each site was revisited on alternating intervals, with a five day period between sampling events. Brussels cores were obtained on the following dates (Day of Year, [DoY]): 1 October [274], 6 October [279], 11 October [284], 16 October [289], and 21 October [294]. Similarly, Liège cores were obtained on the following dates: 3 October [276], 8 October [281], 13 October [286], 18 October [291], and 23 October [296].

The sampling protocol is illustrated in Fig. 4. The initial core (TS) was dedicated to "in situ" temperature and salinity measurements at 0.05 m intervals using a drill to bore small holes into which the fast-response temperature probe (TESTO 720, accuracy  $\pm$  0.1 °C) was inserted. 0.05-m-thick slices of the ice cores were later melted and tested for salinity using a portable salinometer with accuracy to 0.1. The brine volume and brine salinity were calculated for each "in situ" core using relationships from Cox and Weeks (1983). The brine reflects relative changes in temperature, while brine volume integrates both temperature and bulk salinity. Therefore the "in situ" core was utilized for this purpose due to contemporaneous

sampling for both on the same core. Additional cores were obtained at 0.20 m adjacent locations, frozen with cold packs (cooling bags at 25 °C) and transported to the ship for a suite of measurements, including chlorophyll, "frozen" salinity and nutrients (Sbio), atmospheric gas content (G1 and G2), dimethylsulfide and pre-cursors (DS), calcium (Ca), organic matter (Bio3), bacteria (Bio4), carbonate chemistry (KJ), bulk biological parameters (TB), and iron chemistry (11-13). The core hole from TS was used for sea water sampling using a peristaltic pump and silicone tubing at two depths: the water interface at sea level and 1 meter below the water surface. A 30 m depth water sample was obtained using the pump and transparent braided PVC tubing. The sea water samples were analyzed for the same suite of parameters as ice cores. Additional measurements included: (1) snow sampling for trace metal concentrations, (2) bell method CO2 flux measurements (Frankignoulle et al., 2001) performed randomly both at the snow and ice surfaces, (3) brine sampling from sackholes (incomplete cores within the sea ice) at various depths to allow gravity drainage of internal brine (Thomas and Dieckmann, 2003), and (4) in situ pCO<sub>2</sub> measurements from sea ice at varying depth intervals.

Special attention was given to sampling procedure in order to prevent contamination due to the presence of trace metals, especially iron. Nitrile gloves were used in handling samples and equipment was cleaned by acid wash and stored in sealed plastic bags. A specially designed 0.14 m diameter electropolished stainless core barrel was used (Tison et al., 2008). Snow samples were obtained using a polyethylene shovel and 10 l polyethylene containers. Once collected, snow, ice core, brine, and sea water samples were transferred to the NBP for further processing, preservation/cold storage, and analysis. Sections of 0.002 m thickness were cut from ice cores to provide visual



Fig. 4. Overview of Brussels and Liege: (A) composite panoramic view of the northere section of kee Station Belgica from the bridge of the N.B. Palmer. The middle views are enlargements of Brussels (B) and Liege (C) sampling sites. Buttum view shows the working areas as Brussels (D) and Liege (E). On the latter, aridge is at the foreground, the flags definiting the station area are seen on extreme left and right a mid-distance and the ship in the far background. The control-top stetich (F) filturaties the location of the areas chosen for the five successive sampling events at each clean area. The centro-bot stetch shows the (idealized) setting of a given sampling site. The working table was installed in the lower part of the area, and the 7/5 (temperature/bulk salinity) core drilled nearby. The drill hole was used for see awater access and sampling. The central area was dedicated to drilling of the suice of multiparametric ice cores (line -complementary biological parameters, Ca-collection calcium carbonate precipitates. The -bp half/ biological parameters, 50 – basic biological measurements + nutrients). The top section of the area was used for "shallow" (s -ice with temperature below – 5 "C) and "deep" (d -ice with temperature above – 5 "C) sackhole drilling dedicated to bring blocks.

## M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038

examination of sea ice texture and crystallographic structure, and document the presence of brine, gas, or other inclusions using transmitted light and cross-polarizing filters. Additionally, ice cores were cut, crushed, and/or melted to perform various chemical analyses. Additional on-board experiments were conducted on a limited basis using cores from Brussels to assess factors affecting biological growth.

Sampling procedures at Stations 1–3 were similar to the procedures described for ISB above and shown in Fig. 4. Differences in core lengths between in situ and frozen cores are noted and indicate the amount of spatial variability present at the various coring sites. The core profiles and data are presented based on the depth from ice surface and cross-correlation of individual layers between cores is not presented.

#### 4. Results

#### 4.1. Inbound stations

The inbound ice stations represented a typical cross section of floes transitioning from a highly dynamic environment in the MIZ, affected by ocean wave energy, to a more stable environment within the pack ice. Ice observations along the inbound track show frazil and shuga encountered at the ice edge, changing to brash ice near Peter I Island. South of Peter I Island, the sea ice transitions to first year ice floes. The three inbound stations show contrasting structure as indicated in Fig. 5. Stations 1 and 2 consist of predominantly granular ice, reflecting the dynamic environment of the MIZ, however, the ice thickness at station 2 is greater than twice the thickness of station 1 and has a different growth history based on differences in layered sequence of ice type and textural features. Station 3 is more typical of level first year sea ice growing in calm conditions with a dominance of columnar texture (Weeks and Ackley, 1986). An overview of snow and ice thickness measurements and snow properties for the three stations is given in Table 3. The snow-ice interface at the first two stations was extensively flooded as indicated by the largely negative freeboard conditions and the presence of slush identified at 95% (station 1), and 82% (station 2) of the measured locations. These two stations had significantly greater snow thickness and greater mean snow density than station 3, which had slightly positive freeboard and little or no flooding.

The ice core from station 1 (Fig. 5) indicates a thin layer of columnar ice sandwiched by layers of granular ice above and below. The presence of a thick snow cover (0.40 m) and flooded snow-ice interface (0.09 m slush), along with negative  $\delta^{18}$ O values in the upper



Fig. 5. Short-term kc Stations core textural and physical properties. Station 1 (top) through Station 3 (bottom) contains core textural properties (left) in situ temperature (left center), both "in situ" (m) - salinity and "frozen" (c) salinity (right center) δ<sup>18</sup>O isotope values (right). Texture codes: granular ice (G), columnar ice (C), (FS) frozen snow, very fine (vf), fine (f), medium (m), coarse (c) or large (f). Differences in thickness between core texture profiles and measurements are based on the assemblage of data from multiple cores during each sampling event, showing the spatial variability at the site.
part of the ice profile indicate the presence of snow-ice formed by freezing of flooded snow pack. It is estimated from the station 1 core that 42% of the profile contains snow-ice and 7% columnar ice. Higher salinity in the upper layer is attributed to freezing of saline slush and

#### Table 3

Snow and ice measurements for inbound short-term stations.

Parameter	11	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. dev.
Station 1					
ter thickness (m)	21	0.50	2.38	1.02	0.38
Snow thickness (m)	62	0.19	0.84	0.40	0.12
Freeboard (m)	61	- 0.20	0.00	0.09	0.05
3-h air temp at 15 m (°C)	10,657	-1.80	-0.20	-1.11	0.35
Snow temp ("C)	19	-1.68	-0.88	-1.33	0.24
5/8 interface temp (°C)	64	-2.40	-1.62	-1.97	0.19
Snow density (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	14	316	417	370	34.78
Station 2					
Ice thickness (m)	17	0.50	4.20	1.70	0.74
Snow thickness (m)	81	0.18	0.87	0.53	0.11
Freeboard (m)	73	-0.17	0.00	-0.05	0.05
3-h air temp at 15 m (°C)	10.652	-2.90	-0.60	-1.93	0.58
Snow temp (°C)	25	-3.55	-1.53	-2.05	0.49
5/I interface temp (°C)	17	-2.70	- 1.80	-2.09	0.21
Snow density (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	16	290	-459	375	50.65
Station 3					
lce thickness (m)	21	0.52	0.91	0.67	0.12
Snow thickness (m)	101	0.09	0.35	0.17	0.05
Freeboard (m)	25	-0.08	0.00	- 0.03	0.02
3-h air temp at 15 m (°C)	10,650	-4.20	- 3.30	-3.60	0.10
Snow temp ("C)	16	-4.49	-1.49	-2.87	0.96
5/l interface temp (*C)	21	-3.50	-2.80	-3.10	0.22
Snow density (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	6	266	384	300	43.71

slow diffusion through the columnar ice layer. The remaining 51% of the profile consists of granularice, indicative of frazilice accumulation as shown by positive of thO values (Fig. 5). The ice core profile of station 2 is illustrative of a rafted floe as indicated by the greater overall thickness and presence of inclined layers, oblique columnar inclusions and aligned layers of frazil. The fluctuating profiles of temperature, salinity and  $\delta^{10}O$  shown in Fig. 5 also support the interpretation of rafted structure. The presence of these fluctuations in the profile measurements indicate the rafting process occurred in the very recent past. Similarly, station 2 has mean snow thickness of 0.53 m with significant percentage of the interface flooded by sea water (0.05 m slush). The presence of snow-ice (12% of the profile) further indicates by low  $\delta^{10}$ O values, even at depth, which further supports the hypothesis of rafting events. The station 2 core has a larger percentage of columnar ice (34%) that is sandwiched in layers of granular ice (remaining 54%). The station 3 core profile shows a dominance of columnar ice (92%) with thin snow cover and largely positive freeboard. The temperature, salinity, and 5180 profiles indicate the thin layer of granular ice at the surface (remaining 8%) of the column to be snow-ice or consolidated snow. The sea ice at all three stations is relatively warm (above - 5 °C), with the greatest negative gradient at station 3 where air temperature was colder.

#### 4.2. Brussels site

Brussels (Fig. 6) was first year sea ice composed primarily of columnar sea ice ( $\sim$ 75%), with a variable number of thin granular ice inclusions ( $\sim$ 10%) and a 0.1–0.15 m layer of fine granular snow-ice at the top ( $\sim$ 15%). Brussels had moderately thin snow cover that is influenced by the lack of surface ice features to retain windblown snow drifts. The mean snow thickness based on



Fig. 6. Time series of ice cores from Brussels (top) and Liège (bottom) sampling tites showing textural properties determined from 2 mm backlit thick sections. Texture codes: granular ice (G), columnar ice (G),

measurements along the transect lines adjacent to the clean area (Table 4) varied from  $0.08 \pm 0.03$  m on 3 October to  $0.14 \pm 0.08$  m on 22 October, with an overall thickness range 0.01-0.425 m. The snow thickness at Brussels ice core locations varied from 0.08 to 0.25 m, which is within the range of other snow measurements at Brussels, loe thickness measurements at Brussels gave a range 0.47-0.69 m with a mean value, of 0.57 \pm 0.06 m. Time-series snow and ice thickness measurements from IMB stations at Brussels give a range of snow thickness from 0.02 to 0.16 m and a range of ice thickness from 0.51 to 0.66 m. During the period of ISB, the ice thickness at Brussels decreased at an approximate rate of -0.004 m/day (average of 2 IMBs) indicating dominance of basal melting. The sea ice retained an overall positive freeboard for the

duration of Ice Station Belgica as indicated by the time series of

#### Table 4

Summary of snow and ice measurements for sites at Ice Station Relgica.

Parameter	8	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. dev.
Brussels (3 October 2007)					
Elevation (m ASL)	402	0.07	0.27	0.13	0.03
Snow thickness (m)	402	0.01	0.19	0.08	6.03
Calculated freeboard (m)	402	-0.07	0.20	0.05	0.03
Measured freeboard (m)	28	0.01	0.11	0.03	0.03
Ice thickness (m)	28	0.47	0.59	0.57	0.05
Brussels (7 October 2007)	-	0.01	0.33	0.14	0.04
Show mickness (m)	201	0.01	0.22	0.11	0.04
Brussels (21 October 2007)					
Snow thickness (m)	27	0.03	0.13	0.09	0.03
-					
Brussels (22 October 2007)			-		
Snow thickness (m)	201	0.03	0.43	0.14	0.08
Brussels (Radiometer MIB)					
Snow thickness (m)	260	0.02	0.11	0.07	10.0
loe thickness (m)	257	0.51	0.66	0.61	0.04
ice unempered (me)	***	0.31	0.00	0.04	0.04
Brussels (Seabird 2 IMB)	132	0.05	0.16	0.08	0.02
Snow thickness (m)	129	0.52	0.57	0.55	0.01
Ice thickness (m)					
Liege (snowpit and core)					
Snow thickness (m)	10	0.25	0.70	0.43	0.14
Linue (IMR)					
Secure thickness (m)	215	0.49	0.73	0.53	0.03
menter first	****	0.10	611.8	0010	41118
Fabra (1 and 2 October 200	7)				
Elevation (m ASL)	599	0.07	1.67	0.67	0.30
Snow thickness (m)	598	0.00	1.70	0.70	0.32
Calculated freeboard (m)	598	0.63	1.26	- 0.03	0.28
Falses (7 October 2007)					
Fabra (7 October 2007)	-	0.08	1.54	0.08	0.30
Elevation (m. ASL)	001	0.09	3.04	0.56	0.29
Snow inclues (m)	000	0.07	1.590	0.08	0.31
Calculated meeboard (m)	500	-0.39	1.34	0.00	0.75
Fabra (10 and 11 October 2	007)				
Snow thickness (m)	60	0.10	1.48	0.65	0.35
Measured freeboard (m)	57	-0.45	0.27	-0.03	0.14
Ice thickness (m)	60	0.50	5.00+	2.34	1.25
the strength they					
Fabra (21 October 2007)				1.00	-
Elevation (m ASL)	602	0.05	1.53	0.66	0.29
Snow thickness (m)	662	0.07	1.58	0.70	0.32
Calculated freeboard (m)	602	-0.65	1.35	- 0,04	0.20
Patria (9 October 2007)					
Elevation (m ASL)	21	0.23	0.51	0.36	0.07
Snow thickness (m)	101	0.17	0.55	0.36	0.09
Calculated freeboard (m)	21	-0.07	0.06	0.00	0.04
Measured freeboard (m)	19	-0.07	0.04	-0.01	0.03
Measured ice thickness (m)	19	0.49	1.00	0.79	0.14
succession are successing a full				413.10	
Patria (22 October 2007)					
Elevation (m ASL)	101	0.22	0.50	0,32	0.05
Snow thickness (m)	101	0.11	0.50	0.31	0.08
Calculated freeboard (m)	101	-0.05	0.16	0.01	0.03

measurements in ice cores. The ice freeboard relative to sea level as calculated from the elevation survey shows a mean value of  $0.054 \pm 0.027$  m, while direct measurements from core and auger holes give a mean of about 0.03 m.

The texture and structure of the time series of ice cores is given in Fig. 6 and salinity, temperature, and oxygen isotope data for all cores are given in Fig. 7. Examination of thick sections and cuttings processed from the cores did not show a singular brine channel structure in the columnar ice. Instead, large tubes of refrozen brine inclusions were observed to initiate at the top of the columnar ice structure and infiltrate through a network of smaller interconnected channels to the bottom of the core. This is illustrated in the Brussels 2 and Brussels 3 core structure diagrams and transmitted light photograph through a 0.01-m-thick cut section of Brussels 4 core in Fig. 8. The lower portions of the cores, below 0.40 m, show limited temperature change over time, although not isothermal. The two sets of salinity measurements generally show similar trend and range, decreasing with depth and temperature. Discrepancies occur mainly in the upper 0.20 m of the cores (e.g. Brussels 3) probably reflecting spatial variability due to enclosure (or not) of refrozen brine tubes. The upper layer of granular sea ice present in all five cores varies in thickness from a few centimeters to  $\sim 0.15$  m. The negative  $\delta^{18}$ O values present in this upper layer of granular ice indicate the presence of snow-ice.

Brussels 1, the warmest of the recorded conditions, has brine salinities comparable to ocean water values. It is noted that all of the cores, except for Brussels 4, are above the critical brine volume threshold (  $\approx 5\%$ ) at which permeability for columnar sea ice is significantly reduced (Cox and Weeks, 1975; Golden et al., 1998, 2007). The time series of measurements from Brussels IMBs, given in Fig. 9A, B, show at least 3 successive cycles of atmospheric cooling at 15B during which ice cores were obtained. Brussels 1 was cored on 1 October during the warm interval before the first recorded cold cycle. Under-ice photographs obtained on 2 October, during the subsequent cool-down period, clearly show brine drainage (clouded plumes) at the ice bottom (Fig. 11). Brussels 2 and 3 (6 and 11 October, respectively) were cored during mid-cycle as the thermal gradient decreased within the sea ice. Brussels 4 was cored on 16 October at the end of the 3rd (and longest) cooling cycle and Brussels 5 was cored on 21 October during the final warming trend at the end of ISB. One additional cold cycle occurred after station departure and the 1st of November marked the end of the cold-warm cycling period in the early spring period. After I November, temperatures in the ice remained warm (Fig. 9B) until the buoy lost transmission (Fig. 3) on 6 December.

Snowpit measurements (Fig. 10, Table 5) were performed adjacent to IMBs during the cold to warming cycle between Brussels core sampling events 4 and 5. Snowpit 3B on 17 October was measured with 0.19 m snow thickness and was located in proximity to the radiometer IMB. The cold ice interface temperature is reflected in the profile with steep negative thermal gradient (– 36.4 "C/m) in the snow pack, resulting in primarily faceted snow grains. Snowpit 3E on 20 October (after the warming event) consisted of 0.15 m snow thickness and was located in proximity to the Seabird 2 buoy. The temperature profile for snowpit 3E shows a reversal in gradient (+2.3 "C/m) and near isothermal conditions. A 0.02 m saline slushy layer was present in snowpit 3E at the snow/lice interface with salinity of 18. Additional snowpit measurements performed at Brussels indicate the snow cover is relatively consistent in grain shape and size, with a crusted surface layer generally present.

## 4.3. Liège site

The sea ice at Liège was generally thicker than Brussels (between 0.90 and 1.20 m), and had significantly different textural characteristics. The profile at Liège was predominantly granular

## M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1018



Fig. 7. Brussels (top) and Liege (bottom) plots of "in situ" temperature and salinity (left) measured in the field 7/5 core for each sampling cycle (1–5); "frozen" salinity and δ<sup>10</sup>O values (left center) from the Solio core processed on the NBP for the 5 sampling cycles; calculated brine volume fraction (right center); and calculated brine salinity (right) are included for the 5 sampling cycles.



Fig. 8. Photographs of transmitted light through a 1-cm-thick section of sea ice cut from the Brussels 4 cure. The arrow indicates the match point for the photographs. Note the descending linear tabe features containing refrozen brine.

(~57%), with high grain size variability and numerous facies disturbances shown by inter-layering of columnar ice (~17%) and snow-ice (~26%) present at different levels of the profile. The presence of inclined layers, inclusions, mixture of ice types, and

recurrent positive  $\delta^{18}$ O with depth suggests a dynamic origin and subsequent rafting events (Fig. 6). Liège had thicker snow cover than Brussels with mean snow thickness of  $0.43 \pm 0.14$  m and a measured range 0.2-0.70 m, including slush. Time-series snow thickness measurements from the single IMB at Liège give a range of snow thickness from 0.49 to 0.73 m with a mean of  $0.53 \pm 0.03$  m. The freeboard, although initially positive, shows a clear trend towards flooding of the ice interface from cycle 3 (13 October) onwards. Brine inclusions are also frequently observed, but with a different geometry than observed in Brussels cores, consisting of large coalescent cavities rather than elongated tubes. As shown in Fig. 6, one very large cavity was present at Liège 5 (23 October) initiating at an approximate depth of 0.40 m and extending down to 0.70 m below the ice interface, apparently following a strong textural boundary.

The salinity, temperature, and oxygen isotope data for all Liège cores and calculated brine volume and brine salinity are given in Fig. 7. The in situ temperature and salinity measurements in Liège cores show little variation between the different sampling events, however the frozen salinity measurements are contrasting. Ice with a granular texture is present in the upper portion of each core and negative 518O values indicate snow-ice in the upper 0.20-0.30 m. While there is significant variation in brine volume for the entire length of the Brussels cores, the brine volume at Liège changes primarily in the upper 0.40 m of the core with brine volumes below this depth remaining between approximately 5% and 10%. The calculated brine salinity for all Liege cores below a depth of 0.5 m is similar to sea water salinity (mean of all cores 32.6). Between Liège 1 and 2 core sampling events (3 and 8 October, respectively) temperature in the upper profile increased with corresponding increase in brine volume and decrease in brine salinity. By Liège 4, ice temperature in the upper profile decreased to the minimum

M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1015-1038



Fig. 9. See mass-balance buoy records for the (A) Brussels Radiometer, (B) Brussels Seabird 2, and (C) Liège Seabird 1. The IMB plots show time series of barometric pressure, air temperature, snow top surface, i.e bottom surface, snow and ice temperature fields (none contours), and occan water temperature. Dashed lines show the initial position of lee interface and slush levels. Armovs along the top and bottom time axis (differing time scales) give the dates of the core extractions at each site. The first sampling event at Brussels and Liège occurred prior to the IMB installations. The loc bottom pinger at Liége was reset on 12 October after removing the CTD from its mast for repairs.

measured with corresponding transition to low brine volume/high brine salinity. The warmer ice temperatures between Liège 4 and 5 (18 and 23 October, respectively) returned brine volume and brine salinity to near the Liège 1 values.

The time series of measurements obtained from the IMB at Liège are shown in Fig. 9C. Upon installation of the IMB, the initially dry snow/ice interface flooded with sea water to the ~0.10 m level due to negative freeboard and sea water rising through the borehole. In the early part of the IMB record, the ice bottom pinger provided highly variable readings. The bottom pinger was reset in the afternoon of 12 October, after removal of the malfunctioning CTD on the same mast, and the variation in pinger readings was subsequently reduced. The under-ice conditions at Liège were highly variable with rafted floes, cavernous voids, and large ice blocks present. The initial variation in ice bottom readings is believed to be the result of shifting ice blocks that were out of range when the pinger was reset (Fig. 11).

The initial snowpit measurements at Liège (snowpit 4A, Fig. 12A) occurred at the onset of the first cooling cycle of ISB in which snow temperature in the upper snow pack showed a steep thermal gradient, but the lower portion of the snow pack (below 0.30 m) was isothermal. Moisture transport through the lower part of the snow pack was apparent by the presence of depth hoar and the prevalence of rounded and clustered grains with ice bonds above. Salinity of 0.3 was measured in the surface of the snow pack, which may be attributed to windblown deposition. Density in the depth hoar and the layers immediately above were low, increasing in the middle of the snow pack and then decreasing again near the surface. No slush layer was present in snowpit 4A on 6 October, after the installation of the IMB. In snowpit 48, about 11 days later, a stronger thermal gradient was present with the start of the warming trend, apparent in the upper 0.1 m. The overall density of the profile increased with consolidation. Slush (0.09 m) was present in the lower portion of the snowpit, of which 0.02 m had frozen at the hydrostatic level in the snow (Fig. 12B). The presence of a 0.02 m wet snow layer was noted above the frozen slush.

## 4.4. Fabra site

Fabra was characterized as highly deformed multi-year ice with mean thickness of 2.33 ± 1.25 m based on 60 auger holes along a 300 m transect (Table 4). The ice thickness measurements at Fabra ranged from 0.6 m to greater than 5 m in ridged locations. Auger holes were terminated at 5 m depth due to equipment constraints; however, five holes consisted of ice that was thicker. The mean surface elevation was about 0.67 m above sea level and the mean snow depth generally exceeded that, yielding a mean negative freeboard in each survey. To corroborate elevation survey measurements and the finding of significant portions of negative freeboard across Fabra, 10 snowpits were excavated on 6 October along the two transect lines (18 through 1F, 28 through 2F; Table 5). Results showed the presence of slush in 9 of 10 locations with slush thickness varying from 0.08 to 0.45 m, thus verifying the prevalence of negative freeboard and extensive snow/ice interface flooding across Fabra. Based on elevation survey data, it is estimated that the Fabra transects varied from approximately 55-80% negative freeboard during the three weeks.

Although transient storms through the duration of ISB were observed to significantly redistribute the snow cover, the mean snow surface elevation did not change appreciably between surveys (Fig. 13). Analysis of variance performed on the elevation data indicated no statistically significant difference in the mean elevation between any combination of the three surveys performed along the Lines 1 and 2 (see Weissling et al., 2011). In general, the primary ridge features remained in the same location along the transect lines, but intermediate snow cover between these features was redistributed, losing elevation in some places and gaining in others (i.e. migration of snow drifts). The mean ice freeboard similarly was negative in all surveys and only varied within a few centimeters. Although the wind-driven storm events around 7 and 21 October included significant snow precipitation (Leonard and Cullather, 2008), the wind proved to be the dominant factor in snow accumulation, suggesting that losses of windblown snow to

#### M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038



Fig. 10. Snowpit profiles and snow characteristics adjacent to IMB locations. Snowpit 3B (top) was adjacent to the Brussels Radiometer buoy and Snowpit 3E (Instrom) was adjacent to the Brussels Seabird buoy.

open leads between ice floes may be sufficient to offset any significant elevation gains by deposition of precipitation. The mean snow density shown in Table 5 at Fabra between snowpits 1A and 2A (2 October) and snowpits 1G and 2G (16 October) sampled along the transect lines 1 and 2 in the same approximate location two weeks apart, indicates that snow densification cannot explain the apparent lack of elevation change during precipitation events.

One particular example of the effects of changing snow cover distribution at Fabra is seen in snowpit 2G, approximately 200 m along the transect Line 2. The slush layer of 0.3 m thickness was measured on 16 October (Fig. 14). In the upper fine-grain portion of the snow pack, the thermal gradient was lower and the snow grains were rounded. The thermal gradient increased toward the slush layer and grains transformed to mixed/faceted morphology. Low density depth hoar formed in the bottom 0.05 m above the slush layer, where the temperature gradient was greatest. Upward moisture transport and recrystallization of the snow was indicated and the salinity of the snow increased slightly above the depth hoar. As seen from the air temperature record in Fig. 14, a strong warming (storm) event with high winds initiated on 17 October and continued to a peak air temperature on 19 October, during which temperatures in the snow pack increased. As seen in Fig. 13, surface elevation at snowpit 2G did not change, however, the snow in the immediate vicinity of the snowpit changed dramatically as the adjacent snow drift (at 195 m along the transect line) moved down line to about 210 m and increased in volume. The original and

## M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038

Snowpit	Date (2007)	Snow thickness (m)	Slush thickness (m)	Surface temp (°C)	Snow/ice interface temp ("C)
Fabra					
1A	2 October	0.25	0.17	-4.4	-1.9
18	6 October	0.30	0.21	ND	ND
IC	6 October	0.45	0.24	ND	ND
ID	6 October	1.05	0.16	ND	ND
1E	6 October	0.55	0.28	ND	ND
1F	6 October	0.74	0.20	ND	ND
1G	16 October	0.45	0.00	-13.1	-1.7
111	15 October	0.71	0.30	-12.4	-2.0
ZA	2 October	0.72	0.45	-7.3	-2.0
28	6 October	0.48	0.08	ND	ND
20	6 October	0.45	0.21	ND	ND
2D	6 October	0.62	0.48	ND	ND
2E	6 October	0.72	0.00	ND	ND
2F	6 October	0.58	0.16	ND	ND
2G	15 October	0.51	0.30	-12.8	-2.2
Brussels					
3A	3 October	0.13	0.00	-8.8	-3.0
38	17 October	0.19	0.00	-119	-5.0
30	17 October	0.07	0.00	-11.9	-8.1
3D	20 October	0.12	0.02	-2.4	-4.0
3E	20 October	0.15	0.02	-3.6	-4.0
3F	20 October	0.11	0.00	ND	ND
30	20 October	0.43	0.00	ND	ND

0.00

0.09

0.13

0.00

0.02

0.00

ND-no data.

Lieg 4A 4B

40

48

SA

58

Patri

6 October 17 October

20 October 20 October

20 October

9 October

22 October

0.55

0.61

0,44

0.25

0.80



Fig. 11. Under ice photograph from the Brassels site on 2 October 2007 showing brine draimage beneath the level ice. The brine partially obscures the clarity of ocean water in proximity to the submerged IMB mast. (Photo courtesy Chris Fritsen).

post-storm snow surface levels were also confirmed by marks placed on the data logger stake. The snowpit was again excavated on 22 October and an additional 0.25 m increase in the thickness of the slush layer was observed. Based on the snow temperature record, it is estimated that the additional flooding of the snow layer occurred in conjunction with the peak of the storm event. As snow redistributed and temperatures in the snow pack rose above the sea water freezing point, the slush level raised and temperature in the snow pack remained above the freezing point of sea water.

## 4.5. Patria site

-7.5

12.0

43

3.8

25

-20

43

-3.3

25

2.0

3.1

2.3

-2.0

2.4

Patria was located directly across ISB about 1500 m from the ship (Fig. 2A). The site was investigated on two occasions; however, no ice cores were drilled at this location. Patria had surface deformation features and ice thickness similar to Liège, and deeper snow than was recorded at Brussels. The mean snow thickness on 9 October was 0.36 ± 0.09 m with calculated and measured mean freeboard that was -0.01 m. Snowpit 5A measurements, obtained in a drift near the thickness transect line, indicated the presence of thick (0.80 m) snow cover with a slight (0.02 m) slush layer at the base, consistent with the slightly negative freeboard. The thermal gradient, although averaged through the profile was slight, showing a reversal from a positive gradient (8.2 °C/m) in the upper 0.42 m of the profile to a negative gradient (-B.B °C/m) in the lower 0.40 m of the profile, thus reflecting the strong warming trend between the second and third core sampling cycles. Patria was revisited on 22 October, near the end of ISB following the strong warming event of 19 October. The mean snow thickness decreased about 0.05 m to 0.31  $\pm$  0.08 m due to snow redistribution and the mean freeboard increased to a slightly positive value ( < 0.01 m). Snowpit 5B in an area adjacent to the previous drift showed a snow thickness of only 0.18 m with no slush present.

1031

Mean density

(ke/m<sup>2</sup>)

310

ND

ND

ND

ND

ND

318

370

362

ND ND

ND

ND

ND

362

232

292

273 393 358

ND ND

282

363

353

303

370

323

ND

Avg. snow temp gradient ("C/m)

9.9

ND

ND

ND

ND

ND

ND ND

ND

ND

ND

-20.8

-45.0

-36.4

-54.4

13.3 2.3 ND ND

-7.7

-5.1

1.5

-0.9

-0.1

10.8

15.5

-25.3

14.6

7.4

MJ. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038



Fig. 12. Snowpit profiles and snow properties adjacent to the Liège IMB location: (A) snowpit 4A occurred after IMB installation and before ice interface flooding was recorded in cycle 3 and (B) snowpit 4B occurred at the start of the warming trend in cycle 4.

# 5. Discussion

During the 2007 winter-spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea, there were several meteorological cycles of varying duration and intensity that consisted of warm atmospheric fronts from the north, generally accompanied by high velocity winds and precipitation, followed by colder air temperatures and little precipitation (Vancoppenolle et al., 2011). These cycles, generally varying from four to eight days, are apparent in the records of the IMBs and core samples from the SIMBA sites, resulting in not only temporal changes in the snow cover distribution, but also in the sea ice properties and observed morphology at ISB. A similar pattern of meteorological conditions has been noted in the Bellingshausen Sea by others (Jeffries et al., 1994; Sturm et al., 1998) and in other areas of the Antarctic (Massom et al., 1997; Worby et al., 1998) indicating that this meteorological pattern is common in late winter-early spring in the Antarctic sea ice zone (Massom et al., 2001). Although, common in this seasonal period, north-south cycling of atmospheric fronts have also been noted in the spring-summer transition in the Weddell Sea (Willmes et al., 2006) in which lower atmospheric pressure resulted in wind change and influx of moisture from the north, sustained warm air temperatures, and increased melt of the snow cover.

## 5.1. Importance of snow cover

During SIMBA, we found a wide range of snow conditions and ice types, both at short-term ice stations and at ISB. Temperature gradients in the sea ice are driven by atmospheric fronts. Over the three weeks of ice core sampling at Brussels (Fig. 7), the greatest fluctuations in ice temperature occurred in the upper portions of the cores reflecting not only the limited thermal insulation provided by thin snow cover, but also the short duration and amplitude of weather events. However, at Liège, the amplitude of temperature changes was muted due to the greater accumulation of snow cover. Due to the effective thermal conductivity of snow being approximately oneeighth that of sea ice (Sturm et al., 1998; Massom et al., 2001), the cold fronts do not appreciably penetrate the snow covers to reach the sea ice interface. In the lower Liège profiles, below about 0.50 m depth, the ice temperature only ranged from -1.3 to -2.3 °C on all dates.

M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038



Fig. 13. Comparison of surface elevation surveys at the Fabra site along the transect Line 1 and Line 2 over three separate survey events. The approximate location of Snow Pit 2G is indicated on the profile of Fabra Site Line 2.



Fig. 14. (left)Time series of temperature recorded in Snow Pit 2G. The lower plot shows the temperature of the flooded (slush) layer, center plot shows temperature contours of the unflooded snow pack, and above is the air temperature record taken from the Brussels Radiometer IMB. (right) Snow pit properties and texture obtained on initial installation of the temperature dataloggers.

The thermal forcing, or lack of forcing, directly affects temporal changes in the ice salinity and brine salinity/volume. In the snowpit 2G thermal profile of Fabra (Fig. 14), it is apparent that even strongly negative air temperatures were mitigated by the low thermal conductivity of snow cover.

Snow thickness has been reported to be greater in the Bellingshausen, Amundsen, and Ross seas than other regions of the Antarctic based on observations from field campaigns (Jeffries et al., 2001; Massom et al., 2001) and remote sensing studies (Markus and Cavalieri, 1998). Snow thickness in the Bellingshausen Sea was reported by Sturm et al. (1998) from two cruises in late winter with mean values of 0.285 and 0.224 m, including sites ranging from 62°5 to 70°5. These values are less than the mean values of all SIMBA sites, except for level ice at Brussels and station 3, and considerably less

than the mean thickness of Fabra. Information derived from SIMBA indicates that the thickness of snow cover played a significant role in regulating temperature flux and the physical regime in which sea ice developed and experienced morphological changes. The air and ice temperature records from IMBs (Fig. 9) indicate that the longest cold event reached a minimum between 15 and 16 October, just before the Brussels 4 core samples were extracted. As shown in the IMB records (Fig. 9A, B), the asymmetric profile of temperature contours in the ice are a direct result of the snow cover. There is an apparent time lag between the decline in air and ice temperatures as the cold front penetrates into the ice. The lag is a result of the insulating effect (low conductivity) of the snow cover. However, as air temperature rises, the ice temperature also rises but at a much faster rate due to the ocean heat flux, thus warming the ice from both top and bottom. In this regard, the snow cover tends to buffer effects of atmospheric temperature cycling on sea ice and thus affects morphological changes within it (Massom et al., 2001). This is particularly important in the seasonal transition, where periods of persistent cold winter temperatures yield to shorter cycles of warm weather fronts, resulting in a rapid warming of the sea ice profile.

The presence of thick snow cover not only insulates underlying sea ice from cold air temperatures, but also provides overburden that results in negative freeboard. Where sea ice is permeable, or cracks and fissures are present, the snow/ice interface is often flooded with sea water forming saline slush (Eicken et al., 1994; Massom et al., 1997, 2001). The temperature contours from the Liège IMB (Fig. 9C) indicate that the ice is relatively isothermal at temperatures near the freezing point for sea water for the duration of the record, where times of persistent cold do not completely penetrate the snow pack to reach the sea ice interface. This may be attributed in part to the increased heat capacity of sea ice at temperatures near the freezing point (Yen et al., 1991; Nicolaus et al., 2009). The level of flooding at the Liège IMB (inferred from thermistor temperatures) is believed to persist at about the 0.20 m level, above the snow/ice interface. This contrasts from the cores at Liège which had slightly thinner snow cover and (initially) a positive freeboard. Although the sea water flooding at the IMB (in this case) was induced by the IMB installation itself, the system is expected to reach a thermodynamic equilibrium over time and provide a representative temperature profile expected for a continuously flooded snow/ice interface. Snow-ice formation was observed at Liège in snowpit 4B (17 October) due to the freezing of saline slush. This phenomenon has previously been described as the "flood-freeze" cycle (Fritsen et al., 1994, 1998), although other mechanisms for snow-ice formation were also observed.

The time series of snow thickness measurements at Fabra are particularly interesting because they illustrate the effect of floodfreeze cycles on thermodynamic growth and buoyancy of the ice floe. As presented in Weissling et al. (2011), the mean snow surface elevation and snow thickness at Fabra did not change appreciably between 2 and 7 October; however, the ice freeboard increased, despite the trend of ice loss from the bottom. The change in buoyancy has been attributed to the conversion of slush to snowice (Weissling et al., 2011). Subsequent redistribution of snow at the surface on 21 October (Fig. 13) resulted in an overall decrease in freeboard as additional flooding of the snow/ice interface occurred. Since ice thickness holes drilled at Fabra before 10 and 11 October were limited to 2 or 3 benchmarks at least 100 m apart and 20 m separate (away) from the ice thickness transects and snowpits, they would not affect flooding in earlier snowpit or survey line measurements. The ice thickness holes drilled on 10 and 11 October were placed in 5 m increments only along the Line 1 at Fabra, which was located at least 100 m separate from Line 2. The decrease in freeboard observed on 21 October occurred after the cold front of 16 October in which re-freezing of the holes would be expected for snow thickness less than 0.40 m (see Fig.14).

Given the similar changes in freeboard observed along the transect Line 2 where no extensive drilling was performed and the warm ice conditions, the ice thickness holes did not appreciably affect the freeboard assessment. In the case of snowpit 2G, the thermal pulse from cold air temperatures was of insufficient duration to penetrate deeper than 0.40 m into the snow profile, thus slush was not converted to snow-ice. An increase in the thickness of flooded slush layer occurred from adjacent increases in snow thickness and adjustments to isostatic balance (Fig. 13).

Nicolaus et al. (2009) identified two snow thickness regimes during Ice Station Polarstern (ISPOL) in the Weddell Sea of Antarctica which persisted throughout a 35-day drift station in the springsummer transition. Thinner snow cover present on first-year sea ice (FYI) was noted to have more extensive flooding than thicker snow cover on second-year ice (SVI). This finding contrasts with the observations of this study in which thicker deformed ice (Fabra) was extensively flooded. In addition, Nicolaus et al. (2009) found that snow temperatures were lower on SYI because it was thicker and colder, acting as a cooling reservoir and insulating it from warmer air temperatures above. Again in contrast, the thinner snow cover at Brussels resulted in lower snow temperatures and thicker snow at Fabra retarded cold air temperature fronts from penetrating the snow pack. These observations highlight the differences in region and season.

#### 5.2. Sea ice processes

The differences in snow and ice characteristics between the Brussels and Liège are most apparent when examining the mean profile for each site, shown in Fig. 15. Mean profiles and distribution of ice types were developed by procedures similar to Jeffries et al. (1998) where ice types were distinguished by either columnar, granular marine (frazil) with  $\delta^{18}O > 0\%$ , or snow-ice  $\delta^{18}O \le 0\%$ . Columnar ice dominates the Brussels mean profile with minor inclusions of frazil lower in the profile, indicating a relatively calm growth environment with little spatial variability between core locations. The temporal variability within each interval is greatest in the upper portions of the profile, where temperature changes are also large. Snow-ice in the upper portion of the profile composes 100% of the top interval and declines by  $\sim$ 2/3 with each subsequent interval. The mean textural profile for Brussels consists of 75.2% columnar ice, 9.6% frazil, and 15.2% snow-ice. The mean profile at Liege shows contrasting structure and composition with mean textural profile of 17.4% columnar, 57.0% frazil, and 25.6% snow-ice. The large proportion of frazil ice indicates an overall more dynamic growth environment. Both the presence of a high percentage of columnar ice as inclined layers and blocks in the intermediate intervals, and the presence of large percentages of snow ice deeper in the Liège profile suggest that rafting processes were an important growth mechanism. Although spatial variability in the Liège profile appears larger than that in Brussels, the overall trend in salinity and o180 profiles are similar and suggest that temporal variability (related to atmospheric temperature cycling) may be the dominant factor in differences between cores

Based on model studies of sea ice properties by Ono (1968), thermal conductivity of sea ice generally increases with both decreasing salinity and temperature, most significantly in the range 0 to  $-2^{\circ}$ C. Focusing on the major cooling/warming event at Brussels between 12 and 19 October (Fig. 9A), it is apparent that the temperature increased in the upper half of the ice cover during warming (Br 4 to Br 5 in Fig. 7, top left). Therefore, we should expect to see the thermal conductivity of the ice decrease. However, we note from the IMB records (Fig. 9A) that the ice warmed considerably faster than it cooled. In addition, we see the rate of basal melt appeared to increase significantly after 18 October.

#### M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038



Fig. 15. Brussel site (tup) and Liège site (below) mean profiles of Salinity and 8<sup>16</sup>O (left side) and fraction of different ice types (right side) for the five sampling cycles in October 2007. Ice thickness is normalized for the varying cere lengths. Error bars are 1 a.

With the albedo of snow of 0.83, only 17% of the incident solar radiation is transmitted and is further attenuated to a few percent in the overlying snow cover. Since the incident short wave radiation during this time period also shows a decrease of approximately 50 W/m2 (Vancoppenolle et al., 2011), the warming did not result from solar penetration. The differences between cooling and warming rate, however suggest a mechanism of thermal flux not strictly limited to conduction. If the ice is permeable, a convective cycle driven by thermal forcing (Niedrauer and Martin, 1979; Lytle and Ackley, 1996) could bring seawater upward into the ice column, reducing brine salinity and potentially increasing brine volume as the temperature warms. The presence of a network of brine tubes at the granular/columnar interface (Figs. 6 and 8), the relatively stable textural profile at Brussels, and the changes in observed brine/seawater wicking in snowpits between cores-Brussels 4 and 5 (16 and 21 October, respectively) provide further support for this concept.

Brine wicking (Massom et al., 1997, 1998) also explains snowice formation that is limited to the upper part of the sea ice at Brussels (Fig. 15), considering the overall positive freeboard (absence of flooding) and relatively thin snow cover (low overburden) that persisted for the duration of ISB. The icy granular layer of frozen snow that is present at the ice surface of Brussels has greater salinity and density than surface snow layers and is likely nascent snow-ice. Similar layers of frozen snow were noted at the surface of Brussels ice cores. Snowpit 3E(0.15 m depth) was located in proximity to the Seabird 2 buoy during the warming trend between Brussels 4 and 5. The temperature profile shows a reversal in gradient (+2.3 °C/m) and near isothermal conditions. Not only does this change the morphology of the snow pack, but also the snowlice interface was warmed and brine volume within the ice increased, thereby reducing brine salinity. The 0.02 m slushy layer present at the snow/ice interface resulted from brine wicked up into the snow by capillary forces. This phenomenon has been noted in a number of studies in different regions of Antarctica (Massom et al., 1997, 1998; Sturm et al., 1998). The slush has significantly higher salinity of 18, indicating a mixture of brine with the basal snow layer, despite the positive freeboard maintained across the site.

The calculated brine salinity at Liège (Fig. 7), initially near that of sea water, increased in the upper half of the ice cover with cold front penetration from Liège 3 to Liège 4 (13 and 18 October, respectively), and then decreased to sea water values. Brine volume never fell below 5% suggesting the ice profile remained permeable, provided that the granular ice in the profile behaved similarly to columnar ice. As discussed above, downward transfer of brines in a permeable sea ice cover may result in opposing upward transfer of sea water in a convection process. However, there are only indirect indications of this process at Liège during our measurement period, including (a) funnel-like cavities connected to brine tubes at the bottom of cores, (b) excursions in the temperature profiles, (c) variability of temperature between sampling events at a given

level, and (d) some snow-ice interface flooding produced by snow loading. Visual observations of core sections from Brussels (Fig. 8) show the presence of brine tubes indicating their potential role in the transfer of brine downwards, as the brine dissolves the warmer less saline ice below. These observations, different from brine channel initiation and dynamics during the growth phase (Wettlaufer et al., 1997), suggest that brine transfer actively increases permeability as it moves downward. Whether this process initiates brine convection or not depends on the severity of the downward cooling front (with associated increase in brine salinity) and the thickness of the ice profile, since thermodynamic readjustment will progressively compensate the contrast in density and salinity. It is therefore worth noting that brine inclusions at Liège often consisted of large coalescent cavities rather than elongated tubes (Fig. 6), which suggests a control of the texture and efficiency of downward brine transfer. These observations suggest that under these conditions, if the ice was permeable throughout, a convection regime in the ice profile may potentially exist, but would require a sufficient density gradient of the brine to initiate overturning.

In both Brussels and Liège cores, the in situ salinity profiles show greater regularity with fewer extreme values than the frozen salinity profile. This likely occurs due to brine drainage that inevitably results in the field from processing the in situ core at warmer temperatures. The stronger discrepancies between in situ and frozen salinity occur in the upper half of the Liège 4 core. This is attributed to the enhanced spatial variability imposed by multiple rafting dynamics and is clearly illustrated by the anti-correlated 518O/ salinity signature. This signature is present in thin snow-ice layers brought to depth below columnar ice during the rafting process. A similar signature is not apparent in the in situ salinity profile. These salinity profiles also demonstrate how measurements can differ under the combined effect of spatial variability and different sampling procedure. The salinity data given for stations 1-3 in Fig. 5 show that frozen salinity profiles provide different mean salinities and enhanced contrasts between measurements from different cores in close proximity to each other. However, additional study will be required to resolve differences in core length, sampling interval, and sampling process.

#### 5.3. Regional characteristics

Although the ice and snow cover characteristics from ISB represent the range of conditions present on a single ice floe, the various sites display significant similarities to the ice floes observed on the inbound short-term ice stations. Station 1 has a predominantly granular profile with thin columnar layers, and the top 42% consisting mainly of snow-ice (indicated by negative & Novalues). The dominance of granular ice texture is indicative of formation in a dynamic environment affected by wind and ocean wave interaction, and flooding. Although there were no clear signs of rafting, the overall ice thickness (1.1 m), snow thickness (0.4 m) and relative composition of the ice profile resembles that of Liège. The core from station 2 shows thicker (2.5 m) ice with structure, salinity and 8180 profiles indicative of rafting/deformation processes. The ice thickness and composition of this core resembles the greater complexity of ice types present at Fabra. Mean snow thickness at station 2 is greater than station 1 and more closely aligned with the mean snow thickness present at Fabra. Station 3 has thinner (0.6 m) ice predominantly of columnar texture. This profile is indicative of ice growth in a relatively calm environment with vertical brine drainage tubes and a thin layer of granular snow-ice at the top. Mean snow thickness (0.17 m) is relatively thin compared to other stations. This profile has a striking resemblance to the ice and snow characteristics observed at Brussels. Although not conclusive, the random nature in which the short-term stations were occupied and the similarities between these stations and the sites at ISB may have implications relating to the regional scale processes involved in genesis and development of ice floes in the Bellingshausen Sea. The three principal sites at ISB (Brussels, Liége, and Fabra) consist of differing distribution of ice types, snow and ice thickness, and ice growth processes that appear to recur in stations 1–3.

The average ice textural profiles from two cruises (NBP 93-5 and 95-5) in the Bellingshausen Sea were reported by Jeffries et al. (2001) for the late winter (August-September). Mean values of the various ice types were reported for: columnar ice (25.5% and 34.6%, respectively), frazil (44.3% and 40.8%, respectively), and snow-ice (23.8% and 21.6%, respectively) with the balance classified as 'other". The percentage of snow-ice reported for the Bellingshausen Sea was generally greater than reported for other regions of Antarctica (Jeffries et al., 2001). The overall mean ISB textural profiles, obtained by combining cores from both Brussels and Liège, indicate that ice generally consisted of 46.3% columnar, 33.3% frazil, and 20.4% snow-ice. As compared to the results of Jeffries et al. (2001), the ISB textural profile indicates the percentage of columnar and frazil were roughly reversed and snow-ice was consistent. However, this comparison only represents the average consistency of two "type" sites for ISB, not including the (thick ice) Fabra site. In addition, the Jeffries et al. (2001) profiles were developed from floes along the ship transects in the Bellingshausen Sea that rarely exceeded latitude 70°S. Consequently, it is difficult to make a direct comparison considering the limited spatial extent of the samples at ISB and apparent bias. Given that the bias excludes thicker ice areas of ISB, it is expected that the mean textural profile should more closely resemble previously reported results.

As noted by Sturm et al. (1998), regional scale variability in snow cover is predictable due to the sequence of warm-cold atmospheric cycles and the larger scale of processes involved. On smaller scales, the heterogeneity of any particular floe may be significant (e.g. differences between sites); however, the characteristics of ice and snow cover are driven by atmospheric and oceanic processes that work on a more regional basis, trending toward larger scale homogeneity (i.e. same "type" sites recurring over larger distances). Current patterns of atmospheric circulation have been attributed to a trend of declining sea ice extent and a reduction in the number of ice season days within the Bellingshausen Sea (Stammerjohn et al., 2008). However, the changes in sea ice extent detected from PM remote sensing do not address the mass balance of sea ice and snow cover for the region. We note from our measurements that due to the insulating properties of the snow cover, cold air temperatures, if short in duration (i.e. two to three days) and limited in amplitude, may not effectively penetrate the snow to result in snow-ice formation. At Fabra, where snow cover was thick and flooding was prevalent, the sea ice profile is likely to be isothermal near the freezing point of sea water. Perovich et al. (2004) observed similar behavior, deep snow cover, flooding, and isothermal sea ice profiles further north (~68° to 66°S) in the Bellingshausen Sea in Marguerite Bay.

#### 6. Summary and conclusion

During SIMBA, sea ice and snow characteristics were observed for a 27-day drift interval on a single ice floe in the Bellingshausen Sea. The ISB floe contained distinct sites with varying ice and snow thickness, morphology, and freeboard. These sites were each measured multiple times to observe changes in response to atmospheric forcing. A weather pattern similar to that reported by previous investigations of this region during the same season, consisting of warm fronts with high winds and precipitation, followed by cold and relatively calm periods was experienced

through four cycles of varying duration and intensity. Snow cover at ISB and the short-term stations was generally thicker than mean values reported in previous cruises for this region in a similar seasonal time frame. Strong winds resulted in significant redistribution of snow across ISB, with accumulation occurring in areas of deformed ice. The thickness of snow cover was of primary significance in regulating the temperature flux and the physical regime in which sea ice developed and underwent morphological changes. Level ice areas showed little snow accumulation and experienced greater thermal fluctuations than areas with thicker snow accumulation. Sea ice cores showed corresponding changes in brine volume and salinity in response to thermal cycling. Areas of thicker snow cover experienced a muted response (limited to a few tens of centimeters of the profile) from thermal forcing as a result of the insulating properties of the snow.

The cycling of atmospheric fronts also affected the temporal evolution of brine volume and salinity within the sea ice profiles as the limited duration of these events restricted cooling of the ice. The different heat transfer rates noted in the temperature profiles from IMB records between cooling and warming indicate potential convective sea water exchange and permeable sea ice conditions. Snow cover not only mitigated the transfer of cold fronts in sea ice, but also provided sufficient overburden to induce flooding of the snow/ice interface. Flooding was prevalent in areas with deformed ice features and thick snow cover. Snow-ice formation was noted in differing relative proportions in both positive and negative freeboard situations resulting from different mechanisms of formation. In negative freeboard conditions, snow-ice is formed through flood-freeze cycles. However, the presence of thick snow cover and short duration of cold fronts may sufficiently retard cooling at the snow/slush interface to prevent snow-ice formation. In positive freeboard condition, snow-ice is formed through wicking of brine/sea water in permeable ice conditions.

Mean ice profiles for Brussels and Liège showed both similarities and also significant contrasts. Although mean salinity and  $\delta^{18}O$ have similar vertical trend, their ice composition and growth history are drastically different. The overall mean texture of both sites combined is slightly different than reported by Jeffries et al. (2001) for this region because of the blas in SIMBA profiles toward thinner ice. The thicker ice areas (i.e. Fabra) are not included in the mean profiles resulting in an over-representation of columnar ice and an under-representation of frazil ice. The percentage of snowice is consistent with prior studies, but slightly lower (mean 20.4%) compared with Jeffries et al. (2001) mean values of 23.8% and 21.6% from 2 cruises.

Although the characteristics and composition of sea ice and snow are notably different between sites at ISB, the comparison of these "type" sites to inbound stations and to results from other studies in the region indicate that the processes (atmospheric and oceanic) that control the sea ice and snow cover work on larger scales and therefore trend toward homogeneity at this level. This study supports conclusions derived by Sturm et al. (1998) regarding the heterogeneous nature of snow conditions at local scales trending toward regional homogeneity. In addition, we noted the same behavior, heterogeneous locally and homogeneous regionally, was apparent for the sea ice cover. We see during this seasonal transition that thin ice sites (0.6 m) have reached their limit of thermodynamic growth and have shown melt instead, due to the shorter duration of cold fronts that cannot sufficiently penetrate the sea ice and overcome the strong ocean heat flux that drives basal melt. Yet, we note that the mean ice thickness of the ISB floe. was considerably greater due to other thickening processes (rafting and ridging) in the sea ice.

Under climate change, with trends toward wind-driven compaction of sea ice and greater precipitation from atmospheric anomalies, the Bellingshausen Sea ice and snow cover may have already shown significant changes (Stammerjohn et al., 2008). The effects of these changes have decreased sea ice extent, but may have increased sea ice thickness by enhanced mechanical thickening processes (Massom et al., 2008). While rafting and ridging are the processes that result in higher ice thicknesses reported here, it is indeterminate from either our data or other studies of whether this has increased recently. Increased surface roughness in deformed ice indicates thicker snow cover; however, in this study we have observed the limiting effect of snow cover insulation on creation of snow-ice, balanced by basal melt from ocean heat flux and thus limited, if any, thermodynamic thickening in the early spring period, either from snow-ice formation or basal freezing. Warmer ice conditions, created by thicker snow, did result in greater ice permeability and increases in flooding of the snow/ice interface. These conditions are also consistent with regional remote sensing observations of earlier ice breakup and a shorter sea ice season, seen more recently in the Bellingshausen Sea.

#### Acknowledgments

We wish to thank the Captain and crew of the RVIB Nathaniel B. Palmer and the science support team of Raytheon Polar Services. The SIMBA project was supported by the National Science Foundation under NSF Grant ANT 0703682-Sea Ice Mass Balance in the Antarctic to UTSA and S.F. Ackley. M.J. Lewis acknowledges the support of Southwest Research Institute<sup>III</sup> under Internal Research Grant R9731, J.L. Tison and B. Delille acknowledge the support of the Belgian 842 Science Policy (contract SD/CA/03A) and of the Belgian FRS-FNRS (Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique-FRFC contract no. 2.4649.07), F. Brabant benefits from an ongoing FRIA research grant with the Belgian FRS-FRNS. The authors wish to acknowledge Chris Fritsen for the use of his photographs and the contributions of reviewers for efforts that significantly improved the manuscript.

#### References

- Colbeck, S., Akitaya, E., Armstrong, R., Gubler, H., Lafnuille, J., Lied, K., McChang, D., Morris, E., 1990. The international classification for seasonal snow on the ground. In: Proceedings of the International Communications on Snow and Ice of the International Association for Scientific Hydrology, Gentbrugge, Belgium, 23pp
- Comise, J.C., Nishio, F., 2008. Trends in the sea ice over using enhanced and compatible AMSR-E, SSM/I, and SMMR data J. Geophys. Res. 113, C02507, doi:10.1029/ 200730004257
- 2007 SIN 2017 Cox, G.F.N., Weeks, W.F., 1975. Brine dramage and initial salt entrapment in sodium chloride ice. OBREL Research Report 354, US Army Corps of Engineers, Hanover, NH.
- Cox, G.F.N., Weeks, W.F., 1983. Equations for determining gas and brine volumes in
- sea ice. J. Claciol. 29 (102), 306–316.Eicken, H., Lange, M.A. Hubberton, H.-W., Wadhams, P., 1994. Characteristics and distribution patterns of snow and meteoric ice in the Weddell Sea and their contribution to the mass balance of sea ice. Ann. Geophys. 12 (1), 80-93. Frankignoulle, M., Burges, A.V., Biondo, R., 2001. A new design of equilibrati
- monitor carbon dioxide in highly dynamic and turbid environments. Water Res. 35 (5), 1344-1347
- Fritsen, C.H., Lytle, V.J., Ackley, S.F., Sullivan, C.W., 1964. Autumn bloom of Antarctic pack-ice algae. Science 266, 782-784.
- Fritsen, C.H., Ackley, S.F., Kremer, J.N., Sullivan, C.W., 1988. Flood-freeze cycles and microalgal dynamics in Antarctic pack ice. In: Lizotre, M.P., Arrigo, K.R. (Eds.). Antarctic Sea Ice: Riological Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 73. AGU, Washington, DC, pp. 1–22. Golden, K., Ackley, S.F., Lytle, VJ., 1998. The percolation phase transition in sea ice. Science, Science, 200, 2009. DOI: 10.1008. The percolation phase transition in sea ice.
- Science 282 (5397), 2238-3241.
- Science 202 (20197), 2258–2241. Golder, KM, Eicken, H., Honan, A.L., Miner, J., Pringle, D.J., Zhu, J., 2007. Thermal evolution of permeability and microstructure in sea ice. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34 (16), 136501. doi:10.1029/2007GL030447. Grant, G., Acha, B., 2007. Data Report NRP0907. Bellingshausen–Amundsen Sea Region, 31 August to 31 October 2007, US Antarctic Program. RVIB Mathamiel 8.
- Palmer, Raytheon Polar Services.
- Janier, Jaguetov Folk (1997). Climate variability in the Amundsen and Belling-shausen Seas, J. Clim. 10, 649–709.
  Jeffries, M.Q., Shaw, R.A., Morris, K., Veasey, A.L., Krouse, H.R., 1994. Crystal structure. Stable inotopes (5<sup>16</sup>O) and development of sea ice in the Ross.

## M.J. Lewis et al. / Deep-Sea Research II 58 (2011) 1019-1038

Amundsen and Bellingshausen Seas, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Res. 99 (C1), 985-995.

- 903–903, Bffries, M.O., Li, S., Jafia, R.A., Krouse, H.R., Hurst-Cushing, B., 1098. Late winter first-year ice flow thickness variability, sea water flooding and snow ice formation in the Amundsen and Ross Seas. In: Jeffries, M.O. (Ed.), Aniantic Sea low Physical Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 74. AGU, Washington, DC, pp. 69-88. Jeffries, M.O., Nrouse, H.R., Hurst-Cushing, B., Maktym, T., 2001. Snow io
- and snow cover depletion on Antarctic first-year sea ice fines. Ann. Glaciol. 33, 51-60
- ard, K.C., Cullather, R.J., 2008. Snowfall measurements in the Amandsen and Berlingshausen Soss, Antarctica, Inc. Proceedings of the 65th Estern Snow Conference, Fairlee (Lake Murey), Vermant. Ie, VI., Ackley, S.F., 1996, Heat flax through sea ice in the western Weddell Soa, convective and conductive transfer processes. J. Geophys. Res. 101 (C4).
- 8853-8868.
- Lytle, V.I., Ackley, S.F., 2001. Snow-ice growth: a fresh-water flux inhibiting deep convection in the Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Ann. Glaciol. 33, 45–50.
- Malsym, T., Jeffries, M.O., 2000. A one-dimensional prevolution model of flooding and snow-see formation on Antarctic sea ice. J. Geophys. Res. 105 (C11). 2011. 26313-26331.
- 20513-20351, DJ, 1998. Snow depth distribution over sea ice in the Southern Ocean from satellite passive microwave data. In: Jeffries, M.O. (Ed.), Antarctic Sea Ice: Physical Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research
- Seriet, vol. 74. AGU, Washington, DC, pp. 19–39.
  Massom, R.A., Drinkwater, M.R., Haas, C., 1997. Winter snow cover on sea ice in the Weddell Sea, J. Geophys. Res. 102 (C1), 1101–1117. doi:10.1023/96[020292.
  Massom, R.A., Lytle, V.I., Worby, A.P., Allison, I., 1996. Winter snow cover variability on East Antarctic sea ice. J. Geophys. Res. 103 (C11), 24837–2485.
  Massom, R.A., Eicken, H., Haas, C., Jeffries, M.O., Drinkwater, M.R., Sturm, M., Worby,
- Marsonn, R.A., Eleken, H., Haas, C., Jehrnes, Ro.U., Drinawater, N.K., Starin, M., Weiroy, A.P., Wu, X., Lytle, V.J., Ushia, S., Morris, K., Ried, P.A., Warren, S.G., Allison, L. 2001. Snow on Antarctic sea ice. Rev. Geophys. 39 (3), 413–445. Massonn, R.A., Starnunsejnen, S.F., Lefebvre, W., Harangrae, S.A., Adams, N., Scambos, T., Pook, M.J., Fowler, C., 2008. West Antarctic Peninsula sea ice in 2065: extreme compaction and ice edge retreat due to strong climate anomaly. J. Geophys. Res. 113, C02520. doi:10.1029/2007JC004230.
- 113, C02520. doi:10.1029/2007JC004239. Nicolaus, M., Haas, C., Willines, S., 2009. Evolution of first-year and second-year snow properties on sea ice in the Weddell Sea during spring-sammer transition. J. Geophys. Res. 114, D17109. doi:10.1029/2006JD011227. Niedrauer, T.M., Martin, S., 1979. An experimental study of brine drainage and convection in young sea ice. J. Coophys. Res. 84, 1176–1186. Ono, N., 1968. Thermal properties of sea ice, IV. Thermal constants of sea ice. Low Tomp. Sci. A26, 329–349. Parkinson, C.L., 2004. Snathern Ocean sea ice and its wider linkages: insights revealed from models and observations. Anarctic Sci. 16 (4), 387–400. Perovich, D.K., Elder, B.Z., Claffey, K.J., Stammerjohn, S., Smith, R., Ackley, S.F., Krouse, H.R., Gow, A.J., 2004. Winter sea-ice properties in Magnerike Bay, Atarctica.

- H.R., Gow, A.J., 2004. Winter sea-ice properties in Marguerite Bay, Antarctica. Deep-Sea Res, II 51, 2023–2039. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2004.07.024. Richter-Menge, J.A., Perovich, D.K., Elder, B.C., Rigor, I., Ortmeyer, M., 2006. Ice mass balance buoys: a tool for measuring and attributing changes in the thickness of the Arctic sea ice cover. Ann. Glaciol. 44, 205-210.

- Stammerjohn, S.E., Martinson, D.G., Smith, R.C., Yuan, X., Rind, D., 2008. Trends in annual Antarctic sea ice retreat and advance and their relation to El Niño-Southern Oscillation and Southern Annual Mode varaibility. J. Geophys. Res, 113, C03590. doi:10.1029/2007JC004269.
- merjohn, S., Maksym, T., Heil, P., Massom, R.A., Vancoppenolle, M., Leonard, Star K.C., 2011. The influence of winds, sea- surface temperature and precipitation anomalies on antarctic regional sea-ice conditions during IPV 2007. Deep-Sea
- anomalies on antarctic regional sea-fee conditions during IFY 2007. Deep-Sea Research II 58 (5–10), 999–1018.
  Sturm, M., Morris, K., Massons, R., 1998. The winter snow cover of the west Antarctic pack ice: its spatial and temporal variability. In: Jeffries. M.O. (Ed.), Antarctic Sea Ice: Physical Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 74. AGU, Washington, DC, pp. 1–18.
  Tison, J.-L., Worby, A., Delille, B., Brabant, F., Papadimitrian, S., Thimas, D., De Jong, J., Lammaet, D., Haas, C., 2008. Temporal evolutions of decaying summer first-year and in the Wortern Worker. Montended Sea. Autoactics Deep Sea. B. 55.
- sea ice in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, Deep-Sea Res. II 55,

- sea tee in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, Deep-Sea Res. II 55, 975–987. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2007.12.021.
  Thomaa, D.N., Dieckmann, G.S. (Eds.), 2003. Illackwell Science, Ltd. 4025p.
  Turner, J., Comiso, J.C., Marshall, G.J., Lachlan-Cope, T.A., Bracegirdie, T., Maksym, T., Meredith, M.P., Wang, Z., Otr. A., 2008. Non-analar atmospheric circulation change induced by stratospheric terme depletion and its role in the recent increase of Anarctic sea ice extent. Geophys. Res. Lett. 36, L08502. doi:10.1029/ 2009CL037524
- Licerator (1994). A. Timmermann, R. Ackley, S.F., Fichefer, T., Goosse, H., Heil, P., Lieser, J., Leonard, K.C., Nicolaus, M., Papakyriakou, T., Tison, J.L. 2011. Assessment of radiation forcing datasets for large-scale sea ice models in the second se
- Southern Ocean. Deep-Sea Res 58 (9-10), 1237-1249. Weeks, W.F., Ackley, S.F. 1966. The growth, structure and properties of sea ice. In: The Geophysics of Sea Ice, Untersteiner, NATO ASI Series, Series BEd, vol. 146, Plenum, New York, pp. 9–164. Weiseling, R., Lewis, M.J., Ackley, S.F., 2011. Sea ice thickness and mass at Ice Station
- Belgica, Bellingshauen Sea, Antarctica, Deep-Sea Res. II 58 (9-10), 1112-1124. Weitlaufer, J.S. Worster, M.G., Huppert, H.E., 1987. The phase evolution of young sea ice. Geophys. Res. Lett. 24 (10), 1251-1254. Willness, S., Bareiss, J., Haas, C., Nicolaus, M., 2006. The importance of diurnal processes for the seasonal cycle of sea-ice microwave brightness temperatures during early summer in the Weildell Sea, Antarctica. Ann. Glaciol, 44, 202–300. 297-302
- Worby, A.P., Massom, R.A., Allison, I., Lytle, V.I., Heil, P., 1998. East Antarctic sea ice: a review of its structure, properties, and drift. In: Jelfries, M.O. (Ed.), Antarctic Sna Ice: Physical Processes, Interactions and Variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 74. AGU, Washington, D.C., pp. 41–68. nby, A.P., Allison, I., 1999. A ship-based technique for observing Antarctic sea ice:
- Part I. Observational Techniques and Results, Anarctic CRC Research Report, vol. 14, 63pp. Yen, Y.C., Chen, K.C., Fukasako, S., 1991. Review of intrinsic thermophysical
- Fen, T.C., Chen, K.C., Fakishao, S., 1991. Review of infinition incliniophysical properties of snow, ice, sea ice, and frest. In: Zarling, J.F., Faanser, S.J. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Cold Regions Heat Transfer. University of Alaska, Fairbanks, pp. 187–218. Zwalby, H.J., Comissi, J.C., Rarkinson, C.L., Cavalieri, D.J., Gloersen, P., 2002, Variability inf Antarctic sea ice 1979–1998. J. Geophys. Res. 107 (C5. doi:10.1029)
- 2000/c000733.



# CHAPTER IV: Temporal evolution of DMS, DMPS and DMSO in Antarctica sea ice: between seasonal and spatial contrasts

# Paper 4 :

High-resolution dimethyl sulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate time series profiles in decaying summer first-year sea ice at Ice Station Polarstern, western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, 2010. *J. Geophys. Res.*, 115, G04044, 16 pp. by Tison J.-L., F. Brabant, I. Dumont and J. Stefels.

Contribution of F. Brabant: Analysis of the data. Drawing of the figures. Co-writing of the paper.

JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 115, G04044, doi:10.1029/2010JG001427, 2010

# High-resolution dimethyl sulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate time series profiles in decaying summer first-year sea ice at Ice Station Polarstern, western Weddell Sea, Antarctica

# J.-L. Tison,<sup>1</sup> F. Brabant,<sup>1</sup> I. Dumont,<sup>2</sup> and J. Stefels<sup>3</sup>

Received 13 May 2010; revised 1 September 2010; accepted 20 September 2010; published 31 December 2010.

[1] High-resolution profiles of ice dimethyl sulfide (DMS) and dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) concentrations were measured together with a suite of ancillary physical and biological properties during a time series of decaying summer-level first-year sea ice throughout December 2004 during the Ice Station Polarstern drift experiment (western Weddell Sea, Antarctica). Ice DMSP and DMS concentrations were always maximum at the bottom of the ice sheet (636-2627 and 292-1430 nM, respectively) where the highest chlorophyll a levels were also found (15-30 µg L<sup>-1</sup>). Throughout the observation period, the autotrophic surface community  $(32-205 \ \mu\text{g C L}^{-1})$  was dominated by *Phaeocystis* sp. while the bottom community (1622-3830 \ \mu\text{g C L}^{-1}) mainly consisted of pennate diatoms. This illustrates that, although being known for lower DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratios than Phaeocystis sp., diatoms dominated the overall DMSP production because of their much larger biomass. Decreasing DMSP concentrations and increasing DMS-to-DMSP ratios in the bottom lavers with time suggested active DMSP-to-DMS conversion in a slowly degrading environment. Drastic temporal brine volume and brine salinity changes associated with the decaying sea ice cover are shown to directly impact (1) the migration of DMSP and DMS through the brine network, (2) the DMSP-to-DMS conversion processes within the ice interior, and (3) the physiological response of the ice algae. First-order flux estimates show that decaying summer-level first-year sea ice alone can significantly contribute to the regional sulfur budget of the Weddell Sea with an estimated average loss rate of 5.7 µmol DMS(P) m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) toward the atmosphere and the ocean.

Citation: Tison, J.-L., F. Brabant, I. Dumont, and J. Stefels (2010), High-resolution dimethyl sulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate time series profiles in decaying summer first-year sea ice at Ice Station Polarstern, western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Res., 115, G04044, doi:10.1029/2010JG001427.

# 1. Introduction

[2] Dimethyl sulfide (DMS) is a biogenic semivolatile organic compound mainly produced by the enzymatic conversion of dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP). DMSP is synthesized by a limited number of phytoplanktonic taxa in oceanic environments [Keller et al., 1989]. A complex ecosystem network that involves most of the microbial food web affects the concentrations of DMS and DMSP in the environment, resulting in strong seasonal and latitudinal variations in concentration in surface ocean waters (reviewed by Stefels et al. [2007]). DMS accounts for 50%

Copyright 2010 by the American Geophysical Union. 0148-0227/10/2010JG001427

to 60% of Earth's total natural sulfur emissions to the atmosphere, and 90% of this DMS flux originates in marine environments. DMS has been brought forward to the scene of climate change as a potential mitigation agent of global warming from increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases. Indeed, once released in the atmosphere, DMS is oxidized to, among other compounds, sulfate that can either directly (as aerosols) or indirectly (as cloud condensation nuclei) increase the reflectivity of the atmosphere and of the clouds, thereby cooling the Earth. Charlson et al. [1987] suggested that the temperature increase resulting from global warming would raise biogenic production of DMS that would in turn increase the rate of formation of sulfate aerosols, thereby impeding the temperature increase, at least partially. This assumption is challenged by the observation that not all microalgae are able to synthesize DMSP and that the effect of climate change on the growth of DMSP producers is not known because of a lack of understanding of the factors controlling DMSP variability in phytoplankton cells as well as those factors acting on DMSP-to-DMS

G04044

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Laboratoire de Glaciologie, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Ecologie des Systèmes Aquatiques, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bravalles, Brassels, Belgiam. <sup>3</sup>Laboratory of Plant Physiology, University of Groningen, Haren,

Netherlands.

G04044

# TISON ET AL.: DMS(P) TIME SERIES IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

Table 1. Summary of Available Sea Ice DMS and DMSP Data in the Literature							
Location	fee Type	Season <sup>a</sup>	DMSP <sup>b</sup> (nM)	DMS <sup>b</sup> (nM)	DMS+DMSP <sup>b</sup> (nM)	Source	
Weddell Sea	Pack ice	Sp	322 (4-1664)	NA	NA	Kirst et al. [1991]	
Resolute Passage	Pack ice	Sp	325" (0-6014)"	NA.	950 <sup>d</sup> (nd-15051) <sup>d</sup>	Levassour et al. [1994]	
Bellingshausen Sea	Pack ice	Sp-Su	200 (17-546)	NA	NA	Turner et al. [1995]	
Prvde Hav	Pack ice	Sp	144 (8-725)	NA	NA	Curran et al. [2003]	
Dumont D'Urville Sea	Pack ice	Wi	40 (nd-193)	NA.	NA	Curran et al. [2003]	
Row Sea	Pack ice	Sp-Su	212 (5-980)	NA	NA	DiTullio et al. [1998]	
Ross Sea	Fast ice	Sp	150 (81-219)	NA	NA	DiTullio et al. [1995]	
Offshore Prydz Bay	Pack ice	Sp	107 (6-757)	NA	NA	Trevena et al. [2003]	
Baffin Bay	Pack ice	Sp-Su	126" (8.66-987)"	NA	NA	Lee et al. [2001]	
Prydz Bey	Fast ice	Sp-Su	112 (9-1478)	NA	NA	Trevena et al. [2003]	
Gerlache Inlet	Fast ice	Su	NA (4.4-450)	NA	NA	Gambaro et al. [2004]	
Indian sector of SO	Pack/fast ice	Sp	185°.3 (45-796)*	12 (<0.3-75)	NA	Trevena and Jones [2006]	
Dumont D'Urville Sea	Fast ice	Sp	NA	NA (4-74)	NA	Delille et al. [2007]	
Western Weddell Sea	Pack ice	Summer	171 (5-2627)	58 (0.5-1430)	229 (6-3340)	This study	

"Sp, spring: Su, summer; Wi, winter; NA, not available; SO, Southern Ocean. "Mean is given in bold, followed by the range in parenthesas,

DMSP, only. DMSP, + DMS.

Calculated for ice categories with ice thickness <1.20 m.

Number of cores weighted average.

transformation. Among the unknowns, processes in sea ice form the biggest gap in our knowledge, even though sea ice is known to be a habitat for strong DMSP-producing algal species [Kirst et al., 1991; Levasseur et al., 1994]. Another potential by-product of the marine DMS released to the atmosphere, which is also of climatic significance, is methylsulfonic acid, which is found in continental ice cores and often used as a paleoclimatic indicator of regional sea ice extent, at least in coastal areas [Mulvamey et al., 1992; Welch et al., 1993; Pasteur et al., 1995; Meyerson et al., 2002; Curran et al., 2003; Wolff et al., 2006; Abram et al., 2007; Rhodes et al., 2009].

[3] Suggested biological functions for DMSP are an osmotic pressure regulator, a cryoprotectant, an oxygen radical seavenger, an overflow compound for excess energy dissipation, and a grazing deterrent. Although DMSP seems to be a multifunctional compound, the regulation of its production and conversion is still unresolved. Several environmental factors such as salinity, light intensity and history, temperature, and nutrient supply may affect the DMSP synthesis by algal cells (reviewed by Stefels [2000] and Stefels et al. [2007]). Unlike the relatively stable pelagic environment, sea ice forms a habitat where extremely high salinities and low temperatures favor the enhanced production of DMSP in algal cells. Subsequent melting of ice results in very low salinities and higher temperatures, which mediates the release of DMSP from cells and increases the conversion to DMS. During springtime, light conditions at the ice surface may become inhibiting. Under such conditions, an increased DMSP production is expected, although the mechanisms are still enigmatic. Moreover, in field samples, the multitude of processes are difficult to follow separately and the overarching effect of high light conditions may be the inhibited conversion of DMS and DMSP by bacteria and an increased photochemical conversion of DMS to dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) [Slezak et al., 2001]. Release of DMSP from algal cells is mediated by active exudation, cell lysis due to senescence or viral attack, or grazing. The conversion of DMSP into DMS and acrylic acid is mainly mediated through bacterial or algal enzymes; however, in sea ice,

chemical conversion should be considered as well. Hydroxide decomposition of DMSP does not take place at the pH of seawater, but the potentially alkaline conditions of sea ice brine inclusions, with pH values sometimes rising as high as 10 [Gleitz et al., 1995], do favor abiotic conversion. Whether these alkaline conditions also favor the enzymatic conversion of DMSP is unknown. Although it was observed that the pH optimum of DMSP lyase in a temperate Phaeocystis species was indeed alkaline [Stefels and Dijkhuizen, 1996], various strains of Emiliania huxleyi, another Haptophyte species, indicated the existence of various isoforms of DMSP lyase that have different pH optima [Steinke et al., 1998]. There is nothing known about DMSP lyase activity and its characteristics in ice algae. To date, sea ice DMSP and DMS studies were mainly focused on DMSP (Table 1), and only two of these studies report individual DMS concentrations. Even though they are scarce, published values confirm the assumption of sea ice as an environment favorable to DMSP and DMS production, with concentration levels up to three orders of magnitude higher than background (subnanomolar) values in seawater [e.g., Kirst et al., 1991; Turner et al., 1995; DiTullio et al., 1998]. This paper presents the first high-resolution DMS and DMSP time series profiles in the level spring/summer firstyear sea ice of 2004 at the ISPOL "clean site" [Tison et al., 2008] in the western Weddell Sea and discusses how these profiles are related to the decay processes of the ice. More specifically, we focus on deciphering the relative contribution and potential interactions between physical and biological processes in controlling the DMS(P) cycle within the sea ice and we provide first estimates of the sulfur fluxes to the ocean and the atmosphere from summer sea ice in the western Weddell Sea.

## 2. Site Description

[4] DMS and DMSP measurements were obtained from samples collected at the ISPOL clean site, which was described extensively by Tison et al. [2008]. Briefly, ice cores, brines, and under ice water samples were collected at regular 5 day intervals from 29 November to 30 December



Figure 1. Schematic evolution of the decaying first-year sea ice cover at the ISPOL clean site [after *Tison et al.*, 2008]. Vertical arrows indicate brine drainage in the first half of the observation period. Horizontal arrows indicate lateral brine movement. Station 25 December is similar to 30 December (30.12.04) and is not shown. Note that the position of stations relative to the ridges is not respected [see *Tison et al.*, 2008].

2004, in close (few meters) proximity to each other. The ice cover was homogeneous, unflooded (positive freeboard) first-year sea ice about 90 cm thick, with a thin snow cover (6-25 cm). The potential scenario of the sea ice cover decay (Figure 1) was discussed extensively elsewhere [Tison et al., 2008]. In short, at the beginning of the observation period, the brine network was unstable in terms of density, as shown by computed brine salinity profiles (Figure 2b). Calculated relative brine volumes ranged from 9% to 33% (Figure 2a) and, therefore, were well above the 5% threshold for increased permeability and connectivity in columnar ice [Buckley and Trodhal, 1987; Golden et al., 1998, 2007; Golden, 2003]. This suggests that brine inclusions (be it in liquid, gaseous, or particulate form) were largely interconnected throughout the whole sampling period. Large increases of relative brine volumes with time characterized the upper part of the sea ice cover, although important variability may have been related to spatial heterogeneity and potential sampling biases (e.g., partial loss of brine in pockets, channels, or tubes) as sea ice decays [Tison et al., 2008]. Interconnectivity and above-seawater salinities of brines resulted in downward brine migration, especially during stations 29 November to 9 December. Values of  $\delta^{18}$ O for bulk sea ice were used to detect changes in the composition of the brines (considering that the signature of the pure ice crystals remained constant with time). On 9 December, decreasing  $\delta^{1R}$ O values indicated that, as surface brine traveled downward, it was mainly replaced by slush from flooded ridges nearby (lower  $\delta^{16}$ O values from snow contribution), whereas internal melting was the main process later on (higher  $\delta^{18}$ O values from melting crystals). Increased brine volumes in the upper 50 cm after 9 December also reflected internal melting. Following internal melt, brine salinity dropped below the seawater value in the second half of the observation period (station 14 December onward), which resulted in stratification of the brine network. Under such circumstances, solute exchange is mainly controlled by molecular diffusion processes driven by concentration gradients. Textural observations indicated that superimposed ice formation started in the second half of the period, as melting surface snow infiltrated and refroze at the top of the saltier granular frazil ice. The initial mean ice thickness was 90  $\pm$  0.5 cm. Statistical estimates of the evolution of the ice cover during the observation period corroborate model predictions of a moderate bottom melting (5–10 cm) from ocean heat flux [*Tison et al.*, 2008; *McPhee*, 2008].

# 3. Materials and Methods

[5] Ice cores were immediately wrapped into PE bags on retrieval and stored on the sampling site in an insulated box filled with individual cooling bags, precooled at -30°C, to limit brine drainage from samples as much as possible. Cores were transported back to the ship as soon as possible and stored at -35°C until further analysis. Holes were drilled into the ice cover at 20 and 60 cm depth (80 cm also on 29 November) to allow gravity-driven brine collection known as the sackhole brine sampling technique [Thomas and Papadimitriou, 2003]. Brine and under ice seawater (inter-face, 1 m, and 30 m deep) were then pumped up using a portable peristaltic pump (Cole-Palmer, Masterflex E/P) and tubing. The preparation and analysis of DMS and DMSP samples from ice is extensively described elsewhere (J. Stefels, The analysis of dimethylsulfide and dimethylsulphoniopropionate in sea ice: dry-crushing and melting using stable isotope additions, submitted to Marine Chemistry, 2010). In short, 5 × 3 × 1 cm ice samples were introduced, together with two stainless steel balls, into a stainless steel vessel fitted with two in/out valves. The vessel was kept at -25°C at all times by means of cooling bags, apart from the brief period during which crushing occurred. The vessel was tightly bolted to a custom-made shaker and subjected to fast up-and-down movements. As a result, the ice sample was



G04044

Figure 2. Profiles of computed brine volume and brine salinity in the ice [after Tison et al., 2008].

reduced to a very fine powder. The crushing vessel was then hooked to the inlet line of a proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometer (PTRMS, Ionicon Analytik, Innsbruck), and the DMS was flushed from the sample with high-purity synthetic air. The principles of proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry were described extensively elsewhere [Lindinger et al., 1998; de Gouw et al., 2003; deGouw and Warneke, 2007]. Instrument settings for DMS analysis in discrete samples is given in the work of Stefels et al. [2009]. After analysis, the ice powder was weighed and a subsample melted in the presence of excess NaOH, to convert total DMSP into DMS after 24 h. The resulting DMS was bubbled from the solution and directly analyzed by PTRMS. Brine and water samples were treated in the liquid state, following the same procedure: first DMS was analyzed and then base was added to convert DMSP into DMS. In those samples in which the solid fraction was analyzed as well, a subsample was filtered gravimetrically over a Whatman GF/F filter and the filtrate was analyzed in two steps as explained earlier in this section. Direct analysis of DMS by PTRMS resulted in an exponentially decaying peak. Total amounts were calculated by integration of peak areas. Calibration curves were prepared from DMS standards (Sigma-Aldrich) in seawater and proved to be linear over more than three orders of magnitude, with typical correlation coefficients larger than 0.999, and a detection limit of 10 pmol DMS [Stefels et al., 2009]. DMS and DMSP concentrations in ice (expressed in nM) should be read as nanomoles per kilogram of ice. Discrete chlorophyll a measurements were performed at six different depths on a dedicated ice core: two at the top, two in the interior ice, and two at the bottom. Five cm ice core slices (14 cm diam) were collected and melted in a known volume of filtered seawater (1:4 volume ratio) at 4°C, in the dark. The melted samples were then gently filtered onto Whatman GF/F filters using Gelman filtration devices. The filters were stored in cryovials at -80°C for chlorophyll a measurements back in the home laboratory. They were extracted in acetone (90% vol/vol) in the dark at 4°C for 24 h, and quantified with a Kontron SFM 25 fluorometer (Kontron Instruments, Neufahm, Germany) at excitation and emission wavelengths of 430 and 672 nm, respectively, according to the work of Yentsch and Menzel [1963]. Ice core sections sampled for the determination of abundance and biomass of microorganisms were melted in the same manner as for the chlorophyll a analysis described earlier and analyzed as fully described in the work of Dumont et al. [2009]. To compare DMS (P) concentrations in sackholes with those in ice, potential sackhole concentrations were calculated from bulk-ice DMS(P) concentrations, assuming that sackhole brines are a homogeneous mixture of brine material seeping out from the entire ice column above. First, at each depth, DMS(P) concentrations in ice were converted to brine concentrations by multiplying by the density value of 0.91 for first-year sea ice [Timco and Frederking, 1996] and dividing by the corresponding relative brine volume as calculated from observed bulk ice salinity and temperature [Cox and Weeks, 1983; Lepparanta and Manninen, 1988; Eicken, 2003]. Subsequently, potential DMS(P) concentrations in sackholes were calculated by averaging reconstructed brine concentrations above the sackhole depth.

#### 4. Results

[6] The highest chlorophyll *a* values (up to 30  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) were observed in the lowest 10 cm of the ice cover (Figure 3a). Although bottom melting occurred, no systematic change in chlorophyll *a* was found in these layers. A secondary maximum (1-2  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) occurred in the surface layer on 9

G04044

# TISON ET AL.: DMS(P) TIME SERIES IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

G04044



G04044

# TISON ET AL.: DMS(P) TIME SERIES IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

G04044



Figure 4. Autotrophic biomass composition observed at five different depths in the ice. Note the difference in vertical scale for the top layers (3–9 and 9–15 cm), the interior layers (40–46 and 60–66 cm), and the bottom (partly from *Dumont* [2009]).

December. Otherwise, chlorophyll *a* remained mostly below 1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> throughout the upper 70 cm of the sea ice cover for the whole period, though we might have missed some features due to discontinuous sampling. Biomass of sea ice algae was determined at five different depths in the ice corresponding to those where chlorophyll *a* was determined (Figure 4). Autotrophic biomass ranged from 32 to 205  $\mu$ g CL<sup>-1</sup> in the top 15 cm (Figures 4a and 4b). Throughout the whole observation period, assemblages in this layer were mainly dominated by *Phaeocystis* sp., which accounted for 34%–95% of the total autotrophic biomass. Pennate diatoms also contributed significantly to the upper ice assemblages

with a biomass ranging from 0% to 66% of the total autotrophic biomass. The contribution of the other identified taxa (centric diatoms, dinoflagellates, and other flagellates) to the autotrophic biomass amounted to generally less than 2%. The highest autotrophic biomass levels (from 1622 to 3830  $\mu$ g C L<sup>-1</sup>) were observed in the bottom 6 cm of the ice, where pennate diatoms systematically dominated the assemblage, accounting for 98%–100% of the autotrophic biomass (Figure 4e). The lowest levels of autotrophic biomass (from 7 to 45  $\mu$ g C L<sup>-1</sup>) were observed in interior ice (Figures 4c and 4d). The upper interior layer (Figure 4c) was most of the time dominated by flagellates (other than dinoflagellates), which

Figure 3. Evolution of (a) ice chlorophyll a, (b) ice DMSP (black dots) and brine DMSP (horizontal shaded bars show DMSP, concentration at the sackholes depth, and DMSP<sub>p</sub> proportion is shown as black area on the horizontal bars for the last three stations), (c) underlying seawater DMSP, (d) ice DMS (black dots) and brine DMS (horizontal shaded bars), and (c) underlying seawater DMS at the ISPOL clean site. DMS and DMSP concentrations in ice expressed in nM should be read in nanomoles per kilogram of ice.

represented 38%-73% of the total autotrophic biomass at that depth in the ice. The lower interior ice level (Figure 4d) was characterized by a relatively well mixed assemblage at the beginning of the observation period (pennate diatoms, 39%; flagellates, 33%; dinoflagellates, 17%; and Phaeocystis sp., 11%) and became largely dominated by pennate diatoms (from 59% to 89% of the total autotrophic biomass) from 9 December onward. A more detailed analysis can be found in the work of Dumont et al. [2009]. The evolution in time of total DMSP and DMS in ice profiles is given in Figures 3b and 3d, respectively. DMSP values in the ice spanned the whole range between a few nM and about 2600 nM, with maximum values localized within the levels of maximum chlorophyll a. Two secondary DMSP maxima (300-400 nM) were initially present in the upper half of the sea ice cover (one subsurface and one at about 30 cm depth). The subsurface one was associated with relatively low chlorophyll a levels. These maxima rapidly diminished (station 4 December) and stabilized at a mean value around 100 nM for the rest of the period, with the noticeable exception of station 9 December, which displayed a broad maximum (up to 400 nM) between 10 and 40 cm depth, with a corresponding increase of chlorophyll a visible in the top 15 cm. The bimodal structure of the upper DMSP maxima, however, remained present throughout the observation period. The interior ice (45-75 cm) showed typical DMSP values of a few tens of nM, with no obvious trend with time. In contrast to chlorophyll a levels, DMSP concentrations in the lowest 15 cm on average reduced in time. DMS values in the ice (Figure 3d), ranged from negligible (upper layers at the end of the period) to values as high as 1500 nM in the bottom layers where both DMSP and chlorophyll a levels were highest. As for DMSP, the main changes of DMS concentrations occurred in the upper half of the profile. Two events can be distinguished: Initially at about 20 nM, DMS increased up to 60 nM, somewhat mimicking the double maximum in DMSP at stations 4 and 9 December. From station 14 December onward, DMS concentrations dropped to negligible values near the surface and a linear gradient established toward a maximum of 45 nM DMS at about 40 cm depth. The interior ice and bottom layers showed less variability in DMS with time, apart from the last two stations, where concentration levels tended to increase within the interior ice. DMSP values in brine from sackholes ranged between 20 and 167 nM (horizontal bars in Figure 3b). Brine DMSP concentrations decreased with time, with most of the changes occurring in the first half of the observation period, in parallel to that observed in the ice from the upper part of the sea ice cover. From 9 December onward, concentrations in samples from 60 cm depth were consistently higher than those from 20 cm depth. Particulate DMSP concentrations in brine are only available for the second half of the observation period. They were always higher than that for dissolved DMSP. DMS concentrations in brines from sackholes (horizontal bars on graphs of Figure 3d) fluctuated between 10 and 30 nM and showed less of a reduction in time than DMSP concentrations. At all stations, brine DMS values from the two sampled depths were similar.

[7] DMSP and DMS concentrations in the underlying water (Figures 3c and 3e, respectively) increased steadily with time at all three measured depths. Both increased about one order of magnitude: DMSP increased from about 1.5 to

14 nM, and DMS (from <0.2 to 1 nM) remained in the subnanomolar range, with the exception of one sample at the ice-water interface during the final station. Profiles of DMS to DMSP ratios in ice (Figure 5a) systematically showed minimum values in the top 20 cm (mean 0.11, range 0.01-0.29), whereas the bottom 5 cm always displayed higher values (mean 0.56, range 0.27-0.93). The interior ice layer above 60 cm depth was the most dynamic, with a maximum at all stations between 40 and 55 cm. Starting from a maximum value of 0.37 on 29 November, the DMS-to-DMSP ratio reached its maximum value at 50 cm depth on station 4 December (2.75). The ratio rapidly diminished on 9 December with a maximum value of 0.44 and then increased again toward the end of the observation period (0.89 on 25 December). At the last station, a remarkable increase of the ratio in the bottom 20 cm was observed. DMS-to-DMSP ratios in the underlying water column (Figure 5b) reduced in time from approximately 0.17 to 0.06 (mean of the 1 and 30 m depth samples). Profiles of DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratios (Figure 5c) showed relatively high and variable values (mean, 169 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ; range, 13–946 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ; and standard deviation, 187 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ). Owing to the discrete nature of the chlorophyll a data and the fact that these data were obtained from a different core than DMSP data, results should be treated with care. Again two phases could be distinguished: During the first two stations, peak values were observed in the subsurface samples, whereas this feature disappeared completely from 9 December onward. The maxima observed in interior ice on 14 and 19 December resulted from relatively low chlorophyll a levels, not from high DMSP concentrations, and it is difficult to judge whether this is a firm feature. The relationship between DMSP and chlorophyll a concentrations shows a positive linear trend ( $R^2 = 0.706$ ; P < 0.001; Figure 6a). There is also a fairly good relationship between DMS and chlorophyll a concentrations ( $R^2 = 0.818$ ; P < 0.001) (Figure 6b). However, these positive correlations are mainly shaped by the extremely high values of all parameters in the bottom ice layers. When these relationships at chlorophyll a levels lower than 5 µg L<sup>-1</sup>(top and internal layers) were investigated, no significant trend could be observed.

#### 5. Discussion

# 5.1. DMSP and DMS Ranges

[s] The observed range (5-2627 nM) and mean value (171 nM) of DMSP at the ISPOL clean site are similar to what was previously reported in the literature for spring-summer pack ice (Table 1). DMSP maximum values reported in this study are, however, the highest ever observed in Antarctic sea ice, except for the extremely high values measured in a particular case of thick rafled sea ice (concentration up to 13,525 nM of DMSP measured in an interior slush ice layer) [Trevena and Jones, 2006]. DMS mean and maximum values were significantly higher than the values previously reported by Delille et al. [2007] and Trevena and Jones [2006]. Values of under-ice water DMS (range, <0.2-1.2 nM; mean, 0.5 nM) and DMSP (range, 2-14 nM; average, 6 nM) were consistent with values previously observed in under-ice seawater [Gibson et al., 1990; Kirst et al., 1991; Trevena and Jones, 2006].

G04044



Figure 5. Evolution of (a) DMS-to-DMSP ratio in the ice, (b) DMS-to-DMSP ratio in the underlying seawater, and (c) DMSP-to-chlorophyll a in the ice at the ISPOL clean site.

G04044

TISON ET AL.: DMS(P) TIME SERIES IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE



Figure 6. Relationships between chlorophyll a and (a) DMSP and (b) DMS at six different depths in the ice.

# 5.2. DMSP and DMS Dynamics in the Ice

[9] In this section, we discuss both the initial status and the temporal evolution of the DMSP and DMS concentrations within the sea ice cover. Because of the strong contrasts in microbial communities and temporal variability of the thermohaline regime (higher sensitivity in the surface layers as compared to the bottom part), we treat bottom communities and surface and interior communities separately.

5.2.1. Initial Concentration and Temporal Evolution of the DMSP and DMS Profiles in the Bottom Layer

[10] Available chlorophyll a (Figure 3a) and autotrophic biomass data (Figure 4) indicate that active primary producers were mainly located in the bottom community. The fairly good linear positive relationship between chlorophyll a concentration and DMSP levels (Figure 6a) suggests close links between algal biomass and DMSP concentrations. As previously emphasized by Levasseur et al. [1994], it is interesting to note that, although they are known as less efficient DMSP producers compared to Phaeocystis sp. or dinoflagellates [Stefels et al., 2007], diatoms are in this case the key drivers of the overall DMSP stock within our sea ice cover at the ISPOL clean site. Note, however, that a different conclusion might have been reached in other areas of the ISPOL floe where flooding of the surface resulted in the development of high biomasses in surface communities of Phaeocystis sp. (not shown). There is also a good linear relationship between chlorophyll a and DMS. This increase of the DMS content with chlorophyll a, especially in the bottom 5 cm where chlorophyll a content is above 15 µg L (Figure 6b), suggests that, as DMSP production is increased, the various processes leading to the cleavage of DMSP into DMS are also increased (see the work of Stefels et al. [2007] for a thorough review of all potential processes). As DMS concentration increases in the bottom layer, so does the DMS-to-DMSP ratio (ranging from 27% to 93%, Figure 5a). Such an increase of the DMS-to-DMSP ratio cannot be attributed to a community shift of autotrophic species because the bottom assemblage remained at all times largely dominated by pennate diatoms (Figure 4). However, protozoa biomass showed a drastic change on 30 December, compared to the previous stations. The biomass of heterotrophic dinoflagellates suddenly peaked at over 550 µg C L in the bottom ice of station 30 December, whereas their biomass was below 15  $\mu$ g C L<sup>-1</sup> for station 29 November to 25 December [*Dumont*, 2009]. This heterotrophic dinoflagellate population may have exerted an increased grazing pressure on autotrophic DMSP producers of the bottom ice. Grazing by heterotrophic dinoflagellates already proved to be a determining process in the generation of the dissolved pool of DMS and dissolved DMSP (DMSP<sub>d</sub>) [Archer et al., 2001].

## 5.2.2. Initial Conditions in the Upper Layers 5.2.2.1. Subsurface DMSP Maximum

[11] The existence of an initial secondary maximum (300-400 nM DMSP) at about 30 cm depth could be attributed to the ice formation process. Such a process would have resulted in the accumulation of suspended particulate matter at the ice-water interface, and with it particulate DMSP, due to physicochemical processes and its subsequent entrapment in the ice during freezing. Alternatively, the observed DMSP concentration may have originated from a past active autumnal subsurface community, Control measurements of a DMSP profile performed several months later on a twin core (taken at a maximum distance of a few tens of centimeters) in the home laboratory also revealed the presence of a subsurface DMSP maximum at 30 cm on 29 November (not shown), showing this was a general initial feature of the first-year sea ice at the ISPOL clean site. Measurement of continuous gas composition (O2, N2) at a 5 cm resolution on the same core revealed oxygen supersaturation and increased O2/N2 ratio between 20 and 40 cm depth, witnessing past production of photosynthetic O2 by an interior algal community (not shown). Even though chlorophyll a data are not available at the depth where DMSP peaked, the very low chlorophyll a levels (<0.5 µg L<sup>-1</sup>) available 15 cm above and 10 cm below the occurrence of the 30 cm DMSP maximum (Figure 3b) suggest that the community was not active anymore at the time of sampling. Progressive disappearance of the 30 cm depth oxygen supersaturation (F. Brabant, unpublished data, 2008) at the next stations, as increased permeability and brine instability drainage developed (see previous sections), is also in favor of an algal community that was either previously active or still living in the ice but in a bad physiological state. The observed 30 cm depth DMSP maximum would therefore be, at least partially, the result of past primary production, although passive scavenging or attachment to the ice platelets of the

skeletal layer during ice growth probably contributed to the initial algal entrapment in autumn. Another indication that we are looking at "old" DMSP is the fact that its concentration quickly decreased between 29 November and 4 December as observed for the oxygen supersaturation. *Trevena et al.* [2003] also attributed the occurrence of a high DMSP peak in interior ice to remains of an algal community. The high DMSP -to-chlorophyll *a* ratio these authors observed was explained by assuming that the degradation of chlorophyll *a* had been faster than that of DMSP. 5.2.2. Elevated Surface DMSP-to-Chlorophyll *a* Ratios

[12] The ratios of DMSP to chlorophyll *a* observed in this study (mean, 169 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ; range, 13–946 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ; and SD, 187 nmol µg<sup>-1</sup>) compare well with the values previously observed in thick Antarctic fast ice (mean, 243 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ; range, 1-3200 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ; and SD, 440 nmol  $\mu g^{-1}$ ) by Trevena et al. [2003]. This is particularly high compared to the mean ratio of 52 ± 37 observed in open waters with Haptophytes [Stefels et al., 2007] among them Phaeocystis antarctica, well known for its high DMSP content and its ability to form communities in sea ice. Both environmentally dependent physiological processes within algal cells and community species composition affect the DMSP-tochlorophyll a ratio. It was shown that increasing light intensity [Stefels et al., 2007, and references therein] and increasing salinity [Stefels, 2000] of the medium both induce higher DMSP-to-C ratios (and indirectly DMSP-tochlorophyll a ratios) in Phaeocystis cells. The initial profile of 29 November showing a steady increase of the DMSP-tochlorophyll a ratio toward the surface may illustrate the adaptation of autotrophic organisms in the ice in response to a gradient in light intensity and/or brine salinity both increasing toward the surface. Alternatively, this profile could reflect the strong contrast in the autotrophic community between the bottom layer dominated by pennate diatoms (Figure 4e) and the surface layers dominated by Phaeocystis sp., with diatoms being known for lower DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratios [Stefels et al., 2007]. We find further arguments to dissociate these factors in section 5.2.3.2, which discusses the time evolution of the profiles. 5.2.3. Temporal Evolution of the Upper Layers 5.2.3.1. Changes in DMSP and DMS Profiles

## [13] As stated above, most of the DMSP concentration changes occurred in the upper part of the ice cover during the first half of the period under a regime of active brine drainage. The specific situation of station 9 December, where concentrations increased drastically in the upper 30 cm, was probably linked with localized surface infiltration of nutrient- and microorganism-rich slush that likely temporarily boosted the primary production within the brine network [Tison et al., 2008]. Increased DMSP levels (about 400 nM) were indeed paralleled by increases in algal standing stock (2 µg L<sup>-1</sup> chlorophyll a). DMSP concentration profiles were less subject to changes during the second half of the period, when the brine network became stratified and transport became limited to settling of particles due to gravity and diffusion along concentration gradients for dissolved elements [Tison et al., 2008]. Differences in DMS profiles between the first and second half of the observation period in the upper part of the sea ice cover also coincided with the change in brine regime. A linear DMS gradient, established

between negligible concentration at the surface and a stable 40 nM maximum at about 40 cm depth, replaced the initial bimodal structure of the profile as the brine system switched from downward drainage to stratification (14 December onward). Several mechanisms can explain this sudden decrease of DMS in the upper 40 cm. As indicated by Tison et al. [2008], the large increase in relative brine volume between 14 and 30 December may have caused partial loss of brines and gaseous inclusions upon ice core retrieval, even though caution was taken to cool down the cores just after extraction. However, the fact that a gradient was still clearly observed at all stations after 14 December (as opposed to no trend or total loss) does not support a dominant impact of such a sampling bias. Another potential mechanism for the observed DMS gradient is photo-oxidative conversion to DMSO within the surface layers. However, we do not have indications for such a mechanism. Ongoing DMSO measurements show very stable profiles in the upper half of the sea ice cover from 14 December onward, with even a subsequent decrease in the top 30 cm for the last two stations (F. Brahant, unpublished data, 2008). Alternatively, increasing permeability could favor DMS transfer to the atmosphere and therefore establish the observed gradient, provided a source existed in the intermediate layers (see section 5.2.3.3). As discussed by Tison et al. [2008], discontinuous superimposed ice was only observed to form during the last two stations and therefore would only have hampered DMS fluxes to the atmosphere at the end of the observation period. Direct CO2 flux measurements at the ice surface showed that the influx of CO2 was indeed hampered during the last two sampling dates and could be reestablished by removing the superimposed ice layer (B. Delille, personal communication, 2008). The moderate increase in DMS observed for the last two stations in the lower interior ice (below 60 cm) was probably linked to diffusion processes from the steady bottom maximum upward within the stratified brine medium as the decaying season proceeded and as the DMS production in the bottom community increased.

## 5.2.3.2. Decrease of the DMSP-to-Chlorophyll a Ratio in the Surface Layers

[14] Figure 5c clearly shows a strong decrease of the DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratio in the surface layers during the first half of the observation period. As shown in Figure 7, there is a fairly good relationship between computed brine salinity and DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratio in the upper 12.5 cm for all stations. This simultaneous decrease of DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratio and brine salinity as a consequence of the progressive dilution of the sea ice brine with meltwater during sea ice decay might be interpreted as a physiological adaptation but might also reveal a general community shift with time. In the latter case, species characterized by a lower DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratio (e.g., diatoms at the expense of Phaeocystis sp.) would have progressively become dominant in the community. The evolution of the autotrophic biomass with time in the upper layer (Figures 4a and 4b), however, supports the hypothesis that the change of DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratio was rather driven by the brine salinity drop. No drastic change in the contribution of the different species to the autotrophic biomass (almost systematically dominated by Phaeocystis sp.) was observed from 29 November to 9 December when most of the change occurred in the ratio of DMSP to chlorophyll a.



Figure 7. Values of DMSP-to-chlorophyll *a* ratio against computed brine salinity in the upper 12.5 cm of the sea ice cover.

# 5.2.3.3. DMSP-to-DMS Conversion

G04044

[15] To investigate the conversion dynamics of DMSP into DMS in the ice, we consider hereafter the evolution of the DMS-to-DMSP ratio (Figure 5a). A few common features characterize all stations, independent of time. First, the DMSP originally linked to algal cells fixed to the walls of brine channels and brine pockets was released into the brine medium (see section 5.3) throughout the observation period as a result of the progressive rise in temperature and consequential internal ice melting. Second, all stations showed a layer of minimum brine volume located between 55 and 70 cm depth (Figure 2a) potentially acting as a local constriction of the sea ice brine network, slowing down the downward movement of solutes and particulate matter. Indeed, even after the interconnectivity of the brine network has been reestablished above the 5% brine volume threshold, permeability still increases with increasing brine volume [e.g., Golden et al., 2007]. Finally, the DMS-to-DMSP ratio (Figure 5a) indicated that conversion of DMSP to DMS occurred above the area of brine network constriction. The active brine drainage that characterized the first phase of the observation period (stations 29 November and 4 December) induced an effective downward transfer to the level of minimum brine volume of both DMS and DMSP available in the brine network, favoring accumulation of material in the layers above the brine network constriction. The local maximum of the DMSP-to-chlorophyll a ratio that developed at about 40 cm depth at stations 14 and 19 December (Figure 5c) may indicate that the local accumulation of degrading algal cells indeed occurred, because such an increase cannot be explained by either an increase in light intensity or an increase in brine salinity. Also, there have been no significant changes in the contribution of different species to the autotrophic assemblage (Figure 4c). The slush infiltration event that occurred at station 9 December [77son et al., 2008] is likely responsible for the more homogenous DMS/DMSP profile observed. The increased transfer of solutes (along with DMS and DMSP in the brine) through the brine network down to the seawater would have made the DMS/DMSP profile more uniform than the profile of the previous station. Note, however, that this could also be the result of spatial variability since station 9 December was located closer to border ridges and therefore more prone to slush infiltration. The second phase of the observation period (from station 14 December onward), however, is characterized by a drastic slowdown in fluid movement and solute transport through the ice cover because of the stratification of the sea ice brine network. This stratification implies that DMSP released from the brine channels or brine pocket walls overhead was transferred more slowly downward by sedimentation through the brine network. DMSP therefore accumulated at a lower rate above the depth of minimum porosity than under the influence of brine drainage. The lower rate of DMSP accumulation would have slowed down the production of DMS and delayed the new buildup of the DMS/DMSP maximum. In addition, the intensity of the DMS/DMSP maximum must have been affected by the rate of DMS loss either through brine drainage (first phase) or diffusion (second phase), especially toward the atmosphere as suggested by DMS profiles. Several factors may explain the conversion of DMSP to DMS in this particular zone. Exudation of DMSP by some algal species in the surrounding environment may have occurred in response to the brine dilution caused by the steady internal ice melting. Such aprocess has already proven to occur with some algal species (Phaeacystis sp.) in response to a salinity decrease in the environment [Stefels and Dijkhuizen, 1996]. In situ conversion of DMSP4 to DMS may have occurred under the influence of algal or bacterial DMSP lyase, a salinity decrease being additionally favorable to the enzyme activity [Stefels and Dijkhuizen, 1996]. Heterotrophic dinoflagellates and ciliates were also observed to increase in this layer, although at lower concentrations than in the bottom layer [Dumont, 2009]. They also may have played a role in the production of DMS by grazing on autotrophic DMSP producers like Phaeocystis sp. and dinoflagellates [Archer et al., 2001]. Along the same lines, the general increase of the DMS-to-DMSP ratio below 60 cm is very likely attributed to the sudden increase of heterotrophic dinoflagellates, which would be responsible for an increased DMS production by grazing as stated earlier.

## 5.3. DMSP and DMS Dynamics in the Brine

[16] DMS(P) concentrations from 20 cm depth sackhole brines appeared to be lower than the concentrations measured in bulk ice samples. This finding was unexpected, considering that pure ice crystals are devoid of the two compounds, and brines formed between 9% and 33% of the bulk sea ice volume (Figure 2a). Also DMS(P) concentrations from 60 cm depth sackhole brines, although both relatively and absolutely higher than brines from 20 cm depth, were still lower than expected. One way to visualize that concept is to reconstruct DMSP and DMS concentrations in the brine from observed bulk ice values and relative brine volumes. Results of this exercise are shown in Figures 8a (DMSP) and 8b (DMS). Clearly, both calculated DMSP and DMS concentrations are higher than measured values by a factor of up to 20. As far as DMSP is concerned, this can be explained with a well-known feature that algal cells are mainly fixed to the walls of brine channels and pockets rather than floating freely into the brine medium [Krembs et al., 2002]. Algae biomass percentage attached to brine channel walls evolved from 97% to 57% during the ISPOL experiment (S. Beequevort, personal communication, 2008).

11 of 16



Figure 8. (a) Relationship between measured brine DMSP and calculated brine DMSP and (b) relationship between measured brine DMS and calculated brine DMS. The dashed line represents a one-to-one relationship. Note the difference in vertical and horizontal scales between Figures 8a and 8b.

This can be explained by the increasing release into the brine medium of material fixed to the walls of brine inclusions (including intracellular or particulate  $\text{DMSP}_{p}$ ) by melting. Such a process is confirmed by our observation that the discrepancy between measured and reconstructed brine DMSP values became globally smaller as the sea ice cover decayed. The fact that DMSP concentrations from 20 cm depth sackholes are generally lower than those at 60 cm and further below the bulk ice values, especially at the first two stations, may be attributed to a lower ice temperature toward the surface. Reduced melting at lower temperatures indeed releases a smaller amount of particulate material into the sackhole, because that material still adheres to the brine inclusions walls.

[17] Differences between observed and reconstructed brine DMS values were less expected, because that compound should essentially exist as a solute in the brine medium. The only plausible explanation, which is in accordance with the observed DMS profiles in the ice of the upper layers during the second half of the observation period, is that the in situ production of DMS was so important that it maintained high levels of concentration at all times well above saturation. These were then potentially responsible for substantial losses during sackhole brine collection, either through bubbles degassing or through enhanced diffusion. DMS concentration in brines in equilibrium with the atmospheric DMS concentration values (from 0.2 to 5 nmol m<sup>-3</sup>), measured by Zemmelink et al. [2008] during the same experiment, were calculated. According to Dacey et al. [1984], DMS in seawater at -0.8°C (average temperature of the brine within the top 20 cm of the ice from stations 19 to 30 December) has a Henry's constant of 0.676. Considering an average air temperature of -4.8°C during the study period and the atmospheric DMS concentration values measured by Zemmelink et al. [2008], DMS partial pressure ranged from  $4.4 \times 10^{-12}$ atm to  $1.1 \times 10^{-10}$  atm. The DMS concentration in seawater in equilibrium with the latter partial pressure range from 6.5  $\times 10^{-3}$  nM to  $1.6 \times 10^{-1}$  nM, which is two to four orders of magnitude less than the concentration measured in the brines collected at 20 cm depth (from 11 to 22 nM). As a result, high concentration gradients were established with the atmosphere leading to substantial losses of DMS, especially for the brine accumulating in the sackholes as compared to those sampled together with the bulk ice. Furthermore, if supersaturation had led to DMS-rich bubble formation in the ice, these would have been detected by the dry extraction technique, while clearly escaping from the collected sackhole brines, strengthening the discrepancy. Again, the latter was likely to be reduced as the warming of the sea ice progressed and as the brine volume increased drastically in the upper layers of the sea ice cover, potentially enhancing exchange of the bulk ice DMS with the atmosphere or with the snow pack above (Figure 8b). A complementary process that would sustain these enhanced exchanges is presented in section 5.4.

## 5.4. DMSP and DMS Dynamics in the Water

[18] Both DMSP and DMS concentration increased with time in the water underneath the sea ice cover. Concentration levels, however, remained quite low (1%-5%) as compared to the values observed within the bottom ice layers (Figures 3c and 3e). Figure 5b also shows that initially, with the exception of station 29 November, the relative proportion of DMS was higher, possibly reflecting the contribution from brine drainage during the first half of the observation period. Later on, the relative proportion of DMSP in the water increased, probably as a result of the progressive release into the brine medium of DMSP fixed to the brine channel walls. In situ production of DMSP in the water column is indeed less of an option given the very low and constant chlorophyll a levels observed during the first half of the observation period (0.03-0.06 µg Chl a L-1). Contemporaneous observations of DMS and DMSP concentrations in the leads nearby [Zemmelink et al., 2005] are worth comparing to our data set. Their measurements, performed between 0 and 4 m depth with a decimeter resolution in the upper 30 cm, showed values similar to our water concentrations, below 30 cm depth. However, surface values reached much higher levels of about 45 and 100 nM for DMS and DMSP, respectively. These are intermediate between those that were found in sea ice (40 and 100 nM) and brine (10-30 and 30-167 nM) at the ISPOL clean site. It therefore suggests that a lateral connection was present

G04044



Figure 9. DMSP and DMS burden evolution in the ice and underlying 40 m water column.

between the brine existing within the upper 40 cm honeycomb-like ice layer and the surface waters of the leads. The relatively low salinity of those surface brines (down to 21) favored buoyancy and contribution to the signature of the surface layer of the leads nearby. Together with the patchy biologically enriched flooded surface layers existing in other areas of the ISPOL floe (D. N. Thomas, personal communication, 2006), the honeycomb-like layer that characterizes decaying summer sea ice [*Haas et al.*, 2001; *Ackley et al.*, 2008] was therefore a potentially major contributor to DMS release.

# 5.5. Impact of Sea Ice on the Regional DMSP and DMS Budget

[19] DMSP and DMS burdens were calculated in the ice and in the water (Figure 9). Clearly, these should only be considered rough estimates. Although the measurements were made on a limited area of the same ice floe, the floe had been drifting for more than 100 km northward during the course of the experiment, thereby partially decoupling the ice cover from underlying sea water at the small scale. However, as far as sea ice is concerned, DMSP burdens decreased regularly throughout the observation period from 254 to 84 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>. After a peak at 92 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> on 4 December, DMS burdens stabilized around a mean value of 39  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> for the rest of the observation period. In the under-ice water column, DMSP and DMS burdens were calculated based on the interface, 1 m, and 30 m measurements and integrated over the mixed layer depth of 40 m [Absy et al., 2008]. DMSP burdens increased steadily from 67 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> to culminate at 465 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> on 30 December while DMS burdens slowly increased from 0.4 to 42 µmol m-2. The progressive fall of DMSP burdens in the ice might be seen as a result of DMSP loss to the seawater through brine drainage and in situ conversion to DMS and biological consumption. The occurrence of an ice DMS burden peak on 4 December corresponded with the sharpest decrease of DMSP burden observed between the first two stations,

which suggests that a part of the DMSP had likely been converted to DMS in the ice. Stabilization of the ice DMS burden from 9 December onward reflects the fact that a balance was reached between the production of DMS and its removal from the ice through degassing and diffusion to the atmosphere, diffusion to the ice-water interface, photochemical oxidation, and bacterial consumption. The increase of water DMSP burden concurrent with the decrease of ice DMSP burden suggests that sea ice was an important source of DMSP for the water column at that moment of the year. The moderate increase of DMS observed in the underlying seawater is likely to be the result of the balance between the release of DMS and DMSP from sea ice, the conversion of DMSP to DMS in the water column, and the biological or photochemical removal of DMS from the water column [Slezak et al., 2001, 2007].

[20] To assess the impact of sea ice on the regional sulfur budget, total DMSP + DMS fluxes in ice and water were calculated as the difference between the DMS + DMSP burdens of two consecutive sampling days, within ice and water, respectively (Table 2). The constantly negative DMS (P) flux from the ice reflects a continuous loss of DMSP and DMS through different processes of degassing and diffusion of DMS to the atmosphere and downward migration of DMSP and DMS with the draining brines at the beginning of the observation period. The evolution of burdens (Figure 9) clearly shows that most of the flux from the ice was due to DMSP loss. The contrast between the strong fluxes observed for the first two stations, where most of the DMSP and DMS loss rapidly occurred (69% of the total observed loss from the ice occurred between stations 29 November and 9 December), and the rest of the observation period corresponded with the change in brine regime. Rapid loss of DMSP and DMS coincided with the sharpest decrease of salinity observed between the first three stations, reflecting mass transport of solutes through the brine inclusions network under the influence of brine drainage

13 of 16

Table 2. Calculated Total Ice and Water (DMS + DMSP) Flux

	Time Step						
	29 Nov to 4 Dec.	4-9 Dec	9-14 Dec	14-19 Dec	19-25 Dec	25-30 Dec	Average Flax
Ice DMS(P) flux <sup>4</sup> ( $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ) Water DMS(P) flux <sup>4</sup> ( $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	-12.2	-10.6	-1.7	-6.2	-2.0	-0.4	-5.4
water Dists(r) nuc (Jimot in u )	9.6	14.5	10.3	31.9	- 3.3	23.3	14.2

"A negative value means an outgoing flux.

events [Tison et al., 2008]. This emphasizes the importance of brine drainage in the control of the sea ice DMSP and DMS dynamics during sea ice decay. Integrated fluxes over the whole observation period (average fluxes in Table 2) were of the same order of magnitude as previous regional estimates of 9.4 µmol DMS m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in the Australian sector of the Southern Ocean [Curran and Jones, 2000] and measurement of 11  $\mu$ mol DMS m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> over the multiyear ice of the ISPOL floe [Zemmelink et al., 2008]. Our estimates, which include the contribution of both DMS and DMSP as well as the loss to the water column, seem low, however, in comparison to the value reported by Zemmelink et al. [2008], who solely measured ice-air DMS flux. Given the location of the flux tower on the multiyear ice zone of the ISPOL floe characterized by the presence of algal surface communities known to be highly productive [Kattner et al., 2004], it is reasonable to think that the average flux measured by Zemmelink et al. [2008] largely reflected DMS coming from such surface communities. These measured fluxes were also likely widely influenced by DMS emissions from surrounding leads where high DMS levels were observed in the surface microlayer [Zemmelink et al., 2005]. Such contributions of surface communities (not observed at the sampled clean site) and leads were not captured in our estimates. The difference between the calculated average fluxes (DMS + DMSP) from the ice (5.4 µmol DMS(P) m d<sup>-1</sup>) and to the water (14.2 µmol DMS(P) m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) by a factor of about 3 can have several causes: (1) uncertainty in the reconstruction of water burdens from only three concentration measurements for a 40 m water column; (2) potential decoupling of ice cover from underlying seawater because of ice drift; (3) potential underestimation of DMS and DMSP losses from the ice due to sampling biases, especially in the interface bottom layer; (4) temporal resolution of the flux calculation, implying a potential lack of information on DMS and DMSP production and losses from the ice occurring at rates higher than the 5 day time interval; and (5) the potential in situ algal DMSP production in the water column, which would contribute to the calculated positive flux.

# 6. Conclusions and Perspectives

[21] For the first time ever, we give a full description and discuss DMS and DMSP high-resolution profiles in sea ice, in a time series perspective. It is shown that the sea ice thermohaline regime plays a major role in controlling the DMS and DMSP dynamics within the sea ice cover, especially in the surface layers and interior of the sea ice cover, owing to the large changes in surface energy balance during spring and summer. This is either directly through the release of DMSP from the brine channel walls and the control of the DMSP and DMS migration within the brine inclusion network or, indirectly, through promoting a physiological response of ice DMSP producers. In this case of the ISPOL clean site, where no flooding of the surface layers with seawater occurred (positive freeboard throughout), DMSP production was dominated by pennate diatoms within the bottom layers, because their much higher biomass overcompensated their known lesser DMSP synthesis efficiency per unit cell.

[22] We produce first estimates of the impact of decaying sea ice on the regional sulfur budget in the Weddell Sea and show that these are of the same order of magnitude as those previously reported in other studies for DMS in Antarctic open waters. Our fluxes are most probably underestimated, given the potentially huge contribution of surface communities that were not present at our study site. However, these estimates already demonstrate that sea ice acts at that moment of the year as an important and continuous source of DMSP and DMS with respect to the ocean and the atmosphere. This study also stresses the lack of available information on physiological adaptation of the ice community toward changing abiotic conditions during sea ice decay and the role DMS(P) metabolism plays in that adaptation. This is a fundamental prerequisite to adequate modeling of sea ice controls on the flux of climatically significant sulfur compounds to the atmosphere. Future work should therefore be dedicated to metabolic studies performed under real conditions where physiological and physicochemical processes can interact. DMSO concentration measurements would also provide essential information to complete the sulfur budget and shed more light on the sulfur cycle dynamics in sea ice. Finally, ongoing studies on algal and microbial determination and relationships to organic matter will certainly provide further clarification of the control processes of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO production and transformation within the sea ice medium.

[23] Acknowledgments. The authors greatly thank the Alfred Wegener Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung for inviting them to join the ISPOL cruise, This research was supported by the Communauté Française de Belgique (SIBClim project, ARC contract 02/07-287). F. Brabani and I. Dumont are supported by a Belgian FRIA grant (Fonds pour la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture, Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique). J. Stefels was financially supported by the Polar Program of the Dutch National Science Foundation (NWO/ALW-NPP project 851.20.022). The authors greatly acknowledge J. W. H. Dacey for helping in data treatment, fruitful discussions, and sample collection in the field.

# References

- Ahram, M., R. Mulvaney, E. W. Wolff, and M. Mudelsee (2007), Ice core records as sea ice proxies: An evaluation from the Weddell Sea region of Astronomy J. Conversion, Phys. Rev. L 97, 115101. doi:10.1026/J006/E0005130.
- Antarctica, J. Goophys. Res., 112, D15101, doi:10.1025/2006DD008139.
  Absy, J. M., M. Schröder, R. Muench, and H. H. Hellmer (2008), Early sammer themohaline characteristics and mixing in the western Weddell Sca, Deep Sea Res., Part II, 55, 1117–1131, doi:10.1016/j. dsr2.2007.12.023.

14 of 16

G04044

G04044

#### TISON ET AL.: DMS(P) TIME SERIES IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

- Ackley, S. F., M. J. Lewis, C. H. Fritsen, and H. Xie (2008), Internal melting in Antanciic sea ice: Development of "gap layan", Geophys. Res. Lett., 35, L11503, doi:10.1029/2008GL033644.
  Archer, S. D., C. E. Stelfox-Widdicombe, P. H. Buckill, and G. Malin (2001), A dilation approach to quantify the production of dissulved dimethyl sulphishe due to microzoo-plankton herbivory. Aquat. Microb. Ecol., 23(2), 131–145, doi:10.3354/ame023131.
  Backley, R. G., and H. J. Trodbal (1987), Thermally driven changes in the omtical properties of sea ice. Cold Ree. Sci. Technol., 14(2), 201–204.
- optical properties of sea ice, Cold Reg. Sci. Technol., 14(2), 201–204, doi:10.1016/0165-232X(87)90036-X.
- doi:10.1016/0165-232X(87)90036-X.
  Charbson, R. J., J. E. Lovelock, M. O. Andrene, and S. G. Warren (1987), Decamic phytoplankton, atmospheric sulphur, cloud albedo and climate, *Nature*, 326, 655-661, doi:10.1038/326655a0.
  Cox, G. F. N., and W. F. Weeks (1983), Equations for determining the gas and brine volumes in sea-ice samples, J. Glaciol., 29(102), 306-316.
  Curran, M. A. J., and G. B. Jones (2000), Dimethylsalfide in the Soutisern Ocean: Seasonality and flux, J. Geophys. Res., 105(D16), 20,451-20,461.
  Curran, M. A. J., T. D. van Ommen, V. I. Morgan, K. L. Phillips, and A. S. Palmer (2003), loc core evidence for Antarctic sea ice decline since the 1950s. Science, 302, 1203-1206.

- 1950s, Science, 302, 1203-1205. Dacey, J. W. H., S. G. Wakeham, and B. L. Howes (1984), Henry's law
- Dacey, J. W. H., S. G. Wakenam, and B. L. Howes (1964), Henry's law constants for dimethylsulfide in freshwater and seawater, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 11(10), 991–994, doi:10.1029/GL011i010p00991.
  de Gouw, J., and C. Warneke (2007), Measurements of volatile organic compounds in the Earth's atmosphere using proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry, *Mass Spectron. Rev.*, 26, 223–257.
  de Gouw, J., C. Warneke, T. Karl, G. Eerdelsens, C. van der Veen, and B. Edd. (2003). Considering and considering of strengthetic regarding and the sensitivity.
- R. Fall (2003), Sensitivity and specificity of atmospheric trace gas detection by proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry, Int. J. Mass Spectrom., 223, 365–382.
- Spectrom., 229, 305–362.
  Delille, B., B. Jourdain, A. V. Borges, J.-L. Tison, and D. Delille (2007),
  Biogas (CO<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, dimethylsalfide) dynamics in spring Antaccic fast ice,
  Llunal. Occanogr., 52(4), 1367–1379.
  DiTullio, G. R., D. L. Garrison, and S. Mathet (1998), Dimethylsalfono-
- (Tullio, G. R., D. L. Garrison, and S. Mather (1998), Dimethyleatlono-propionate in sea ice algae from the Ross Sea polynya, in *Asturchic Scot Ice: Biological Processes, Interaction and Variability, Antaret. Res. Ser.*, vol. 73, edited by M. Lizotte and K. Arrigo, pp. 139–146, AGU, Washington, D. C.
- AGU, Washington, D. C. Dumont, L. (2009), Interactions between the microbial network and the organic matter in the Southern Ocean: Impacts on the biological carbon pump, Ph.D. thesis, Fac. des Sci., Univ. Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Dumont, I., V. Scheemann, D. Lammzel, L. Chou, J.-L. Tison, and S. Beequevori (2009), Distribution and characterization of dissidved and particulate organic matter in Antarctic pack ice, *Palar Biol.*, 32(5), 733– 750, doi:10.1007/s00300-008-0577-y.
- Ficken, H. (2003), From the microscopic to the macroscopic to the regional scale: Growth, microstructure and properties of sea ice, in Sou Ice: An Introduction to Its Physics, Biology, Chemistry and Geology, edited by gy, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 22-81, Blackwell Sci., Oxford,
- C. N. Gambaro, A., I. Meret, R. Piazza, C. Andreoli, E. D. Rin, G. Capodaglio, C. Barbante, and P. Cescon (2004), Temporal evolution of DMS and DMSP in Antarctic Coastal Sea water, Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem.,
- 84(6-7), 401-412, doi:10.1080/03057310310001636983. Gibson, J. A. E., R. C. Garrick, H. R. Barton, and A. R. McTaggart (1990), Obision, J. A. E., R. C. Garries, H. R. Barton, and A. R. Metaggati (1990), Dimethylsulfide and the alga *Phaeocystis postchetii* in Antarctic coastal waters, *Mar. Biol.*, 104(2), 339–346, doi:10.1007/BF01313276.
  Gleitz, M., M. R. van der Loeff, D. N. Thomas, G. S. Dieckmann, and F. J. Millero (1995), Comparison of summer and winter inorganic carbon,
- oxygen and nutrient concentrations in Antarctic sea ice brine, Mar. Chem., 51, 81-91.

- Chem., 51, 81–91.
  Golden, K. M. (2003), Critical behavior of transport in sea ice, *Physica B*, 338, 274–283, doi:10.1016/j.physb.2003.08.007.
  Golden, K. M., S. F. Ackley, and V. I. Lytle (1998), The percolation phase transition in sea ice, *Science*, 382, 2238–2241.
  Golden, K. M., H. Eicken, A. L. Heaton, J. Miner, D. J. Pringle, and J. Zhu (2007), Thermal evolution of permeability and microstructure in sea ice, *Geophys. Rev. Lett.*, 34, L16501, doi:10.1029/2007GL030447.
  Haas, C., D. N. Themas, and J. Barciss (2001), Surface properties and processes of percential Antacetic sea ice in worther. J. Glaviol. 47(159).
- cesses of perennial Antarctic sea ice in summer, J. Glaciol., 47(159), 613-625
- Katiner, G., D. N. Thomas, C. Haas, H. Kennedy, and G. S. Dieckmann
- Katiner, G., D. N. Hornas, C. Hans, H. Kennessy, and G. S. Dieckmann (2004), Surface ice and gap tayers in antaratric sea ice: Highly productive habitats, Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 277, 1–12, doi:10.3354/maps277001.
  Keller, M. D., W. K. Bellows, and R. R. L. Guillard (1989), Directlyd ad-fide production in marine phytoplankton, in Biogenic Sulfue in the Envi-ronment, edited by E. S. Saltzman and W. J. Cooper, pp. 167–182, Am. Chem. Soc., Washington, D. C.

- Kirst, G., C. Thiel, H. Wolff, J. Notimagel, M. Wanzek, and R. Ulmive (1991), Dimethylsalfiniopropionate (DMSP) in ice algae and its possible biological role, *Mar. Chem.*, 35, 381–388.
- Krembs, C., II. Eicken, K. Junge, and J. W. Deming (2002), High concen-trations of exopolymeric substances in Arctic winter sea ice: Implications for the polar ocean earbon cycle and cryoprotection of diatoms, Deep Sea Res., Part I, 49, 2163–2181.
- Res. Part 6, 49, 2103–2181.
  Lee, P. A., S. J. de Mora, and M. Gosselin (2001), Particulate dimethyl-sulfoxide in Arctic sea-ice algal communities: The cryoprotectant hypothesis revisited, J. Phycol., 37(4), 488–499, doi:10.1046/j.1529-8817.2001.037004488.x.
- Lepparanta, M., and T. Manninen (1988). The brine and gas content of sea
- Lepparatia, M., and T. Maninian (1998), The brine and gas content of seta ice with attention to low salinities and high temperatures, *Internal Rep.* 88-2, Finn. Inst. of Mar. Res., Helsinki. Levassear, M., M. Gosselin, and S. Michaud (1994), A new source of di-methylsuffide (DMS) for the Archic atmosphere: loe diatoms, *Mar. Biol.*, 121(2), 381–387, doi:10.1007/BF00346748. Lindinger, W., A. Hansel, and A. Jordan (1998), On-line monitoring of valuation generatic generation are not have by mean of methanethere.
- volatile organic compounds at pptv levels by means of proton-trans-fer-reaction mass spectrometry (PTRMS) medical applications, food control and environmental research, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Pro-cesses, 173, 191-241.
- McPhee, M. G. (2008), Physics of early summer ice/ocean exchanges in the western Weddell Sea during ISPOL, Deep Sea Res., Part II, 55, 1075-1097. doi:10.1016/j.dg2.2007.12.022.
- Meyerson, E. A., P. A. Mayewski, K. J. Kreutz, L. D. Meeker, S. I. Whitlow, and M. S. Twickler (2002), The polar expression of ENSO and sea-ice variability as recorded in a South Pole ice cure, Ann. Glaciol., 35, 430-436
- Mulvaney, R., E. C. Pasteur, and D. A. Peel (1992), The ratio of MSA to non-sen-salt sulphate in Antarctic Peninsula ice cores, *Tellux, Ser. B*, 295-303.
- Pasteur, E. C., R. Mulvaney, D. A. Peel, E. S. Salteman, and P.-Y. Whung
- Pasteur, E. C., K. Murvaney, D. A. Peer, E. S. Sautenan, and P.-Y. Whang (1995). A 3-40 year record of hiogenic sulphur from the Weddell Sea area, Antarctica, Ann. Glacinl., 27, 169–174.
  Rhodes, R. H., N. A. N. Berller, J. A. Baker, S. B. Soeed, H. Oerter, and K. R. Arigo (2009). Sea ice variability and primary productivity in the Ross Sea, Antarctica, from methylsulphonate snow record, Geophys. Res. Lett., 36, L10794, doi:10.1029/2009GL037311.
- Slezak, D., A. Brugger, and G. J. Herndl (2001), Impact of solar radiation on the biological removal of dimethybulfoniopropionate and dimethylsulfide in marine surface waters, Aquat. Microb. Ecol., 25, 87-97, summer in marine surface waters, Aguat. MICPOD. LCOL, 25, 87–97, doi:10.3354/ame025087.Slezak, D., R. P. Kiene, D. A. Toule, R. Simó, and D. J. Kieher (2007).
- Effects of solar radiation on the fate of dissoved DMSP and conversion to DMS in seawater, Aquat. Sci., 69(3), 377–393, doi:10.1007/s00027-
- Stefels, J. (2000), Physiological aspects of the production and conv DMSP in marine algae and higher plants, J. Sea Res., 43, 183-197, doi:10.1016/S1385-1101(00)00030-7.
- Stefels, J., and L. Dijkhuizen (1996), Characteristics of DMSP-lyase in Phaeocystis up. (Prymnosiophyceae), Ecol. Prog. Ser., 131, 307-313. doi:10.3354/meps131307.Stefels, J., M. Steinke, S. Turner, G. Malin, and S. Belviso (2007), Environ
- mental constraints on the production and removal of the climatically active gas dimethylsulphide (DMS) and implications for ecosystem modelling, Biogeochemistry, 83, 245-275, doi:10.1007/s10533-007-9091-5. Stofels, J., J. W. H. Dacey, and J. T. M. Elzenga (2009), In vivo DMSP-
- biosynthesis measurements using stable-isotope incorporation and proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry (PTR-MS), Limnol. Oceanogr. Methody, 7, 595-611.
- Steinke, M., G. V. Wolfe, and G. O. Kirst (1998), Partial characterisati dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) lyase isozymes in 6 strains of Emi-liania hacleyi, Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 175(3), 215-225, doi:10.3354/ meps175215.
- Thomas, D. N., and S. Papadimitriou (2003), Biogeochemistry of sea ice, in Sea Ice: An Introduction to Its Physics, Biology, Chemistry and Geology, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 267–302, Blackwell Sci., Oxford, U. K.
- Sci., Oxford, U. K. Timeo, G. W., and R. M. W. Frederking (1996), A review of sea ice den-sity, Cold Reg. Sci. Technol., 24, 1–6.
  Tison, J.-L., A. Worby, B. Delille, F. Brahant, S. Papadimitriou, D. Thomas, J. de Jong, D. Lannazel, and C. Haas (2008), Temporal evolution of decaying summer first-year sea ice in the western Weddell Sea, Antarcti-ca, Deep Sea Res., Part II, 55, 975–987, doi:10.1016/j.dez.2007.12.021.
- Trovena, A. J., and G. B. Jones (2006), Dimethylsalphilde and dimethylsal-phoniopropionate in Antarctic sea ice and their release during sea ice melting. Mar. Chem., 98, 210–222, doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2005.09.005.

G04044

# TISON ET AL.: DMS(P) TIME SERIES IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE.

- Trevena, A. J., G. B. Junes, S. W. Wright, and R. L. van den Enden (2003), Profiles of dimethylsulphoniopropionate (DMSP), algal pigments, nutri-ents and salinity in the fast ice of Prydz Bay, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Rex., 109(C5), 3145, doi:10.1029/2002JC001369.
  Turner, S. M., P. D. Nightingale, W. Bavadgate, and P. S. Liss (1995), The distribution of dimethyl sulphilds and dimethylsulphoniopropoionie in Antarctic waters and sea ice, Deep Sea Rex., Part II, 42(4–5), 1059–1080.
- 1059–1080.
  Welch, K. A., P. A. Mayewski, and S. I. Whitlow (1993), Methanesulfimic acid in coastial Antactric snow related to sca-ice extent, *Geophys. Rev. Lett.*, 20(6), 443–446.
  Wolff, E. W., et al. (2006), Southern Ocean sea-ice extent productivity and iron flux over the past eight glacial cycles, *Nature*, 440, 491–496.
  Yentsch, C. S., and D. Menzel (1963), A method for the determination of phytoplanktum chlorophyfil and phaeophytine by fluoreszerse, *Deep Sea Rev.*, 10, 221–231.

Zemmelink, H., L. Houghton, J. W. H. Dacey, A. P. Worby, and P. S. Liss (2005), Emission of dimethylsulfide from Woldell Sca leads, Geophys. Rev. Lett., 32, L23610, doi:10.1029/2005GL024242.
 Zemmelink, H., J. W. H. Dacey, L. Houghton, E. J. Huttsa, and P. S. Liss (2008), Dimethylsulfide emissions over the multi-year ice of the western Weddell Sca. Geophys. Rev. Lett., 35, L06603, doi:10.1029/ 2007GL031847.

F. Brabant and J.-L. Tison, Laboratoire de Glaciologie, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Av. F.D. Roosevelt 50, CP 160/03, B-1050 Bruxelles, Belgium, (tison/milb.ac.be) I. Dumont, Ecologie des Systèmes Aquatiques, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Campus de la Plaine CP 221, Bd. du Triomphe, B-1050 Braxelles, Belgium, J. Stefds, Laboratory of Plant Physiology, University of Gruningen, PO Box 14, NL-9750 AA Haren, Neiberlands.

# Paper 5 :

Thermally-forced DMS, DMSP, DMSO and biogeochemical cycling in Antarctic spring sea ice: a contrasting study, 2012. *In preparation.* by Brabant F., G. Carnat, I. Dumont, S. Becquevort, M. Vancoppenolle, S. F. Ackley and J. L. Tison.

**Contribution of F. Brabant**: Field sampling. Measurement of DMS, DMSP and DMSO profiles. Analysis of the data. Writing of the paper.

# Thermally-forced DMS, DMSP, DMSO and biogeochemical cycling in spring sea ice: a contrasting study

Brabant F.<sup>1\*</sup>, G. Carnat<sup>2</sup>, I. Dumont<sup>3</sup>, S. Becquevort<sup>3</sup>, M. Vancoppenolle<sup>4</sup>, S. F. Ackley<sup>5</sup>, C. Fritsen<sup>6</sup> and J.- L. Tison<sup>1</sup>.

# ABSTRACT

Temporal evolution of dimethylsulphide (DMS), dimethylsulphoniopropionate (DMSP) and dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) profiles and ancillary physical and biogeochemical variables was assessed in the sea ice cover of two contrasting study sites (Brussels and Liege) throughout Oct-.Nov. 2007 during the Sea Ice Mass Balance in Antarctica (SIMBA) cruise (Bellingshausen Sea, Antarctica). Several atmospheric cycles of cooling and warming succeeded during the observation period and strongly influenced the physical properties of the ice cover. Those conditions both induced an enhanced DMS/P/O production by sympagic organisms, subject to cyclic thermal and osmotic stress as well as the transfer of elevated concentrations of DMS/P towards the ocean. Most of the DMS/P/O production occurred in the surface layers of the ice cover at both sites. At both sites, the maximum value of DMS/P/O burden coincided with the most severe cold spell witnessed during the observation period, suggesting thereby an overall control of the environmental constraints on the ice DMS/P/O production. Along the 20 days study period, lower estimates of DMS flux from both sites to the atmosphere amounted to 3 umol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> for the sole ice DMS burden contribution and to 17 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> for the combined contribution of ice and seawater DMS burden contribution. Although releasing substantial amounts of DMS/P to the ocean via brine drainage, the spring sea ice cover of SIMBA was characterized by an overall net production of 140 µmol DMSP m<sup>-2</sup> and 14 µmol DMS m<sup>-2</sup> at Brussels and of 104 µmol DMSP m<sup>-2</sup> and 3 µmol DMS m<sup>-2</sup> at Liége site. At all times, a minority contributor to the total ice DMS/P/O pool, the overall net production of DMSO was 5 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> at Brussels and close to 0 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> at Liège. Sea ice was at that time of the year the only source of reduced sulphur species for the ocean and the atmosphere.

<sup>1</sup> Laboratoire de Glaciologie, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium.

<sup>2</sup> Centre for Earth Observation Science, Department of Environment and Geography, University of Manitoba, 125 Dysart Road, R3T 2N2 Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

<sup>3</sup> Ecologie des Systèmes Aquatiques, Faculté des Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium.

<sup>4</sup> Georges Lemaître Centre for Earth and Climate Research, Earth and Life Institute, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium.

<sup>5</sup> University of Texas at SanAntonio, One UTSA Circle, San Antonio, TX 78249, United States

<sup>6</sup> Division of Earth and Ecosystem Sciences, Desert Research Institute, Reno, Nevada, United States.

\* corresponding author: fbrabant@ulb.ac.be

# 1. INTRODUCTION

With an areal extent ranging between 3.6 x 106 km2 in winter and 18.8 x 106 km<sup>2</sup> and in summer [Comiso, 2010]. Antarctic sea ice is the main contributor to the oceanic component of the cryosphere and might maintain this status in the future in the view of the trend towards a global increase of the sea ice extent in the Southern Ocean [Zhang et al., 2007] compared with the observed accelerating decline of sea ice in the Arctic [Stroeve et al., 2007]. Besides its largely acknowledged abiotic role in climate regulation of the polar regions, through its influence on the surface heat budget of the ocean and control on the global thermohaline circulation [Lubin and Massom, 2006] and references therein), the contribution of sea ice to the Southern Ocean biological pump in regulating notably the atmospheric CO2 regional budget, recently emerged [Rysgaard et al., 2011]. This unrecognized role to date led part of the scientific community to consider sea ice as an impermeable barrier to gas exchanges between the ocean and the atmosphere [Treguer and Pondaven, 2002]. The composite nature of the sea ice material developing and maintaining a liquid brine microstructure which evolves dynamically along with temperature variations makes from sea ice an interface prone to exchange material with the atmosphere and the ocean through gas or brine fluxes [Loose et al., 2011]. The persistence of a liquid brine microstructure even at low temperatures allows autotrophic organisms like microalgae to survive in the ice where they can develop substantial standing stocks [reviewed by Arrigo et al., 2010]. While living in the ice provides advantages to microalgae like access to sufficient light levels by the maintain at the sea surface [Arrigo et al., 2010] and protection against large grazers due to the geometry of the brine microstructure, it also necessitates that ice algae have developed the capability of responding to salinity, light, temperature, pH, nutrients and gas fluxes stress encountered within the sea ice medium [Mock and Thomas, 2005]. In the view of the important concentrations of dimethylsulphoniopropionate (DMSP) measured in sea ice (typical average concentrations of a few hundreds of nM) compared with the concomitant low levels typically observed in the water column (tenths of nM) [Kirst et al., 1991; Turner et al., 1995; Tison et al., 2010], DMSP could represent a physiological adaptation of sympagic algae to grow in the sea ice environment characterised by high levels of environmental stress (temperature and salinity, notably). DMSP is indeed

acknowledged to fulfil a series of physiological roles and potentially act as cryoprotectant, osmotic regulator, antioxidant or overflow mechanisms for excess energy dissipation, sulphur release and nitrogen maintenance, notably [reviewed by Stefels et al., 2007]. Salinity fluctuations within the sea ice brine and melting of the sea ice [Trevena and Jones, 2006] provide favourable conditions for the release of DMSP in the ambient medium where it can be enzymatically cleaved into dimethylsulphide (DMS) and acrylate by algal or bacterial DMSP-lyases. DMS is a volatile organic sulphur compound which can, once emitted to the atmosphere, affect the radiative budget of the atmosphere directly by backscattering part of the incoming solar radiation and indirectly by acting as condensation nuclei favouring the formation of clouds (cloud condensation nuclei or CCN). Only a minor part (~10% ) of the DMS produced in the marine environment will eventually be vented to the atmosphere [Archer et al., 2002] where it can exert influence on the regional climate altering the optical properties of cloud and modifying the precipitation patterns [Krüger and Graßl, 2011]. Major part of the marine DMS pool is subtracted from climatic influence and is consumed by bacteria. A substantial proportion of the marine DMS pool can be bacterially or photochemically oxidised leading to the formation of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) [reviewed by Hatton et al., 2005]. Cellular roles as cryo-osmoregulator, free radical scavenger and intracellular electrolyte modifier proposed by Lee and de Mora [1999] for DMSO are similar to those played by DMSP.

As observed for DMSP, sea ice concentrations of DMSO are several orders of magnitude higher than those observed in the water column [Lee et al., 2001]. Although all studies conducted over Antarctic sea ice to date agree in terms of range of DMS/P levels observed [Trevena et al., 2003; Tison et al., 2010]. they hardly contribute to give a clear picture of existing seasonal or regional patterns. Particularly winter and time series studies are lacking. To date, the only ice time series study reports the evolution of DMS/P levels in a typical first-year summer sea ice cover in the Weddell Sea, brine and underlying waters controlled by the thermal regime of the ice cover [Tison et al., 2010]. At that period of the year, the sea ice environment provides favourable conditions to the production of DMS from DMSP and generates significant combined flux of DMS and DMSP to the ocean [Tison et al., 2010]. Other time series studies have been dedicated to gas flux measurement, Zemmelink et al. [2008] and Nomura



# BRABANT ET AL.: DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE.

Figure 1 Navigation and drift plot of the RV/IB N.B. Palmer during the SIMBA cruise 2007 (orange crosses) and the expedition of the Belgica in 1897-1899 (purple squares)

et al. [2012] demonstrated that Antarctic sea ice could generate significant fluxes of DMS to the atmosphere, further asserting the biogeochemical importance of sea ice in climate regulation. In this study, the temporal evolution of DMS, DMSP, DMSO and a series of ancillary biogeochemical variables in the sea ice cover at the winter - spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea is addressed and discussed in the perspective of its connection with the thermal evolution of the sea ice cover. Sensitivity of the ice cover to the atmospheric thermal forcing in relation to its snow and ice thickness is discussed and contribution of the sea ice cover to the regional sulphur budget is estimated with the computation of DMS/P/O fluxes inferred from the DMS/P/O burden change rate.

# 2. SITE DESCRIPTION

The present study is part of the SIMBA (Sea Ice Mass Balance in Antarctica) experiment which took place onboard the RV/IB N.B. Palmer in the Bellingshausen Sea during September – October 2007 [see Worby et al., 2011 and Lewis et al., 2011 for an overview of the whole experiment and location of the different sampling sites]. On arrival on the drifting floe named "Ice Station Belgica" (ISB) in tribute to the first overwintering of Adrien de Gerlache and his crew on the ship "Belgica" in the Bellingshausen Sea (austral winter 1898-1899) (see Figure 1), two sites named "Brussels" and "Liege" were chosen to assess the temporal evolution of a suite of physical chemical and biogeochemical properties of the sea ice cover. The two sites were chosen according to three criteria. The chosen sites had to: 1) be internally homogeneous with respect to their surface properties (i.e. level ice, uniform snow thickness) to increase the chances to address a simple case study; 2) display contrasting features between each other in terms of mean snow and ice thickness, ice type (granular vs. columnar ice), freeboard (flooding vs. absence of flooding); 3) be large enough (minimum area of 100 m x 100 m) to allow the delimitation of at least five "clean" independent but adjacent smaller zones (10 m x 10 m) to be sampled at a regular time interval. The two sites were located at a reasonable distance of about 1 km to 2 km away from the ship.

# 3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

Sampling and samples processing

# BRABANT ET AL : DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

For every visit to either site, sampling and activities were conducted following a common sampling protocol to coordinate the sampling of snow, sea ice, brines and seawater in trace metal clean conditions and other scientific activities (geophysics, biology, meteorology, radiation balance,...) on the same homogeneous area similarly to what was done for the ISPOL drift experiment [Tison et al., 2008] and ARISE cruise [Lannuzel et al., 2006]. On each site of an area of about 100m x 60m, a clean zone was delimited with flags to prevent accidental contamination with respect to trace metals. Brussels and Liège sites were visited alternately every five days. Each time a site was visited a smaller sampling square zone (10 m x 10 m) was delimited. These small zones were kept fairly close to each other to minimise the impact of spatial variability [see Lewis et al., 2011]. Within the clean areas, access was only permitted to people wearing clean suits and plastic bags around the shoes. Ice cores were taken using a 14 cm diameter electropolished stainless-steel corer. Ice cores were immediately wrapped in PE bags and stored horizontally in an insulated box with cold packs frozen at -30°C beforehand. Under-ice seawater was sampled at interface, 1 m and 30 m depth using a Masterflex E/S portable sampler (Cole-Parmer) and transferred into 20 ml glass vials and immediately crimp sealed with a cap with a butyl/PTFE septum after ensuring there was no headspace. Sea ice brines were sampled after accumulation by gravity drainage into sackholes [Thomas et al., 2010] as described for seawater. Vials were stored in the dark at 4°C and rapidly analysed for DMS and DMSP once back on the ship. Sea ice cores were processed in a cold room at -30°C on the ship within the few days after sampling to ensure reliability of the DMS measurements. It has been demonstrated that the long term storage of meteoric ice cores could impact the reliability of the analysis with some compounds like methanesulphonic acid which can diffuse out of stored ice cores [Abram et al., 2008]. Significant DMS losses have been noticed on sea ice samples analysed after several months of storage in comparison with samples analysed on field a few hours after sampling [Stefels et al., 2012]. Sea ice samples dedicated to DMS, DMSP and DMSO measurement were cut from the inside of the ice core with a vertical resolution of 5 cm using a band-saw

# Thermohaline properties of the sea ice cover

Ice temperature and bulk salinity profiles were measured on the same dedicated ice core. Ice temperature was measured immediately after ice core withdrawal using a calibrated digital thermometer (Testo 110) equipped with a fast response temperature probe (precision ± 0.2°C) inserted in holes drilled at the diameter of the probe perpendicularly to the ice core wall. The ice core was then cut with a vertical resolution of 5 cm and the sections were stored in sealed plastic containers. Bulk ice salinity was determined onboard on melted ice core sections using a calibrated Orion (Thermo Finnigan) conductivity meter (precision  $\pm 0.1$  psu). Ice texture was revealed onboard on 2 mm thick sections of ice cores placed on a light table between crossed polarisers. The thick sections were performed on the ice core dedicated to the determination of DMS, DMSP and DMSO.

# DMS, DMSP and DMSO analysis

DMS extraction - DMS was extracted from sea ice samples using a new method of dry crushing [Stefels et al., 2012] inspired by a gas extraction method developed for polar ice cores [Raynaud et al., 1982]. In brief, a sea ice sample of about 20 g was placed with two stainless-steel marbles into a stainless-steel vessel specifically designed for the analysis of DMS in sea ice samples. The hermetically closed vessel was then fixed onto a crushing device to be mechanically shaken (several hundred cycles min') during 4 cycles of 45 seconds each in order to reduce the sample into fine ice powder and ensure that all gas bubbles and brine inclusions have been released from the ice matrix. After crushing, the vessel was connected to the extraction line and maintained at about -30°C during the purge of the vessel for 15 min by a UHP grade (99.999%) helium stream at a flow rate of 50 ml/min. During this step, DMS is carried out of the vessel by helium to a cryofocusing trap consisting of a PTFE loop immersed in liquid N2 (-196°C). DMS was then thermally desorbed by plunging the PTFE loop in boiling water and injected into the GC for quantitation. The procedure was repeated twice for each sample to ensure the recovery of all the DMS contained in the sample. The total DMS content of the sample was calculated as the sum of the two successive injections.

This dry crushing extraction method was developed as melting of the sample was anticipated to alter the initial proportion of DMS and DMSP. In testing this dry extraction technique to assess its validity against DMS and DMSP determination compared with melting, it was observed that the proportion of DMS
relative to DMSP was higher in melted samples than in samples treated following the dry crushing procedure. Although the shape of the DMS+DMSP profiles was similar, the mean DMS:DMSP ratio of the melted samples increased six fold in comparison with the dry crushed samples with a DMS concentration exceeding the DMSP by a factor nine on occasion [Stefels et al., 2012]. As discussed in Brabant et al. [2011], DMSP of the melted sample would be released into the medium by sympagic algae by exudation or cell lysis in response to the hypo-osmotic shock undergone when released from hypersaline brine inclusions into the hypotonic sample melt. DMS production would then follow by unintentional enzymatic cleavage of released DMSP by algal or bacterial DMSP-lyase present in the sample. The overall result is an overestimate of the initial DMS content of the sample and a consequent underestimate of the DMSP content of the sample. The effect of crushing on the integrity of algal cells is not known. The dry crushing method is however assumed to be more conservative than the melting procedure regarding the proportion of DMS and DMSP initially present in the sample. Trevena et al. [2003] reported that the melting of a sea ice sample. acidified at pH 1 beforehand to preserve DMSP. resulted in the transfer of nearly all DMSPt (total DMSP) in the dissolved fraction very likely as a result of cell damage during melting from salinity and pH stress. In addition, Kiene et al [2007] recently reported that the acidification technique was unsuccessful in preserving DMSPt in seawater samples in the presence of Phaeocystis sp. even if a cautious sampling procedure is followed [Kiene and Slezak, 2006]. DMSP-lyases in Phaeocystis sp. would indeed remain active for minutes after acid addition resulting in loss of cellular DMSP and production of DMS. As Phaeocystis sp. is an algal species commonly found in Antarctic sea ice algal assemblages, it is not unreasonable to think that such a process happens during the melting of a sea ice sample. Should algal cell break up and cytosol release within the sample happen with the dry crushing method, the unintentional enzymatic cleavage of DMSP within the sample is expected to be limited as the sample is maintained in solid state at low temperature all along the DMS extraction procedure.

For the analysis of DMS in under-ice water samples, between 1 and 10 ml of liquid was subsampled from the 20 ml sampling vial and transferred through the septum into a clean pre-sealed 20 ml vial. The vial was then connected to a simple purge-and-trap system as described by Stefels [2009]. The sample was then purged for 30 min with UHP grade helium (>99.999%) at a flow rate of 25 ml/min and the DMS was trapped in the PTFE loop immersed into liquid  $N_5$ . After 30 minutes, the DMS was thermally desorbed by plunging the PTFE loop in boiling water and injected into the GC for quantitation.

Sample treatment for DMSP and DMSO analysis -For the determination of DMSP in the under-ice water samples, NaOH was added to the same aliquot after DMS analysis to bring the OH concentration above 2N in order to induce the hydroxide decomposition of DMSP in DMS and acrylic acid [Dacey and Blough, 1987]. This procedure proved to be 100% efficient [Turner et al., 1990]. Vials were immediately crimp sealed with a butyl/PTFE septum cap and stored at +4°C in the dark for at least 24h until analysis of the DMSP as DMS following the procedure described above. For DMSP and DMSO analysis in sea ice samples, the fine ice powder resulting from the crushing after the DMS quantitation was recovered and divided into 20 ml glass vials that were hermetically crimp sealed with a butyl/PTFE septum cap and stored at -30°C in the dark for further analysis. For DMSP, NaOH was added to vials containing the ice powder. The vials were immediately sealed with a butyl/PTFE septum cap and stored to melt at +4°C in the dark until analysis. Total DMSO (i.e. dissolved and particulate phase) in sea ice samples was measured in Belgium a few months after collection using the enzyme-linked method [Hatton et al., 1994] adapted for the determination of DMSO in sea ice as fully described by Brabant et al. [2011]. The overall precision of the method is <5%.

Sulphur quantitation - Dissolved DMS and DMS stemming from the hydroxide decomposition of DMSP were measured on board using an Agilent 6890 gas chromatograph (GC) equipped with a sixport switching valve, a 1 m x 0.75 mm (i.d.) Restek Rt-XLSulfur packed column and a flame photometric detector (FPD) run either with a wavelength (394 nm) sulphur filter or with a wavelength (526 nm) phosphorus filter depending of the amount of DMS expected in the samples. In the sulphur mode, the flame was supplied by a flow rate of 60 ml/ min of H<sub>2</sub>, 72 ml/min of dry air and 20 ml/min of He (carrier). In the phosphorus mode, the flame was supplied by a flow rate of 150 ml/ min of H2, 110 ml/min of dry air and 25 ml/min of He as (carrier). In either mode, GC oven was operated using a

temperature program (60-180°C) and the detector temperature was set at 230°C. DMS eluted at around 2.2 min and at around 2.3 min in the sulphur and phosphorus mode, respectively. GC was calibrated against dilutions of pure (>99%) DMS (Merck) in ultra pure water. As the FPD response is proportional to the n power of sulphur amount and may vary depending on the analytical set-up (n is generally in the range 1.5< n< 2.5 [Farwell and Barinaga, 1986]). a linear regression of log(area) vs. log(number of mole) was applied, as recommended by Simó [1998]. in the sulphur mode. Since the FPD response is prone to change at high sulphur masses due to an autoquenching phenomenon in the detector flame [Sola et al., 1997], a quadratic regression was applied to capture the data at best in the phosphorus mode. The analytical precision of the method is <10% for the quantitation of DMS and DMSP.

#### **Biological proxies**

Chlorophyll a - Discrete chlorophyll-a measurements were performed on a dedicated ice core taken in the close vicinity of the temperature-salinity and DMS-DMSP-DMSO cores (within a radius of a few tens of centimetres). The first half of the ice core (diameter 0.14 m) was cut onboard the ship with a 0.05 m vertical resolution to correspond with the DMSP-DMS-DMSO sampling depth intervals. The samples were melted as is at 4°C in the dark and then gently filtered onto Whatman glass fiber GF/F filters (0.7µm). The second half of the ice core was processed with a 0.1 m vertical resolution to correspond with the sampling depth intervals of other biological variables for the purpose of further studies. The samples were melted in a known volume of seawater (1:4 V/V) prefiltered through 0.2µm polycarbonate filters and then successively filtrated on 10µm and then on 0.8µm Nucleopore filters. All filters were stored in cryovials at -80°C until analysis. They were extracted in acetone (90% V/V) in the dark at 4°C for 24h, and chlorophyll a was quantified fluorometrically according to Yentsch and Menzel [1963]. The total chlorophyll a content of the samples treated with the sequential filtration method was calculated as the sum of concentrations measured on 10µm and 0.8µm filters. Seawater samples taken below the sea ice were successively filtrated on 10µm and then on 0.8um Nucleopore filters before chlorophyll a measurement as described above. Samples for microscopic determination of algae were preserved in gluteraldehyde-Lugol solution (1% final concentration).

Algae taxonomic composition – Algae taxonomic composition was studied back in Belgium by inverted light microscopy (100 x magnification and 320x magnification) according to the method described by Utermöhl [1958].

Nutrients – Ice sections were melted in the dark at 4°C and then filtered through 0.4 µm polycarbonate filters. Inorganic nutrients (nitrate, nitrite, ammonium, phosphate and silicate) were determined on filtrates according to the procedure described by Papadimitriou et al. [2007]. To avoid matrix effects, standards used for calibration were prepared in artificial seawater solutions with salinities similar to those of the analysed samples. Results are shown as the difference in concentration with the concentration predicted by the theoretical dilution line (TDL) with the assumption that the composition of seawater sampled to compute the TDL is representative of the composition of seawater during the ice formation.

## **Radiation data**

Photosynthetically available radiation (PAR) and ultraviolet A (UVA) and B (UVB) data were acquired by a GUV-2511 multi-channel radiometer (Biospherical Instruments Inc., San Diego, CAL, USA) during most of the observation period.

PAR – The daily dose of PAR (400-700 nm) was computed as the time integral of instantaneous PAR readings.

UVA and UVB reconstruction - Spectral irradiance at selected wavelengths was used to reconstruct the spectral integral of UVA and UVB. Relationships to convert selected UV wavelengths to UVA and UVB irradiances were derived from measurements from Version 2 data from the GUV series multi-channel radiometer set at Palmer Station in the framework of the NSF UV Monitoring Network operated by Biospherical Instruments Inc. (http://www.biospherical.com/nsf/Version2/Version2. asp) during the period April 2006 - July 2007. For the UVA (315-400 nm), a linear regression of the spectral irradiance at 380 nm was used (R2=0.997; p<0.001, n=20667) while for the UVB (290-315 nm), a multiple linear regression of spectral irradiance at 305 and 313 nm was used (R2=1; p<0.001, n=20612) [Dr. Germar Bernhard, Biospherical Instruments Inc., personal communication, 2010]. After conversion of instantaneous spectral irradiance readings into UVA and UVB irradiances, time integrals were then

computed to estimate the daily doses of UVA and UVB.

## Statistical analysis

Ice thickness evolution – The mean ice thickness evolution along the observation period at the ice core locations was derived from the ice core length dataset. The dataset was analysed using a statistical approach combining one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the orthogonal contrast method. ANOVA (level of significance  $\Box = 0.05$ ) was first performed on the dataset collected at each site to reveal a possible difference amongst the mean sea ice core lengths at the different sampling events. Should a difference be detected, the method of orthogonal contrasts [Dagnelie, 1998] was then used to assess the temporal response of the mean ice core length.

Relationship between variables – Spearman's rankorder correlation was computed to investigate potential relationship between sulphur compounds and other physical and biogeochemical variables using R [R development core team, 2010].

#### 4. RESULTS

#### Atmospheric forcing

General atmospheric conditions – The weather at Ice Station Belgica was typical of spring. Several recurring meteorological cycles of variable intensity and length (four to eight days) have been witnessed during Ice Station Belgica. Cold and dry periods with generally clear sky conditions associated with continental air masses from the South alternated with warm and wetter periods associated with oceanic air from the North [Vancoppenolle et al., 2011].

Air temperature – The important air temperature fluctuations observed along the study period are shown on Figure 2 along with the mean ice core temperature for each station. At least three successive cycles of cooling and warming were recorded at the ice mass balance buoy (IMBB) deployed at Brussels site [Lewis et al., 2011] with longest and most intense cooling cycle.

Radiations – The PAR dose increased at a mean rate of 62  $\mu$ E cm<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> (r<sup>2</sup>=0.734, p < 0.001, n= 24) as the spring season proceeded. The UVA dose increased following a similar trend as PAR and increased at a mean rate of 20 kJ m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> (r<sup>2</sup>= 0.804, p < 0.001, n= 24). The evolution of the UVB dose showed more variability along the study period and no significant trend could be detected

# Ice conditions

Snow and ice thickness and freeboard - Brussels and Liège sites displayed contrasting snow, ice thickness and ice texture conditions as summarised in Table 1. The grand mean of the ice thickness at the ice core locations derived from the ice core lengths dataset available was 60.9 ± 7.8 cm (n= 50) at Brussels and 104.3 ± 9.4 cm (n= 46) at Liège. ANOVA performed on this dataset revealed a difference amongst the mean sea ice thickness (p< 0.001) at both sites. Results of the ANOVA showed that the mean sea ice thickness decreased linearly with time (p< 0.05) at Liège whereas no trend was detected at Brussels (Figure 3). The ice freeboard, measured at the ice core locations on each sampling event, was positive at all times at Brussels but turned negative at Liège from station 4 onwards (Table 1).

Ice texture - The ice stratigraphy at Brussels showed little variations between the stations (Figure 4). The average profile consisted of snow-ice (15.2%) located exclusively in the top layers of the ice cover underlain by columnar ice (75.2%) with interlayering of frazil ice (9.6%) [Lewis et al., 2011]. During the ice core processing, large tubes of refrozen brine be observed originating at could the granular/columnar transition and progressing downwards through the columnar ice at some stations (e.g. Brussels 2 on Figure 6). The thicker texture profile at Liège dominated by granular ice was complex and often showed oblique inclusions of columnar or granular ice (Figure 5). The average texture profile consisted of snow ice (26%) mainly located in the top layers but also found in lower layers, frazil ice (57%) and intrusions of columnar ice (17%) [Lewis et al., 2011]. The large brine inclusions observed in Liège ice cores consisted of large merging vacuoles rather than the elongated tubes observed in Brussels ice cores. At both sites, the ice appeared peculiarly degraded in its upper half.

Thermohaline properties of the sea ice cover – At Brussels site, the initial temperature profile revealed a very warm (mean -1.9°C) and almost isothermal (st.dev 0.4°C) ice cover (Figure 7). An overall temperature decrease of the ice cover was observed at Brussels 2 (mean -2.6°C) and a similar temperature profile persisted at Brussels 3. The most dramatic



Figure 2 Evolution of the PAR daily dose, UVA and UVB daily doses, air temperature (one- and five-day moving average) recorded on the ship and the mean ice temperature for the five stations visited at Brussels and Liège sites.

shift in temperature was observed at Brussels 4 where the coldest temperature profile of the time series was recorded (mean -3.5°C). An overall warming of the ice cover was finally observed at Brussels 5. The evolution of the mean temperature of the ice cover is shown on Figure 2. As an inverse relationship of the ice temperature, the evolution of the brine salinity logically mirrored the evolution of the ice temperature with the main changes to be observed in the top 40 cm of the ice cover (Figure 9). The brine salinity profile underwent an apparent destabilisation from Brussels 1, where the brine salinity was close to seawater value overall, to Brussels 4 where the highest values of the time series (101 psu) were observed. The brine salinity profile partially stabilised again at Brussels 5 and showed a profile similar to Brussels 2. The bulk salinity profiles looked like incomplete C-shaped profiles missing the salinity increase at the bottom. As observed for the

temperature, the main changes occurred in the top layers. Brussels 4 showed a zone of particularly low salinity in the top 25 cm. To assess the evolution of the permeability of the ice cover, the profiles of relative brine volume were computed assuming thermodynamic equilibrium of the brine with surrounding ice [Cox and Weeks, 1983; Lepparanta and Maninnen 1988; Petrich et al., 2010] and an air volume fraction of 1% (Figure 10). The relative brine volume initially showed high values throughout the profile at Brussels 1 but decreased overall at Brussels 2 and 3 but remained above 5%, the critical brine volume fraction above which the interconnection between brine inclusions become sufficient so that columnar sea ice exhibits a sharp transition in its fluid transport properties [Golden et al., 1998; 2007]. The lowest values were observed at Brussels 4 especially in the upper half of the profile displaying values below 5%. Finally, Brussels 5 returned to relative

Table 1 Summary of the main properties of the sea ice cover at the ice core locations of Brussels and Liège sites.

	Brussels	Liége
Station	1:2:3:4:5	1;2:3:4:5
Date (Julian day)	274 ; 279 ; 264 ; 269 ; 294	276 : 281 ; 266 ; 291 ; 296
Mean snow thickness (cm)	10 ; 11 ; 25 ; 8 ;15	28 ; 35 ; 37 ; 37 ; 38
Mean freeboard (cm)	+3 : +1 : +0.7 : +1.5 : +1.5	+2.5 ; +1 ; 0 ; -1 ; -0.1
Mean ice thickness (cm)	55 7±4 5 ; 67 2±8 9 ; 61 5±4 0 ; 56±8 1 ; 63 2±4 2	106 3±12 9 ; 111 3±8.0 ; 102 9±10.6 ; 100 2±2.5 ; 99 8±5.6
Ice texture	Typical first-year sea ice mainly columnar with ~15cm of granular ice on top. Thin inclusions of granular ice in the großle. Level ice.	Mainly granular with a very disturbed profile and large variation in grain size. Rafted ice.



Figure 3 Evolution of the mean ice thickness (± 1σ) for the Brussels and Liège time series. The black line shows the temporal trend observed at Liège site (see text for details).



Figure 4 Drawing of the texture profile of the time-series at Brussels site revealed by 2mm thin sections under polarised light. The mean snow thickness is also shown. G: granular ice; C: columnar ice; vf: very fine; f: fine; m: medium; c: coarse; l: large; s: small.



Figure 5 Drawing of the texture profile of the time-series at Liège site revealed by 2mm thin sections under polarised light. The mean snow thickness is also shown. G: granular ice; C: columnar ice; P: platy crystals, vf: very fine; f: fine; m: medium; c: coarse; l: large; s: small, u: undetermined.



Figure 6 a) Large refrozen brine tubes visible as opaque structures in transmitted light in thin sections made in the top 40cm of an ice core at Brussels station 2. b) Degradation state of the ice on a freshly taken ice core section at Liège station 4. c) A large brine tube connected to an inverted funnel-shaped cavity at the bottom of a freshly taken ice core at Brussels station 3. The arrow indicates the inverted funnel-shaped cavity. On all pictures, scale represents a length of 10 cm.

brine volume close to the values observed at Brussels 2 and 3. At Liège, the variations in the ice temperature (Figure 7) and brine salinity (Figure 9) observed between the different sampling events were smaller than those observed at Brussels site under similar changes of the atmospheric conditions. Temperature fluctuations of the ice at Liège site are clearly muted with respect to Brussels as attested by the mean ice cover temperatures plotted on Figure 2. The ice cover showed similar warm and isothermal temperature profile for Liège 1 (mean -1.9°C; st.dev. 0.2°C) and Liège 2 with brine salinities close to seawater values. An apparent cooling of the profile initiated at Liège 3 and carried on to Liège 4 sampling event where the coldest temperature and highest brine salinity values of the time series were observed as for Brussels site. The evolution of the mean temperature of the ice cover is also shown superimposed to the air temperature graph on Figure 2. The initial ice temperature and brine salinity profiles observed at Liège 1 were recovered at Liège

5. Substantial changes were strictly limited to the top 40 cm of the ice cover. The bulk ice salinity profiles at Liège kept their incomplete C-shaped profile throughout the study period and showed little variations between the different sampling events. The mean bulk ice salinity was systematically lower at Liège than at Brussels site. The relative brine volume at Liège was at all times above 5%. The main drop was observed between Liège 2 and Liège 3. The minimum values were computed at Liège 4 as for Brussels. Finally, Liège 5 exhibited relative brine volume values similar to Liège 1.

Rayleigh number – In this context of important temporal variations of the temperature and salinity of the sea ice cover, susceptibility to gravity drainage was investigated by computation of a mush Rayleigh number (Ra) [Worster, 1992, 2000; Wettlauffer at al., 1997]. Profiles of local Ra were computed as described in the work of Notz and Worster [2008] for each station using the ice bulk salinity and ice temperature data interpolated at the mean depth of the



Figure 7 Ice temperature profiles measured at Brussels (left) and Liège (right) sites. Note the difference in vertical scale.



Figure 8 Bulk ice salinity profiles measured at Brussels (left) and Liège (right) sites. Note the difference in vertical scale.



Figure 9 Profiles of brine salinity computed at Brussels (left) and Liège sites. Note the difference in vertical scale.



Figure 10 Profiles of relative brine volume computed at Brussels (left) and Liège (right) sites. Note the difference in vertical scale.

salinity samples (Figure 11). Highest values were to be found in the uppermost 20 cm at both sites. At Brussels site, Ra was high close to the surface at Brussels 1 (up to 24) and Brussels 3 (above 6) and was low for the last two stations. The lowest values in the top 20 cm were observed at Brussels 4. At Liège site, Ra displayed low values (0 – 4) at all times. Even in the layers close to the surface, Ra remained low and did not vary much with time (from 1 to 4).

Algal biomass and composition - Chlorophyll a data obtained with the direct melting/ single filtration procedure at a vertical resolution of 0.05 m and the buffered melting/ sequential filtration procedure at a vertical resolution of 0.1 m are shown together on Figure 12. At Brussels, the vertical distribution of chlorophyll a revealed by the direct melting/ single filtration procedure (range 0.51 - 21.5 µg L<sup>4</sup>, mean 4.02 µg L<sup>-1</sup>, stdev 4.25 µg L<sup>-1</sup>, n= 66) was comparable to that revealed by the buffered melting/ sequential filtration procedure (range 1.35 - 16.0 µg L1, mean 5.94 µg L<sup>-1</sup>, stdev 4.10 µg L<sup>-1</sup>, n= 32). Chlorophyll a was distributed vertically following a C-shaped profile that could be observed at all stations with highest values generally to be found at the bottom of the ice cover. The greatest local difference was to be found at the bottom of Brussels 4. At Liège, the vertical profiles of chlorophyll a produced by direct melting/ single filtration procedure (range 0.64 - 15.9 μg L<sup>-1</sup>, mean 4.37 μg L<sup>-1</sup>, stdev 3.45 μg L<sup>-1</sup>, n= 104) and the buffered melting/ sequential filtration procedure (range 1.11 - 25.7 µg L1 , mean 6.59 µg L1 , stdev 4.91 µg L1, n= 53) were also in good agreement with each other. Both profiles showed an initial vertical distribution of chlorophyll a characterised by three chlorophyll a peaks located at the surface and around 0.3 m and 0.6 m depth. The

layers below 0.6 m exhibited generally the lowest chlorophyll a content of the profile with no prevalence of a bottom community as observed at Brussels site. The three peaks structure was still observed at Liège 2 and Liège 3 although the peak values were less important than for Liège 1. Liège 5 exhibited a general increase of chlorophyll a in the top 0.8 m of the ice cover.

To facilitate the comparison of the data obtained by either procedure, chlorophyll a concentrations measured with an initial vertical resolution of 0.05 were recomputed and shown with a resolution of 0.1 m along with the chlorophyll a concentrations measured with an initial vertical resolution of 0.1 m on Figure 13. A salient feature of the comparison is that the buffered melting /sequential filtration method produced higher chlorophyll a values on up to 81% of the samples (mean difference:  $2.63 \pm 2.77 \ \mu g \ 1^{-1}$ ) taking into account a precision of 15% generally associated to the method [Yentsch and Mentzel, 1963]. Analysis of the data according to the Bland-Altman plot procedure [Bland and Altman, 1986; 1999], following the recommendations of Dewitte et. al. [2002] to construct the y axis with respect to the concentration range, did not reveal any trend between the observed difference and the average concentration of chlorophyll a. Chlorophyll a concentrations measured in the water column at three levels under the sea ice cover (interface, 1m, 30m) were low throughout the observation period as well at Brussels site (range  $0.01 - 0.19 \ \mu g \ \Gamma^1$ , mean  $0.07 \ \mu g \ \Gamma^1$ ) as at Liège site (range 0.02 - 0.16 µg l<sup>-1</sup>, mean 0.08 µg l<sup>-1</sup>). The composition of the autotrophic biomass is available at a few depths, mainly in the top 20 cm of the ice cover where the main changes in physical and biogeochemical variables were observed.



Figure 11 Comparative vertical profiles of the mush Rayleigh number (Ra) computed at the five stations of Brussels and Liège sites.

At Brussels site, all the investigated depths were generally clearly dominated by dinoflagellates and naked flagellates (Figure 14). At the surface of Brussels 2 and Brussels 5, the autotrophic biomass was dominated by flagellates, with dinoflagellates and naked flagellates accounting for more than 75% of the total autotrophic biomass. The remainder comprised small and large diatoms species. Surface sample of Brussels 4 was however dominated by diatoms (with Nitzschia longissima and Plagiotropus sp. identified amongst the small and the large diatoms, respectively). The autotrophic biomass of the 10-20 cm depth layer at Brussels 3, 4 and 5 was lower than in the top 10 cm and was largely dominated by dinoflagellates and naked flagellates. The autotrophic biomass in the bottommost 10 cm of the ice cover at Brussels 3 exhibited an important biomass (687 µg C 11) and was also largely dominated by dinoflagellates (81.5%) and flagellates, diatoms accounting for less than 2% of the total autotrophic biomass. A significant amount of empty frustules of dead diatom was also observed in that sample.

At Liege site, the autotrophic community of the layer 10-20 cm depth of Liege 1, 3, 4 and 5 was largely dominated by flagellates with an equal contribution of dinoflagellates and naked flagellates accounting for more than 44% at Liege 3, 4 and 5 (Figure 15). A significant amount of *Phaeocystis* sp. was observed amongst the naked flagellates. The proportion of dinoflagellates was higher at Liege 1 (70% of the total autotrophic biomass). As observed for the top layers, the autotrophic community located at about 50–60 cm depth at Liege 1, 3 and 5 was to a great extent dominated by flagellates with dinoflagellates up to 77% of the total autotrophic biomass at Liege 1. A sample taken in the bottommost 10 cm of the ice cover Liege revealed a composition similar to the layer sampled above but with a lower total autotrophic biomass (290 µg C  $\Gamma^{1}$ ). Similarly to Brussels, a significant amount of empty frustules of dead diatom was observed in the bottom sample as well as in the samples taken at about 50 – 60cm depth at Liege 1, 3 and 5.

Nutrient status of the ice cover – The concentration of phosphate, silicate, ammonium, nitrite and nitrate measured for each station at Brussels and Liège sites are summarised in Table 2 and Table 3, respectively. In order to visualise the nutrient status of the ice cover, data are plotted as vertical profiles of the difference between the measured concentration of a nutrient and its concentration predicted by the TDL

At station 1 of Brussels site, all the nutrients with the exception of nitrate showed a clear enrichment in a zone centred around 20 cm depth (Figure 16 and Figure 17). From station 2 to 4, phosphate showed a C-shaped profile with a bottom value systematically enriched with respect to the TDL. At station 5, the depletion was maximal at the surface and then steadily decreased toward the bottom of the ice cover. Silicate showed the largest variations of all nutrients in the ice with a maximum mean enrichment of 28 umol L-1 at station 1 and a maximum mean depletion of 9.4 umol L<sup>-1</sup> at station 2. Silicate is also the nutrient which showed the most variable concentration in the seawater samples taken under the ice cover of Brussels site as attested by the wide shaded area on Figure 16.



Figure 12 Comparative vertical profiles of chlorophyll a at Brussels and Liège sites. The horizontal bar charts show the chlorophyll a concentrations measured after buffered melting and sequential filtration (initial vertical resolution 0.1m). The white circles show the chlorophyll a concentrations measured after direct melting and single filtration (initial vertical resolution 0.05m). See text for details. Note the difference in vertical scale between the upper and lower graphs.



Figure 13 Comparative vertical profiles of chlorophyll *a* measured after direct melting and single filtration (gray triangles) or buffered melting and sequential filtration (black circles) shown along with the error of 15% on the method (horizontal error bars). Data from the direct melting method have been scaled down to a resolution of 0.01 m for comparison purpose. Note the difference in vertical scale between the upper and lower graphs.



Figure 14 Autotrophic biomass composition in the ice cover of Brussels site at selected depths.

Liège 1 (10-20cm)



sDIA: 3.0%; 24.1 µg C I<sup>4</sup> IDIA: 1.5%; 12.4 µg C I<sup>4</sup> nFLA: 25.1%; 201.7 µg C I<sup>4</sup> DFLA: 70.4%; 666.1 µg C I<sup>4</sup>





sDIA: 6.0%; 15.6 µg C I' IDIA: 4.1%; 13.2 µg C I' nFLA: 44.9%; 145.0 µg C I' DFLA: 45.0%; 145.4 µg C I'

Liège 3 (50-66cm)



sDIA: 9.8%; 28.7 µg C I<sup>1</sup> IDIA: 12.1%; 35.6 µg C I<sup>1</sup> nFLA: 42.0%; 123.4 µg C I<sup>1</sup> DFLA: 36.1%; 106.3 µg C I<sup>1</sup>

Liège 3 (85-96cm)



Figure 15 Autotrophic biomass composition in the ice cover of Liège site at selected depths.

Silicate showed the same behaviour from station 2 to 5. Silicate concentrations were close to the TDL in the top 30 cm and then decreased steadily with depth to reach a maximum of depletion between 40 and 60 cm and remained depleted to the bottom. From station 2 to 5, ammonium was enriched overall and showed the maximum values at the top or around 40-50 cm depth. Nitrite was systematically enriched with

Liège 3 (10-20cm)

sDIA: 4.2%; 17.6 µg C I<sup>1</sup> IDIA: 3.7%; 16.6 µg C I<sup>1</sup> NFLA: 47.7%; 199.5 µg C I<sup>1</sup> DFLA: 44.4%; 185.4 µg C I<sup>4</sup>

Liége 1 (52-62cm)

3.0%; 25.4 µg C f" 16.7%; 142.3 µg C f 77.1%; 654.9 µg C f

IDIA: nFLA: DFLA:

> respect to the TDL and showed a flat profile from station 2 to 5. Nitrate was at all times depleted with respect to the TDL. The most important variations occurred in the top 20 cm which also showed the maximum of depletion. Below 20 cm depth, the depletion remained fairly constant and stabilised around -3 µmol L<sup>-1</sup>. At Liège site, stations 1 and 5 generally exhibited a distinct profile with respect to

Liège 5 (10-20cm)

sOIA: 2.8%; 24.6 µg C [<sup>1</sup> IDIA: 0.9%; 8.1 µg C [<sup>1</sup> nFLA: 49.3%; 403.1 µg C [<sup>1</sup> DFLA: 51.0%; 453.0 µg C [<sup>1</sup>

Liège 5 (50-61cm)

1.8%; 9.1 µg C I 31.9%; 162.4 µg C I



Figure 16 Vertical profiles of difference in concentration from the theoretical dilution line of PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>, Si(OH)<sub>4</sub> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> at Brussels site. The solid line with symbols shows the difference in concentration between the measured concentration and the concentration predicted by the mean TDL. The shaded area represents the variation range of the difference considering the minimum and maximum slopes for the computation of the TDL. Note the difference in horizontal scale.



Figure 17 Vertical profiles of difference in concentration from the theoretical dilution line of NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> at Brussels site. The solid line with symbols shows the difference in concentration between the measured concentration and the concentration predicted by the mean TDL. The shaded area represents the variation range of the difference considering the minimum and maximum slopes for the computation of the TDL. Note the difference in horizontal scale.

Station	Phosphate Ammonium (u.mol L <sup>-1</sup> ) (u.mol L <sup>-1</sup> )		Nitrite (umol L <sup>-1</sup> )	Nitrate (µmol L <sup>-1</sup> )	Silicate (umol L <sup>-1</sup> )	
	(Amore )		Wester P /	4		
Brussels 1	$0.4 \pm 0.4 \ (0.1 - 1.4)$	$0.8 \pm 0.9 (0.0 - 3.3)$	$0.2 \pm 0.1  (0.1 - 0.4)$	$1.0 \pm 0.2 \ (0.8 - 1.5)$	18.8 ± 10.0 (5.2 - 39.1)	
Brussels 2	$0.2 \pm 0.2$ (0.0 - 0.7)	$1.2 \pm 0.4 \ (0.8 - 1.8)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 \ (0.1 - 0.1)$	$0.9 \pm 0.3 \ (0.5 - 1.9)$	10.3 ± 9.3 (2.0 - 28,4)	
Brussels 3	$0.2 \pm 0.2$ (0.0 - 0.6)	$0.7 \pm 0.5 (0.1 - 1.9)$	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \ (0.0 - 0.1)$	0.5 ± 0.3 (0.2 - 1.3)	5.8 ± 4.4 (0,1 - 14,2)	
Brussels 4	$0.2 \pm 0.2$ (0.1 - 0.7)	$1.7 \pm 0.9 (0.7 - 3.8)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 (0.0 - 0.1)$	$0.4 \pm 0.2 \ (0.2 - 1.0)$	6.7 ± 5.4 (1.5 - 20.1)	
Brussels 5	$0.1 \pm 0.1$ (0.0 - 0.4)	$1.0 \pm 0.4 (0.3 - 1.6)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 (0.0 - 0.1)$	$0.4 \pm 0.2 (0.3 - 0.8)$	$9.5 \pm 8.0 (1.4 - 23.9)$	

# Table 2 Bulk ice concentrations of nutrients in the ice cover at Brussels site. Mean ± standard deviation (range).

Table 3 Bulk ice concentrations of nutrients in the ice cover at Liège site. Mean ± standard deviation (range).

Station	Phosphate	Ammonium (umol L <sup>4</sup> )	Nitrite (umol L <sup>1</sup> )	Nitrate (a.mol L <sup>-1</sup> )	Silicate (µmol L <sup>-1</sup> )
	Quinter 20 y	demon a 1	4		
Liège 1	$0.3 \pm 0.1 \ (0.1 - 0.7)$	$1.6 \pm 0.5 (0.8-2.5)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 \ (0.1-0.2)$	$1.6 \pm 0.7 \ (0.7-2.5)$	6.8 ± 2.6 (3.1-11.0)
Liège 2	$0.1 \pm 0.1 (0.1-0.3)$	$0.6 \pm 0.3 (0.0-1.2)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 (0.0-0.1)$	$1.3 \pm 0.8 (0.4 - 2.5)$	5.1 ± 3.6 (2.2-18.8)
Liège 3	$0.2 \pm 0.1$ (0.1-0.7)	$0.7 \pm 0.2$ (0.4-1.2)	$0.1 \pm 0.0 (0.0-0.1)$	$0.8 \pm 0.7 (0.2-2)$	3.8 ± 3.6 (0.8-14.2)
Liège 4	$0.1 \pm 0.1 (0.1-0.2)$	$1.1 \pm 0.6 (0.7-3.7)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 (0.0-0.1)$	$0.9 \pm 0.8 (0.2 - 2.4)$	5.3 ± 3.2 (1.5-14.1)
Liège 5	$0.2 \pm 0.3 (0.0 - 1.1)$	$0.9 \pm 0.4 (0.4 - 1.7)$	$0.1 \pm 0.0 (0.0-0.1)$	$1.5 \pm 0.9 (0.5 - 3.6)$	6.9 ± 2.8 (2.9-13.2)



Figure 18 Vertical profiles of departure of concentration from the theoretical dilution line of PO43-, Si(OH)4 and NH4+ at Liège site. The solid line with symbols shows the difference of concentration between the measured concentration and the concentration predicted by the mean TDL. The shaded area represents the variation range of the difference considering the minimum and maximum slopes for the computation of the TDL. Note the difference in horizontal scale.

116



Figure 19 Vertical profiles of departure of concentration from the theoretical dilution line of PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>, Si(OH)<sub>4</sub> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> at Liege site. The solid line with symbols shows the difference of concentration between the measured concentration and the concentration predicted by the mean TDL. The shaded area represents the variation range of the difference considering the minimum and maximum slopes for the computation of the TDL. Note the difference in horizontal scale.

stations 2, 3 and 4. Phosphate showed concentration close to the TDL throughout the profile for all stations (Figure 18 and Figure 19). The greater depletion was to be observed at the surface of stations 2 and 4 while the most important enrichment was observed in the top 10 cm of station 5. To a lesser extent than at Brussels site, silicate is the nutrient which showed the largest variations in the ice with a maximum mean enrichment of 5.1 umol L<sup>-1</sup> at station 1 and a maximum mean depletion of 4.5 umol L1 at station 3. Silicate showed also the most variable concentration of all nutrients in the seawater samples taken under the ice cover as attested by the wide shaded area on Figure 18. Station 1 showed a inverted double S-shaped profile with a clear depletion zone centred around 55 cm depth and a marked enrichment zone below centred around 95 cm depth. Station 2, 3 and 4 exhibited a similar S-shaped profile with however a clear depletion appearing at the surface of station 4. Station 5 was characterised by a mean enrichment of silicate in the top 30 cm. Ammonium was generally enriched with respect to the TDL. Ammonium showed on average the most important enrichment at station 1 with a marked enrichment zone around 0.4 m depth. Profiles of stations 2 to 5 exhibited fewer variations at generally lower enrichment values with the exception of Liege 4 where ammonium clearly departed from the TDL around 55 cm depth (+ 3.6 µmol L1). Nitrite was at all times very slightly enriched overall with respect to the TDL. Nitrate exhibited a generally depleted inverted C-shaped profile from station 1 to 4 with the strongest depletion observed at the surface (down to -10.1 µmol L<sup>-1</sup> at station 2). Station 5 was characterized by a clear decrease of the depletion with respect to the TDL in the top 25 cm.

DMS, DMSP and DMSO - At Brussels site, ice DMSP concentrations ranged from 75 to 5349 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> (mean 899 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>; st.dev. 1042 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>) along the observation period (Figure 20). The highest values were to be found in the top 0.2 m of the ice cover. At station I, relatively high DMSP concentrations could be observed in the upper half of the ice cover with values of 937 nmol L1 at the surface increasing downwards to peak at 2175 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> at 0.175 m depth, then dropping rapidly downwards and increase again to 664 nmol L1 at the bottom. At station 2, DMSP concentrations peaked at 1158 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> at 0.075 m depth and then rapidly dropped to relatively low values fluctuating around a mean value of about 160 nmol L1 to the bottom. At station 3, a drastic increase of DMSP concentrations

was observed in the top 0.25 m of the ice cover with values peaking at 2075 nmol L-1 close to the surface. Station 4 was characterised by high values along the whole profile with the highest value of 5349 nmol Ld to be found at 0.025 m depth. A second peak was also observed around 0.25 m depth. Lower values ranging from 841 nmol L1 to 1641 nmol L1 characterised the lower half of the profile. High values of DMSP (up to 3980 nmol L1) could still be observed in the top 0.1 m of station 5 but values rapidly dropped from 0.125 cm depth downwards to the bottom. Ice DMS concentrations ranged from 6 to 2829 nmol L-1 (mean 300 nmol L1; st dev. 476 nmol L1). The distribution and the evolution of the DMS in the ice cover along the observation period was similar to what was observed for DMSP with most of the change to be observed in the upper half of the ice cover from station 3 onwards (Figure 20). As for DMSP, the highest DMS concentration value (2829 nmol L1) was measured close to the surface at 0.025 in depth at station 4 and a second peak (1553 nmol L1) was also present around 0.20 m depth. At station 5, the whole profile showed low values (26 - 68 nmol L1) in the same range as station 1 and 2 with the exception of the elevated bottom value (732 nmol L-1). Contrary to DMSP, no surface peak was observed close to the surface. DMSO was the compound whose concentration was the lowest in the ice amongst DMS, DMSP and DMSO (Figure 20). Ice DMSO concentrations ranged from 5 to 775 nmol L<sup>4</sup> (mean 47 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>; st.dev. 104 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>). The distribution and evolution of DMSO in the ice cover was globally similar to those observed for DMSP and DMS. Major changes in the profile were observed in the top 0.3 m of the ice cover between stations 3 and 5. As for DMSP and DMS, the two peaks structure was also observed at station 4 with the highest value of 775 nmol L-1 of DMSO observed close to the surface at 0.025 m depth. On the contrary to DMSP and DMS. no increase of concentration could be observed in the top 0.25 m.

At Liège site, most of the changes in DMSP, DMS and DMSO were also observed in the top 0.2 m of the ice cover similarly to Brussels site (Figure 20). As the levels of DMSP, DMS and DMSO observed were generally lower in the ice cover of Liège site, a closeup of the distribution of the three compounds at that site is shown on Figure 21 to better render the variations in the top 20 cm of the ice cover. Almost no changes were observed below 0.6 m depth for neither of the compounds. All compounds varied in a narrower range than in the ice cover of Brussels site,





Figure 20 Comparative vertical profiles of DMSP (upper panel), DMS (middle panel) and DMSO concentrations (lower panel) at Brussels and Liège sites. The black dots show the mean sampling depths. Note the difference in colour scale for the different compounds.

119



Figure 21 Close-up of the distribution of DMSP (upper panel), DMS (middle panel) and DMSO concentrations (lower panel) in the top 20 cm of the ice cover at Liège site. The black dots show the mean sampling depths. Note the difference in colour scale for the different compounds.

i.e. between 1.5 nmol L-1 and 3352 nmol L-1 for DMSP (mean 253 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>; range 496 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>). between 0.6 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> and 1788 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> for DMS (mean 121 nmol L-1 ; st.dev. 291 nmol L-1) and between 1.4 nmol L-1 and 219 nmol L-1 for DMSO (mean 16 nmol L1; st.dev. 29 nmol L1). A subsurface peak of the three compounds could be observed at station 1 with concentration amounting to 1193 nmol L-1 for DMSP, 478 nmol L-1 for DMS and 58 nmol Lfor DMSO. The concentration rapidly dropped downwards and stabilised below 0.6 m around a mean value of 21 nmol L-1 of DMSP, 4 nmol L-1 of DMS and 4 nmol L-1 of DMSO. The concentration of the three compounds increased in the top 0.6 m of the ice cover at station 2 with the most drastic increase to be observed close to the surface with values peaking at 953 nmol L1 of DMSP, 1788 nmol L1 of DMS and 219 nmol L1 of DMSO. A global drop of DMSP, DMS and DMSO concentrations along the whole profile could be observed at station 3 with the highest values still to be seen in the top 0.1 m of the ice cover. As observed at Brussels site, an increase in concentration of DMSP, DMS and DMSO was to be observed in the top 0.2 m of the ice cover at station 4. At Liège site, although, only DMSP showed its maximum values of the observation period at station 4 with values as high as 3352 nmol L1 in the top 0.05 m and 2497 nmol L<sup>-1</sup> between 0.1 and 0.15 m depth. DMS and DMSO concentrations at the most amounted to 1334 nmol L1 and 74 nmol L1,

respectively in the top 0.15 m. Finally, as observed at Brussels site, station 5 was characterised by a widespread decrease of DMSP, DMS and DMSO along the profile with values remaining however at a substantial level in the top 0.15 m of the ice cover.

Under-ice seawater DMS and DMSP concentrations measured at the interface, 1 m and 30 m depth under the ice of Brussels and Liege sites are shown on Figure 22. Owing to problems with the sampling device, data are missing for station 1 (all depths) and for station 3 (30 m) at Brussels site. Significant concentrations of DMSP were observed in the seawater under the sea ice cover of Brussels site (mean 14 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>; st.dev. 8 nmol L<sup>-1</sup>; range 2 - 28 nmol L1) with the highest levels located in the uppermost meter of the water column. DMSP levels were found in the same order of magnitude at Liège site (mean 18 nmol L-1; st.dev. 19 nmol L-1; range 3 -79 nmol L-1) but showed more variability close to surface. At both sites 30 m DMSP concentrations were generally lower and never exceeded 30 nmol L<sup>-</sup> 1. Concentrations of DMS varied over a larger range of values in the under-ice water of Brussels site (mean 40 nmol L1; st.dev. 33 nmol L1; range 1 - 126 nmol L-1) and exhibited the maximum value of the observation period at station 2. DMS concentrations at Liège site were in the range of those of DMSP (mean 23 nmol L-1; st.dev. 15 nmol L-1; range 4 - 60 nmol L1) and exhibited the highest value at station 3.



Figure 22 Concentrations of DMSP (upper panel) and DMS (lower panel) measured at the ice/water interface, 1 m and 30 m depth in the under-ice water of Brussels (left) and Liège (right) sites. Note the difference in horizontal scale for DMSP and DMS.

# 5. DISCUSSION

#### Spatial variability

During laboratory experiments, measurements can be performed on prepared sea ice whose growing conditions are controlled to minimise spatial variability and facilitate the interpretation of a series of jointly observed variables [e.g. Killawee et al., 1998; Tison et al., 2002]. Sea ice in the natural environment generally exhibits higher spatial variability at different scales [e.g. Eicken et al., 1991] due to the variety of environmental constraints prevailing during its growth. The sampling strategy adopted in the present study aimed mainly to emphasise differences in ice processes between two sites, chosen for their contrasting features while confining spatial variability within each of the sites at the same time. Texture profiles revealed little spatial variability between ice core locations at Brussels site (see Figure 4) but a higher level of inhomogeneity at Liège site (see Figure 5) [see also Lewis et al., 2011 for more details]. The similarity between the overall trend in salinity and 3 18O profiles and between the comparative bulk salinity profiles suggests however that spatial variability can be neglected with respect to temporal variability in the interpretation of the differences between stations [Lewis et al., 2011].

Comparison of chlorophyll a determination procedures Both profiles logically exhibit the same shape as the samples originated from the same ice core. The local discrepancies between both profiles are likely to be attributed to the patchiness of the sea ice biota that can be important even at small scales [e.g. Gosselin et al., 1986; Garrison, 1991]. This factor can nevertheless not explain the elevated percentage of higher chlorophyll a values produced by the buffered melting/ sequential filtration method. Although the identification of the reasons of this difference lies beyond the scope of this work, it seems worthy to investigate a few leads to choose the most reliable chlorophyll a dataset for comparison with other variables and encourage the use of good practices for future studies.

To date, no study has focused on the best procedure to adopt to measure chlorophyll *a* on melted sea ice samples. The results obtained in the present study will thus be discussed in the light of studies that have been devoted to examine the best melting procedure for taxonomic analysis of ice algae [Garrison and Buck, 1986; Mikkelsen and Witowski, 2010] or bacteria [Junge et al., 2004]. Garrison and Buck [1986] recommended melting the sea ice sample in filtered seawater as the osmotic changes caused by direct melting of the sample proved to be deleterious to non silicified groups of ice algae. In a more recent study, Mikkelsen and Witowski [2010] suggested that the rate of change of the salinity of the sample melt would be more critical than its salinity alone. These

121

authors demonstrated that direct melting at 4°C, buffered melting at 4°C in seawater with salinities of 10 and 30 produced the same results with a negligible impact on all taxonomic groups of algae with the exception of chrysophytes. These authors recommended that direct melting at 20°C is avoided and that the melting time is comprised between one day and one week.

Degradation of chlorophyll a - Chlorophyll a is known to break down into a series of degradation products (phacophytins and chlorophyllides which, in turn, decompose into phaeophorbides) when exposed to excess light, oxygen (air), elevated temperatures and acidic or basic conditions [Hosikian et al., 2010]. As all the samples underwent the same conditions during melting (at 4°C in the dark), light and temperature are expected to have similarly impacted the degradation of chlorophyll a in both procedures. Exposure to oxygen/air was also anticipated to have been comparable between the two procedures. Slightly longer exposure to air during melting of the directly melted samples might have occurred as direct melting is expected to proceed slower than melting into saline solution. Longer exposure to air might also have occurred during the filtration process of the samples submitted to single filtration on glass fiber filters which might have seen their porosity decreased as progressive clogging of the GF/F filter proceeded. Melting and filtration time have unfortunately not been recorded and the influence of this supposed longer exposure to air is therefore impossible to assess. Should the longer exposure to air be the cause of an accelerated degradation of chlorophyll a in the samples submitted to the direct melting/ single filtration procedure, then levels of degradation products (phaeopigments) are expected. Analysis of the phaeopigments concentrations and percentages revealed however that the vertical profiles were in close agreement for both procedures and that the observed difference in phaeopigments did not compensate the observed difference in chlorophyll a (data not shown).

Production of chlorophyll a – Production of chlorophyll a during melting would have been favoured in the samples melted in buffered seawater by the relative higher abundance of autotrophic sympagic organisms than in the samples melted directly. This assumption might hold as dinoflagellates and other flagellates, which are acknowledged to be amongst the most sensitive sympagic taxa to osmotic stress [Garrisson and Buck, 1986; Mikkelsen and Witowski, 2010], seem to be the dominant taxa everywhere in the ice cover of Brussels and Liége. It appears however less plausible considering that all the samples were maintained in strict darkness until filtration.

Extraction afficiency – A better efficiency of extraction of chlorophyll a retained on polycarbonate filters in relation to glass fibre filters is another assumption. Previous studies have compared the influence of the filter nature on the chlorophyll a determination and formulate recommendations about the best filter to use according to object of the study (chlorophyll *a*, taxonomic study, nutrients,...) [e.g. Burford and Pollard, 1994; Chavez et al., 1995; Knefelkamp et al., 2007]. None of those studies reported however comparison of the filters used in the present study.

Contamination by filtered seawater – Another option is that the filtered seawater used to buffer the melting of the ice samples initially contained extra amounts of chlorophyll a that would have been measured along with sea ice chlorophyll a. As the amount of buffering seawater added was similar between the samples, and hence the amount of seawater chlorophyll a, a constant bias would have been expected between the procedures. It nevertheless did not appear in the comparative profiles of chlorophyll a (Figure 13) which partially invalidates this argument.

As the likelihood to have lost chlorophyll a during the melting, filtration and extraction process seems higher than the contamination by filtered seawater or production of chlorophyll a during melting, data obtained by the buffered melting/ sequential filtration procedure will be considered as more reliable and used henceforth for comparison with other variables. As chlorophyll a is a widely-used proxy of algal standing stock [Arrigo et al., 2010], it appears crucial that further study is undertaken, including repeated measurements and close monitoring of factors of influence in order to select the best procedure to measure chlorophyll a in sea ice. Development of in situ imaging techniques like pulse amplitude modulated (PAM) fluorometry might provide an alternative to the classical melting approach [Ryan et al., 2011]

Thermohaline evolution of the sea ice cover under atmospheric thermal forcing

The mean snow thickness observed at the ice core locations for the different sampling events at Brussels and Liege sites are within the range of other snow thickness measurements performed elsewhere on the two sites [Lewis et al., 2011]. The mean ice thickness derived from the limited ice core length dataset at Brussels site is consistent with the value of 0.591 ± 0.043 m (including a substantially higher number of observation from manual gauging and two IMBB's time series measurements) reported by Lewis et al. [2011]. The trend towards melting (0.005 m d<sup>-1</sup>) revealed at Liège site (see Figure 3) is consistent with the value of -0.0043 m d<sup>-1</sup> computed at Brussels site from IMBB time series and with a computed mean value of ocean heat flux of 6 to 8 W m2 [E.A. Murphy and S.F. Ackley, unpublished data, 2010]. The missing increase of the ice salinity at the bottom of the ice cover at both sites (Figure 8) supports the general occurrence of basal melting.

Although the short-lived cold air episodes were not sufficient to counteract the effect of ocean heat flux, significant changes were induced in the physical regime and morphological properties of the sea ice cover. Cooling from above during those cold air episodes were sufficient for unstable brine salinity gradients (hence density gradients) to develop within the ice cover of both sites, especially at station 4 (see Figure 9). Development of unstable brine salinity gradients can initiate overturning of brine and the mixing with underlying seawater moving upwards, provided the permeability of the sea ice is sufficient [Notz and Worster, 2009].

To date no technique proved to be sufficiently reliable to allow autonomous measurement of sea ice salinity and real time monitoring of brine overturning events in the field although a series of promising techniques based on the electrical properties of sea ice recently emerged (e.g. Pringle et al. [2009]). The occurrence of brine drainage episodes is usually revealed by indirect observations like excursions in the ice temperature profile [Hudier et al., 1995; Mc Guinness et al., 1998; Trodahl et al. 2000, 2011; Pringle et al., 2007] or modification of the diameter of brine channels [Martin, 1974; Eide and Martin, 1975]. Lewis et al. [2011] reported excursions in the ice temperature profiles from IMBB records at ISB as well as a marked difference between cooling and warming rate of the sea ice cover (e.g. clear faster warming of the entire ice cover at the end of the coldest air episode between Brussels 4 and 5) as expected in case of brine overturning which enhances the heat transfer from the ocean to the ice. Presence of dissolution features observed on freshly extracted ice cores (Figure 6) and on thick sections (Figure 4 and Figure 5) were signs of the occurrence of brine gravity drainage over the floe during the study period. As discussed below, the analysis of additional variables further supports this hypothesis.

The geometrical features of brine inclusions illustrated in Figure 6 further support thermallydriven brine overturning within the sea ice cover. These features differ from the typical tree-like structure of brine channel and developed as large vertical brine tube, initiating at the upper granular/columnar ice interface. They sometimes ran throughout the whole ice thickness and connected to the ice/water interface as inverted funnels, suggesting turbulent microflow developing as outgoing brines encounter warmer inflowing seawater. The vertical migration of these brine tubes would have started after an atmospheric cooling event (Figure 2, bottom), as concentrated brines dissolved the warmer ice below, thereby increasing the ice permeability and eventually triggering a brine overturning event. This would be especially if the ice temperature rises again under a new warm spell,

Computation of vertical profiles of Ra (Figure 11) might reveal the potential for brine gravity drainage especially at Brussels. Ra assesses whether the available potential energy (originating from the unstable brine density gradient) is sufficient to overcome the combined effects of thermal dissipation and viscosity [Notz and Worster, 2008; 2009]. In their experiment, Notz and Worster [2008] demonstrated that convective overturning of brine systematically occurs when Ra exceeded the critical value of 10. According to this criterion, brine drainage could have only occurred at Brussels between stations 1 and 2. However, while brine overturning is certain to occur when the value of Ra exceeds 10, it could possibly start at lower values around 6-7 [D. Notz, personal communication, 2009]. This extents the likelihood of brine drainage at Brussels site between stations 3 and 4 (Figure 11). Despite systematically high brine volume fraction values (Figure 10), only low values of Ra were observed at Liège where moderate brine salinity (hence density) gradients developed mainly because of the thermal insulation provided by the thicker snow cover. Should brine drainage occur, an increase in concentration of nutrients in sea ice is anticipated, as saline nutrient-depleted brine is expected to mix

with nutrient-rich seawater. Given the temporal sampling resolution adopted in this study, a rapid uptake rate of nutrients by sympagic organisms after replenishment might however have concealed the expected increase in nutrient levels between two consecutive sampling events as a result of convective sea water exchange. The observation of the nutrients profiles suggest at least, two particular events of nutrient transport: 1) brine drainage between Brussels I and Brussels 2 as revealed by the disappearance of the local peak of phosphate, silicate, ammonium, nitrite (Figure 16 and Figure 17), DMSP and DMS (Figure 20) and 2) surface flooding and nutrient replenishment from above between Liège 4 and Liège 5 as attested by the general increase in the levels of all nutrients observed at Liège 5 (Figure 18 and Figure 19). Surface flooding seemed to have directly affected the autotrophic biomass as attested by the general increase of chlorophyll a in the top 0.7 m (Figure 12) mainly driven by the increase of the flagellates' biomass at 0,1-0.2 m (Figure 15). The variability of the under-ice water salinity was also investigated in an attempt to detect brine drainage events but it did not provide further information on the timing of brine drainage episodes. Statistical comparison of the mean salinity values of the 30 m under-ice water column (ANOVA, a=0.05) did not reveal any significant difference (p=0.079) between stations. Brine drainage is a local and potentially sudden process. Martin [1970] described brine drainage as an oscillatory process with a periodicity of roughly one hour consisting of 8-15 minute seawater inflow followed by a 45 minute outflow of brine. Recent numerical experiments suggests it could last from I hour to 5 days depending on the parameterisation used for the effective salt diffusivity as estimated by numerical simulations [M. Vancoppenolle, unpublished data]. Given the transient nature of brine drainage, it is very likely that brine drainage events were missed given the temporal and spatial sampling resolution achieved in this study. Nevertheless, the findings presented above tally to support that brine gravity drainage was a general feature of the ice floe particularly at Brussels site during the study period.

Sea ice DMS, DMSP and DMSO ranges

The levels of DMSP and DMS observed in this study are in the range of those observed in previous sea ice DMSP studies (see Tison et al., [2010] and references therein; Brabant et al., [2011] for ice values and Asher et al. [2011] and Nomura et al. [2011] for values in sea ice brines) although the levels recorded at Brussels site are the highest ever observed in level pack ice. Sea ice DMSO concentration values are scarce in the literature. The DMSO concentration observed in the ice cover of Brussels and Liège stations exceed those observed by Lee et al. [2001] in the bottom 2 cm of spring Arctic first-year pack ice who only measured particulate DMSO nevertheless. In a recent study, Asher et al. [2011] characterised DMSO in the brines of summer first- and multiyear pack ice and landfast sea ice in the Ross Sea. These authors report values of DMSO which are generally below or comparable to the levels observed in the present study although the latter are bulk values. To compare data from both studies, bulk values should be converted into brine values by dividing observed values by the brine volume fraction (assuming that all of the DMSO occurs exclusively within the liquid phase). The DMSO (and DMSP and DMS) levels observed in the ice cover of Brussels and Liège sites would then exceed those measured by Asher et al. [2011] by a factor of about ten (average brine volume fraction of the sea ice cover of Brussels and Liège is 0.11). This discrepancy could originate from an underestimate of the actual DMSO/P concentrations as a result of the failure of the 'sackhole' brine collection method to recover the particulate matter as previously suggested by Brierley and Thomas [2002]. This assumption has ever since proved to hold for dissolved organic carbon (DOC) [Becquevort et al., 2009] and DMSP [Tison et al., 2010]. The discrepancy might also come from the fact that the ice covers studied in either studies exhibited contrasting ice history or algal and microbial community structure or that the observed concentrations values were driven by a different dynamics in either cases (spring vs. summer regime). The physical properties of the sea ice cover as well as a thorougher characterisation of the sympagic biota were regrettably not reported in the work of Asher et al. [2011] making rash any further comparison.

	DMS	s	DMS	0	DMS	Р
Ice salinity	0,72	***	0.74	***	0.79	***
Temperature	-0.43	***	-0.51	***	-0.54	***
Chlorophyll a	0.24	**	0.22	**	0.27	***
Phosphate	-0.17		-0.25	**	-0.26	**
Ammonium	0.14		0.19	*	0.21	**
Nitrite	-0.04		-0.07		-0.15	
Nitrate	-0.57	***	-0.64	***	-0.72	\$89
Silicate	-0.04		0.01			
DMSP	0.86	***	0.85	***		
DMSO	0.89	***				

Table 4 Spearman's rank-order correlation table for sulphur compounds and other physical and biogeochemical variables in vertical profiles of ice at Brussels and Liège (n=149). When appliable, the level significance of the coefficient is denoted by \* (p<0.05), \*\* (p<0.01) or \*\*\* (p<0.001).

# Relationships between DMS, DMSP, DMSO and physical and biogeochemical variables

The lack of homoscedasticity shown by the dataset being liable to introduce a strong bias in the results, non-parametric Spearman's rank-order correlation ( $\rho$ ) was computed instead of the usual Pearson's productmoment correlation coefficient which moreover requires normally-distributed variables and existence of a linear relationship between variables. Results are shown in Table 4. Unlike the Pearson's productmoment correlation coefficient which assess the strength of linear dependence between two variables, the Spearman's rank-order correlation only assess the strength of monotonic dependence between those two variables. Relationship between variables is discussed below insofar as variables exhibit at least a moderate relationship ( $\rho > 0.5$ ).

# Physical controls on sea ice DMS, DMSP and DMSO

Texture – Sea ice texture can be expected to influence the initial vertical distribution of biogeochemical tracers like DMS, DMSP and DMSO during ice growth. Later in the season, sea ice texture can affect the transport of tracers across the ice cover by hampering or facilitating their diffusion within the sea ice matrix or their travel through the ice along with the draining brine. The stratigraphy of a 'typical' ice cover is generally not homogeneous and comprises layers of different ice types and generally consists of a sequence of granular ice, transitional layer and columnar ice [Petrich and Eicken 2010]. Frazil ice proved to incorporate higher concentrations of biological matter from the water column than columnar ice during sea ice formation [Ackley and Sullivan, 1994]. Scavenging by frazil ice crystals [Ackley, 1982; Garrison et al., 1983] and wave pumping through the new frazil ice layer [Weissenberger and Grossmann, 1998] result in a random and non-selective entrapment of microorganisms in sea ice. Columnar ice formation leads on the contrary to a selective incorporation process favouring large sea ice protists [Rozanska et al., 2008]. Provided the composition of surface waters is not significantly modified, a contrast in species composition could then be expected to be observed between the granular and columnar ice lavers as a result of those distinct entrapment processes during the growing season. It is acknowledged that the ability to produce DMSP (and potentially DMSO and DMS) is dependent on the algal species [Stefels et al., 2007]. A contrast in DMSP levels between granular and columnar ice layers could hence also be anticipated with potentially higher DMSP levels in granular ice. No strong evidence of such a control of the texture appears in our dataset as no systematic change in DMS, DMSP or DMSO was observed to correspond to ice texture changes nor were higher levels of those compounds found in granular ice. This is especially striking at Liège site below 20 cm where numerous stratigraphic changes were observed (Figure 5) while no significant deviation appeared in the DMS, DMSP or DMSO profile (Figure 20). During spring and summer, the transport of tracers (gas, solutes or particulate) towards the interfaces (ice/air and ice/water) can be hampered or facilitated depending on the ice texture. Recent experiments suggest indeed that columnar and frazil ice exhibit

different fluid transport properties with the latter requiring higher brine volume fractions (namely about 10% for fine grained ice [Dr. Kenneth Golden, University of Utah, personal communication]) to become permeable to fluid flow than the threshold of 5% reported for columnar sea ice [e.g. Golden et al., 1998, 2007]. As observed for summer pack ice [Tison et al., 2010], generally lower DMS levels were observed at the surface than in the underlying 0.05 to 0.15 m suggesting that DMS diffused towards the ice surface and was vented to the overlying snowpack and eventually to the atmosphere (Figure 20 and Figure 21). The notable exception observed at the surface at Brussels 4 could be explained by a production rate exceeding the diffusion/ venting rate of DMS and a concomitant decrease in the brine volume fraction in response to the important atmospheric cooling witnessed at that station. The influence of texture on the mass transport of DMS, DMSP and DMSO with the draining ice brines is expected to have been the greatest at Liège. Prevalence of granular ice in the ice cover at that site (Figure 5) would have indeed reduced the chance for brine drainage to occur because of the higher percolation threshold reported to apply for granular ice. Other parameters like the thermal insulation provided by the snowpack and the ice thickness at Liège were also crucial in controlling the conditions for brine drainage by hampering the development of steep temperature and brine salinity gradients in the ice cover.

Ice temperature, ice salinity and brine salinity -Already two decades ago, Kirst et al. [1991] proposed that temperature and salinity conditions encountered in the sea ice environment could induce a response at the cellular level, with DMSP being produced as cryoprotectant and osmolyte by sympagic algae in the view of the high levels of DMSP they observed in various sea ice environments. It is generally assumed that following thermodynamic equilibrium, salinity of sea ice brine inclusions is solely determined by the ice temperature, with decreasing temperatures inducing increasing brine salinities [Petrich and Eicken, 2010]. Survival of sympagic organisms in brine inclusions requires therefore simultaneous protection against freezing and increased osmotic pressure of the medium. While only few studies report intracellular DMSP concentration adjustment in response to various temperatures (reviewed by Stefels et al. [2007]), no comparable experiment have been attempted so far for temperature and salinity conditions encountered in sea ice brine. In their

recent experiment, Lyon et al. [2011] submitted cultures of the sea ice diatom Fragilariopsis cylindrus to a progressive salinity shift in the lower range of sea ice brine salinities (from 35 to 70) and observed that intracellular DMSP had increased by 85%, confirming thereby that DMSP accumulation could be one amongst many physiological acclimation mechanisms used by some ice algae to mitigate salinity stress. The moderate negative correlation between ice temperature and DMSP (that would have been positive if brine salinity had been considered given the inverse relationship between the two variables) (Table 4) suggest that a similar mechanism might have been adopted by the algal community at ISB. The strong correlation between ice salinity and either DMS, DMSP or DMSO is thought to have been the result of the control of ice salinity on the relative brine volume. As the ambient (brine) salinity witnessed by sympagic organisms is solely determined by the ice temperature, one interpretation may be that high ice salinity values induced high relative brine volume values allowing to stock higher quantities of DMS, DMSP and DMSO. Ice temperature and salinity are key parameters determining the potential of a given sea ice profile to brine drainage. As discussed above, the witnessed meteorological conditions are thought to have periodically provided favourable conditions for brine drainage to take place in the ice cover, thereby influencing the vertical distribution of DMS/P/O especially at Brussels site.

PAR and UV radiations - Sea ice, especially in its upper layers, is prone to favour photochemical reactions as it proved to contain high amount of coloured dissolved organic matter encountered in sea ice, which acts as photosensitiser with a strong absorption of UV radiations [Belzile et al., 2002], and by maintaining compounds and organisms exposed to solar radiation. Absolute effects of PAR or UV radiations on the levels of DMS, DMSP and DMSO are hard to assess as numerous photochemical and microbial pathways, which at times can compensate each other, are possible. Although not all authors agree, increased levels of PAR proved to influence total or intracellular algal DMSP concentration, either positively [Hefu and Kirst, 1997; Stefels at al., 2007] or negatively [Harada et al., 2009], cause either an increase of DMS [Sunda et al., 2002] or a decrease by photolysis that can lead to the production of DMSO [Kieber et al., 1996]. Exposure of cultures of microalgae to increased levels of UV radiations also produced contrasting results even in the course of the

same experiment according to the time scale considered [Harada et al., 2009]. The contrast in location of the DMSO maximum at either site suggests that its production resulted from distinct pathways. The systematic occurrence of the maximum DMSO concentration at the top of the ice cover at Brussels site (Figure 20) suggests that DMSO resulted from DMS photo-oxidation while the thicker snowpack at Liège site would have hampered such a process by limiting the amount of incident solar radiation reaching the ice surface. Occurrence of the DMSO peak observed 0.05 to 0.15 m below the ice surface at Liège 1, 2, 4 and 5 (Figure 21) suggests that DMSO production followed another pathway. The cryoprotectant hypothesis for the production of DMSO by sea ice algae is therefore challenged as DMSO maximum values were anticipated at the ice surface where the magnitude of thermal and salinity changes was the widest.

#### **Biogeochemical controls**

Chlorophyll a - Correlation of the concentration of chlorophyll a with DMS, DMSP or DMSO was weak (Table 4). This lack of relationship is particularly striking when comparing the chlorophyll a (Figure 12) and DMS/P/O profiles (Figure 20) at Liege site. Those results are in agreement with previous sea ice DMSP studies which generally revealed a weak relationship between DMSP and chlorophyll a [e.g. Trevena et al., 2003] with the exception of particular cases following data selection prior to statistical investigation [Curran et al., 1998; Trevena and Jones, 2012]. No straightforward relationship between algal biomass parameters such as chlorophyll a and algal DMSP production has to be anticipated as the ability to produce DMSP is species-specific and physiological conditions of the algal cells affect DMSP production [Stefels et al., 2007].

Taxonomic composition of algal community – The apparent predominance of flagellates over all other autotrophic taxa revealed by the partial dataset (Figure 14 and Figure 15) at both sites is challenged by the observations made by Fritsen et al. [2011] who confirmed the predominance of dinoflagellates at Brussels site but found a diatom-dominated community at Liège site. These authors attribute this difference in algal community composition between sites to the acknowledged ability of dinoflagellates to synthesise elevated concentrations of mycosporinelike amino acids in response to increased UV radiations. The reduced snow depths hence higher UV dose encountered at Brussels site would have favoured the development of dinoflagellates at the expense of diatoms unlike at Liège site where they would have remained dominating under the cover of a thicker snowpack. The discrete nature of the taxonomic observations performed at various depths amongst several stations in the present study and the depth integrated values of abundance reported for one station at each site by Fritsen et al. [2011] make it nevertheless difficult to compare both datasets. The Fritsen et al.'s scenario [2011], however, is contradictory to the transient predominance of diatoms observed in the upper layers at Brussels 4 (Figure 14) which coincided with the lowest snow thickness record at the ice core location (Table 4) and following a period of high UVB dose (Figure 2). It suggests that other processes were at stake to control that apparent fast change in surface community composition. Nutrients dynamics controlled by brine drainage is a plausible candidate. Nitrate refuelling of the surface layer by upwards seawater movement ensuing a brine drainage episode between Brussels 3 and Brussels 4, as suggested by the value of Ra at Brussels 3 (Figure 11), is expected to have temporarily restored favourable conditions for the growth of diatoms at the expense of flagellates. This explanation is debatable as not supported by the nutrient profiles. Processes occurring at rates higher than the sampling interval like intense uptake by the growing ice algal community might however have concealed the expected increase in nutrients. Thomas et al. [2010] suggested that differences in nitrogen assimilation patterns within sea ice assemblages would play a role in determining the species composition of the ice algal community. In temperate seas, Tungaraza et al. [2003] demonstrated that diatom growth was favoured by higher uptake rates of nitrate with respect to Phaeocystis when nitrate constituted the major dissolved form of nitrogen and ammonium levels were low. Diatom was, on the contrary, disfavoured with respect to Phaeocystis when ambient concentrations of reduced nitrogen (like ammonium) increased. Provided the same applies to sea ice algae, this might have explained the relative higher biomass of diatoms in the surface algal community at Brussels 4. Completion of the taxonomic observation dataset might allow to further support those assumptions. As discussed below, the widespread occurrence of dinoflagellates and other flagellates at both sites would have favoured the elevated concentrations of DMSP and DMS observed.

Nutrients - Significant deviation from the TDL indicates involvement of control processes distinct from conservative concentration/dilution during freezing/melting of sea ice, and rather associated with biological activity [Gleitz et al., 1995]. Excess concentrations of phosphate and ammonium with respect to the TDL have been proposed to result from osmotic cell lysis and ensuing phosphorus remineralisation [Thomas et al., 2010] and grazing coupled to heterotrophic nitrogen activity remineralisation, respectively [Schnack-Schiel et al., 2004]. In the view of the nutrients profiles (see Figure 16, Figure 17, Figure 18 and Figure 19), nitrogen remineralisation was a general feature of the ice cover Brussels and Liege while phosphorus at remineralisation is limited to the bottom of the sea ice cover at Brussels and in the top 0.1 m of Liège 5. The latter is likely to be attributed to the surface flooding event witnessed at that time that would have conveyed heterotrophic organisms from surrounding seawater. Depletion of nitrate and silicate with respect to the TDL reveal uptake and utilization by sympagic organisms [Gleitz et al., 1995]. Figure 17 and Figure 19 show that nitrate uptake was a general feature of the ice cover at both sites and was maximal in the surface layer indicating the predominance of the surface community. While nitrate concentration tended towards TDL values at the bottom of the ice in Liège, they remained clearly depleted at Brussels what might reveal a lower algal activity due to light limitation at the bottom of the ice cover at Liege. Silicate depletion in the lower half of the ice cover at Brussels and in the interior ice at Liège indicated uptake by diatoms as silicate is essential for the formation of their frustules [Thomas et al., 2010]. Taxonomic observations performed at depths corresponding to those depletion zones (Figure 14 and Figure 15) revealed that numerous empty frustules of diatoms were always present indicating thereby diatom mortality as remains of a potentially past important community. Even though there is no evidence of the dissolution of diatom frustules in the sea ice environment [Thomas et al., 2010], the elevated silicate concentrations observed in the top 0.3 m of the ice cover at Brussels 1 might result from such a process. As stated above, coincidence of this local maximum of silicate with those of phosphate, ammonium and nitrite might indicate that the ice cover had not witnessed brine drainage for some time allowing the local accumulation of those compounds as a result of heterotrophic activity. In the perspective of a nutrient control on algal DMSP and DMS production, a few studies have focused on nitrogen.

Sunda et al. [2007] demonstrated that some diatom. species could respond to N-limitation by increasing their DMSP content. These authors suggest that DMSP would be produced to counteract the induced cellular oxidative stress on the one hand, and as an alternative to N-containing cellular osmolytes, saving N for other metabolic uses, on the other hand. Intracellular cleavage of DMSP into DMS and acrylate is very likely to ensue as those compounds proved to be far more effective at scavenging hydroxyl radicals than DMSP [Sunda et al., 2002]. As stated above in the view of the nutrients profiles, the ice cover at both sites seemed nitrate-limited. This observation is supported by the correlation analysis indicating that nitrate showed a moderate correlation with DMS and DMSO and a strong correlation with DMSP (Table 4). Further support or rejection of the hypothesis of the global nitrate-limitation within the sea ice cover of ISB might have been provided with the comparison of brine normalised concentrations of nitrate or total inorganic nitrogen with the half saturation constant for nitrate uptake as previously carried out by Becquevort et al. [2009] and Meiners et al. [2011]. Tos assess nitrate limitation in their sae ice brine samples, these authors used the half saturation constant for nitrate uptake by diatoms published by Sarthou et al. [2005]. Such a comparison to assess nitrate limitation at ISB would be invalid as the sympagic community of Brussels and Liège sites was apparently dominated by flagellates. Moreover, half saturation constants for nutrient uptake determined in the open ocean environment seem to be hardly applicable to the sea ice matrix and not appear in bulk ice or brine samples as nutrient limitation can occur at small scales (i.e. brine pocket) as demonstrated by Fripiat et al. [2007]. Whether and to what extent the apparent and systematic nitrate-limitation observed in the ice cover of Brussels and Liège site influenced the production of DMSP and DMS by the sympagic community in place at the time of the observation is not known. It is plausible that nitrogen limitation acted as co-stressor along with other factors like UV radiations to induce a physiological response from sympagic organisms involving DMSP and DMS as suggested by Sunda et al. [2007] and Harada [2009]. Besides this co-stressor role, global nitrate limitation of the ice cover might have been the trigger for the shift in community succession from an algal community dominated by diatoms to an algal community dominated by flagellates before arrival on site. As dinoflagellates and other flagellates like Phaeocystis antarctica are acknowledged to exhibit larger DMSP content and

DMSP lyase activity than diatoms [Stefels et al., 2007], this shift in algal community would have been critical in determining the ability of the ice cover to produce the observed amounts of DMS/P/O.

As already mentioned in previous sea ice studies, the overall lack of relationship between physical and biologically-mediated variables is not astonishing to result from field data. This lack of correlation between variables can be seen as the result of temporally decoupled physical and biological processes. The record of physical variables is to be considered as a snapshot and the measurement of dissolved constituents providing time-integrated information resulting from a suite of physical and biogeochemical processes [Meiners et al., 2009]. This decoupling between variables is expected to further widen when an active brine drainage regime has settled within the ice cover as in the course of this study.

# Variations of sea ice DMS-DMSP-DMSO burdens and inferred fluxes

In attempting to take into account the atmospheric thermal and radiative forcing history to explain the evolution of biological and biologically-mediated variables, time integrated physical variables were computed and compared to burdens of chlorophyll a, DMS, DMSP, DMSO. Cumulative freezing degree days between stations were computed according to Weeks [2010] to estimate the "amount of cold" that was witnessed by sympagic organisms. Cumulative doses of PAR, UVA and UVB between stations were computed to estimate the amount of radiation received. Those variables were computed as quantities received by sympagic organisms as if they were located at the surface of the ice and do not encompass the insulation effect of the snow cover on temperature nor the attenuation effect of snow and ice on radiations. Focusing on the top centimetres of the ice cover where most of the changes were observed, this comparison may not be unreasonable. The steady increase of the cumulative dose of UVA logically paralleled that of PAR (Figure 23) as there is virtually no gaseous absorbers in the wavelength range of UVA in the atmosphere. As the amount of UVB reaching the surface is influenced by the presence of clouds, notably, it was anticipated to observe higher cumulative dose of UVB to coincide with the strongest cold episode witnessed at ISB (station 4 at Brussels and Liège) characterised by clear sky conditions.

DMS/P/O burdens - With the exception of Liege 2, Brussels site exhibited higher burden values as well in the top 0.2 m (Figure 23) as for the total thickness (Figure S1). DMS and DMSP burdens computed in this study were on the average 3-5 times and 2-4 times higher, respectively than those computed in summer first year sea ice in the Weddell Sea by Tison et al. [2010], stressing the favourable conditions brought by the spring transition for the production of DMS/P/O in the ice cover at ISB. Those authors report on the average, DMSO burdens values comparable (Brussels) to 2 times higher (Liège) than the DMSO burdens measured in this study (unpublished data). DMSO was a minor contributor to the total DMS/P/O pool with proportion ranging from 2 to 7%. This could be a widespread feature in sea ice as first year summer sea ice of the Weddell Sea also exhibited relatively low proportions ranging from 10 to 17% of the total DMS/P/O pool (unpublished data). Such observations are supported by Asher et al [2011] who recently identified DMSO reduction as a major pathway for DMS production in sea ice. As already observed by Tison et al. [2010], it is assumed that the vast majority of DMS and DMSP found in the water column (Figure 24) originated directly from the ice in the view of the very low levels of chlorophyll a observed at all times in the water column. It invalidates thereby the hypothesis of production within the water column. The parallel evolution of seawater DMS and DMSP burdens (Figure 23) with burdens in the ice, with the exception of DMS at Brussels 2 (Figure 24), further supports that DMS/P found in the water column originated from the ice. The systematically higher values of seawater DMS and DMSP burdens observed at Brussels site supported the greater occurrence of brine drainage at that site in relation to Liège site. Sea ice could be considered at that period of the year to be the main source of reduced sulphur compounds for the environment. The accumulation of freezing temperatures at stations 1, 2 and 3 at both sites was rather constant and hardly explained the variations of DMS/P/O burdens observed. At stations 4 and 5, both sites exhibited however the same behaviour. Drastic increase of the DMS/P/O burdens at station 4 coincided with the highest value of cumulative FDD. As the cumulative radiations doses increased steadily and did not show any strong deviation from the trend compared with the FDD, it



Figure 23 Evolution of cumulative dose of UVA, UVB and PAR computed between consecutive stations at Brussels (upper left panel) and Liège (upper right panel) sites. Top 0.2m ice DMS, DMSP and DMSO burdens shown with the cumulative freezing degree day (FDD) between consecutive stations at Brussels (lower left panel) and Liège (lower right panel) sites.



Figure 24 Evolution of seawater DMS and DMSP burdens at Brussels (left) and Liège (right) sites.

suggests that it was the accumulation of freezing temperatures, once a threshold value was exceeded, that triggered the response of the ice biota at ISB with an increase of DMS/P/O burdens. As already stressed in previous studies, the cycle of DMS/P/O is complex and determined simultaneously by numerous factors [Stefels et al., 2007]suggesting that synergistic effects of co-stressors (low temperature, high salinity, high amount of radiations) were very likely to occur in the ice cover at ISB. The individual contribution of those factors was nevertheless impossible to assess from field data of this study. The overall lower values of DMS/P/O burdens observed at Liège were likely the result of the insulation effect of the snowpack, mitigating thermal (hence osmotic) and radiative stress to a higher extent, inducing therefore a weaker response of the ice algal community at that site than at Brussels. Occurrence of brine drainage is the best candidate to explain the drop of burdens observed between station 4 and 5 at both sites as suggested by the noticeable drop of DMS burden, only occurring in a dissolved state in the ice, compared with those of DMSP and DMSO, which also can occur in the particulate phase and may therefore exhibit a higher resistance to drainage from the ice with the brine as shown by Tison et al. [2010].

Increase in DMS/P/O burdens observed at Brussels 4 may have been partly related to the increase of the autotrophic biomass in the view of the parallel

Interval	DMSP	DMS	DMSO	DMS/P/O
Bru 1 - Bru 2	-38	2.9	1.5	-33
Bru 2 - Bru 3	78	39	2.2	119
Bru 3 - Bru 4	54	37	10	101
Bru 4 - Bru 5	-66	-76	-12	-155
Lie 1 - Lie 2	-4	36	3.9	36
Lie 2 - Lie 3	-11	-41	-3	-56
Lie 3 - Lie 4	59	14	-0.3	73
Lie 4 - Lie 5	-24	-8	-0.3	-32

Table 5 Ice DMS, DMSP, DMSO and total DMS/P/O fluxes computed between the sampling events at Brussels and Liège sites. A negative value means an outgoing flux. Values are in µmol m<sup>2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>.

increase in chlorophyll *a* (Figure S2). However, data showed an opposite trend at Liège 4, exhibiting a strong decrease of chlorophyll *a* with respect to Liège 3, but an increase in DMS, DMSP and DMSO burdens. This observation further supports a general control of the environmental constraints on the ice DMS/P/O dynamics.

DMS/P/O fluxes - The same approach as Tison et al. [2010] was used to compute fluxes of DMSP, DMS and DMSO from the sea ice with its associated drawbacks, notably the fact that the fate of the DMSP, DMS or DMSO (atmosphere and/or ocean) cannot be distinguished. A decrease of the sea ice DMS/P/O burdens between two successive stations can be seen as a global flux of matter from sea ice to both or either the atmosphere (as far as DMS is concerned) or the ocean. Negative fluxes of DMS/P/O were computed between Brussels 1 and 2. Brussels 4 and 5, Liège 2 and 3 and Liège 4 and 5 (Table 5). All those events are presumed to have contributed to increase seawater DMS and DMSP burdens as a result of brine drainage. Even though the potential for brine drainage would have only been sufficient between Brussels 1 and 2 according to the Ra criterion (Figure 11), the constantly low levels of chlorophyll a observed in the under-ice water column suggest a sustained input of DMS, DMSP (and presumably DMSO) from the sea ice cover rather than an algal production in the water column. In the view of the sustained strong wind episode and high air temperatures that were observed from day 289 to day 294 at ISB [Vancoppenolle et al., 2011], venting of DMS to the snowpack and then to the atmosphere is also very likely to have contributed to the negative fluxes of DMS computed between Brussels 4 and 5

and Liege 4 and 5. The average contribution of the ice cover of Brussels and Liège to the regional sulphur budget over the study period amounted to 31 umol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> DMS, 36 umol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> DMSP and 4 umol m-2 d-1 DMSO. As observed for burdens, DMS/P/O flux values at Liège site were generally lower than those observed at Brussels site. It is assumed that the thicker snowpack at Liège site would have limited venting of DMS to the atmosphere. The potential for brine drainage would have been lowered at Liège due to the thicker snowpack and ice cover that would have acted together to hamper the development of sharp temperature and brine salinity gradients and the granular texture profile that would have raised the brine percolation threshold.

The average flux value of DMS+DMSP is up to 13 times higher than that computed for decaying summer sea ice by Tison et al. [2010]. Other studies reporting direct measurement of flux values for sulphur compounds from the sea ice are scarce and focused exclusively on DMS [Zemmelink et al., 2008; Nomura et al., 2012]. To compare the data of the present work to those studies, a worst-case scenario was considered assuming that 100% of the DMS flux from the ice was directed towards the underlying ocean. As it is generally admitted by several authors [e.g. Pedrós-Alió and Simó, 1999; Archer et al., 2002] that only about 10% of the seawater DMS would eventually be vented to the atmosphere, the contribution of sea ice to atmospheric DMS would have then amounted to about 3 µmol m-2 d-1, Moreover, as it has been assumed above that most of the DMS observed in the under-ice water column at that period originated from sea ice, the observed

variation of under-ice DMS burden would have generated an additional sea-air flux of 14 untol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-</sup> , presuming that the entirety of the 30 m water column had contributed to that flux. This value decreased to 0.8 umol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> when the very top meter of the water column was considered. This contribution of sea ice to the atmospheric DMS is likely to be underestimated as meteorological conditions which prevailed during the study certainly favoured venting of DMS to the atmosphere. A non negligible part of DMSP which drained along with sea ice brines might also have been cleaved into DMS and eventually reached the atmosphere. The release of sympagic DMSP producers into the ocean with draining brines might have exposed organisms to a rapid salinity drop that would have favoured the release of DMSP in the seawater by exudation or cell lysis and then eventually led to an enhanced DMS production and would explain the high DMS:DMSP values (average ratio 3.0) observed in the under-ice water column. Due to the temporal resolution achieved in this study, missed brine drainage events, might have led to further underestimate the sea ice contribution to the regional sulphur budget. While those estimates fall within the range of ice-air DMS fluxes measured by Zemmelink et al. [2008] and Nomura et al. [2012], they seem low in comparison to the estimates of DMS flux made by Trevena and Jones [2012] over a variety of sea ice environment across the Antarctic sea ice zone. In the absence of any other existing parametrisation to compute ice-air gas exchanges, these authors used the flux calculation procedure of Liss and Merlivat [1986] and applied it to sea ice as if it was a free surface. While the assumption could hold for a surface slush layer, it is likely to overestimate gas exchanges if snow covers the ice surface or even in the case of bare sea ice which exposes a fairly lower cross-section of brine inclusions to the atmosphere. The role of the snowpack in controlling the gas emission from sea ice to the atmosphere had yet already been stressed for CO2 by Nomura et al. [2010] and for DMS by Zemmelink et al. [2008]. In a more detailed study on the topic, Nomura et al. [2012] recently reasserted the primary importance of the snow cover as well as that of the superimposed ice in controlling the ice-air DMS flux. In view of those recent findings and as a variable snow cover was always present at the ice core locations, ice-air DMS fluxes were not computed using the approach of Trevena and Jones [2012]. Despite this active transfer of sulphur compounds from sea ice to the atmosphere and the ocean, DMS/P/O dynamics resulted along the 20 day

observation period in an overall net production of 140 umol DMSP m<sup>-2</sup> and 14 µmol DMS m<sup>-2</sup> at Brussels and of 104 umol DMSP m-2 and 3 umol DMS m-2 at Liège site. The overall net production of DMSO was 5 umol m2 at Brussels and close to 0 umol m2 at Liege. The DMS/P production capacity of the spring sea ice cover at ISB contrasts with that of a typical summer sea ice cover as observed in the Weddell Sea by Tison et al. [2010]. These authors observed indeed a continuous outgoing flux of DMS/P along the 31 day observation period resulting in a net loss of 174 umol DMSP m<sup>-2</sup> and a slight gain of about 2 µmol DMS m<sup>-2</sup> mainly as a result of the progressive leaching of the ice cover by the snow meltwater and bottom melting of the sea ice cover. The variation in the DMS flux values observed in the present study supports the view of Gabric et al. [2005] and Zemmelink et al. [2008] that this compound would be emitted from sea ice by pulses.

## 6. CONCLUSIONS

The cycling of atmospheric fronts witnessed at ISB induced a thermal forcing which influenced differently the two contrasting study sites. The overall nitrate depletion of the sea ice cover at both sites likely induced a shift in the sea ice algae community composition towards taxa renowned for their ability to synthesise high concentrations of DMSP and DMS (i.e. dinoflagellates and Phaeocystis antarctica). The observed levels of DMS, DMSP and DMSO were likely the result of complex interactions of environmental stressors and of the sulphur compounds with each other. The most important production event of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in the ice was apparently triggered by the accumulation of freezing temperatures and potential ensuing thermal and osmotic stress. Biota thriving in a relatively thin ice cover with little snow (likewise at Brussels site) is anticipated to provide a stronger response to thermal, osmotic and radiative stress than biota developing within a thicker ice cover overlaid by a thicker snowpack. Relatively thin ice covers comparable to that observed at Brussels site are also likely more prone to exchange of biogeochemical tracers (like DMS, DMSP and DMSO) with the environment through brine drainage. Sea ice cover at ISB behaved like a reactor during the spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea, maintaining sympagic organisms exposed to environmental stress (thermal, osmotic and radiative) and actively producing and exchanging DMS, DMSP and DMSO with the environment as attested by the significant inferred DMS and DMSP flux values, one order of magnitude higher than DMS and DMSP flux values reported for Antarctic summer sea ice [Tison et al., 2010]. Although the concentrations of DMS, DMSP and DMSO are not the highest ever reported in the sea ice environment, periodic forcing of the system by atmospheric thermal cycling could ensure a sustained production of DMS, DMSP and DMSO and their release in the environment. Shelf-life of the biological component of the system (production of DMS, DMSP and DMSO) is likely to be determined by nutrient availability while the physical component (release of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in the environment) is likely to be constrained by the amount of salt remaining in the ice cover. With the increasing occurrence of atmospheric anomalies in the Bellingshausen Sea, grows the chance to witness wind-driven compaction of sea ice and greater precipitations [Stammerjohn et al., 2008] affecting the distribution of snow at the ice surface. This may provide favourable conditions for periodic flooding of the ice surface and resupply of the ice cover with nutrients and salts, reactivating thereby the system pending the next event of atmospheric forcing. Trends towards overall less multiyear ice and preponderance of young sea ice in the Bellingshausen Sea could in the future positively impact the production and release of DMS, DMSP and DMSO by sea ice and extent it to the overall Bellingshausen Sea area. As already mentioned in previous studies [Tison et al., 2010], further controlled experiments in laboratory, potentially simplified with respect to the number of factors studied, with exposure of sympagic organisms to ranges of temperatures and salinity encountered in sea ice brines, are required to disentangle the complexity of the DMS/P/O dynamics in sea ice as it proved to be hardly feasible from field data.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS - The authors wish to thank the Coptain and crew of the RV/IB Nathaniel B. Palmer and the science support team of Raytheon Polar Services. F. Brabant and I. Dumont benefited from a FRIA research grant with the Belgian FRS-FNRS, J.-I. Tison acknowledge the support of the Belgian Science Policy (contracts SD/CA/03A) and of the Belgian FRS-FNRS (Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique—FRFC contract no.2.4649.07). The SIMBA project was supported by the National Science Foundation under NSF Grant ANT 0703682— Sen Ice Mass Balance in the Anturctic to UTSA and S.F.Ackley.

#### REFERENCES

Abram N. J., M. A. J. Curran, R. Mulvaney and T. Vance, 2008. The preservation of methanesulphonic acid in frozen ice-core samples. J. Glaciol., 54(187), 680-684.

Ackley S. F., 1982. Ice scavenging and nucleation: two mechanisms for the incorporation of algae into newly forming sea ice. EOS: Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, 63, 65.

Ackley S.F., and C.W. Sullivan, 1994. Physical controls on the development and characteristics of Antarctic sea ice biological communities— a review and synthesis, *Deep-Sea Res. Part I*, 41(10), 1583-1604.

Archer, S.D., G.C. Smith, P.D. Nightingale, C.E. Widdicombe, G.A Tarran, A.P. Ress, and P.H. Burkill, 2002. Dynamics of particulate dimethylsulphoniopropionate during a Lagrangian experiment in the northern North Sea. *Deep-Sea Res.Part II*, 49, 2979–2999.

Arrigo, K. R., Mock, T. and M. P. Lizotte, 2010. Primary Producers and Sea Ice, in Sea Ice, Second Edition, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 283–325, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Asher, E. C., J. W. H. Dacey, M. M. Mills, K. R. Arrigo, and P. D. Tortell, 2011. High concentrations and turnover rates of DMS, DMSP and DMSO in Antarctic sea ice, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 38, L23609, doi:10.1029/2011GL049712.

Becquevort S., I. Dumont, J.-L. Tison, D. Lannuzel, M.-L. Sauvée, L. Chou, and V. Schoemann. 2009. Biogeochemistry and microbial community composition in sea ice and underlying seawater off East Antarctica during early spring. *Polar. Biol.*, 32, 879–895. DOI 10.1007/s00300-009-0589-2.

Belzile, C., J. A. E. Gibson, W. F. Vincent, 2002. Colored dissolved organic matter and dissolved organic earbon exclusion from lake ice: Implications for irradiance transmission and carbon cycling. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 47(5), 1283-1293. doi: 10.4319/lo.2002.47.5.1283

Bland J.M. and D.G. Altman, 1986. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet*, i, 307–10.

Bland J.M. and D.G. Altman, 1999. Measuring agreement in method comparison studies. *Stat Methods Med Res*, 8, 135–60.

Brabant F., El Amrí S. and J.-L. Tison, 2011. A robust method for the determination of dimethylsulfoxide in sea ice. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Meth.*, 9, 261-274.

Brierley, A. S., and D. N. Thomas. 2002. Ecology of Southern Ocean pack ice. *Adv. Mar. Biol.* 43:171-276 [doi:10.1016/S0065-2881(02)43005-2].

Burford M. A., and P. C. Pollard, 1994. Pigment contaminants in polycarbonate filters. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 103, 203–206.

Chavez, F.P., K.R. Buck, R.R. Bidigare, D.M. Karl, D. Hebel, M. Latasa, L. Campbell, and J. Newton, 1995. On the chlorophyll a retention properties of glass-fiber GF/F filters. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 40(2), 428-433

Cox, G.F.N., Weeks, W.F., 1983. Equations for determining the gas and brine volumes in sea ice samples. J. Glaciol., 29, 306–316.

Curran, M.A.J., G.B. Jones, and H.Burton, 1998. Spatial distribution of dimethylsulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate in the Australasian sector of the Southern Ocean. J. Geophys. Res., 103 (D13), pp. 16677-16689.

Comiso, J. C., 2010. Variability and trends of the global sea ice cover, in *Sea Ice, Second Edition*, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 23–77, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Dagnelie, P., 1998. Statistique Théorique et Appliquée - Tome 2: Inférence Statistique à une et à deux dimensions. Bruxelles, De Boeck, 659pp.

Dacey, J. W. H., and N. V. Blough. 1987. Hydroxide decomposition of dimethylsulfoniopropionate to form dimethylsulfide. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 14(12), 1246-1249.

Dewitte K., C. Fierens, D. Stöckl and L. M. Thienpont, 2002. Application of the Bland-Altman plot for interpretation of method-comparison studies: a critical investigation of its practice, *Clinical Chemistry*, 48(5), 799–801.

Eicken, H., M. A. Lange, and G. S. Dieckmann, 1991. Spatial variability of sea ice properties in the northwestern Weddell Sea, J. Geophys. Res., 96, 10603-10615. Eide L. I., and S. Martin, 1975. The formation of brine drainage features in young sea ice. J. Glaciol., 14(70), 137-154.

Farwell, S. O., and C. J. Barinaga, 1986. Sulphurselective detection with the FPD: current enigmas, practical usage and future directions. J. Chromatogr. Sci., 24:483-494.

Fripiat, F., D. Cardinal, J.-L. Tison, A. Worby, and L. André, 2007. Diatom-induced silicon isotopic fractionation in Antarctic sea ice, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 112, G02001, doi:10.1029/2006JG000244.

Fritsen, C.H., E.D. Wirthlin, D.K. Momberg, M.J. Lewis, S.F. Ackley, 2011. Bio-optical properties of Antaretic pack ice in the early austral spring. *Deep-Sea Res. Part II*, 58 (9-10), pp. 1052-1061.

Gabric, A.J., J.M. Shephard, J.M. Knight, G.B. Jones, A.J. Trevena, 2005. Correlations between the satellite-derived seasonal cycles of phytoplankton biomass and aerosol optical depth in the Southern Ocean: evidence for the influence of sea ice. *Global Biogeochem. Cy.* 19, 1–10. doi:10.1029/2005 GB002546.

Garrison D. L., 1991. Antarctic sea ice biota. Amer. Zool., 31, 17-33.

Garrison, D.L., S.F. Ackley, and K.R. Buck, 1983. A physical mechanism for establishing algal populations in frazil ice. *Nature*, 306 (5941), pp. 363-365.

Garrison D.L., and K.R. Buck, 1986. Organism losses during ice melting: a serious bias in sea ice community studies. *Polar Biol.* 6, 237–239.

Gleitz, M., M. R. van der Loeff, D. N. Thomas, G. S. Dieckmann, and F. J. Millero, 1995. Comparison of summer and winter inorganic carbon, oxygen and nutrient concentrations in Antarctic sea ice brine, *Mar. Chem.*, 51, 81–91.

Golden, K.M., Ackley, S.F., Lytle, V.I., 1998. The percolation phase transition in sca ice. *Science*, 282, 2238–2241.

Golden, K. M., H. Eicken, A. L. Heaton, J. Miner, D. J. Pringle, and J. Zhu, 2007. Thermal evolution of permeability and microstructure in sea ice, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 34, L16501.
#### BRABANT ET AL.: DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

Gosselin M., L. Legendre, J.-C. Therriault, S. Demers and M. Roche, 1986. Physical control of the horizontal patchiness of sea-ice microalgae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 29, 289–298.

Harada, H., Vila-Costa, M., Cebrián, J., and R.P. Kiene, 2009. Effects of UV radiation and nitrate limitation on the production of DMSP, DMS and DMSO by marine phytoplankton. *Aquatic Botany*, 90, 37–42.

Hatton, A. D., G. Malin, A. G. McEwan, and P. S. Liss. 1994. Determination of dimethylsulphoxide in aqueous solution by an enzyme-linked method. *Anal. Chem.*, 66(22), 4093-4096.

Hatton, A.D., L. Darroch, and G. Malin, 2005. The role of dimethylsulphoside in the marine biogeochemical cycle of dimethylsulphide, Oceanogr. *Mar. Biol.*, 42, 29-55.

Hefu, Y., and G.O.Kirst, 1997. Effect of UVradiation on DMSP content and DMS formation of *Phaeocystis antarctica*. *Polar Biol.*, 18(6), 402-409.

Hosikian A., S. Lim, R. Halim, and M. K. Danquah, 2010. Chlorophyll Extraction from Microalgae: A Review on the Process Engineering Aspects, *Int. J. Chem. Eng.*, Article ID 391632, 11 p.

Hudier, E. J.-J., R.G. Ingram & K. Shirasawa, 1995. Upward flushing of sea water through first year ice, *Atm.-Oc.*, 33:3, 569-580

Junge, K., H. Eicken, and J. W. Deming. 2004. Bacterial activity at -2°C to -20°C in Arctic wintertime sea ice. *Appl. Environ. Microb.* 70(1), 550-557

Kieber D.J., J.F. Jiao, R.P. Kiene, T.S. Bates, 1996. Impact of dimethylsulfide photochemistry on methyl sulfur cycling in the equatorial Pacific Ocean. J. Geophys. Res., 101, 3715–3722.

Kiene, R. P. and D. Slezak, 2006. Low dissolved DMSP concentrations in seawater revealed by small volume gravity filtration and dialysis sampling. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods*, 4, 80 – 95.

Kiene, R. P., D. J. Kieber, D. Slezak, D. A. Toole, D. A. del Valle, J. Bisgrove, J. Brinkley and A. Rellinger. 2007. Distribution and cycling of dimethylsulfide. dimethylsulfoniopropionate, and dimethylsulfoxide during spring and early summer in the Southern Ocean south of New Zealand. Aquat. Sci., 69, 3, 305-319.

Killawee J.A, I.J Fairchild, J.-L Tison, L. Janssens, and R Lorrain, 1998. Segregation of solutes and gases in experimental freezing of dilute solutions: implications for natural glacial systems, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Act.*, 62(23–24), 3637-3655, 10.1016/S0016-7037(98)00268-3.

Kirst, G., C. Thiel, H. Wolff, J. Nothnagel, M. Wanzek, and R. Ulmke, 1991. Dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) in ice algae and its possible biological role. *Mar. Chem.*, 35, 381-388.

Knefelkamp,B., K. Carstens, and K.H. Wiltshire 2007. Comparison of different filter types on chlorophyll-a retention and nutrient measurements. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 345 (1), 61-70.

Krüger, O., and H. Graßl, 2011. Southern Ocean phytoplankton increases cloud albedo and reduces precipitation, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 38, L08809.

Lannuzel, D., de Jong, J.T.M., Schoemann, V., Trevena, A., Tison, J.-L., Chou, L., 2006. Development of a sampling and flow injection analysis technique for iron determination in the sea ice environment. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, 556 (2), 476–483.

Lee, P. A., and S. J. de Mora, 1999. Intracellular dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) in unicellular marine algae: speculations on its origin and possible biological role. *J. Phycol.*, 35(1), 8-18.

Lee, P.A., S. J. de Mora, and M. Gosselin, 2001. Particulate dimethylsulfoxide in Arctic sea-ice algal communities: the cryoprotectant hypothesis revisited. *J. Phycol.*, 37(4), 488-499.

Leppäranta, M., Manninen, T., 1988. The brine and gas content of sea ice with attention to low salinities and high temperatures. Finnish Institute of Marine Research Internal Report 88 (2), Helsinki, Finland.

Lewis M. J., J.-L. Tison, B. Weissling, B. Delille, S.F. Ackley, F. Brabant and H. Xie, 2011. Sea ice and snow cover characteristics during the winter-spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea: An overview of SIMBA 2007. *Deep Sea Res. II*, 58(9-10), 1019– 1038.

Liss, P.S., and L., Merlivat, 1986. Air-sea exchange rates: introduction and synthesis, in *The role of Air-*

#### BRABANT ET AL.: DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

Sea Exchange in Geochemical Cycling, edited by Buat-Menard, P., D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht, pp. 113–127.

Loose, B., L.A. Miller, S. Elliott, and T. Papakyriakou, 2011. Sea ice biogeochemistry and material transport across the frozen interface. *Oceanography*, 24 (3), 202–218.

Lubin, D., Massom, R.A., 2006. Polar Remote Sensing, in *Atmosphere and Oceans*, vol. I. Praxis/Springer-Verlag, Chichester/Berlin, 756 pp.

Lyon, B.R., P.A. Lee, J.M. Bennett, G.R. di Tullio, and M.G. Janech, 2011. Proteomic analysis of a seaice diatom: Salinity acclimation provides new insight into the dimethylsulfoniopropionate production pathway. *Plant Physiology*, 157 (4), pp. 1926-1941.

Martin, S., 1970. A hydrodynamic curiosity: the salt oscillator. Geophys Fluid Dyn, 1, 143-160.

Martin, S., 1974. Ice stalactites: comparison of a laminar flow theory with experiment. J. Fluid. Mech., 63, 1, 51-79.

McGuinness, M. J., K. Collins, H. J. Trodahl, and T. G. Haskell, 1998. Nonlinear thermal transport and brine convection in first year sea ice, *Ann. Glociol.*, 27, 471–476.

Meiners K. M., S. Papadimitriou, D. N. Thomas, L. Norman, and G. S. Dieckmann, 2009. Biogeochemical conditions and ice algal photosynthetic parameters in Weddell Sea ice during early spring. *Polar Biol.*, 32 (7), 1055–1065.

Meiners, K.M., L. Norman, M.A. Granskog, A. Krell, P. Heil, D.N.Thomas, 2011. Physicoecobiogeochemistry of East Antarctic pack ice during the winter-spring transition. *Deep-Sea Res. Part II*, 58(9-10), 1172-1181.

Mikkelsen D.M., Witkowski A, 2010. Melting sea ice for taxonomic analysis: a comparison of four melting procedures. *Polar Res.*, 29, 454-459.

Nomura, D., H. Yoshikawa-Inoue, T. Toyota, and K. Shirasawa. 2010. Effects of snow, snowmelting and refreezing processes on air-sea-ice CO2 flux. J. Glaciol., 56 (196), pp. 262-270.

Nomura, D., N. Kasamatsu, K. Tateyama, S. Kudoh, , M. Fukuchi, 2011. DMSP and DMS in coastal fast ice and under-ice water of Lützow-Holm Bay, eastern Antarctica. Continental Shelf Research, 31(13), 1377-1383.

Nomura, D., S. Koga, N. Kasamatsu, H. Shinagawa, D. Simizu, M. Wada, and M. Fukuchi, 2012. Direct measurements of DMS flux from Antarctic fast sea ice to the atmosphere by a chamber technique, J. Geophys. Res., 117, C04011, doi:10.1029/2010JC006755.

Notz, D., and M. G. Worster, 2008. In situ measurements of the evolution of young sea ice, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 113, C03001, doi:10.1029/2007JC004333.

Notz, D., and M. G. Worster, 2009, Desalination processes of sea ice revisited, J. Geophys. Res., 114, C05006, doi:10.1029/2008JC004885.

Papadimitriou, S., D. N. Thomas, H. Kennedy, C. Haas, H. Kuosa, A. Krell, G. S. Dieckmann. 2007. Biogeochemical composition of natural sea ice brines from the Weddell Sea during early austral summer. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 52(5), 2007, 1809-1823

Petrich C., and H. Eicken, 2010. Growth, structure and properties of sea ice, in *Sea Ice, Second Edition*, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 23–77, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Pringle, D. J., H. Eicken, H. J. Trodahl, and L. G. E. Backstrom, 2007. Thermal conductivity of landfast Antarctic and Arctic sea ice, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 112, C04017, doi:10.1029/2006JC003641.

Pringle D., G. Dubuis, H. Eicken, 2009. Impedance measurements of the complex dielectric permittivity of sea ice at 50 MHz: pore microstructure and potential for salinity monitoring. *J Glaciol.*, 55(189), 81 – 94.

R Development Core Team, 2010. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0. URL <u>http://www.R-project.org</u>.

Raynaud, D., R. Delmas, J. M. Ascencio, and M. Legrand. 1982. Gas extraction from polar ice cores: a critical issue for studying the evolution of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> and icesheet surface elevation. *Ann. Glaciol.*, 3, 265-268.

#### BRABANT ET AL.: DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

Rózańska, M., M. Poulin, M. Gosselin, 2008. Protist entrapment in newly formed sea ice in the Coastal Arctic Ocean, J. Mar. Sys., 74 (3-4), pp. 887-901.

Ryan, K. G., M.-L. Tay, A. Martin, A. McMinn and S.K. Davy 2011. Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging analysis of Antarctic bottom-ice algae: responses to light and salinity stress. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 399, 156–61.

Sarthou, G., Timmermanns, K.R., Blain, S., and P. Treguer, 2005. Growth physiology and fate of diatoms in the ocean: a review. J. Sea Res. 53, 25–42.

Schnack-Schiel, S.B., Dieckmann, G.S., Kattner, G., Thomas, D.N., 2004. Copepods in summer platelet ice in the eastern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. *Polar Biol.*, 27, 502–506.

Schwarz, G. E., 1978. Estimating the dimension of a model. Annals of Statistics, 6 (2): 461-464.

Simö, R. 1998. Trace chromatographic analysis of dimethyl sulfoxide and related methylated sulfur compounds in natural waters. J. Chromatogr. A, 807, 151-164.

Simo R, and C. Pedros-Alio, 1999. Role of vertical mixing in controlling the oceanic production of dimethyl sulphide. *Nature*, 402, 396–399

Sola, I., X. Ausio, R. Simö, J. O. Grimalt, and A. Ginebreda. 1997. Quantitation of volatile sulphur compounds in polluted waters. J. Chromatogr. A, 778(12), 329-335.

Stammerjohn, S. E., D. G. Martinson, R. C. Smith, X. Yuan, and D. Rind, 2008. Trends in Antarctic annual sea ice retreat and advance and their relation to El Niño–Southern Oscillation and Southern Annular Mode variability, J. Geophys. Res., 113, C03S90, doi:10.1029/2007JC004269.

Stefels, J., M. Steinke, S. Turner, G. Malin, and S. Belviso, 2007. Environmental constraints on the production and removal of the elimatically active gas dimethylsulphide DMS and implications for ecosystem modeling. *Biogeochemistry*, 83, 245-275.

Stefels J., 2009. Determination of DMS, DMSP, and DMSO in seawater. in *Practical guidelines for the analysis of seawater* edited by O. Wurl,. Taylor & Francis Group, pp. 223-235. Stefels J., G. Carnat, J. W. H. Dacey, T. Goossens, J. T. M. Elzenga and J.-L. Tison, 2012. The analysis of dimethylsulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate in sea ice: Dry-crushing and melting using stable isotope additions, *Mar. Chem.*, 128–129, 20, 34-43.

Stroeve, J., M. M. Holland, W. Meier, T. Scambos, and M. Serreze, 2007. Arctic sea ice decline: Faster than forecast, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 34, L09501, doi:10.1029/2007GL029703.

Sunda, W., D.J. Kieber, R.P. Kiene, and S. Huntsman, 2002. An antioxidant function for DMSP and DMS in marine algae. *Nature*, 418 (6895), pp. 317-320.

Sunda, W.G., Hardison, R., Kiene, R.P., Bucciarelli, E., Harada, H., 2007. The effect of nitrogen limitation on cellular DMSP and DMS release in marine phytoplankton: climate feedback implications. *Aquat. Sci.*, 69, 341–351.

Thomas D. N., Papadimitriou T. and C. Michel, 2010. Biogeochemistry of sea ice, in *Sea Ice, Second Edition*, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 425–467, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK..

Tison, J. L., M. M. Gowing, S. Sleewaegen, A. Bernard, and C. Haas. 2002. Tank study of physicochemical controls on gas content and composition during growth of young sea ice. *J. Glaciol.*, 48(161), 177-191,

Tison, J.-L., A. Worby, B. Delille, F. Brabant, S. Papadimitriou, D. Thomas, J. de Jong, D. Lannuzel, and C. Haas, 2008. Temporal evolution of decaying summer first-year sea ice in the Western Weddell Sea, Antarctica. *Deep Sea Res. II*, 55, 975–987.

Tison, J.-L., F. Brabant, I. Dumont, and J. Stefels, 2010. High-resolution dimethyl sulfide and dimethylsulfoniopropionate time series profiles in decaying summer first-year sea ice at Ice Station Polarstern, western Weddell Sea, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Res., 115, G04044, doi:10.1029/2010JG001427.

Tréguer, P. and P. Pondaven, 2002. Climatic changes and the carbon cycle in the Southern Ocean: a step forward. *Deep Sea Res. II*, 49 (9-10), 1597-1600.

Trevena, A.J., G.B. Jones, S.W Wright, and R.L. Van den Enden, 2003. Profiles of dimethyl-

#### BRABANT ET AL : DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

sulphoniopropionate (DMSP), algal pigments, nutrients and salinity in the fast ice of Prydz Bay, Antarctica. J. Geophys. Res., 108(3145). doi:10.1029/2002JC001369.

Trevena, A.J., and G. B. Jones. 2006. Dimethylsulphide and dimethylsulphoniopropionate in Antarctic sea ice and their release during sea ice melting. *Mar. Chem.*, 98, 210-222.

Trevena, A., and G.B. Jones, 2012. DMS flux over the Antarctic sea ice zone. Marine Chemistry, 134-135, pp. 47-58.

Trodahl, H. J., M. McGuinness, P. Langhorne, K. Collins, A. Pantoja, I. Smith, and T. Haskell, 2000. Heat transport in McMurdo Sound first-year fast ice, J. Geophys. Res., 105, 11,347–11,358.

Trodahl, H. J., S. Wilkinson, M. McGuinness, and T. Haskell, 2001. Thermal conductivity of sea ice: Dependence on temperature and depth, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 28, 1279–1282.

Tungaraza, C., V. Rousseau, N. Brion, C. Lancelot, J. Gichuki, W. Baeyens, and L. Goeyens, 2003. Contrasting nitrogen uptake by diatom and Phaeocystis-dominated phytoplankton assemblages in the North Sea. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 292 (1), 19-41.

Turner, S. M., G. Malin, L. E. B. Gander, and C. Leck. 1990. Interlaboratory calibration and sample analysis of dimethyl sulphide in water. *Mar. Chem.* 29, 47-62.

Turner, S. M., P. D. Nightingale, W. Broadgate, and P. S. Liss, 1995. The distribution of dimethyl sulphide and dimethylsulphoniopropionate in Antarctic waters and sea ice, *Deep-Sea Res.Part II*, 42(4–5), 1059–1080.

Utermölh H., 1958. Zur Vervelkommnung der quantitativen Phytoplankton-Methodik. Mitt Int Verein Theor Angew Limnol, 9, 1–38. Vancoppenolle M., R. Timmermann, S. F. Ackley, T. Fichefet, H. Goosse, P. Heil, K. C. Leonard, J. Lieser, M. Nicolaus, T. Papakyriakou and J.-L. Tison, 2011. Assessment of radiation forcing data sets for large-scale sea ice models in the Southern Ocean. *Deep Sea Res. II*, 58(9-10), 1237–1249.

Weeks W. F., 2010. On Sea Ice. University of Alaska Press, Fairbanks. USA.

Weissenberger, J., S. Grossmann, 1998. Experimental formation of sea ice: Importance of water circulation and wave action for incorporation of phytoplankton and bacteria. *Polar Biol.*, 20 (3), pp. 178-188.

Wettlaufer, J. S., M. G. Worster, and H. E. Huppert, 1997. Natural convection during solidification of an alloy from above with application to the evolution of sea ice, J. Fluid Mech., 344, 291–316.

Worby A.P., K.M. Meiners and S.F. Ackley, 2011. Antarctic sea-ice zone research during the International Polar Year, 2007–2009. *Deep-Sea Res. II*, 58(9-10), 993–998.

Worster, M. G., 1992. Instabilities of the liquid and mushy regions during solidification of alloys, J. Fluid Mech., 237, 649–669.

Worster, M. G., 2000. Solidification of fluids, in *Perspectives in Fluid Dynamics*, edited by M. G. Worster, G. K. Batchelor and H. K. Moffatt, pp. 393– 446, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, U. K.

Yentsch C.S., and D.W. Menzel, 1963. A method for the determination of phytoplankton chlorophyll and phaeophytine by fluorescence. *Deep-Sea Res.*, 10, 221–231.

Zemmelink, H. J., J. W. H. Dacey, L. Houghton, E. J. Hintsa, and P. S. Liss, 2008. Dimethylsulfide emissions over the multi-year ice of the western Weddell Sea, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 35, L06603.

Zhang, J., 2007. Increasing Antarctic sea ice under warming atmospheric and oceanic conditions. J. Climate, 20(11), 2515-2529.

#### BRABANT ET AL. DMS/P/O DYNAMICS IN ANTARCTIC SEA ICE

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



Figure S1 Evolution of cumulative dose of UVA, UVB and PAR computed between consecutive stations at Brussels (upper left panel) and Liège (upper right panel) sites. Total DMS, DMSP and DMSO burdens shown with the cumulative freezing degree day (FDD) between consecutive stations at Brussels (lower left panel) and Liège (lower right panel) sites.







## CHAPTER V: Temporal evolution of gas properties in growing sea ice: revealing the impact of physicochemical processes

### Paper 6 :

Physico-chemical controls on gas properties during natural and experimental sea ice growth. In review. by Brabant F., V. Verbeke and J.-L. Tison, 2008.

Contribution of F. Brabant: Analysis of the data. Writing of the paper.

JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 777, XXXX, DOI:10.1029/,

# Physico-chemical controls on gas properties during natural and experimental sea ice growth

F. Brabant, V. Verbeke and J.-L. Tison

a Laboratoire de Glaciologie, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Bruxelles, Belgium

F. Brabant, Laboratoire de Glaciologie, Université Libre de Bruxelles, 50 Avenue F.D. Roosevelt CP160/03, 1050 Bruxelles, Belgium. (fbrabant@ulb.ac.be)

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 2 This paper describes and discusses the evolution of gas prop-Abstract. erties (total gas content, gas composition in O2 and N2) in artificial (INTERICE III experiment) and natural sea ice (Mc Murdo Sound. Antarctica) during its growth. Using the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio as a benchmark, we identify three physicochemical processes that are able to significantly alter the gas properties of growing sea ice. Initial dissolved gas entrapment decreases  $O_2/N_2$  slightly below the seawater value, post-entrapment diffusion induces a further drop of 10 the ratio down to the equilibrium value of 0.48 and bubble nucleation (if present) 11 is finally able to depress  $O_2/N_2$  towards the value of the ratio in the atmo-12 sphere (0.27). The impact of the two first processes on the sea ice gas com-15 position was estimated successfully using a boundary layer approach. This 34 study finally underlines the importance of diffusion in controlling exchange 15 processes between growing sea ice and the underlying sea water. 16

BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 3

#### 1. Introduction

Despite its gilt-edged importance for the mechanical, thermal and electromagnetical properties of sea ice, studies dedicated to gas inclusion in sea ice (both concerning total gas content and gas composition) are, as it were, almost nonexistent. More thorough study of the sea ice gas properties could also provide us with valuable information allowing to decipher the gas dynamics issue in sea ice. The latter is expected to be of primary importance for biogeochemical studies since sea ice has proven to be a permeable medium to gas exchange once particular conditions are fulfilled (the 'law of fives': brine volume fraction of 5% reached for a temperature  $\simeq -5$  °C assuming a bulk sea ice salinity of 5 [Golden et al., 1998]).

Sea ice has been reported to have gas properties different from those of glacier or iceberg [Matsuo and Miyake, 1966]. Numerous processes can influence the gas content of 37 sea ice during either its growth or its decay. In his work, Tsurikov [1979] identified up to nine processes able to modify the gas content of sea ice among which three purely physicochemical ones are thought to be predominant: (1) the release of gases from solution during the inial freezing of sea water, (2) the substitution of gas for a part of the brine through 33 the interconnected vertical brine channels in the course of melting and (3) the release of 32 gas from entrapped brine as the result of its further freezing. The importance of process 33 (1), both for total gas content and gas composition of sea ice will be discussed further in 14 this paper. The total gas content in sea ice is smaller than in meteoric glacier ice (about 85–130 ml kg<sub>ice</sub><sup>-1</sup> [Raynaud and Lebel, 1979]) and generally less than the total gas content of instantly frozen seawater resulting in 23.75 ml STP  $kg_{ice}^{-1}$  [Tison et al., 2002]. The 37

X - 4 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

most extreme values of total gas content in sea ice were observed by Matsuo and Miyake [1966]. These values are ranging between 2.2 and 21.2 ml STP kg<sub>ice</sub><sup>-1</sup>. More recently, *Tison et al.* [2002] observed similar values for the total gas content in the artificially grown sea ice from the INTERICE II experiment (from 3.5 up to 18 ml kg<sub>ice</sub><sup>-1</sup>). Rysgaard and *Clud* [2004] measured comparable total gas volume (0–20 cm<sup>3</sup> l<sup>-1</sup> sea ice) in the lower 50–60 cm of sea ice cores from Young Sound (Greenland) but astonishingly high values in the upper sea ice layers (70–130 cm<sup>3</sup> l<sub>ice</sub><sup>-1</sup>). Given that there are no indication provided by the authors about the ice texture in this part of the ice cover, it is difficult to interpret this discrepancy.

The gas composition of sea ice (using here the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio) also differs from glacier ice and from the atmosphere  $(O_2/N_2 \simeq 0.27)$ . Tsurikov [1979] showed that sea ice can be 48 either relatively depleted  $(O_2/N_2 = 0.19)$  or relatively enriched in  $O_2$   $(O_2/N_2 = 0.46)$ . In case of negligible impact of biological activity on the gas composition within the ice, sea 10 ice is usually depleted in O<sub>2</sub> as compared to sea water (0 °C, salinity: 35) saturated with 61 air  $(O_2/N_2 = 0.59)$ . Recent studies [Killawee et al., 1998; Tison et al., 2002] explain this 62 relative lack of O<sub>2</sub> by chemical fractionation of gases diffusing trough a boundary layer 63 formed at the ice-water interface during the ice growth. The boundary layer approach 54 postulates the presence of a thin layer of fluid ahead of the downward freezing front in 8.8 which solute transport occurs by diffusion only and whose thickness (millimeter scale) is 24 controlled by convection at its base. This concept has been used in previous studies to 52 describe solutes exchanges in front of the ice-water interface during freezing of water [e.g. 5.0 Weeks and Ackley, 1986; Souchez et al., 1988; Tison and Haren, 1989; Eicken, 1998]. The 10 boundary layer model was already shown to be relevant for studying the fractionation

BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 5 of isotopic species at the interface during ice growth [Souchez et al., 1987] and for the simulation of isotopic and salinity profiles in sea ice cores from the Weddell Sea [Eicken, 1998]. The boundary layer approach formulated as the Fick's first law of diffusion has also been used in predicting the dynamics of gases at the ice-water interface [Killawce et al., 1998; Tison et al., 2002]:

66

67

$$\Phi = D_x \frac{C_{iw} - C_{bw}}{z_{bl}} - C_{bw} \nu_i = 0$$
 (1)

where  $\Phi$  is the flux of a given solute species x,  $D_x$  is the molecular diffusivity of the ... solute x (1.17 and 0.95  $10^{-5}$  cm<sup>2</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> at 0 °C for O<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>, respectively [Broecker and 1.14 Peng, 1974]),  $C_{iw}$  is the solute concentration at the ice-water interface,  $C_{bw}$  is the solute 76 concentration in the bulk water,  $z_{bl}$  is the boundary layer thickness and  $\nu_i$  is the linear 7.1 rate of advance of the freezing front. This formulation of the Fick's first law of diffusion 72 applies when a steady state is reached (outgoing solutes flux from the boundary layer 73 equal to the incoming solutes flux from the freezing process). This approach is theo-24 retically restrained to the case of congelation ice with a smooth freezing interface (fresh 75 water) but has been shown to be also valid for the growth of sea ice [Weeks and Ack-78 ley, 1986, and references therein]. By rearranging of equation 1, the enrichment factor or 17 enrichment coefficient of a solute species at the interface  $(C_{iw}/C_{bw})$  can also be defined as: 12

$$\frac{C_{iw}}{C_{bw}} = \frac{\nu_i z_{bl}}{D_x} + 1 \tag{2}$$

146

#### X - 6 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

In his early work, Carte [1961] suggested that, on bubble nucleation, the composition of 0.1 the gas phase is controlled by diffusion processes between the water close to the interface 82 and the air bubble. In a more recent experimental sea ice study Tison et al. [2002] 6.3 discussed the evolution of the gas composition at the ice-water interface in the absence of 14 any biological activity. In their interpretation, bubbles originally have a gas composition 10 close to that of the water from which they have nucleated  $(O_2/N_2 = 0.59)$  in sea water). As long as the bubbles are not isolated in the ice, diffusion of gas through the boundary 87 layer occurs, decreasing the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio according to the respective diffusion rates of the different gases  $(D_{O_2} > D_{N_2})$ . The  $O_2/N_2$  ratio of the bubbles will therefore progressively 110 tend to the atmospheric value of 0.27. In this paper we will further test and refine these 0.0 interpretations by observing the evolution of the total gas content and the gas composition 113 (here addressed by means of the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio) of young sea ice during its growth in a new 10 set of experiments under controlled conditions (INTERICE III experiment, see description below). At the conclusion of the study, three key processes, able to significantly alter the gas composition of sea ice (both dissolved and as bubbles) were identified on the basis of observations made on a short time series : 1) the initial dissolved gas entrapment, 2) the post-entrapment diffusion through the boundary layer and 3) the bubble nucleation. 67 The relevance of the boundary layer approach to address the question of the gas diffusion 60 at the ice-water interface will also be tested. To that purpose we chose to confront the 00 results of the calculations with the measurements of the total gas content and composition 100 performed in a previous study [Verbeke et al., 2002] on cold mid-winter first-year sea ice 101 cores from Mc Murdo Sound, Antarctica. The work focused on the gas properties of a 102

BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 7 115 cm columnar ice portion of the ice cover located at a depth included between 22 cm and 137 cm. The rationale behind for re-analyzing the data of *Verbeke et al.* [2002] was guided on the one hand by the 'textbook case' nature of the ice (congelation ice, relative brine volume at any time <5%) and, on the other hand, because the influence of biological activity (if present) on gas properties of sea ice has proven to be negligible [*Verbeke et al.*, 2002]. This last point ensures that any change observed in the gas properties is only of physical or chemical origin.

#### 2. Sites description

#### 2.1. INTERICE III experiment

The INTERICE III experiment has been held in the environmental basin at HSVA 110 (Hamburgische Schiffbau- und VersuchAnstalt) in Hamburg, Germany from 30 April to 18 111 May 2001. The aim of the overall project was the assessment of the relationships between 112 the biological processes, the ice growth processes and the sea ice properties at the onset of 111 freezing. Ten polyethylene tanks were placed into the main basin and filled with distilled 114 water whose salinity were determined by addition of Ocean Sea Salt (Aquarium Systems, 111 France). The layout of the tanks in the basin is depicted on figure 1. Tanks A, B and 110 C were inoculated with the Antarctic algae Fragilariopsis cylindrus (initial chlorophyll a 11) concentration of 11  $\mu$ g l<sup>-1</sup>). Nutrients were also added to the tanks A to D. Finally, these 114 four tanks were enlightened by fluorescent tubes (Osram, ultra-white) and exposed to an 114 irradiance gradient (34  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for tanks A and B, 17  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for tank C and no light provided to tank D). Ice from tanks D, E, F, G, H, I and J 121 were not considered in the framework of this study. Ice growth was initiated seven days after algae inoculation by reducing the room temperature to  $-10\pm2$  °C and ice crystal

BRABANT ET AL : PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 8 formation was initiated by spraying of distilled water over the water surface [Haas et al., 174 1999; Giannelli et al., 2001; Krembs et al., 2001; Mock et al., 2002]. In this paper, we 179 focus on the gas properties of two time series sampled in tanks A (High Light 1) and C 114 (Low Light). The sampling took place at days #3, #10 and #18 after growth initiation, 157 following a procedure developped to minimize brine drainage from the sample and surface 129 flooding [Cottier, 1999; Cottier et al., 1999; Tison et al., 2002]. Further details on the 124 experimental setting can be found in the work of Mock et al. [2002] and Papadimitriou 196 et al. [2003]. 111

2.2. Natural sea ice samples (Arrival Heights, McMurdo Sound, Antarctica) The cores of natural sea ice studied in this paper were taken in the course of October 183 1999 at Arrival Heights, a fast ice station close to Mc Murdo Station, Mc Murdo Sound, 133 Antarctica (see map in figure 2, Verbeke et al. [2002]). The collected samples were then 134 shipped back to Brussels at the constant temperature of -28 °C for further laboratory 135 analyses. The ice thickness at that location was more than 220 cm. The texture profile, 116 revealed by ice thin sections, was comparable to what was previously observed by Jeffries 137 et al. [1993] in the same sector and displayed the following sequence (from the top to the 138 bottom): granular ice (0-22 cm), columnar ice (22-137 cm), mixed columnar/granular 136 ice (137-198 cm) and platelet ice (198-222 cm). The columnar ice section of the ice cover showed banded features whose chemical and gas properties were thoroughly analysed 151 by Verbeke et al. [2002] in order to elucidate the processes through which the banding 182 originated. Further details about the ice characteristics at that location and season can 145 be also be found in the work of Trodahl et al. [2000]. 144

BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 9

#### 3. Methods

#### 3.1. Measurements

Ice and water temperatures were measured with a resolution of 2 cm, starting from 2 cm above the water surface, using an array of Siemens K17 thermistors (see Mock et al. [2002] for further details). Ice bulk salinities were also measured with a resolution of 2 cm. 147 The salinity of the melted ice samples, maintained at  $25\pm0.01$  °C in a thermostatically 145 controlled bath, were then measured using a Tacussel CD 810 conductimeter equipped 149 with a XE100-type probe (Radiometer Analytical). The overall precision of the method 150 is  $\pm 0.05$  [*Tison et al.*, 2002]. The total gas content was measured with a resolution of 2 151 cm using a melting-refreezing procedure coupled with a Toepler pump extraction [Blunier 152 et al., 1993; Raynaud et al., 1988]. The relative standard error associated to the method is 155 ±2-5% [Martinerie et al., 1994]. Gas composition (O<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>) was measured each 2 cm using 154 a dry-extraction technique by crushing [Raynaud et al., 1982; Barnola et al., 1983] prior 155 to analysis with a Varian 3300 gas chromatograph equipped with a thermal conductivity 154 detector and a molecular sieve column (precision:  $\pm 0.8\%$ ). Because it occurs in a vessel 15/ initially evacuated at  $10^{-3}$  Torr, the used dry-extraction procedure ensures the release of 150 the gas contained in the ice both in a dissolved state in the brines and in the form of 159 bubbles [Tison et al., 2002; Verbeke et al., 2002]. 160

# 3.2. Theoretical estimates of the dissolved gas content at saturation in the sea

#### ice brines

To support a thorough discussion of the gas profiles, it seemed useful to provide best estimates of the theoretical total gas content dissolved in sea ice brine inclusions at saturation. When thermodynamic equilibrium at atmospheric pressure is reached in sea ice, X - 10 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

the relative volume fraction of brine  $V_b/V$  and its salinity  $S_b$  can be deduced from phase relations [Assur, 1958]. Equations provided by Eicken [2003], compiled and rearranged according to Cox and Wecks [1983] and Lepparänta and Manninen [1988], allow to estimate the relative brine volume and brine salinity from measured ice temperature and bulk salinity. As a first step we calculate the brine salinity at a given depth, which is a function of the ice temperature assuming that thermodynamic equilibrium is reached, using:

171

$$S_b = \left(1 - \frac{54.11}{T}\right)^{-1} \times 1000 \tag{3}$$

179

where  $S_b$  is the brine salinity and T (°C) the measured ice temperature.

Knowing the bulk ice salinity, the relative brine volume  $V_b/V$  can be derived from: 175

$$\frac{V_b}{V} = \left(1 - \frac{V_a}{V}\right) \frac{\rho_i S_{si}}{F_1(T) - \rho_i S_{si} F_2(T)} \tag{4}$$

176

where  $V_a/V$  is the pore volume fraction,  $\rho_i$  is the density of pure ice,  $S_{si}$  is the bulk ice salinity and  $F_1(T)$  and  $F_2(T)$  are empirical polynomial functions derived from phase relations (coefficients to be found in *Eicken* [2003]). With the aid of the previously measured bulk salinity and ice temperature values, the relative brine volume can be calculated presuming that  $V_a$  is negligible, a reasonable assumption in cold ice [*Eicken*, 2003]. Empirical equations provided in the litterature allow us to determine the solubility of a gas in a soBRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 11 185 Iution on the basis of its temperature and salinity. *Garcia and Gordon* [1992] established 184 such a relationship for O<sub>2</sub>:

$$lnC_{0}^{*} = A_{0} + A_{1}T_{s} + A_{2}T_{s}^{2} + A_{3}T_{s}^{2}$$

$$+ A_{3}T_{s}^{3} + A_{4}T_{s}^{4} + A_{5}T_{s}^{5}$$

$$+ S(B_{0} + B_{1}T_{s} + B_{2}T_{s}^{2} + B_{3}T_{s}^{3}) + C_{0}S^{2}$$
(5)

with  $C_0^*$  the solubility of  $O_2$  in  $\mu$ mol per volume of seawater,  $A_i$ ,  $B_i$ ,  $C_0$  constant coefficients, S the salinity and  $T_s$  the scaled temperature.  $T_s$  is defined as follows:

$$T_s = \ln\left(\frac{298.15 - t}{273.15 + t}\right) \tag{6}$$

with t the temperature (°C). Hamme and Emerson [2004] have empirically determined the different coefficients allowing to calculate the solubility of  $N_2$ , Ar and Ne, using a similar relationship:

$$lnC = A_0 + A_1T_s + A_2T_s^2 + A_3T_s^3 + S(B_0 + B_1T_s + B_2T_s^2)$$
(7)

193

105

188

with C the gas concentration of N<sub>2</sub>, Ar or Ne at equilibrium with a moist atmosphere at 1 atm pressure ( $\mu$ mol  $kg^{-1}$ ),  $A_i$  and  $B_i$  constant coefficients,  $T_s$  the scaled temperature as 1 previously defined and S the salinity. At a given depth, the measured ice temperature and 1 the calculated brine salinity are used both in the equation of *Garcia and Gordon* [1992]

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 12 to estimate O2 solubility and in the equation of Hamme and Emerson [2004] to calculate 194  $N_2$  and Ar solubilities. The theoretical total gas content (expressed in ml<sub>air</sub> STP kg<sup>-1</sup>) pus at saturation in brines at a given depth is finally calculated as the sum of the O2 , N2 204 and Ar solubilities (reasonably assuming that these three gases represent 100% of air) 201 weighted by the value of the relative brine volume calculated at the same depth. This value can eventually be multiplied by a coefficient indicating the supersaturation level that 201 has to be reached before bubbles nucleates. The value of the supersaturation coefficient 004 depends upon the conditions reigning during sea ice formation. In calm conditions, a 205 supersaturation level up to 2.2–2.5 must be fulfilled [Killawee et al., 1998] while values of about 1.4 seem to be sufficient in the presence of a current that thins the boundary layer down [Tison et al., 2002]. At a given depth, the difference between the computed solubility (multiplied by the sursaturation coefficient) and the measured total gas content 304 should represent the fraction of the total gas content existing in the ice in the form of 214 bubbles. 211

#### 3.3. Caveats and limitations

Values obtained from this approach must be considered with precaution. Indeed, temperatures and salinities generally encountered in sea ice brines (especially in cold winter sea ice) are often beyond the salinity and temperature validity range of relationships allowing to compute the solubility of a given gas in a solution on the basis of its temperature and salinity. For the time being, no such relationship exists in the literature that could be directly applicable to the calculation of gases dissolved in sea ice brines [*Thomas and Papadimitriou*, 2003]. BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 13

#### 4. Results

#### 4.1. Mc Murdo 99

In the cold natural ice from Mc Murdo Sound, the observed values of the total gas content are low (between 2 and 5.6 ml STP  $kg_{ice}^{-1}$ ) although the observed total gas content is at any time higher than the computed air solubility in the brines (figure 2). Note however that the range of total gas content measured in the upper meter fits well with the calculated solubility range at the bottom of the sea ice cover.

On figure 3 it can be seen that the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio varies scarcely along the studied ice core section. All measurement are located above the atmospheric value of the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio (0.27) but below the *equilibrium* value of 0.48 (the physico-chemical meaning of which will be discussed later in this paper):  $O_2/N_2$  ranges between 0.36 and 0.45 with a mean value of 0.43. Two couples of measurements located between 29.75 cm and 34.40 cm and between 56.90 cm and 58.65 cm show a relatively low  $O_2/N_2$  ratio of 0.36 and 0.41 respectively. They are located close to natural fractures in the ice core.

#### 4.2. INTERICE III

The total gas content profiles are similar in appearance for both the *Low Light* and the *High Light 1* experimental tanks at day #3 and day #10 (figure 4). The values of the total gas content range between 5.93 and 10.62 ml STP  $kg_{ice}^{-1}$  and are higher than the computed air solubility values already from the beginning of the experiment. On day #10, the profile of the measurements draws aside the profile of the computed air solubilities excepted for the two lowest values which meet the upper boundary of the 'solubility zone' (*Low Light*) or are included into it (lowest value in *High Light 1*). Here too, the relatively constant values of the upper layers (5–10 ml STP  $kg_{ice}^{-1}$ ) fall into the range of expected

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 14 values from calculated solubilities in the bottom (permeable) layers. On day #18, the 239 deviation of the profile with respect to the calculated air solubility profile remains in the 280 first 10 cm of the ice cover while the total gas content increases dramatically up to 24.37 241 ml STP  $kg_{ice}^{-1}$  (Low Light) beneath this depth (figure 4). By contrast with the total 242 gas content, noticeably different values of  $O_2/N_2$  can be observed between the profiles on 243 day #3 as exhibited on figure 5. The measured  $O_2/N_2$  values in the ice from the Low 244 Light tank are close to the typical value of the ratio in the seawater (0.59) while those 345 from the ice of the High Light 1 tank are contained between the characteristic value of 246  $O_2/N_2$  in the atmosphere (0.27) and the equilibrium value of 0.48. The contrast between 287 the two tanks, although reduced in amplitude, is still present at day #10. Similarly in both tanks, the values of  $O_2/N_2$  have decreased in the first centimeter in relation to the 249 values observed at day #3. The shape of the profiles is also alike in both tanks starting 740 from higher values at the bottom in the newly formed ice to lower values at the top in 251 the older ice. The discrepancy between the two profiles persists on day #18 in the first 25.7 10 cm of the ice cover and disappear below this depth where the values of  $O_2/N_2$  show a 253 decrease towards the typical atmospheric value of  $O_2/N_2$  and stabilize around 0.37. 254

#### 5. Discussion

#### 5.1. Mc Murdo 99

Since the extraction method ensures the collection of the totality of the gas content (both dissolved in the brines and in the form of bubbles), the fact that the measured values of the total gas content are at all times higher than the computed value of air solubility in the brines (see figure 2) implies that a part of the total gas content of the bulk ice should be in the form of bubbles. However, the values of the total gas content

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 15 measured in the columnar ice of Mc Murdo Sound are comparable to these performed in 261 the ice from the INTERICE II experiment, that has grown in the absence of current, where 343 no bubble nucleation was detected [Tison et al., 2002]. Since the bubble content should be very low and its influence presumed limited on the gas composition, this implies that the 263 observed gas composition at Mc Murdo Sound predominantly reflects the gas composition 364 of the brines entrapped in the ice provided that, as discussed above [Verbeke et al., 2002], 74.5 biological activity was negligible in the studied layers. The gas composition is relatively 264 constant in the 40 cm long studied section, especially if we except the two couples of 267 'outliers'. The presence of a natural ice core break around 32 cm depth is thought to be the reason for the low  $O_2/N_2$  ratio observed on both sides of the break. The fracture would have induced a partial balancing between the gas included in the ice and the atmosphere 274 resulting in a decrease of the observed  $O_2/N_2$  towards the atmospheric value. A similar 274 atmospheric contamination process would have been responsible for the relatively lower 372 value of 0.41 observed around 60 cm depth. 213

#### 5.2. Initial entrapment

Fick's first law of diffusion formulated as the enrichment coefficient of the water at the interface (see equation 2) can be used to estimate the influence of the initial gas entrapment on the gas composition. It can be seen from equation 2 that for a given solute species (with a fixed value of  $D_x$ ), the enrichment at the interface depends only upon the thickness of the boundary layer and the freezing rate. Standard values of these two parameters have been chosen to simulate the initial entrapment process: a mean boundary layer thickness of 0.29 cm [*Eicken*, 1998] and an estimated value of the maximum freezing rate of 2.84 10<sup>-5</sup> cm s<sup>-1</sup> that occurred between 0.25 and 0.35m depth for the Mc Murdo Sound [*Verbeke*, 2005].

156

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES The  $O_2/N_2$  ratio encountered at the interface under these conditions can be determined 392 as the ratio of the  $O_2$  to  $N_2$  enrichment factors times the value of the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio in 203 sea water. The calculation yields the value of 0.54 (shaded value in table 1), which is 264 lower than the value of  $O_2/N_2$  in sea water (0.59). This means that diffusion occurs from 245 the interface through the boundary layer from the beginning of the freezing, altering the 284 gas composition. Nevertheless, this process cannot solely explain the much lower value of 387  $O_2/N_2$  observed in the Mc Murdo 99 ice core.

#### 5.3. Post-entrapment diffusion

X - 16

Since the close-off (understand the reduction of the ice porosity below the threshold of 5% according to Golden et al. [1998]) is not instantaneous, it can be surmised that 295 exchanges are likely to happen between the brine inclusions, entrapped in the ice during 291 the advance of the freezing front, and the underlying sea water. If these exchanges occur 292 only by diffusion, the effect of this further post-entrapment diffusion process on the gas 293 composition can be estimated via the calculation of the enrichment factors and the resulting  $O_2/N_2$  at the interface. Table 1 displays the evolution of  $O_2/N_2$  at the interface for 265 different values of the freezing rate and of the boundary layer thickness. It can be noticed from this table that  $O_2/N_2$  tends towards lower values of the ratio for faster freezing rates 297 and/or thicker boundary layers. For near zero-growth freezing rate and boundary layer 290 thickness, the gas composition is, as expected, close to the value of  $O_2/N_2$  in seawater 240 (0.59). When the ice thickens further and as the bottom sea ice layer remains permeable (until the relative brine volume goes below 5%), this can be regarded as favourable 301 to diffusion processes in a geometrical configuration equivalent to an increase of the  $z_{\mu}$ 302 value by up to 5–10 cm. In the absence of bubbles, this post-entrapment diffusion process BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 17 should lead to an equilibrium post-entrapment  $O_2/N_2$  value of 0.48, which is close to the observed values of the ratio in the columnar ice at Mc Murdo Sound.

#### 5.4. INTERICE III

The values of the total gas content observed in both tanks for the whole experiment duration tally with the values of previous measurements [Matsuo and Miyake, 1966; Tison 307 et al., 2002 although several values on day #18 exceed the maximum value of 21.2 ml STP 100  $kg_{ice}^{-1}$  observed by Matsuo and Miyake [1966]. The evolution of the total gas content in the ice during the first ten days of growth is similar to what was observed in the ice of the 310 INTERICE II experiment which has grown under comparable conditions [Tison et al., 111 2002]. It reveals that the total gas content present in the upper colder layers of the sea 317 ice cover is primarily inherited from solubility and supersaturation processes occurring 313 within the lower permeable layer. Further cooling (below the temperature corresponding 314 to the 5% brine volume threshold) mainly redistributes the same amount of gas between 316 the dissolved and gaseous phases, in closed system. The dramatic increase of the total gas 316 content visible under 10 cm on day #18 both in the Low Light and in the High Light 1 317 tank is likely to have an artificial origin. The overflow pipes allowing water of the tank to 318 stay in equilibrium with the atmosphere were not efficiently maintained working between 319 day #10 and day #18. Consequently, gases expelled at the ice-water interface by the ice 104 growth process would have been accumulated stepwise over the days in the tank, since 371 there was no possibility anymore for it to escape into the atmosphere. This event would 327 have been translated into a supersaturation of gases into the bulk water reservoir, in turn 323 resulting in an increase of the total gas content of the newly formed ice. 504

X - 18 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

The fact that  $O_2/N_2$  values, observed at day #3 in both tanks, are lower than the typi-325 cal value in seawater (0.59) can be easily explained in the light of the processes mentioned 1254 above (initial entrapment and post-entrapment diffusion). The impact of the initial en-101 trapment process leads to  $O_2/N_2 = 0.54$ . This value was obtained considering a mean 376 freezing rate of 2.68 10<sup>-5</sup> cm s<sup>-1</sup> measured for the first three days of the ice growth and a 324 mean boundary layer thickness of 0.29 cm [Eicken, 1998]. Assuming an equivalent freez-336 ing rate but presuming a 10 cm scale boundary layer thickness (formed by the bottom 301 portion of the ice cover where porosity >5% and acting as an upward extension of the 337 boundary layer),  $O_2/N_2$  stabilizes around 0.48 as a consequence of the post-entrapment 333 diffusion process. The difference of  $O_2/N_2$  between High Light 1 and Low Light cannot, 334 however, be attributed to these two processes. These are indeed thought to have similarly 335 influenced the gas composition in the two tanks since the controlled experimental condi-154 tions which drive both the freezing rate and the boundary layer thickness (both, in turn, 31.7 regulating the efficiency of the diffusion at the interface) are the same. 338

The difference is suspected to be biologically-driven. As a proxy of the biological ac-314 tivity, chlorophyll a concentrations were measured in centrifugated brines at day #3, day 344 #10 and day #16 both in the High Light 1 and in the Low Light tank. Data from table 2 (S. Papadimitriou and D.N. Thomas, School of Ocean Sciences, University of Wales, 343 Bangor, UK - unpublished data) show a contrast between the two tanks (respectively 343 2.65 vs 11.77  $\mu$ g l<sub>brine</sub><sup>-1</sup>) although the initial inoculum chlorophyll *a* concentration was 344 identical. The decrease of the chlorophyll a concentration in the High Light 1 tank as the 345 result of a probable algae mortality remains unknown. Photoinhibition can be precluded 344 as a cause of the observed decrease of the chlorophyll a concentration. The imposed irra-347

BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 19 diance amounts are indeed too low, even in the High Light 1 tank (34  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), to induce photo-inhibition for autotroph microorganisms. Fragilariopsis cylindrus has proven not to manifest any evidential sign of photoinhibition at irradiance levels up to 385 µmol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> [Mock and Hoch, 2005]. Photosynthetic O<sub>2</sub> production 351 by a still relatively healthy algal community in the Low Light tank is thought to have 55.2 compensated the effects of the initial entrapment and post-entrapment diffusion processes 35.5 on  $O_2/N_2$ . This would have therefore maintained the  $O_2/N_2$  observed in this tank close 164 to the typical value of the ratio in seawater. In the High Light 1 tank, such photosyn-184 thetic O<sub>2</sub> production, if still present, was not sufficient to keep  $O_2/N_2$  close to 0.59. This 354 photosynthetically-driven contrast between the two tanks has persisted along the entire profile during most of the experiment. It has sluggishly vanished with time but was still marked at day #18 in the uppermost 10 cm of the ice cover. Given that  $O_2/N_2$  stabilizes 254 around 0.37 and not 0.48 at the end of the experiment in both tanks beneath 10 cm depth, 560 an additional control process has to be considered. 361

#### 5.5. Bubble nucleation

The impact on the gas composition of the progressive increase of the total gas content in both tanks, resulting from the gas supersaturation of the tank water, has not been considered yet. Once supersaturation has reached a critical level, whose value depends upon the local experimental conditions (presence or not of a current), bubbles start nucleating [e.g. *Carte*, 1961; *Killawee et al.*, 1998; *Tison et al.*, 2002]. As bubble nucleate, *Tison et al.* [2002] attributed the decrease of the O<sub>2</sub> concentration and of  $O_2/N_2$  (concomitant with a reduction of the freezing rate) to an increase of the duration needed for the gas and the liquid phase (namely the brines) to become equilibrated. According to these

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 20 authors, the first bubble to form will be characterized by a gas composition close to that 370 of the water from which they have originally formed (the freezing rate is fast). As the ice 371 cover thickens the ice growth rate diminishes. This provides more time for gases to diffuse between the gas and the liquid phase and for  $O_2/N_2$  to decrease as a result of the faster diffusion rate of O2 relative to N2. This explanation must, however, be invalidated in the 374 light of the work of Kanwisher [1963]. This author has indeed demonstrated that gaseous 375 equilibration needs only a few hundredths of seconds to complete in the case of O<sub>2</sub> and 124 N<sub>2</sub>, duration which is largely exceeded before a brine inclusion becomes isolated from the 377 underlying reservoir. As an alternative explanation and since the gas composition analysis 378 technique used in this work collects gases both from dissolved and gaseous phases, the 3.14 progressive decrease of  $O_2/N_2$  is hypothesized to be attributed to a progressive increase of the gas fraction contained in the gas phase in relation to the fraction of the gas dissolved 341 in the brine, assuming an open system. Using the equation of Colt [1984] based on the 303 works of Weiss [1970, 1974],  $O_2/N_2$  of a bubble in equilibrium with brine displaying a  $O_2/N_2$  ratio of 0.48 at -5 °C (implying a salinity of about 84.59 according to equation 3) 104 can be estimated on the basis of the temperature and the salinity of the solution. This calculation yields a value of 0.22. This estimate needs however to be considered with 384 caution since, as developed before, the salinity and the temperature encountered in such 387 a brine are beyond the limit of validity of the formula (temperature: -1 to 40 °C, salinity: 0 to 40). Nevertheless, this value allows us to link, at least semi-quantitatively, higher 381 bubble contents, initiated by higher total gas contents, to a decrease of the  $O_2/N_2$  ratio.

161

#### BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 21

#### 5.6. A simple conceptual model

Figure 6 summarizes the three main physico-chemical control processes potentially acting on the gas composition in the ice during its growth:

<sup>393</sup> 1. the *initial dissolved gas entrapment* where the gas composition is determined by <sup>394</sup> the freezing rate and by the boundary layer thickness (mean thickness: 0.29 cm [*Eicken*, <sup>395</sup> 1998]) (process 1° on figure 6).

<sup>395</sup> 2. the post-entrapment diffusion, acting as an ageing process on the sea ice brines, <sup>397</sup> strengthens the contrast between the different gases according to their respective molecular <sup>398</sup> diffusivity. The main drive of the process is the extension of the boundary layer ( $z_{bd}$ <sup>399</sup> reaches easily up to 10 cm) through the bottommost part of the ice cover which is still <sup>409</sup> permeable (relative brine volume >5%). In these conditions,  $O_2/N_2$  usually stabilizes at <sup>401</sup> the equilibrium value of 0.48 (see table 1 and process 2° on figure 6).

the bubble nucleation does not occur necessarily unlike the two previous processes. 482 If supersaturation levels at the ice-water interface are sufficient for bubbles to form, the 483 gas composition will evolve, inducing a decrease of  $O_2/N_2$  proportional to the fraction 404 of gas contained in the gas phase relative to the dissolved fraction, provided that the system is still open to gas exchanges with the water reservoir below. For example, if 426 bubble nucleation happens after the post-entrapment diffusion process has equilibrated 411 the  $O_2/N_2$  value at 0.48, the final  $O_2/N_2$  value of the sea ice gas content will be included 410 between this last value and 0.22 ( $O_2/N_2$  value for a bubble in equilibrium with brine 419 characterized by  $O_2/N_2 = 0.48$ ). 410

#### X - 22 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

#### 6. Conclusions and Implications

In this work we identified three main physico-chemical processes able to significantly 41.1 alter the gas properties of sea ice during its growth. The use of a boundary layer concept 410 has proven to be relevant to describe the evolution of the sea ice gas composition (seen 413 as  $O_2/N_2$ ) when the influence of biological processes is negligible. The successful use of 414 such an approach, to predict the gas composition of the ice samples studied in this work, 415 emphasizes the importance of diffusion among the exchange processes occurring at the 416 ice-water interface during the ice growth. The demonstration of the validity of a boundary-417 layer approach appears to be of prime importance for further modelling purpose of gas 418 transport in sea ice, a fundamental topic for future estimates of its impact on exchanges of climatically significant gases (CO2, DMS, CH4,...) between the ocean and the atmosphere. 420 This work also stresses that considerable gas supersaturations can occur in the ice that 421 are strictly driven by physico-chemical processes at work during ice growth. This is likely 422 to have significant impacts on the use of oxygen concentrations in ice as an indicator of 423 in situ primary production from sympagic (ice algae) organisms. 424

Acknowledgments. The authors warmly thank K.-U. Evers and the HSVA ice-tank crew for their hospitality and technical support during the INTERICE III experiment. Many thanks to S. Papadimitriou and D.N. Thomas for providing the chlorophyll *a* measurements. The research activities at ARCTELAB were funded by the Human Potential and Mobility Programme from the European Union (contract HPRI-CT-1999-00035). The authors would also like to thank Antarctica New Zealand and Industrial Research Ltd. (T. Haskell) for making the McMurdo Sound sampling possible. This work was conducted under the *SIBClim* project, funded by the Communauté française de Belgique (ARC conBRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 23 tract 02/07-287). F. Brabant is funded by a Belgian National Fund for Industrial and Agricultural Research (F.R.I.A.) grant (Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique - FNRS).

#### References

- Assur, A. (1958), Composition of sea ice and its tensile strength, in Arctic sea ice, National
   Research Council Publication, vol. 598, edited by U. National Academy of Sciences, pp.
   106–138.
- Barnola, J. M., D. Raynaud, A. Neftel, and H. Oeschger (1983), Comparison of CO<sub>2</sub>
   measurements by two laboratories on air from bubbles in polar ice, *Nature*, 303, 410–
   413. doi:10.1038/303410a0.
- <sup>441</sup> Blunier, T., J. A. Chappellaz, J. Schwander, J.-M. Barnola, T. Desperts, B. Stauffer, and
   <sup>442</sup> D. Raynaud (1993), Atmospheric methane, record from a Greenland ice core over the
   <sup>443</sup> last 1000 year, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 20(20), 2219–2222.
- Broecker, W. S., and T. H. Peng (1974), Gas exchange rates between air and sea, *Tellus*,
   XXVI(1-2), 21-35.
- Carte, A. E. (1961), Air bubbles in ice, Proc. Phys. Soc., 77, 757–768, doi:10.1088/0370 1328/77/3/327.
- Colt, J. (Ed.) (1984), Computation of dissolved gas concentrations in water as functions
   of temperature, salinity and pressure, 154 pp., American Fisheries Society, Bethesda,
   MD, USA.
- <sup>491</sup> Cottier, F. R. (1999), Brine distribution in young sea ice, Ph.D. Thesis, University of
   <sup>492</sup> Cambridge.

164

X - 24 BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

- Cottier, F. R., H. Eicken, and P. Wadhams (1999), Linkages between salinity and brine channel distribution in young sea ice, J. Geophys. Res., 104 (C7), 15,859–15,871.
- Cox, G. F. N., and W. F. Weeks (1983), Equations for determining the gas and brine
- volumes in sea-ice samples, J. Glaciol., 29(102), 306–316.

45.5

214

- 10/ Eicken, H. (1998), Deriving modes and rates of ice growth in the Weddell Sea from mi-
- 484 crostructural, salinity and stable-isotope data, in Antarctic Sea Ice: physical processes,
- 400 interaction and variability, Antarctic Research Series, vol. 74, edited by M. Jeffries, pp.
- 400 89-122, American Geophysical Union, Washington D.C.
- 491 Eicken, H. (2003), From the microscopic to the macroscopic to the regional scale: growth,
- microstructure and properties of sea ice, in Sea ice An introduction to its physics,
- biology, chemistry and geology, edited by D. N. Thomas and G. S. Dieckmann, pp.
- 44 22-81, Blackwell Publishing, Blackwell Science, London.
- Garcia, H. E., and L. I. Gordon (1992), Oxygen solubility in sea water : Better fitting
   equations, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 37(6), 1307–1312.
- 407 Giannelli, V., D. N. Thomas, C. Haas, G. Kattner, H. Kennedy, and G. S. Dieckmann
- (2001), Behaviour of dissolved organic matter and inorganic nutrients during experi mental sea-ice formation, Ann. Glaciol., 33, 317–321.
- Golden, K. M., S. F. Ackley, and V. I. Lytle (1998), The percolation phase transition in
   sea ice, *Science*, 282, 2238–2241.
- Haas, C., et al. (1999), Multidisciplinary ice tank study shedding new light on sea ice
   growth processes, *Eos Trans.*, 87(18), 173.
- Hamme, R. C., and S. R. Emerson (2004), The solubility of neon, nitrogen and argon in
   distilled water and seawater, *Deep Sea Res. I*, 51(11), 1517–1528.

BRABANT ET AL .: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 25

- Jeffries, M. O., W. F. Weeks, R. Shaw, and K. Morris (1993), Structural characteristics
   of congelation and platelet ice and their role in the development of Antarctic land-fast
   sea ice, J. Glaciol., 39(132), 223–238.
- Kanwisher, J. (1963), On the exchange of gases between the atmosphere and the sea, Deep
   Sea Res., 10, 195–207.
- Killawee, J. A., I. J. Fairchild, J.-L. Tison, L. Janssens, and R. Lorrain (1998), Segragation
   of solutes and gases in experimental freezing of dilute solutions: implication for natural
   glacial systems, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 62(23/24), 3637–3655.
- Krembs, C., T. Mock, and R. Gradinger (2001), A mesocosm study on physical-biological
   interactions in artificial Arctic sea ice, *Polar Biol.*, 24, 356–364.
- Lepparänta, M., and T. Manninen (1988), The brine and gas content of sea ice with attention to low salinities and high temperatures, *Finnish Institute Marine Research Internal Report, 88-2*, Helsinki.
- Martinerie, P., V. Y. Lipenkov, D. Raynaud, J. Chappellaz, N. I. Barkov, and C. Lorius
- (1994), Air content paleo record in the Vostok ice core (Antarctic): a mixed record of
- elimatic and glaciological parameters, J. Geophys. Res., 99(D5), 10,565–10,576.
- Matsuo, S., and Y. Miyake (1966), Gas composition in ice samples from Antarctica, J.
   Geophys. Res., 71(22), 5235–5241.
- Mock, T., and N. Hoch (2005), Long-term temperature acclimation of photosynthesis in
   steady-state cultures of the polar diatom *Fragilariopsis cylindrus*, *Photosynth. Res.*, 85,
   307–317.
- <sup>497</sup> Mock, T., G. S. Dieckmann, C. Haas, A. Krell, J.-L. Tison, A. L. Belem, S. Papadimitriou, <sup>498</sup> and D. N. Thomas (2002), Micro-optodes in sea ice : a new approach to investigate

X - 26 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES
 oxygen dynamics during sea ice formation, Aquat. Microb. Ecol., 29, 297–306.

- <sup>300</sup> Papadimitriou, S., H. Kennedy, G. Kattner, G. S. Dieckmann, and D. N. Thomas (2003),
- 501 Experimental evidence for carbonate precipitation and CO<sub>2</sub> degassing during sea ice for-
- mation, Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 68(8), 1749-1761, doi:10.1016/j.gca.2003.07.004.
- Raynaud, D., and B. Lebel (1979), Total gas content and surface elevation of polar ice
   sheets, *Nature*, 281, 289–291.
- Raynaud, D., R. Delmas, J. M. Ascencio, and M. Legrand (1982), Gas extraction from polar ice cores: a critical issue for studying the evolution of atmospheric  $CO_2$  and ice-sheet surface elevation, Ann. Glaciol., 3, 265–268.
- Raynaud, D., J. Chappellaz, J. M. Barnola, Y. S. Korotkevich, and C. Lorius (1988),
- <sup>569</sup> Climatic and CH<sub>4</sub> cycle implications of glacial-interglacial CH<sub>4</sub> change in the Vostok
   <sup>509</sup> ice core, *Nature*, *333*, 2219–2222, doi:10.1038/333655a0.
- Rysgaard, S., and R. N. Glud (2004), Anaerobic N<sub>2</sub> production in Arctic sea ice, *Limnol.* Oceanogr., 49(1), 86–94.
- Souchez, R., J.-L. Tison, and J. Jouzel (1987), Freezing rate determination by the isotopic
   composition of the ice, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 14 (6), 599–602.
- Souchez, R., J.-L. Tison, and J. Jouzel (1988), Deuterium concentration and growth rate
- of Antarctic first-year sea ice, Geophys. Res. Lett., 15(12), 1385–1388.
- 517 Thomas, D. N., and S. Papadimitriou (2003), Biogeochemistry of sea ice, in Sea ice An
- introduction to its physics, biology, chemistry and geology, edited by D. N. Thomas and
- 519 G. S. Dieckmann, pp. 267–302, Blackwell Publishing, Blackwell Science, London.
- <sup>530</sup> Tison, J.-L., and J. Haren (1989), Isotopic, chemical and crystallographic characteristics
- of first-year sea ice from Breid Bay (Princess Ragnhild Coast Antarctica), Antarct.

BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 27 Sci., 1(3), 261–268.

- Tison, J.-L., M. M. Gowing, S. Sleewaegen, A. Bernard, and C. Haas (2002), Tank study
- <sup>554</sup> of physico-chemical controls on gas content and composition during growth of young <sup>555</sup> sea ice, J. Glaciol., 48(161), 177–191.
- Trodahl, H. J., M. J. McGuinness, P. J. Langhorne, K. Collins, A. E. Pantoja, I. J.
- Smith, and T. G. Haskell (2000), Heat transport in McMurdo Sound first-year fast ice,

S38 J. Geophys. Res., 105 (C5), 11,347–11,358.

5.02

- Tsurikov, V. L. (1979), The formation and composition of the gas content of sea ice, J.
   Glaciol., 22(86), 67–81.
- <sup>531</sup> Verbeke, V. (2005), Concentrations en gaz dans la glace de mer: développements tech <sup>532</sup> niques et implications environnementales, Ph.D. Thesis, Université Libre de Bruxelles,
   <sup>533</sup> Belgique.
- 54 Verbeke, V., J.-L. Tison, H. J. Trodhal, and T. G. Haskell (2002), Banding in Mc Murdo
- fast ice, in Ice in the Environment: Proceedings of the 16th IAR International Sympo-
- sium on Ice, Dunedin, New Zealand, 2-6 December, edited by International Association
- of Hydraulic Engineering and Research, pp. 158-167.
- Weeks, W. S., and S. F. Ackley (1986), The growth, structure and properties of sea ice, in
- 500 The Geophysics of Sea Ice, NATO ASI Ser., Ser. B, vol. 146, edited by N. Untersteiner,
- sto pp. 9-164, Plenum Press, New York.
- Weiss, R. F. (1970), The solubility of nitrogen, oxygen and argon in water and seawater,
   Deep Sea Res., 17, 721–735.
- Weiss, R. F. (1974), Carbon dioxide in water and sea water : the solubility of a non-ideal
   gas, Mar. Chem., 2, 203–215.







Figure 2. Total gas content measured in the columnar ice of Mc Murdo Sound (white triangles). The shaded zone depicts the range of theoretical total gas contents where supersaturation occurs without bubble nucleation for interface enrichment factors from 1 (white circles) to 2.5 (gray circles). The texture profile is also shown on the right of the graph (G for granular ice, C for columnar ice, M for mixed granular/columnar and P for platelet ice).



Figure 3.  $O_2/N_2$  measurements in the ice of Mc Murdo Sound (gray triangles).  $O_2/N_2$ typical values of 0.27 in the atmosphere (*atm* - dotted line), 0.48 at *equilibrium* (*eq* dash-doted line) and 0.59 in seawater (*sw* - dashed line) are also represented (see text for details). The texture profile is also shown on the right of the graph (*G* for granular ice, *C* for columnar ice, *M* for mixed granular/columnar and *P* for platelet ice).


#### X - 30 BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

Figure 4. Total gas content profiles measured in the ice of INTERICE III at day #3, day #10 and day #18 from the *High Light 1* (black triangles - upper panel) and the *Low Light* (black squares - lower panel) tanks. The shaded zone depicts the range of theoretical total gas contents in zones where supersaturation occurs without bubble nucleation for interface enrichment factors from 1 (white circles) to 2.5 (gray circles).



#### BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 31

Figure 5.  $O_2/N_2$  profiles measured in the ice of INTERICE III from the *High Light* 1 (black triangles) and *Low Light* tanks (gray squares).  $O_2/N_2$  typical values of 0.27 in the atmosphere (*atm* - dotted line), 0.48 at *equilibrium* (*eq* - dash-doted line) and 0.59 in seawater (*sw* - dashed line) are also represented.

$\mathbf{z}_{bl}$ (cm)	$ u_i \pmod{\mathrm{s}^{-1}}$							
	$2.78 \ 10^{-6}$	$1.39 \ 10^{-5}$	$2.68 \ 10^{-5}$	$2.78 \ 10^{-5}$	$2.84 \ 10^{-5}$	1.39 10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.78 10-4	
0.09	0.59	0.58	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.53	0.51	
0.29	0.58	0.56	0.54	0.54	0.54	0.50	0.49	
1	0.56	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.49	0.48	
3	0.54	0.50	0.49	0.49	0.49	0.48	0.48	
10	0.51	0.49	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.48	
30	0.49	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.48	

**Table 1.** Evolution of  $O_2/N_2$  at the interface in parallel with an increase of the boundary layer thickness  $z_{bl}$  and of the freezing rate  $\nu_i$ . See text for further details.

172

## BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES

Day	Sample location	High Light 1	LOW Light	
#3	overall	2.65	11.77	
#10	top	10.94	21.57	
	bottom	8.78	12.44	
#16	top	0.74	6.32	
	center	0.91	11.55	
	bottom	0.32	2.51	

Day Sample location High Light 1 Low Light

X - 32

**Table 2.** Chlorophyll *a* concentrations ( $\mu$ g l<sup>-1</sup>) measured in centrifugated brines sampled at different locations in the ice cover of *High Light 1* and *Low Light* tanks. Sampling took place at three time steps (day #3, #10 and #16) (S. Papadimitriou and D.N. Thomas, School of Ocean Sciences, University of Wales, Bangor, UK - unpublished data).

## BRABANT ET AL.: PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CONTROLS ON SEA ICE GAS PROPERTIES X - 33



Figure 6. Summarizing scheme of the physico-chemical processes controlling the gas properties of sea ice during its growth.  $z_{bl}$  is the boundary layer thickness,  $\nu_i$  is the freezing rate and  $V_b/V$  is the relative brine volume. See text for further details.

## CHAPTER VI: GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

The general objective of the present research work was to achieve a better understanding of the dynamics of DMS/P/O in Antarctic sea ice in relation to the physical and biogeochemical properties of the ice cover. This study distinguishes from previous sea ice DMS/P studies by an approach in a temporal perspective. To fulfil this general objective, it was necessary to answer four scientific questions:

 What is the impact of melting of the sample on the determination of DMSO in sea ice and is it possible to get around this issue?

In chapter II, it was shown that as previously demonstrated for taxonomic and other biogeochemical studies, processing sea ice samples appears to be equally challenging for the determination of DMSO as the necessary melting step induces a strong physiological response of the sympagic organisms involving DMSP and DMS. This physiological response is prone to significantly bias the measurement of DMS, DMSP or DMSO. This analytical finding is of prime importance and implies that previously published (but hopefully scarce) sea ice DMS data in bulk sea ice, obtained through the traditional melting method, have to be regarded with caution, as potentially overestimated in relation to DMSP. DMS extraction method by dry crushing has been used at large scale on an important amount of samples to produce all the bulk ice DMS data reported in the present work. Still under development when Antarctic sea ice DMS/P/O concentration measurements were being performed in the framework of this thesis, the extraction method by dry crushing has ever since confirmed to produce reliable results. The procedure recommended for the sequential determination of DMS, DMSP and DMSO includes extraction of DMS by dry crushing and determination of DMSO by a precise enzymatic method to produce unbiased results. A novel conception of the sea ice environment recently emerged where sympagic organisms are now considered to live within biofilms attached to brine inclusions walls or embedded in viscous gel-filled voids rather than being freely suspended in the liquid phase of brines. In order to produce reliable results, representative of bulk sea ice, it appears mandatory to perform biogeochemical analyses from a solid ice sample. The use of the procedure described in chapter II seems therefore suitable in

this perspective for the determination of DMS/P/O in sea ice and its use for future sea ice DMS/P/O studies should be encouraged.

# How do the physical and thermohaline properties of sea ice temporally evolve under atmospheric thermal forcing?

In chapter III, the temporal evolution of the physical and thermohaline properties of first-year Antarctic sea ice was addressed during spring and summer with an emphasis on the evolution of fluid transport properties of sea ice in the perspective of using it for the interpretation of ancillary variables in the framework of parallel biogeochemical studies. Time series experiments on pack ice are not legion, probably because of the logistic challenge they represent. In the framework of this thesis, the systematic choice of internally homogeneous sampling sites combined with a sufficiently long observation period allowed the spatial variability to be sidestepped and to reveal original and contrasting results between spring and summer. It is, to our knowledge, the first time that a cyclic pattern of intense brine drainage, as the one observed in the spring Antarctic sea ice in the Bellingshausen Sea, is observed in the field and corroborated by a series of variables of different nature. The comparative study of two sites of first-year sea ice with contrasting features showed that the ice at each site responded differently to the same atmospheric thermal forcing. This study confirmed by means of field data the importance of the ice texture, snow and ice thickness on the control of brine movement. The first-year sea ice cover investigated in December 2004 in the Weddell Sea revealed a dynamic environment in terms of exchange processes with the ocean and atmosphere although not comparable to those observed in thermally-forced spring sea ice in terms of magnitude of the processes. Opportunity was given to witness the transition from gravity drainage (that can occur under modest brine salinity gradients due to the high porosity of the ice cover at that time of the year) to diffusion controlled transport processes across sea ice. The observation of the development of features like the honeycomb-like structure in the upper layers of the ice cover and superimposed ice in the snowpack were also anticipated to have significant influence on the export of biogeochemical tracers towards the atmosphere and the ocean. Without a characterisation of the temporal evolution of the physicochemical (mainly texture, structure, temperature and salinity) properties of the sea ice cover prior to

biogeochemical investigations, a valid interpretation of biogeochemical dataset would have been compromised. For example, it would have been difficult to explain the periodic drops in DMS/P/O burdens observed in the spring ice cover during SIMBA without a prior identification of the existence of a cyclic brine drainage regime.

 What is the distribution of DMS/P/O in spring and summer sea ice and how does it temporally evolve in conjunction with the evolution of the physical and thermohaline properties of the sea ice cover?

The most exciting finding of this thesis lies in the observation of the reactor-like behaviour of the sea ice cover with respect to its ability to produce important amounts of DMS/P/O and then exchange them with either the atmosphere or the underlying ocean at the winter-spring transition in the Bellingshausen Sea. Despite the important loads of DMS/P/O released periodically by the sea ice cover, notably towards the ocean as a result of sustained brine drainage, the system was characterised by a net production of DMSP and DMS. The observation of a dynamics of DMS/P/O probably determined by the simultaneous effect of a series of factors but apparently triggered by thermal atmospheric forcing (with the regions with a thinner ice and snow cover exhibiting a higher sensitivity) might have major implications for the regional climate in a near future, provided DMS still exerts a significant climatic role. As opposed to the Arctic, the trend for Antarctic sea ice is not towards an overall decrease in sea ice extent. The ability of sea ice to produce and exchange DMS/P/O with the atmosphere or the Southern Ocean does not seem to be compromised on the short term by a decrease of the sea ice cover extent. The predicted or already observed changes in regional climatic patterns could even, at least temporarily, favour sea ice formation and ice conditions prone to lead to an increased production of DMS/P/O over an extensive zone of the ice-covered Bellingshausen Sea, potentially turning the area into a gigantic DMS/P/O plant. To validate this hypothesis, further studies are however required to assess whether the observations performed in the course of the spring 2007 are a widespread feature in the Bellingshausen Sea. Another original aspect of this thesis is the observation that DMSO within Antarctic sea ice, unlike in Arctic sea ice or in other marine environment, seems to

only marginally contribute to the total DMS/P/O pool, possibly because it is readily reduced into DMS in the sea ice environment as suggested by a recent study.

In the summer in the Weddell Sea, the overall system proved to be less active in terms of production of DMS/P and exchanges with the ocean and the atmosphere. Progressive decay of the dominating algal bottom community or the lack of environmental stress resulted in a net loss of DMSP over the study period. In terms of exchanges, the combined outgoing flux of DMS and DMSP was one order of magnitude lower than that observed at the spring transition. In summer sea ice, the release of DMS and DMSP from the decaying sea ice cover occurred indeed steadily and tended to slow down as progressive transition in brine regime towards stratification proceeded. Once sea ice brine network stratified, exchanges in DMS/P within the ice cover at that time became limited and were controlled by molecular diffusion exclusively while the release of DMS/P into the ocean was controlled by bottom melting. In the view of the very low values of chlorophyll a observed in the under-ice water column, similarly to what was observed during spring in the Bellingshausen Sea, sea ice constitutes the only source of DMS/P/O for the atmosphere and the Southern Ocean. Those findings demonstrate that the contribution of the sea ice cover to the regional DMS/P/O budget is not limited to the sole melting period as it is generally admitted in the literature. Future estimates or modeling efforts should therefore take this observation into account.

The studies of sea ice properties and sea ice DMS/P/O conducted in the form of time series allows to draft a potential scenario of the temporal dynamics of the DMS/P/O pool in sea ice, underlying water column and snow cover as well as the exchanges of DMS/P/O between those different reservoirs. It seems however necessary to keep in mind that this potential scenario is draft on the basis of studies covering limited spatial and temporal windows. Although the summer sea ice state observed during ISPOL in the Weddell Sea in 2004 could constitute a plausible evolution of the spring sea ice cover observed during SIMBA in the Bellingshausen Sea in 2007, the existence of specific regional meteorological and ice conditions as well as the lack of observations between end October and end November may compromise the proposed scenario. This first attempt to temporally integrate the DMS/P/O dynamics in sea ice could however inspire sea ice ecosystem modellers and suggest them the variables that should be taken into account or processes that should be further investigated.

#### Winter-spring transition and beginning of the atmospheric thermal cycle

The distribution of the biota in the sea ice cover is at the end of the winter partly inherited from the autumnal distribution of sympagic organisms that may develop again as permitted by the increasing ice temperature and light availability. Further development of the ice algal community may induce nutrient depletion that could in turn lead to the replacement of the dominant algal taxa by other species more adapted to the novel nutrient status of the ice cover. As the production of DMSP, notably, is acknowledged to be strongly species-dependent, the selection of the taxa that will dominate the ice algal community at that time of the year is crucial in determining the ability of the sea ice cover to produce DMSP (and thereby DMS/O). After the brine drainage event that may occur during the ice warming up when a critical temperature is reached that allows the ice porosity to be sufficient, transport of solutes become limited to molecular diffusion along concentration gradients. The "snow reservoir" is supplied with DMS while the "seawater reservoir" is supplied with DMS/P/O (panel 1 on Figure C 1).

As the season proceeds, cyclic atmospheric patterns characterized by an alternation of cold spells (driven by cold and dry air masses from the continent – clear sky) and warm spells (driven by warm and wet air masses from offshore – cloudy sky) may develop and interrupt the progressive warming up of the sea ice cover. Drop of atmospheric temperatures will cool down the ice and increase brine salinity (step 1, panel 2 on Figure C 1). Provided the duration of the cold spell is sufficient (especially if a thick snow cover is present at the ice surface, isolating it from important temperature variations), sympagic organisms may react to increasing thermal and osmotic stress by producing DMSP. Increased levels of radiations (PAR and UV) can superimpose to aforementioned stresses and further enhance DMS/P/O production. The intense cellular stress caused by the rapidly developing low temperatures and high salinity can induce cellular death, lysis and release of DMSP in the brine where it can be cleaved into DMS and acrylic acid by extracellular algal or bacterial DMSP-lyase. DMS can be bacterially or photochemically oxidised into DMSO which in turn can be reduced again into DMS via algal or bacterial pathways.

The local increase in DMS/P/O level will first enhance diffusion away from the place where DMS/P/O is produced. Concentration of salts by cooling can potentially lead to the up- and

downward expulsion of DMS/P/O with brine (step 2, panel 2 on Figure C 1). Provided the cold episode is long enough so that cold wave will propagate in the ice, an instable brine salinity (hence density) gradient will develop in the ice. If the latter is sufficient to counteract the energy dissipation imposed by the ice porosity (assessed by a mush Rayleigh number exceeding the critical value of 6-7), overturning of the brine will develop across the whole ice cover, leading to enhanced transfer of DMS/P/O to the underlying seawater, increasing the DMS/P/O pool of that reservoir and partly emptying the sea ice reservoir. One of the consequences of this process is that the global salt content of the sea ice will decrease. Nutrient resupply of the sea ice is expected to accompany upward seawater movement in the ice but is still speculative (step 3, panel 2 on Figure C 1). The DMS pool of the snow cover continues to increase, supplied by DMS diffusing from the ice. As there is at that time of the year no production of DMS/P/O in the water column, the increase of the DMS/P/O pool will be followed by a decrease driven by a series of processes like sinking of particulate matter to the ocean deep layers, bacterial consumption, venting of DMS through opening in the ice pack.... The amplitude of the effect of the cold event on the ice DMS/P/O pool will be even more important if an algal community is located close to the surface (thereby submitted to increased temperature and salinity gradients), contains taxa able to produce DMS/P/O and if the snow layer is thin. Beginning of a warm atmospheric temperature cycle will restore lower brine salinity values. This period is characterised by a lower level of environmental constraints on the sympagic organisms compared with the previous cold episode (panel 3 on Figure C 1). However, if the warming up of the ice occurs rapidly, it could lead to a salinity downshock for the ice algal cells that will enhance the release of DMSP into the ambient medium by active exudation or cell lysis and the ensuing production of DMS from dissolved DMSP through the already mentioned bacterial and algal pathways. At that time step, transport of DMS/P/O away from the locations where it is produced occurs across the ice cover and towards the seawater and snow reservoirs through molecular diffusion. During the following warm event, the DMS may be removed from the snow reservoir and released to the atmosphere by wind-pumping as warm events are generally characterised by strong wind episodes.



Figure C 1 Drawing of the DMS/P/O pool temporal evolution in sea ice and exchanges of DMS/P/O between sea ice, underlying water and the atmosphere at the winter-spring transition.

#### Spring conditions - the reactor concept and the case of unflooded sea ice

The reactor concept - The cyclic DMS/P/O production in sea ice and its transport towards the ice/water and ice/atmosphere interface may repeat as cold and warm spells are succeeded by one another driven by atmospheric forcing (Figure C 2). At that time of the year, the sea ice cover could compare with a reactor consisting of two components. Both components are thought to be mainly driven by atmospheric temperature changes which in turns induce ice temperature changes and brine salinity changes. The first "physical" component consists of the ice physical properties which will influence the fluid transport properties of the sea ice material (mainly ice texture and ice salinity) which will determine the magnitude of the transport of DMS/P/O with brine across sea ice towards the ocean under a given temperature gradient. The second "biological" component consists of the community of sympagic organisms capable of producing DMSP, DMS and DMSO and will primarily be influenced by the taxonomic composition of the algal community. Besides the thermal and osmotic stresses which are thought to be the main factors driving the DMSP production by ice algae, other environmental stress (UV and PAR, nutrients availability, grazing pressure,...) can be further added to the thermal and osmotic stresses to further enhance the algal DMSP production and mediate its conversion to DMS, DMSO or other compounds which cannot reintegrate the DMS cycle (mercaptopropionate, methanethiol,...). Forced by the atmospheric thermal cycling, the system will periodically produce elevated quantities of DMS/P/O and release a major part of them in the underlying ocean. Two different scenarii are anticipated for the midterm evolution of the system depending on whether the sea ice surface is flooded by seawater.

*Unflooded sea ice* - As the season proceeds the potential radiative stress, especially during the cold spells, increases with the level of solar radiation. Transformations within the DMS/P/O pool can be mediated by elevated radiation levels (i.e. photo-oxidation of DMS into DMSO) especially during the clear sky periods (corresponding to cold spells) as sea ice is acknowledged to contain significant amounts of photosensitiser (e.g. coloured dissolved organic matter). As substantial amounts of salts are expelled from the ice with each brine drainage event, the ice salinity (stock of salt) will decrease so that it becomes a limiting factor for brine drainage. If brine drainage stops, DMS/P/O transport to the underlying seawater will drastically slow down as restricted to molecular diffusion (panel 6, Figure C 2). In the absence of external salt resupply, brine drainage will not occur anymore until sea ice has sufficiently

warmed up for the ice porosity to be high enough to allow brine drainage under weaker instable brine salinity gradients (see summer conditions on Figure C 3). Upwards expulsion at the snow/ice interface during a cold event may still be possible as enough salt remains, depending on the severity of the low temperatures. As the season proceeds and algal community pursues its development, nutrient availability may become a limiting factor. Nutrient limitation can alter the ability of the ice algal community to produce DMS/P/O by inducing a shift in its composition or even by causing its decline. Unlike the ice salt stock that has to be replenished by external supply, resupply of the ice nutrient pool can occur from within through the bacterial remineralisation of organic matter, providing thereby reprieve for the working of the "biological" component of the system.



Figure C 2 Drawing of the DMS/P/O pool temporal evolution in sea ice and exchanges of DMS/P/O between sea ice, underlying water and the atmosphere during spring atmospheric thermal cycling – evolution of the system in unflooded areas of the pack ice.

### Spring conditions - the case of flooded sea ice

As mentioned above, the maintain of the reactor-like behaviour of sea ice with respect to DMS/P/O production and transport is submitted to external resupply of salt (for transport) and in a lesser extent to that of nutrients (for production). Thanks to snowfall during warm events of snow redistribution at the sea ice surface by wind, local accumulation of snow may become sufficient to depress the sea ice surface below the sea level and allow the invasion of the snowpack by seawater conveying nutrients and salt that can percolate through sea ice, permeability conditions permitting (panel 8, Figure C 3). Depending on the amplitude of the flooding and provided the sea ice cover is permeable enough, surface flooding can induce a vertical redistribution of DMS/P/O in sea ice. Thanks to the salt and nutrients resupply, the transport and production components of the system may be able to perform longer than in the case of unflooded sea ice. As a thicker snow cover provides insulation from atmospheric temperature changes and partially blocks solar radiations, less abrupt temperature and salinity gradients will tend to develop in the ice resulting in a overall lower production of DMS/P/O and weaker brine drainage events.



Figure C 3 Drawing of the DMS/P/O pool temporal evolution in sea ice and exchanges of DMS/P/O between sea ice, underlying water and the atmosphere during spring atmospheric thermal cycling – evolution of the system in surface flooded areas of the pack ice.

## Summer conditions - the progressive decay of sea ice

At the beginning of summer, air and ice temperature (hence ice porosity) and solar radiation levels still increase as the season proceeds. In the presence of ocean heat flux, bottom melting initiates. In the absence of surface flooding, most of the autotrophic sympagic organisms are likely to be found at the bottom of the ice, a location warranting a better access to nutrients. Providing sea ice salinity remains sufficient, a last brine drainage event can occur thanks to the high porosity of the ice allowing brine to drain under weaker salinity gradient (panel 10, Figure C 4). Most of the summer flux of DMS/P/O (mainly dissolved DMSP and DMSO) to

the ocean will be due to that process. As porosity of the surface layers increases, so does the diffusion of DMS to the snow cover (panel 11, Figure C 4). The development of features like honeycomb-like structure may also favour lateral transfer of tracers, notably towards the surrounding leads where exchanges of DMS with the atmosphere is facilitated. Internal melting of the brine channel walls progressively dilutes brines and release particulate matter (amongst which DMSP) in the brine medium. Lower salinity may favour the release of DMSP by ice algae in the dissolved phase. Stratification of the sea ice brine column, dilution of the brine, and colonisation and/or development of heterotrophic organisms (grazers) in the ice may favour the conversion of DMSP to DMS. As the brine column is stratified, exchanges with seawater occur only through diffusion or melting with an increasing fraction of particulate material. The seawater DMS/P/O pool increases. As observed in spring, strong wind episodes can efficiently empty the snow DMS pool. With the decay of the snow pack, becoming coarsely granulated, venting of DMS to the atmosphere is highly facilitated. The development of superimposed ice as snow begins to melt may however severely impede the transfer of DMS to the atmosphere. Unless sea ice surface is flooded, and a (highly productive) surface community develops, potentially leading to the temporary production of elevated DMS/P/O levels, the productivity of the system and transfer of DMS to the atmosphere and DMS/P/O to the ocean will progressively drop until complete melting of sea ice.



Figure C 4 Drawing of the DMS/P/O pool temporal evolution in sea ice and exchanges of DMS/P/O between sea ice, underlying water and the atmosphere during summer.

Although mentioned nowhere in the papers of the present thesis, field experience demonstrated that science is sometimes (only) a question of opportunity. In this respect, fire on board the N.B Palmer in the first days of the SIMBA cruise in 2007, was likely determining. This event delayed indeed the arrival of the scientists on the study site and the significantly shortened duration of the mission forced the chief scientist and principal investigators to upset their initial plans. In opting for a 20 day drift station in the Bellingshausen Sea, the opportunity was given to witness successive cycles of atmospheric cooling and warming and assess their major influence on the ice properties and on the dynamics of sympagic organisms and biogeochemical tracers.

# How does the evolution of the physical and thermohaline properties of growing sea ice influence its gas properties?

In chapter V, the results of the experiment performed on laboratory prepared growing sea ice demonstrated the relevance to use a boundary layer model to describe the initial entrapment of dissolved gas (amongst which DMS) and their evolution within the ice cover under the sole influence of physicochemical processes, amongst which molecular diffusion, bubble nucleation and brine transport combine. Such findings could represent a first step for modellers to parameterise gas dynamics in sea ice. Similar basin experiments could be reproduced in the future for more advanced stages of sea ice evolution.

## **Recommendations for future work**

Faithfully simulating the dynamics of biologically mediated gases like DMS would require more intensive work we think is unlikely to emerge from field data only, owing to the specificities of the sea ice material (including the complexity in sympagic community composition) and the challenges posed by its sampling. To disentangle the intricate DMS cycle, controlled laboratory experiments addressing, at first, textbook case studies (e.g. physiological response involving DMSP of a given algal taxa in response to temperature and salinity changes - and change rates - in the range of values encountered in brine inclusions within sea ice) appear as a mandatory complement. Use of the stable isotopic tool to trace the numerous pathways leading to the production of DMS and related compounds may be promising. Once such simple case studies addressed, modelling could help elucidating more complex processes which seem hard to assess experimentally, like nutrient dynamics and availability within a composite material whose fluid transport properties change with temperature. In the view of the logistic challenges posed by field experiments in polar regions and sometimes the lack of spatial representativeness of the studies performed in those regions, recourse to numerical simulation seems unavoidable in order to produce large scale estimates of gas flux and finally assess the contribution of the oceanic cryosphere to the regulation of the earth's climate through its control on the dynamics of climatically significant gases in Polar Regions. Field work, with focus on time series experiments, remains necessary to validate the output of numerical simulations and refine our understanding of the seasonal dynamics of DMS/P/O formulated in the present research work, especially in undersampled spatial and temporal windows. Emphasis should be put on the study of pack ice which represents more than 80% of the Antarctic sea ice cover. Due to the heavy logistics and expensive equipment they require, studies of ice-snow-air exchanges of climatically significant trace gases on drifting ice remain scarce. Hopefully as technological progress are achieved, less expensive and more portable equipment might be produced and allow to better constrain air/snow/ice fluxes of trace gases. It appears essential to validate large scale output of numerical models. This intimate use of field, experimental and numerical approach has been the backbone of the still undergoing SIBClim/BA<sup>2</sup>SICS international and multidisciplinary effort, initiated in Belgium and under the auspices of which this thesis has been completed.

## Résumé

Il a récemment été démontré que la glace de mer antarctique pouvait jouer un rôle significatif dans la dynamique des gaz à effet climatique (dont le dimethylsulfure ou DMS) dans les régions polaires. Ce travail s'est d'abord attaché à la mise au point d'une méthode de mesure fiable du diméthylsulfoxyde (DMSO) dans la glace de mer, supprimant les interférences générées par la production de DMS au sein de l'échantillon en réponse au choc osmotique subi lors de la fonte de l'échantillon de glace. Une procédure de détermination séquentielle du DMS, par broyage à sec, puis du dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) et du DMSO sur le même échantillon de glace a été développée et utilisée à large échelle dans ce travail. Les données du présent travail ont été acquises dans le cadre de deux programmes d'observation intégrés menés sur la glace de mer antarctique à des saisons différentes mais avec une méthodologie commune : 1) choix de sites d'étude homogènes afin de minimiser l'impact de la variabilité spatiale sur l'interprétation des résultats dans une optique d'évolution temporelle et 2) priorité à la caractérisation du cadre physico-chimique (texture, température, salinité, couvert de neige, susceptibilité au drainage des saumures,....) avant toute autre analyse. L'étude menée dans le cadre du programme ISPOL (nov.-dec. 2004) a permis d'observer que la stratification des saumures a un impact positif sur la conversion du DMSP en DMS au sein de la glace mais ralentit les flux de DMS et DMSP vers l'océan. Le couvert de glace est caractérisé à cette période de l'année par une perte nette de DMSP et génère des flux combiné de DMS et DMSP du même ordre de grandeur que les flux de DMS atmosphériques mesurés dans le cadre d'autres études. L'étude menée dans le cadre du programme SIMBA (sept.-oct. 2007) a permis de mettre en évidence l'importance du forçage atmosphérique sur le régime thermique et la dynamique du DMS/P/O dans la glace. Les communautés d'algues de surface produisent de fortes concentrations de DMS/P/O en réponse au stress thermique, osmotique et potentiellement radiatif durant les périodes de refroidissement et la mise en place d'un régime soutenu de drainage des saumures contribue à évacuer périodiquement les hautes concentrations de DMS/P/O produites dans la glace vers l'océan sous-jacent. Le couvert de glace affichant une production nette de DMS/P/O à cette période de l'année génère des flux combinés de DMS et DMSP plus de dix fois supérieurs à ceux observés pour la glace estivale. L'étude menée sur de la glace artificielle a permis de mettre en évidence l'impact des processus physico-chimiques sur la signature en gaz de la glace en croissance constituant un premier pas vers la modélisation des transports de gaz dans la glace de mer et leurs échanges au travers des interfaces glace-océan et glace-atmosphère.

#### Abstract

It has recently been demonstrated that Antarctic sea ice recently demonstrated plays a potentially significant role in the dynamics of climatically significant gases (amongst which dimethylsulphide or DMS) in Polar Regions. This research work has initially focused on the development of a reliable method for the determination of dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) within sea ice, avoiding interferences generated by DMS production within the sample in response to the osmotic shock caused by melting. A sequential determination procedure of DMS, dimethlsulphoniopropionate (DMSP) and DMSO on the same ice sample has been developed and used on a large amount of samples in the present work. Data presented in this research project have been collected in the framework of two integrated sea ice observation programs focused on Antarctic sea ice at different seasons but following a common approach: 1) choice of homogeneous study sites to minimize the impact of spatial variability on the interpretation of the results in a time series perspective and 2) priority given to the characterization of the physicochemical framework (texture, temperature, salinity, snow cover, susceptibility to brine drainage,...) prior to any other study. The study conducted in the framework of the ISPOL experiment (Nov.-Dec. 2004) demonstrated that stratification of the brine inclusions network positively influenced the conversion of DMSP into DMS but decreased fluxes of DMS and DMSP towards the ocean. The ice cover at that time of the year is characterised by a net DMSP loss and generates combined DMS and DMSP fluxes whose values fall in the range of atmospheric DMS flux from sea ice measured in the frame of other studies. The study conducted in the framework of the SIMBA experiment (sept.-oct. 2007) emphasized the importance of atmospheric thermal forcing on the sea ice thermal regime and DMS/P/O dynamics. The surface community of algae produced elevated levels of DMS/P/O in response to thermal, osmotic and potentially radiative stress during periods of atmospheric cooling while the development of an intense brine drainage regime contributed to periodically release the elevated levels of DMS/P/O produced in the sea ice towards the underlying ocean. The ice cover exhibited at that time of the year a net production of DMS/P/O and produced combined DMS and DMSP fluxes more than ten times higher than those observed for summer sea ice. The study conducted on laboratory prepared growing sea ice emphasised the impact of physicochemical processes on the gas signature of growing sea ice and represents a first step towards modelling gas exchanges within sea ice and across its interfaces with the ocean and the atmosphere.

